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The information in this prospectus is not complete and may be changed. Neither we nor the selling stockholders may sell these securities until the registration
statement filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission is effective. This prospectus is not an offer to sell these securities and neither we nor the selling
stockholders are soliciting offers to buy these securities in any state where the offer or sale is not permitted.

PROSPECTUS (Subject to Completi
Dated February 1, 201

Shares

facebook

CLASS A COMMON STOCK

Facebook, Inc. is offering shares d§iClass A common stock and the selling stockhotdare offering shares of Clas:
common stock. We will not receive any proceeds fribva sale of shares by the selling stockholdersisTis our initial public offering and nt
public market currently exists for our shares of &s A common stock. We anticipate that the initalblic offering price will be betwee
$ and $ per share.

We have two classes of authorized common stocks€ka common stock and Class B common stock. Thatsgf the holders of Class
common stock and Class B common stock are identieatept with respect to voting and conversion. Eabare of Class A common stocl
entitled to one vote per share. Each share of Cl&sommon stock is entitled to ten votes per shanel is convertible at any time into o
share of Class A common stock. Outstanding sharé€tass B common stock will represent approximately% of the voting power of o
outstanding capital stock following this offeringand outstanding shares of Class A common stock &ldss B common stock held by,
subject to voting control by, our founder, Chairmaand CEO, Mark Zuckerberg, will represent approxately % of the voting power
our outstanding capital stock following this offerg.

We intend to apply to list our Class A common stark under the symbol “FB.”

Investing in our Class A common stock involves gsiSee’ Risk Factors” beginning on page 11.

PRICES$ A SHARE
Underwriting Proceeds tc
Price to Discounts and Proceeds t Selling
Public Commissions Facebook Stockholders
Per share $ $ $ $
Total $ $ $ $
We and the selling stockholders have granted thiemwriters the right to purchase up to an additibna shares of Class A common s

to cover over-allotments.

The Securities and Exchange Commission and stgtglatrs have not approved or disapproved of theseurities, or determined if ti
prospectus is truthful or complete. Any represeaatato the contrary is a criminal offens

The underwriters expect to deliver the shares a6€A common stock to purchasers on , 2012.

MORGAN STANLE J.P. MORGANM GOLDMAN, SACHS & CC

BofA MERRILL LYNCH BARCLAYS CAPITA ALLEN & COMPANY LLC



, 201
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845 million 2.7 billion

monthly active users Likes & Comments per day

250 million 100 billion

photos uploaded per day friendships
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To make the world more open and connected,
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Neither we, nor the selling stockholders, nor thmelerwriters, have authorized anyone to provide emfigrmation or to make ai
representations other than those contained irptioispectus or in any free writing prospectuses axetprepared. We take no responsibility
and can provide no assurance as to the reliabiljtgny other information that others may give yéle and the selling stockholders are offe
to sell, and seeking offers to buy, shares of das€A common stock only in jurisdictions whereeo$fand sales are permitted. The inform:
in this prospectus is accurate only as of the dathis prospectus, regardless of the time of @ejivof this prospectus or any sale of shar
our Class A common stock. Our business, finan@abl@ion, results of operations, and prospects hee changed since that date.

The information in this preliminary prospectus ist tomplete and is subject to change. No persomlghely on the informatic
contained in this document for any purpose othen tharticipating in our proposed initial public efihg, and only the preliminary prospec
dated , 2012, is authorized by ubéoused in connection with our proposed initiallpubffering. The preliminary prospectus v
only be distributed by us and the underwriters maimerein and no other person has been authorized by use this document to offer or
any of our securities.

until , 2012 (25 days after¢hcommencement of our initial public offering), alldealers that buy, sell, or trade shares
our Class A common stock, whether or not participahg in our initial public offering, may be required to deliver a prospectus. Thi
delivery requirement is in addition to the obligation of dealers to deliver a prospectus when actingsainderwriters and with respect tc
their unsold allotments or subscriptions.

For investors outside the United States: Neither mog the selling stockholders, nor the underwsitkave done anything that wo
permit our initial public offering or possession distribution of this prospectus in any jurisdictizvhere action for that purpose is requi
other than in the United States. Persons outsigldJthited States who come into possession of tlisgactus must inform themselves ak
and observe any restrictions relating to, the oftgof the shares of our Class A common stock aadifstribution of this prospectus outsid
the United States.
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PROSPECTUS SUMMARY

This summary highlights information contained ireager detail elsewhere in this prospectus. Thismsary is not complete and dc
not contain all of the information you should catesiin making your investment decision. You shoegdl the entire prospectus careftL
before making an investment in our Class A comnaeksYou should carefully consider, among othérgh, our consolidated financi
statements and the related notes and the sectintited “Risk Factors” and “Managemerd’ Discussion and Analysis of Financ
Condition and Results of Operations” included elsere in this prospectus.

FACEBOOK, INC.
Our mission is to make the world more open and eotad.

People use Facebook to stay connected with themmds and family, to discover what is going onhie torld around them, and
share and express what matters to them to the gp#ugy care about.

Developers can use the Facebook Platform to bpidi@ations (apps) and websites that integrate Wébebook to reach our glot
network of users and to build products that areenparsonalized, social, and engaging.

Advertisers can engage with more than 800 millioonthly active users (MAUs) on Facebook or subséteun users based ¢
information they have chosen to share with us sisctheir age, location, gender, or interests. V& afdvertisers a unique combinatior
reach, relevance, social context, and engagememttance the value of their ads.

We believe that we are at the forefront of enabfaxgier, easier, and richer communication betwesople and that Facebook t
become an integral part of many of our users’ dailys. We have experienced rapid growth in the benof users and their engagement.

Miondhily Actve Users Dmily Axtive Users
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. We had 845 million MAUs as of December 31, 2011linenease of 39% as compared to 608 million MAUsfaBecember 3.
2010.

. We had 483 million daily active users (DAUS) on r@age in December 2011, an increase of 48% as ceudpgar327 milliol
DAUSs in December 201(

. We had more than 425 million MAUs who used Facebmobile products in December 2011.

. There were more than 100 billion friend connectiong-acebook as of December 31, 2(
. Our users generated an average of 2.7 billion LékesComments per day during the three months eDdedmber 31, 2011.
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For a description of how we calculate our MAUs @&WUs and factors that can affect these metrics,”Industry Data and Us
Metrics” and “Management’s Discussion and Analydiginancial Condition and Results of Operations-efitts in Our User Metrics.”

How We Create Value for Users
Our top priority is to build useful and engaginggucts that enable you t

Connect with Your FriendsWith 845 million MAUs worldwide, our users are ieassingly able to find and stay connected
their friends, family, and colleagues on Faceb

Discover and LearnWe believe that users come to Facebook to discawdrlearn more about what is going on in the w
around them, particularly in the lives of theirefids and family and with public figures and orgatians that interest ther

Express YourselfWe enable our users to share and publish theiraysnideas, photos, and activities to audienceging
from their closest friends to our 845 million usagiving every user a voice within the Facebook oamity.

Control What You ShareThrough Facebo('s privacy and sharing settings, our users can aowinat they share and w
whom they share i

Experience Facebook Across the WeThrough apps and websites built by developers usiag-acebook Platform, our us
can interact with their Facebook friends while jolgygames, listening to music, watching moviesdirg news, and engagi
in other activities

Stay Connected with Your Friends on Mobile DevicThrough the combination of our mobile sites, snfzotge apps, at
feature phone products, users can bring Facebabktih@m on mobile devices wherever they

Foundations of the Social Web

We believe that the web, including the mobile wisbevolving to become more social and personaliZéds evolution is creatir
more rewarding experiences that are centered opl@eibeir connections, and their interests. Wéelrelthat the following elements fo
the foundation of the social web:

Authentic Identity. We believe that using your real name, connectingotar real friends, and sharing your genuine irgis
online create more engaging and meaningful expegmrRepresenting yourself with your authentic tijeionline encourage
you to behave with the same norms that foster tmust respect in your daily life offline. Authentidentity is core to tr
Facebook experience, and we believe that it israktd the future of the web. Our terms of servieguire you to use your re
name and we encourage you to be your true selh@nknabling us and Platform developers to provide with mort
personalized experience

Social Graph.The Social Graph represents the connections betpeeple and their friends and interests. Every gres
entity is represented by a point within the gragtd the affiliations between people and their fiiieand interests form billio
of connections between the points. Our mappindiefSocial Graph enables Facebook and Platform algeeed to build mol
engaging user experiences that are based on tbeseations

Social Distribution.Over time, people are consuming and creating mom@skof information at a faster pace across a lm
range of devices. The growing volume of informatimiakes it challenging to find meaningful and trdstontent and
effectively make your voice heard. Facebook orgesmiand prioritizes content and serves as a powsoftial distribution toc
delivering to users what we believe they will fimibst compelling based on their friends and intsr:
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How We Create Value for Developers Through the Fadm®mok Platform

The Facebook Platform is a set of development tantsapplication programming interfaces (APIs) #radbles developers to ea
integrate with Facebook to create social apps aglosites and to reach our 845 million users. Platfdevelopers build experiences
allow our users to connect and share with friendderengaging in a wide range of activities. Platfiadevelopers range from a studen
his or her computer at home to teams of programraefdgading websites. We are focused on the gramith success of Platfo
developers by enabling:

Personalized and Social ExperienceWe enable Platform developers to create betterymtsdhat are personalized and sc
and that offer new ways for our users to engagh Wieénds and share experiences across the webrantbbile devices. F
example, a Facebook user can visit the Pandoraiteedrsd immediately begin listening to a persorlizadio station that
customized based on the bands the user Likes @bbak.

Social Distribution. We enable Platform developers to reach our globat base and use our social distribution chano
increase traffic to their apps and websi

PaymentsWe provide an online payments infrastructure timatées Platform developers to receive payments franusers i
an eas-to-use, secure, and trusted environm

How We Create Value for Advertisers and Marketers
We offer advertisers and marketers a unique corntibmaf reach, relevance, social context, and eegent:

Reach.Facebook offers the ability to reach a vast consuauelience of over 800 million MAUs with a singldvartising
purchase

Relevance Advertisers can specify that we show their ads sulaset of our users based on demographic factolsecifit
interests that they have chosen to share with dsasebook or by using the Like button around thb.Wee allow advertisers
select relevant and appropriate audiences for #uksir ranging from millions of users in the casglobal brands to hundreds
users in the case of smaller, local busines

Social ContextWe believe that the recommendations of friends tepewerful influence on consumer interest and fpast
decisions. We offer advertisers the ability to irmi# “social context’with their marketing messages. Social conte:
information that highlights a user’s friendsdnnections with a particular brand or businessef@mple, that a friend Likec
product or checked in at a restaurant. We belibaé users find marketing messages more engaging titey include soci
context.

EngagementWe believe that the shift to a more social web teeaew opportunities for businesses to engageintéheste
customers. Any brand or business can create a 6akdtage to stimulate an ongoing dialog with owars

Our Market Opportunity

Our Advertising Market Opportunity

Advertiser’ objectives range from building lo-term brand awareness to stimulating an immediatehaise. We offer advertisi
solutions that are designed to be more engagingreledant for users in order to help advertisersebechieve their goals. Facebaok’
combination of reach, relevance, social context, @mgagement gives advertisers enhanced oppoesihitigenerate brand awareness
affiliation, while also creating new ways to gerteraear-term demand for their products from congarileely to have purchase
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intent. According to an industry source, total wiaride advertising spending in 2010 was $588 bhillionr addressable market opportu
includes portions of many existing advertising neask including the traditional offline branded adiging, online display advertisir
online performance-based advertising, and mobiledding markets.

Advertising on the social web is a significant netrlpportunity that is still emerging and evolviMge believe that most advertis
are still learning and experimenting with the heays to leverage Facebook to create more sociavaluable ads.

Our Market Opportunity for Payments

When users purchase virtual and digital goods foemPlatform developers using our Payments infuastire, we receive fees tl
represent a portion of the transaction value. @diyre substantially all of the Payments transadidretween our users and Platf
developers are for virtual goods used in social ggamccording to an industry source, the worldwieleenue generated from the sal
virtual goods increased from $2 billion in 2007%® billion in 2010, and is forecasted to increas&15 billion by 2014. We curren
require Payments integration in games on Facelmukwe may seek to extend the use of Payments¢o types of apps in the future.

Our Strategy

We are in the early days of pursuing our missiomséke the world more open and connected. We betleatawe have a significe
opportunity to further enhance the value we delteausers, developers, and advertisers. Key elentdrdur strategy are:

. Expand Our Global User CommunityWe continue to focus on growing our user base acedls geographies, includi
relatively lesspenetrated, large markets such as Brazil, Gernladig, Japan, Russia, and South Korea. We intemggae ou
user base by continuing our marketing and userisitign efforts and enhancing our products, inchgdimobile apps, in ord
to make Facebook more accessible and us

. Build Great Social Products to Increase EngagemeWe prioritize product development investments tlvat believe wil
create engaging interactions between our usergl@@srs, and advertisers on Facebook, across theamd on mobile device
We continue to invest significantly in improvingrocore products such as News Feed, Photos, andp&rdeveloping ne
products such as Timeline and Ticker, and enalilewg Platform apps and website integratic

. Provide Users with the Most Compelling ExperiendFacebook users are sharing and receiving moreniaon across
broader range of devices. To provide the most cilingeuser experience, we continue to develop potgland technologi
focused on optimizing our social distribution chalsnto deliver the most useful content to each useranalyzing an
organizing vast amounts of information in real tit

. Build Engaging Mobile ExperiencesWe are devoting substantial resources to developimgaging mobile products &
experiences for a wide range of platforms, inclgdamartphones and feature phones. In addition, reevarking across tt
mobile industry with operators, hardware manufasiroperating system providers, and developerspoove the Facebor
experience on mobile devices and make Facebookablaito more people around the world. We belidna tnobile usage
critical to maintaining user growth and engagenosetr the long tern

. Enable Developers to Build Great Social Productsitésthe Facebook PlatformThe success of our Platform developers
the vibrancy of our Platform ecosystem are keyntwéasing user engageme

4
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We continue to invest in tools and APIs that enbathe ability of Platform developers to deliver guots that are more soc¢
and personalized and better engage users on FaGetmoss the web, and on mobile devices. Additipnae plan to invest i
enhancing our Payments offerings and in makingP#ngments experience on Facebook as convenientsatf@ofor users al
Platform developer:

Improve Ad Products for Advertisers and UseWe plan to continue to improve our ad productsriteo to create more val
for advertisers and enhance their ability to mdieirtadvertising more social and relevant for usénsr advertising strate
centers on the belief that ad products that arakaelevant, and weliategrated with other content on Facebook can ed
the user experience while providing an attractiggum for advertisers. We intend to invest in add#l products for ot
advertisers and marketers while continuing to hs#aour monetization objectives with our commitmenoptimizingthe use
experience

Summary Risk Factors

Our business is subject to numerous risks desciibetle section entitled “Risk Factorshd elsewhere in this prospectus.
should carefully consider these risks before makingnvestment. Some of these risks include:

If we fail to retain existing users or add new gsar if our users decrease their level of engagéméth Facebook, ol
revenue, financial results, and business may befisigntly harmed

We generate a substantial majority of our revermoenfadvertising. The loss of advertisers, or reidacin spending b
advertisers with Facebook, could seriously harmbuginess

Growth in use of Facebook through our mobile preslusrhere we do not currently display ads, as at#uke for use ¢
personal computers may negatively affect our regeand financial result:

Facebook user growth and engagement on mobile eevdepend upon effective operation with mobile atieg system:
networks, and standards that we do not con

We may not be successful in our efforts to grow famther monetize the Facebook Platform;
Our business is highly competitive, and competipoesents an ongoing threat to the success ofumiindss
Improper access to or disclosure of our usersrinédion could harm our reputation and adverselgafbur business;

Our business is subject to complex and evolving. @rfél foreign laws and regulations regarding psyaata protection, al
other matters. Many of these laws and regulaticessabject to change and uncertain interpretatom, could harm o
business

Our CEO has control over key decision making assalt of his control of a majority of our votingsk;
The loss of Mark Zuckerberg, Sheryl K. Sandbergther key personnel could harm our busin

We anticipate that we will expend substantial fuimdsonnection with tax withholding and remittarafgigations related to tl
initial settlement of our restricted stock unitsS(Bs) approximately six months following our init@lblic offering;

The market price of our Class A common stock maydiatile or may decline, and you may not be ableesell your shares
or above the initial public offering price; a
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. Substantial blocks of our total outstanding shamey be sold into the market “lock-ug” periods end, as further describe:
“Shares Eligible for Future Salelf’'there are substantial sales of shares of oumeomstock, the price of our Class A comr
stock could decline

Corporate Information

We were incorporated in Delaware in July 2004. Wsalexpressly indicated or the context requiresrofise, the terms “Facebook,’
“company,” “we,” “us,” and “our” in this prospectusgfer to Facebook, Inc., a Delaware corporationl, avhere appropriate, its wholly-
owned subsidiaries. The term “Faceboakay also refer to our products, regardless of tlamar in which they are accessed.
principal executive offices are located at 160110l Road, Menlo Park, California 94025, and ougpélone number is (650) 30800
Our website address is www.facebook.com. The inédion on or that can be accessed through our veeissitot part of this prospectus.

Facebook, the Facebook logo, FB, the Like Butt8nahd our other registered or common law tradesyasdrvice marks, or tra
names appearing in this prospectus are the propémacebook, Inc. Other trademarks, service mark$tade names appearing in
prospectus are the property of their respectivearsin
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Class A common stock offered

THE OFFERING

By us shar
By the selling stockholde! shar
Total shar
Class A common stock to be outstanding after our shares
initial public offering
Class B common stock to be outstanding aftet shar
initial public offering
Total Class A and Class B common stock tc shar
outstanding after our initial public offerir
Over-allotment option of Class A common stock shares

offered by us and the selling stockhold

Use of proceeds

We estimate that our net proceeds from the satbeoClass A common stock that
are offering will be approximately $ bilipassuming an initial public offeri
price of $ per share, which is the midpahthe price range on the cover pag
this prospectus, and after deducting estimated nwrdimg discounts ar
commissions and estimated offering expenses papghls.

The principal purposes of our initial public offiegi are to create a public market
our Class A common stock and thereby enable fuaoeess to the public equ
markets by us and our employees, obtain additioapital, and facilitate an orde
distribution of shares for the selling stockholdé&k& intend to use the net proceec
us from our initial public offering for working capl and other general corpor
purposes; however we do not have any specific asd®e net proceeds planned.
may use some of the net proceeds to us to satigfgriégon of the anticipated t
withholding and remittance obligations related tee tinitial settlement of o
outstanding RSUs, which will become due approxityasé&x months following th
completion of our initial public offering. Additiaily, we may use a portion of 1
proceeds to us for acquisitions of complementarsirasses, technologies, or o
assets.

We will not receive any proceeds from the salehafres of Class A common stock
the selling stockholders. Mark Zuckerberg, our fdem Chairman, and CEO, v
offer and sell shares in our initiabfic offering. We expect that substantii
all of the net proceeds Mr. Zuckerberg will receiygon such sale will be used
satisfy taxes that he will incur upon his exeroidean outstanding stock option
purchase 120,000,000 shares of our Class B comtaok. See “Use of Proceeds.”
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Proposed

Voting rights Shares of Class A common stock are entitled tovote per share

Shares of Class B common stock are entitled todées per shart

Holders of our Class A common stock and Class Brmomstock will generally vo
together as a single class, unless otherwise by law. Mr. Zuckerberg, who af
our initial public offering will control more than % of the voting power of o
outstanding capital stock, will have the ability ¢ontrol the outcome of matt
submitted to our stockholders for approval, inahgdihe election of our directors. ¢
“Description of Capital Stock.”

symt “FB’

The number of shares of Class A and Class B constomk to be outstanding after our initial publifeoing is based on 117,097,
shares of our Class A common stock and 1,758,90%B8ares of our Class B common stock outstandirgf Becember 31, 2011, as w
as the exercise by Mr. Zuckerberg of an outstandiogk option to purchase 120,000,000 shares ofctass B common stock and
automatic conversion of of those skanko an equal number of shares of Class A comstock upon their sale in our init
public offering, and excludes:

138,539,434 shares of Class B common stock issugdge the exercise of options outstanding as ofebdxer 31, 2011 unc
our 2005 Stock Plan, with a weigh-average exercise price of approximately $0.83 pares

378,772,184 shares of Class B common stock sulgj@®EUs outstanding as of December 31, 2011 unae2@05 Stock Plan;

1,947,208 shares of Class B common stock subjeRiSids granted between January 1, 2012 and JantaB032 under ol
2005 Stock Plan; ar

77,185,000 shares of our common stock reservedufinre issuance under our equity compensation plaassisting
25,000,000 shares of Class A common stock resdorddsuance under our 2012 Equity Incentive Péang 52,185,000 shai
of Class B common stock reserved for issuance umgie2005 Stock Plan. On the date of this prosgeeny remaining shai
available for issuance under our 2005 Stock Pldinb@iadded to the shares to be reserved unde2@ir Equity Incentive Pl
and we will cease granting awards under the 20@8kSPlan. Our 2012 Equity Incentive Plan also piesi for automat
annual increases in the number of shares resenegeunder, as more fully described in “Executivenpensation—-Employet
Benefit Plan¢”

Unless expressly indicated or the context requiteerwise, all information in this prospectus assam

the conversion of all outstanding shares of ouwedible preferred stock into 545,551,391 share€las B common stock
connection with our initial public offering

the automatic conversion of shareswfClass B common stock into an equal number afeshof our Class A comm
stock upon their sale by the selling stockholdersdr initial public offering

the conversion by certain of our existing stockleatdof an aggregate of shares of das<™B common stock into
equivalent number of shares of our Class A comni@cksn connection with our initial public offerin

no exercise by the underwriters of their right toghase up to an additional shareSlags A common stock to co
ovel-allotments; ant

the filing of our restated certificate of incorptiom and the effectiveness of our restated bylawsonnection with our initii
public offering.
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SUMMARY CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The following table summarizes our consolidatedficial data. We have derived the summary conselidatatements of incot
data for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2002@11 and the consolidated balance sheets dattilzcember 31, 2010 and 2(
from our audited consolidated financial statementduded elsewhere in this prospectus. Our hisébriesults are not necessa
indicative of our results in any future period. T®wemmary of our consolidated financial data sethftselow should be read together v
our consolidated financial statements and the @dlaiotes, as well as the section entitled “Manage€meéiscussion and Analysis
Financial Condition and Results of Operations,luded elsewhere in this prospectus.

Year Ended December 31,
2009 2010 2011
(in millions, except per share data

Consolidated Statements of Income Datz

Revenue $ 777 $ 1,974 $ 3,711
Costs and expens®:

Cost of revenu 228 49¢ 86C

Marketing and sale 11F 184 427

Research and developmt 87 144 38¢

General and administrati\ 90 121 28C
Total costs and expens 51k 94z 1,95¢
Income from operation 262 1,032 1,75¢
Other expense, n 8 24 61
Income before provision for income tay 254 1,00¢ 1,69t
Provision for income taxe 25 40z 69t
Net income $ 22¢ $ 60€ $ 1,00(
Net income attributable to Class A and Class B comstockholder $ 122 $ 37z $ 66¢
Earnings per share attributable to Class A andstBasommon stockholde®:

Basic $ 0.17 $ 0.34 $ 0.52

Diluted $ 0.1C $ 0.2¢ $ 0.4¢€
Pro forma earnings per share attributable to Chagsd Class B common stockhold(? :

Basic $ 0.4¢

Diluted $ 0.4z

(1) Costs and expenses include s-based compensation expense as follc

Year Ended December 31,

2009 2010 2011
(in millions)
Cost of revenu $ — — $ 9
Marketing and sale 2 2 43
Research and developmt 6 9 114
General and administratiy 19 9 51
Total shar-based compensation expel $ 27 $ 2C $ 217

(2) See note 2 of the notes to our consolidated firdrstatements for a description of how we computsidband diluted earnings per share attributabl€lass A and Class
common stockholders and pro forma basic and dilaggdings per share attributable to Class A andsdBacommon stockholdel
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As of December 31, 201
Pro Forma As

Adjusted (@)
)

Actual Pro_Forma ()
(in millions)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Date
Cash, cash equivalents, and marketable sectL $3,90¢ $3,90¢ $
Working capital 3,70¢ 4,034
Property and equipment, r 1,47¢ 1,47¢
Total asset 6,331 6,66(
Total liabilities 1,43 1,432
Additional paic-in capital 2,68¢ 4,26
Retained earning 1,60¢ 967

Total stockholder equity 4,89¢ 5,22¢

The pro forma consolidated balance sheet data &eoémber 31, 2011 presents our consolidated bmlgheet data to give effect to the automatic cawerof all of ou
outstanding shares of convertible preferred stoté shares of Class B common stock in connectich wirr initial public offering and to also give et to a sharbase:
compensation expense of approximately $968 millissociated with RSUs granted prior to 2011, forciwtthe service condition was satisfied as of Deaerith, 2011 ar
which we expect to record upon completion of outiahpublic offering, as further described in “Magement Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditionl &esults ¢
Operations—Critical Accounting Policies and Estiesat-Share-based Compensation.” The pro forma adfnsétrelated to sharleased compensation expense of approxim
$968 million has been reflected as an increaselditianal paidin capital and the associated tax effect of $32Bianihas been netted against this charge, regultina ne
reduction of $639 million to retained earnings. Theome tax effects have been reflected as anaseréo deferred tax assets included in prepaidnsgseand other curre
assets, to reflect the anticipated future tax benepon settlement of these RS

The pro forma as adjusted consolidated balance sla¢@ reflects the items described in footnoteafigve and our receipt of estimated net proceexns the sale of shares
Class A common stock that we are offering at anrassl initial public offering price of the Class Aramon stock of $ per share, the midpoirthefprice range on the co
page of this prospectus, after deducting the estidhanderwriting discounts and commissions andnegéd offering expenses payable by us. A $1.0®asw (decrease) in
assumed initial public offering price of $ per share would increase (decrease) each of casih eguivalents, and marketable securities, workapital, total assets, additio
paid-in capital, and total stockholdeesjuity by $ million, assuming that the nembf shares offered by us, as set forth on thercpage of this prospectus, remains
same, and after deducting the estimated undergritiscounts and commissiot

The pro forma as adjusted information discussed@lmillustrative only and will be adjusted basedthe actual initial public offering price and ethterms of our initial publ
offering determined at pricini
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RISK FACTORS

Investing in our Class A common stock involvesgh liegree of risk. You should consider carefullyrikks and uncertainties descrit
below, together with all of the other informatiom this prospectus, including the consolidated foiahstatements and the related nc
included elsewhere in this prospectus, before degitvhether to invest in shares of our Class A comstock. The risks and uncertain
described below are not the only ones we face.tibaddi risks and uncertainties that we are unawafgor that we currently believe are |
material, may also become important factors thatemdely affect our business. If any of the follgwitsks actually occurs, our busine
financial condition, results of operations, andug prospects could be materially and adverselga#fd. In that event, the market price of
Class A common stock could decline, and you casie part or all of your investment.

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

If we falil to retain existing users or add new usgror if our users decrease their level of engagemeith Facebook, our revenue, financi
results, and business may be significantly harmed.

The size of our user base and our U level of engagement are critical to our successhate845 million monthly active users (MAL
as of December 31, 2011. Our financial performanas been and will continue to be significantly deieed by our success in addi
retaining, and engaging active users. We anticigfae our active user growth rate will decline otiere as the size of our active user |
increases, and as we achieve higher market pepetrates. To the extent our active user growte sidws, our business performance
become increasingly dependent on our ability toease levels of user engagement in current andmmankets. If people do not perceive
products to be useful, reliable, and trustworthg, may not be able to attract or retain users cgrotise maintain or increase the frequency
duration of their engagement. A number of otheliadatetworking companies that achieved early paityldnave since seen their active
bases or levels of engagement decline, in somes gaseipitously. There is no guarantee that we moll experience a similar erosion of
active user base or engagement levels. A decraasger retention, growth, or engagement could neRdeebook less attractive to develo
and advertisers, which may have a material andradviempact on our revenue, business, financial itiong and results of operations. A
number of factors could potentially negatively affaser retention, growth, and engagement, incudin

. users increasingly engage with competing products;
. we fail to introduce new and improved productsfave introduce new products or services that atdawwrably receivec

. we are unable to successfully balance our efforfgovide a compelling user experience with thegieas we make with respect
the frequency, prominence, and size of ads and otivamercial content that we disple

. we are unable to continue to develop products fobite devices that users find engaging, that woith & variety of mobil
operating systems and networks, and that achiéighaevel of market acceptanc

. there are changes in user sentiment about thetyjoalusefulness of our products or concerns réladeprivacy and sharing, safe
security, or other factor

. we are unable to manage and prioritize informatmansure users are presented with content thatieieesting, useful, and relev.
to them;

. there are adverse changes in our products thahanelated by legislation, regulatory authoritieslitagation, including settlemer
or consent decree

. technical or other problems prevent us from delhgerour products in a rapid and reliable manneotherwise affect the us
experience
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. we adopt policies or procedures related to arecls a8 sharing or user data that are perceivedinelyaby our users or the gene
public;

. we fail to provide adequate customer service tog skevelopers, or advertisers;

. we, our Platform developers, or other companiesuinindustry are the subject of adverse media teforother negative publicit
or

. our current or future products, such as the FadeBtatform, reduce user activity on Facebook by imglt easier for our users
interact and share on th-party websites

If we are unable to maintain and increase our base and user engagement, our revenue, finansialtgeand future growth poten
may be adversely affected.

We generate a substantial majority of our revenuerh advertising. The loss of advertisers, or redoatin spending by advertisers w
Facebook, could seriously harm our business.

The substantial majority of our revenue is curremenerated from third parties advertising on Fao&b In 2009, 2010, and 20
advertising accounted for 98%, 95%, and 85%, rasmdg, of our revenue. As is common in the indysbur advertisers typically do not hs
longterm advertising commitments with us. Many of odvertisers spend only a relatively small portiontiodir overall advertising budc
with us. In addition, advertisers may view someoof products, such as sponsored stories and atisswifial context, as experimental
unproven. Advertisers will not continue to do besis with us, or they will reduce the prices they ailling to pay to advertise with us, if
do not deliver ads and other commercial conteanieffective manner, or if they do not believe tihair investment in advertising with us \
generate a competitive return relative to othegralitives. Our advertising revenue could be adbeeféected by a number of other fact
including:

. decreases in user engagement, including time speRacebook;

. increased user access to and engagement with Fdcéirough our mobile products, where we do notentty directly genera
meaningful revenue, particularly to the extent thmtbile engagement is substituted for engagemetiit Racebook on persol
computers where we monetize usage by displayingiad®ther commercial conte

. product changes or inventory management decisi@ensiay make that reduce the size, frequency, diivelprominence of ads a
other commercial content displayed on Faceb

. our inability to improve our analytics and measueetsolutions that demonstrate the value of ouraadisother commercial conte
. decisions by advertisers to use our free prodsatsh as Facebook Pages, instead of advertisingogbbok

. loss of advertising market share to our competitors

. adverse legal developments relating to advertisirauiding legislative and regulatory developmeans developments in litigatio
. adverse media reports or other negative publioiplving us, our Platform developers, or other camips in our industry;

. our inability to create new products that sustaimorease the value of our ads and other comniacident;

. the degree to which users opt out of social adgherwise limit the potential audience of commdrcantent;

. changes in the way online advertising is priced,;
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. the impact of new technologies that could blockloscure the display of our ads and other commecoiatient; anc
. the impact of macroeconomic conditions and condgtiim the advertising industry in general.

The occurrence of any of these or other factorédcasult in a reduction in demand for our ads athe:r commercial content, which n
reduce the prices we receive for our ads and ath@mercial content, or cause advertisers to stgpréding with us altogether, either of wh
would negatively affect our revenue and finanagaluts.

Growth in use of Facebook through our mobile prods¢ where we do not currently display ads, as a Sitbte for use on person
computers may negatively affect our revenue andaficial results.

We had more than 425 million MAUs who used Facebwabile products in December 2011. We anticipatd the rate of growth
mobile users will continue to exceed the growtte rat our overall MAUs for the foreseeable future,piart due to our focus on develog
mobile products to encourage mobile usage of Faxebalthough the substantial majority of our mobilsers also access and engage
Facebook on personal computers where we displagrasing, our users could decide to increasinglgeas our products primarily throt
mobile devices. We do not currently directly geterny meaningful revenue from the use of Facelookile products, and our ability to
so successfully is unproven. Accordingly, if usessitinue to increasingly access Facebook mobildymis as a substitute for access thr
personal computers, and if we are unable to sutdgsgmplement monetization strategies for our nelusers, our revenue and finan
results may be negatively affected.

Facebook user growth and engagement on mobile devidepend upon effective operation with mobile @igrg systems, networks, a
standards that we do not contrc

There is no guarantee that popular mobile devic#iscentinue to feature Facebook, or that mobileside users will continue to u
Facebook rather than competing products. We arerdigmt on the interoperability of Facebook with ydep mobile operating systems that
do not control, such as Android and iOS, and arangkes in such systems that degrade our productstionality or give preferential treatm:
to competitive products could adversely affect Back usage on mobile devices. Additionally, in ergedeliver high quality mobile produc
it is important that our products work well withrange of mobile technologies, systems, networkd, standards that we do not control.
may not be successful in developing relationshijtk ey participants in the mobile industry or iavéloping products that operate effecti
with these technologies, systems, networks, ordstals. In the event that it is more difficult fanrausers to access and use Facebook or
mobile devices, or if our users choose not to acoesise Facebook on their mobile devices or udalenproducts that do not offer acces
Facebook, our user growth and user engagement beuidrmed.

We may not be successful in our efforts to grow @ndher monetize the Facebook Platform.

We have made and are continuing to make major imergs to enable developers to build applicatiapp$) and websites that integ
with the Facebook Platform. Existing and prospecfatform developers may not be successful indlmglapps or websites that create
maintain user engagement. Additionally, developeey choose to build on other platforms, includinghite platforms controlled by thi
parties, rather than building on the Facebook &atf We are continuously seeking to balance thtildligion objectives of our Platfor
developers with our desire to provide an optimariexperience, and we may not be successful iregicly a balance that continues to ati
and retain Platform developers. From time to tinve, have taken actions to reduce the volume of comications from apps to users
Facebook with the objective of enhancing the ugpegence, and such actions have reduced diswitbditom, user engagement with, and
monetization opportunities from, apps on Facebdolsome instances, these actions have adversagtedf our relationships with Platfa
developers. If we are not successful in our efftotgrow our Platform or if we are unable to budldd maintain good relations with Platfc
developers, our user growth and user engagemerdiarfthancial results may be adversely affected.
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Additionally, we may not be successful in furtheomstizing the Facebook Platform. We currently mimeethe Facebook Platform
several ways, including ads on pages generategy @n Facebook, direct advertising on Faceboo&hased by Platform developers to d
traffic to their apps and websites, and fees framRlatform developersise of our Payments infrastructure to sell virarad digital goods
users. Apps built by developers of social gamedjquéarly Zynga, are currently responsible for stamtially all of our revenue derived fri
Payments. If the Platform apps that currently gateerevenue fail to grow or maintain their userd angagement, if Platform developers dc
continue to introduce new apps that attract usetiscacate engagement, if Platform developers rethaie advertising on Facebook, if we
to maintain good relationships with Platform deypels or attract new developers, or if Platform apptside of social games do not ¢
popularity and generate significant revenue, auairitial performance and ability to grow revenueldte adversely affected.

Our business is highly competitive. Competition pemts an ongoing threat to the success of our besm

We face significant competition in almost everyexgpof our business, including from companies agksoogle, Microsoft, and Twitt
which offer a variety of Internet products, sergiceontent, and online advertising offerings, adl @& from mobile companies and sme
Internet companies that offer products and servitcasmay compete with specific Facebook featuhés.also face competition from traditio
and online media businesses for advertising budyéescompete broadly with Googtesocial networking offerings, including Googlefd
also with other, largely regional, social netwotkat have strong positions in particular countriasluding Cyworld in Korea, Mixi in Jape
Orkut (owned by Google) in Brazil and India, andorfakte in Russia. We would also face competitimmf companies in China such
Renren, Sina, and Tencent in the event that walaeeto access the market in China in the futusewa introduce new products, as our exis
products evolve, or as other companies introdueepreducts and services, we may become subjeddibti@nal competition.

Some of our current and potential competitors tegrificantly greater resources and better conmipetjtositions in certain markets tt
we do. These factors may allow our competitorsegpond more effectively than us to new or emerggatinologies and changes in ma
requirements. Our competitors may develop proddietgures, or services that are similar to ourhat achieve greater market acceptance,
undertake more faraching and successful product development effontsarketing campaigns, or may adopt more aggressicing policies
In addition, Platform partners may use informatihvared by our users through the Facebook Platforarder to develop products or feat
that compete with us. Certain competitors, inclgddoogle, could use strong or dominant positionsrie or more markets to gain competi
advantage against us in areas where we operatalingt by integrating competing social networkingtforms or features into products tl
control such as search engines, web browsers, bilendevice operating systems; by making acquisijoor by making access to Facet
more difficult. As a result, our competitors maygace and engage users at the expense of the gamwthgagement of our user base, w
may negatively affect our business and financisiiits.

We believe that our ability to compete effectivdpends upon many factors both within and beyomdaoutrol, including:

. the usefulness, ease of use, performance, anditigji@f our products compared to our competitc

. the size and composition of our user base;

. the engagement of our users with our prodt

. the timing and market acceptance of products, diolydevelopments and enhancements to our or aupetitors’ products;
. our ability to monetize our products, including @ility to successfully monetize mobile usa

. the frequency, size, and relative prominence oftfeeand other commercial content displayed by aiocompetitors;
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. customer service and support effo
. marketing and selling efforts;
. our ability to establish and maintain develo| interest in building on the Facebook Platfol

. changes mandated by legislation, regulatory authsrior litigation, including settlements and camisdecrees, some of which r
have a disproportionate effect on

. acquisitions or consolidation within our industwhich may result in more formidable competitc
. our ability to attract, retain, and motivate talthemployees, particularly software engineers;
. our ability to cost-effectively manage and grow operations; and

. our reputation and brand strength relative to ametitors.

If we are not able to effectively compete, our usese and level of user engagement may decreass) eduld make us less attractive
developers and advertisers and materially and adiyeaffect our revenue and results of operations.

Action by governments to restrict access to Facdbivotheir countries could substantially harm ourusiness and financial results

It is possible that governments of one or more t@esimay seek to censor content available on Fexdelm their country, restrict acct
to Facebook from their country entirely, or impasther restrictions that may affect the accessjbitif Facebook in their country for
extended period of time or indefinitely. For examphccess to Facebook has been or is currentlyctedtin whole or in part in China, Ir
North Korea, and Syria. In addition, governmentstimer countries may seek to restrict access tebieak if they consider us to be in violai
of their laws. In the event that access to Facebsakstricted, in whole or in part, in one or ma@ntries or our competitors are abl
successfully penetrate geographic markets thatameat access, our ability to retain or increaseusar base and user engagement mi
adversely affected, we may not be able to mairdagrow our revenue as anticipated, and our firemeisults could be adversely affected.

Our efforts to expand the Facebook Platform may wu#sin users increasingly engaging with our Platfar developers’ Facebookitegratec
websites instead of engaging on Facebook, which magatively affect our advertising revenue and haour business.

We actively support Platform developers’ effortsdevelop products that integrate with Facebook ten developersivebsites. Ot
Platform developers may choose to prioritize baiddor supporting Faceboodktegrated websites as opposed to building or suipgoapps th:
run on the Facebook website. When users visit oPha partner’'s Facebooiktegrated website, we do not deliver advertisesiamhereas w
would have displayed advertisements to these ul#rsir activity had taken place on the Faceboddbsite. If Facebookitegrated websiti
draw users away from our website, it may reducsl@w the growth of our user activity that generatdsertising opportunities, which co
negatively affect our advertising revenue. Althowghbelieve that there are significant laiegm benefits to Facebook resulting from incre
engagement on Facebowkegrated websites, these benefits may not offeepossible loss of advertising revenue, in witiake our busine
could be harmed.

Our new products and changes to existing produatsiid fail to attract or retain users or generatevenue.

Our ability to retain, increase, and engage our base and to increase our revenue will dependillgeav our ability to create success
new products, both independently and in conjunctiith Platform developers or other third partiese Wiay introduce significant change:
our existing products or develop and introduce a@d unproven products, including using technologigk which we have little or no pri
development or operating experience. If new or eobd products fail to engage users, developemgwartisers, we may fail to
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attract or retain users or to generate sufficienenue, operating margin, or other value to justify investments, and our business ma
adversely affected. In the future, we may investémw products and initiatives to generate revehuethere is no guarantee these appro:
will be successful. If we are not successful wigwnapproaches to monetization, we may not be ablmaintain or grow our revenue
anticipated or recover any associated developnuasts cand our financial results could be advera#gcted.

Our culture emphasizes rapid innovation and pridzés user engagement over short-term financial rksu

We have a culture that encourages employees td&lgulevelop and launch new and innovative produdis.our business grows &
becomes more complex, our cultural emphasis on mgoguickly may result in unintended outcomes origiens that are poorly received
users, developers, or advertisers. Our culture piBwitizes our user engagement over shenn financial results, and we frequently
product decisions that may reduce our slemta revenue or profitability if we believe thaktkecisions are consistent with our mission
benefit the aggregate user experience and wiletheimprove our financial performance over the I¢eign. These decisions may not proc
the longterm benefits that we expect, in which case our geawth and engagement, our relationships withettgyers and advertisers, and
business and results of operations could be harmed.

If we are not able to maintain and enhance our brdnor if events occur that damage our reputationcabrand, our ability to expand ot
base of users, developers, and advertisers mayripaired, and our business and financial results miag harmed.

We believe that the Facebook brand has signifigactghtributed to the success of our business. We bélieve that maintaining &
enhancing our brand is critical to expanding owsebaf users, developers, and advertisers. Manyofiew users are referred by existing u:
and therefore we strive to ensure that our usensirefavorably inclined towards Facebook. Maintagnand enhancing our brand will dep
largely on our ability to continue to provide udefieliable, trustworthy, and innovative produats)ich we may not do successfully. We r
introduce new products or terms of service thatausi® not like, which may negatively affect our rfmta Additionally, the actions of o
Platform developers may affect our brand if usessndt have a positive experience using timedty apps and websites integrated
Facebook. We have in the past experienced, andxpecethat in the future we will continue to exgeice, media, legislative, or regulat
scrutiny of our decisions regarding user privacyotiter issues, which may adversely affect our i@mrn and brand. We also may fai
provide adequate customer service, which couldeemmhfidence in our brand. Maintaining and enhapaar brand may require us to m
substantial investments and these investments miaensuccessful. If we fail to successfully proenahd maintain the Facebook brand
we incur excessive expenses in this effort, oummss and financial results may be adversely aftect

Improper access to or disclosure of our us’ information could harm our reputation and adver$eaffect our business.

Our efforts to protect the information that our ngseave chosen to share using Facebook may beaessficl due to the actions of tt
parties, software bugs or other technical malfumgj employee error or malfeasance, or other factoraddition, third parties may attemp
fraudulently induce employees or users to discioB®mation in order to gain access to our datawrusersdata. If any of these events oci
our usersinformation could be accessed or disclosed imptgp&ur Data Use Policy governs the use of infoiorathat users have chosel
share using Facebook and how that information neayded by third parties. Some Platform developexg store information provided by ¢
users through apps on the Facebook Platform oriteshistegrated with Facebook. If these third garor Platform developers fail to adop
adhere to adequate data security practices otofaibmply with our terms and policies, or in theeewof a breach of their networks, our users’
data may be improperly accessed or disclosed. Acigeénts involving unauthorized access to or impragse of the information of our us
could damage our reputation and our brand and dmiour competitive position. In addition, the atksd users or government authorities ¢
initiate legal or regulatory
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action against us in connection with such incidentsch could cause us to incur significant expeause liability or result in orders or cons
decrees forcing us to modify our business practidey of these events could have a material aneisdveffect on our business, reputatio
financial results.

Unfavorable media coverage could negatively affeat business.

We receive a high degree of media coverage aronednorld. Unfavorable publicity regarding, for exale our privacy practice
product changes, product quality, litigation orukegory activity, or the actions of our Platformveéopers or our users, could adversely a
our reputation. Such negative publicity also coiéve an adverse effect on the size, engagementpwgalty of our user base and resul
decreased revenue, which could adversely affecbosiness and financial results.

Our financial results will fluctuate from quarterd quarter, which makes them difficult to predict.

Our quarterly financial results have fluctuatedhie past and will fluctuate in the future. Additadly, we have a limited operating hist
with the current scale of our business, which makesfficult to forecast our future results. Asrasult, you should not rely upon our g
quarterly financial results as indicators of futperformance. You should take into account thesregkd uncertainties frequently encountere
companies in rapidly evolving markets. Our finahoggsults in any given quarter can be influencedbsnerous factors, many of which we
unable to predict or are outside of our contratjuding:

. our ability to maintain and grow our user base aser engagement;

. our ability to attract and retain advertisers jpaaticular period

. seasonal fluctuations in spending by our advesjser

. the number of ads shown to users;

. the pricing of our ads and other produ

. our ability to increase payments and other feesmeg;

. the diversification and growth of revenue sourcegomd current advertising and Payme
. the development and introduction of new productsesvices by us or our competitors;

. increases in marketing, sales, and other operatipgnses that we may incur to grow and expand perations and to reme
competitive;

. our ability to maintain gross margins and operativaygins;

. our ability to obtain equipment and componentsdiar data centers and other technical infrastrudtuietimely and co-effective
manner;

. system failures or breaches of security or privacy;
. inaccessibility of Facebook due to tF-party actions

. shar-based compensation expense including approximétely million that we will incur in the quartef the completion of o
initial public offering in connection with the vésg of restricted stock units (RSUs) granted ptao2011;

. adverse litigation judgments, settlements, or olitigation-related costs;

. changes in the legislative or regulatory environtercluding with respect to privacy, or enforcerhéy government regulato
including fines, orders, or consent decre

. fluctuations in currency exchange rates and changethe proportion of our revenue and expenses mérated in foreig
currencies
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. fluctuations in the market values of our portfdiwestments and in interest rat
. changes in U.S. generally accepted accounting iptes; and

. changes in business or macroeconomic condit

We currently generate significant revenue as a rlsof our relationship with Zynga, and, if we arenable to successfully maintain tr
relationship, our financial results could be harmed

In 2011, Zynga accounted for approximately 12% of cevenue, which amount was comprised of revererevetl from paymen
processing fees related to Zynga’s sales of vigoalds and from direct advertising purchased bygaymdditionally, Zyngas apps generate
significant number of pages on which we display iden other advertisers. If the use of Zynga gamesur Platform declines, if Zyn
launches games on or migrates games to competaifpyphs, or if we fail to maintain good relationsthwZynga, we may lose Zynga a
significant Platform developer and our financiauks may be adversely affected.

We expect our rates of growth will decline in thetfire.

We believe that our rates of user and revenue d¢rovilt decline over time. For example, our annualanue grew 154% from 200¢
2010 and 88% from 2010 to 2011. Historically, oseugrowth has been a primary driver of growth im cevenue. Our user growth ¢
revenue growth rates will inevitably slow as weiagh higher market penetration rates, as our reyémcreases to higher levels, and a:
experience increased competition. As our growtasraecline, investorgerceptions of our business may be adversely affeabhd the mark
price of our Class A common stock could decline.

Our business is subject to complex and evolving hABd foreign laws and regulations regarding privacdata protection, and other matte
Many of these laws and regulations are subject ttange and uncertain interpretation, and could resuh claims, changes to our busine
practices, increased cost of operations, or dedime user growth or engagement, or otherwise haror dusiness

We are subject to a variety of laws and regulationthe United States and abroad that involve me&ttentral to our business, includ
user privacy, rights of publicity, data protectiargntent, intellectual property, distribution, d@lenic contracts and other communicatit
competition, protection of minors, consumer pratetgttaxation, and online payment services. Foreigta protection, privacy, and other I
and regulations are often more restrictive tharse¢him the United States. These U.S. federal artd atad foreign laws and regulations
constantly evolving and can be subject to significghange. In addition, the application and intetgtiion of these laws and regulations
often uncertain, particularly in the new and rapidiolving industry in which we operate. For exaephe interpretation of some laws
regulations that govern the use of names and ldsa®in connection with advertising and marketutgities is unsettled and development
this area could affect the manner in which we desigr products, as well as our terms of use. A remobproposals are pending before fed
state, and foreign legislative and regulatory bedreat could significantly affect our business. Egample, a revision to the 1995 Eurog
Union Data Protection Directive is currently beiognsidered by European legislative bodies that malude more stringent operatio
requirements for data processors and significamalties for nonsompliance. Similarly, there have been a numberegknt legislativ
proposals in the United States, at both the fedmrdl state level, that would impose new obligationareas such as privacy and liability
copyright infringement by third parties. These &rig and proposed laws and regulations can beyctstomply with and can delay or impt
the development of new products, result in negativielicity, increase our operating costs, requigaificant management time and attent
and subject us to claims or other remedies, inolyfines or demands that we modify or cease exgidtirsiness practices.
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We have been subject to regulatory investigatiomsl @ettlements and we expect to continue to be etthjo such proceedings in the futu
which could cause us to incur substantial costs mquire us to change our business practices in ammar materially adverse to o
business.

From time to time, we receive inquiries from redoka regarding our compliance with laws and othatters. For example, in 2011,
reached agreement with the Federal Trade Commig§i®Q) to resolve an investigation into variousqticGes by entering into a 2@eal
settlement agreement that, among other things,resqus to establish and refine certain practices vespect to treatment of user data
privacy settings and also requires that we comgietanual independent privacy audits. As another ed@np 2011 the Irish Data Protect
Commissioner (DPC) conducted an audit of the dsg¢aurity, and privacy practices and policies ofdbmok Ireland, which is the di
controller for Facebook users outside the UniteateSt and Canada, and released a report of itsusioies in December 2011. The FTC
DPC have investigated and audited aspects of @alupts and practices, and we expect to continbe the subject of regulatory investigati
and audits in the future by these and other regrdahroughout the world.

It is possible that a regulatory inquiry might riésa changes to our policies or practices. Viaatf existing or future regulatory ord
or consent decrees could subject us to substantaktary fines and other penalties that could meggtaffect our financial condition a
results of operations. In addition, it is possitilat future orders issued by, or enforcement astioitiated by, regulatory authorities could c¢
us to incur substantial costs or require us to ghaur business practices in a manner materiallgrae to our business.

If we are unable to protect our intellectual propgr the value of our brand and other intangible a&s may be diminished, and our busin
may be adversely affected.

We rely and expect to continue to rely on a comtimnaof confidentiality and license agreements watlir employees, consultants,
third parties with whom we have relationships, &l as trademark, copyright, patent, trade searad,domain hame protection laws, to prc
our proprietary rights. In the United States angbrimationally, we have filed various applicatiors protection of certain aspects of
intellectual property, and we currently hold a nembf issued patents in multiple jurisdictions. Hmer, third parties may knowingly
unknowingly infringe our proprietary rights, thiphrties may challenge proprietary rights held byaml pending and future trademark
patent applications may not be approved. In addigdfective intellectual property protection mayt be available in every country in which
operate or intend to operate our business. In argll ®f these cases, we may be required to exgerdficant time and expense in orde
prevent infringement or to enforce our rights. Altigh we have taken measures to protect our prapyieights, there can be no assurance
others will not offer products or concepts that atbstantially similar to ours and compete with business. In addition, we regule
contribute software source code under open soigenses and have made other technology we develyathble under other open licen:
and we include open source software in our prodiais example, we have contributed certain speifios and designs related to our
center equipment to the Open Compute Project Fdiomja nonprofit entity that shares and develops such infaeionawith the technoloc
community, under the Open Web Foundation LicenseaAesult of our open source contributions andufeeof open source in our produ
we may license or be required to license innovatitwat turn out to be material to our businessraag also be exposed to increased litige
risk. If the protection of our proprietary rightsinadequate to prevent unauthorized use or apptipr by third parties, the value of our br.
and other intangible assets may be diminished antpetitors may be able to more effectively mimic earvice and methods of operatic
Any of these events could have an adverse effeocuomusiness and financial results.

We are currently, and expect to be in the futurgrfy to patent lawsuits and other intellectual pregy rights claims that are expensive &
time consuming, and, if resolved adversely, coulvb a significant impact on our business, financiebndition, or results of operations.

Companies in the Internet, technology, and mediastries own large numbers of patents, copyrigraslemarks, and trade secrets,
frequently enter into litigation based on allegat®f infringement,
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misappropriation, or other violations of intelleatyproperty or other rights. In addition, variousoh-practicing entitiesthat own patents a
other intellectual property rights often attemptaggressively assert their rights in order to ettralue from technology companies.
presently are involved in many such lawsuits, andw@ face increasing competition and gain an irsingdy high profile, including i
connection with our initial public offering, we exg@ the number of patent and other intellectuaperty claims against us to grow. In addit
from time to time we may introduce new productsjuding in areas where we currently do not competech could increase our exposur
patent and other intellectual property claims frmompetitors and non-practicing entities.

Although the results of litigation and claims cahbe predicted with certainty, we do not believattthe final outcome of intellectt
property claims that we currently face will havenaterial adverse effect on our business, finarm@abition, or results of operations. Howe'
defending patent and other intellectual properginet is costly and can impose a significant burdemanagement and employees, we
receive unfavorable preliminary or interim rulingshe course of litigation, and there can be reuesnces that favorable final outcomes wi
obtained in all cases. We may decide to settle fawbuits and disputes on terms that are unfaverebus. Similarly, if any litigation to whi
we are a party is resolved adversely, we may bgsuto an unfavorable judgment that may not bersed upon appeal. The terms of su
settlement or judgment may require us to cease swra of our operations or pay substantial amsuatthe other party. In addition, we r
have to seek a license to continue practices foorde in violation of a third partg’rights, which may not be available on reasontdias, o
at all, and may significantly increase our ope@tinsts and expenses. As a result, we may alsedoéred to develop alternative norfringing
technology or practices or discontinue the prasticEhe development of alternative nioifringing technology or practices could req!
significant effort and expense or may not be fdasi@ur business, financial condition, or resuft®perations could be adversely affected
result.

We are involved in numerous class action lawsuitsdaother litigation matters that are expensive atiche consuming, and, if resolv
adversely, could harm our business, financial cotidn, or results of operations.

In addition to intellectual property claims, we atso involved in numerous other lawsuits, inclgdiputative class action lawst
brought by users and advertisers, many of whichmcktatutory damages, and we anticipate that weowiitinue to be a target for numer
lawsuits in the future. Because we have hundredmitions of users, the plaintiffs in class actioases filed against us typically cle
enormous monetary damages even if the allegedggrharm is small or noaxistent. Any litigation to which we are a partyymasult in a
onerous or unfavorable judgment that may not bersad upon appeal, or we may decide to settle igsvsn similarly unfavorable terms. A
such negative outcome could result in paymentaib$tantial monetary damages or fines, or changesnt@roducts or business practices,
accordingly our business, financial condition, esults of operations could be materially and adgrsffected. Although the results of laws
and claims cannot be predicted with certainty, wendt believe that the final outcome of those matthat we currently face will have
material adverse effect on our business, finare@atition, or results of operations. However, ddfeg these claims is costly and can impc
significant burden on management and employeeswanthay receive unfavorable preliminary or intertings in the course of litigatic
which could adversely affect the market price of Glass A common stock. There can be no assurdhaes favorable final outcome will
obtained in all cases.

Our CEO has control over key decision making asesult of his control of a majority of our voting stk.

As a result of voting agreements with certain shodters, together with the shares he holds, Margk&tberg, our founder, Chairm
and CEO, will be able to exercise voting rightshwiéspect to an aggregate of sharesmimon stock, representing a majority of
voting power of our outstanding capital stock fallng our initial public offering. As a result, MZuckerberg has the ability to control
outcome of matters submitted to our stockholdersfproval, including the election of directors @ary merger, consolidation, or sale of a
substantially all of our assets. In addition, MucKerberg has the ability to control the manageraendtaffairs of our company as a result o
position as our CEO and his ability to control giection of our directors. Additionally, in the exe¢hat Mr. Zuckerberg controls our comp
at the time of his death, control
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may be transferred to a person or entity that tegdates as his successor. As a board member &oerpoMr. Zuckerberg owes a fiduciz
duty to our stockholders and must act in good faitla manner he reasonably believes to be in tis¢ ineerests of our stockholders. A
stockholder, even a controlling stockholder, MrcKerberg is entitled to vote his shares, and stareswhich he has voting control as a re
of voting agreements, in his own interests, whicdymot always be in the interests of our stockhsldgenerally. For a description of th
voting agreements, see “Description of Capital lste¥oting Agreements.”

We anticipate that we will expend substantial funds connection with the tax liabilities that ariseipon the initial settlement of RSL
following our initial public offering and the mannein which we fund that expenditure may have an ase effect

We anticipate that we will expend substantial futdlsatisfy tax withholding and remittance obliga on a date approximately
months following our initial public offering, wheme will settle a portion of our RSUs granted ptiorJanuary 1, 2011 (P2011 RSUs). C
the settlement date, we plan to withhold and réntome taxes at applicable minimum statutory ré@sed on the theturrent value of tt
underlying shares. We currently expect that theage of these withholding tax rates will be appneiely 45%. If the price of our commnr
stock at the time of settlement were equal to thdpoint of the price range on the cover page of fhospectus, we estimate that this
obligation would be approximately $ billiam the aggregate. The amount of this obligationl@éde higher or lower, depending on
price of our shares on the RSU settlement datesefite these RSUs, assuming a 45% tax withholditey ke anticipate that we will net se
the awards by delivering approximately shares of Class B common stock to RSU holderssanditaneously withholding approximat

shares of Class B common stock. Imeation with this net settlement we will withholddaremit the tax liabilities on behalf of |
RSU holders in cash to the applicable tax authesiti

To fund the withholding and remittance obligatiame expect to sell equity securities near the setild date in an amount tha
substantially equivalent to the number of sharesamimon stock that we withhold in connection witle tinitial settlement of the P2911
RSUs, such that the newly issued shares shouldendtlutive. However, in the event that we issueitygsecurities, we cannot assure you
we will be able to successfully match the proceedthe amount of this tax liability. In additionnya such equity financing could result i
decline in our stock price. If we elect not to yufund our withholding and remittance obligatiomsotugh the issuance of equity or we
unable to complete such an offering due to markeiditions or otherwise, we may choose to borrondfufrom our credit facility, use
substantial portion of our existing cash, or rghpn a combination of these alternatives. In thenetleat we elect to satisfy our withholding
remittance obligations in whole or in part by dragvion our credit facility, our interest expense @micicipal repayment requirements cc
increase significantly, which could have an advef§ect on our financial results.

We cannot be certain that additional financing witle available on reasonable terms when requiredaball.

From time to time, we may need additional financimgpether in connection with our RSU tax obligationotherwise. Our ability
obtain additional financing, if and when required|l depend on investor demand, our operating perémce, the condition of the cap
markets, and other factors. To the extent we dnaww credit facility to fund the RSU tax obligatiove may need to raise additional funds
we cannot assure you that additional financing bélavailable to us on favorable terms when reduioe at all. If we raise additional fur
through the issuance of equity, equityked or debt securities, those securities mayeh@hts, preferences, or privileges senior toritjets o
our Class A common stock, and our existing stoakéid may experience dilution.

Our costs may grow more quickly than our revenuariming our business and profitability.

Providing our products to our users is costly amdexpect our expenses to continue to increaseeifuthre as we broaden our user k
as users increase the number of connections andrarob data they share with us, as we develop armgeiment new product features 1
require more computing infrastructure, and as we hi
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additional employees. Historically, our costs han@eased each year due to these factors and veetetxpcontinue to incur increasing cost:
particular for servers, storage, power, and datdéecs, to support our anticipated future growth. g¥pect to continue to invest in our glc
infrastructure in order to provide our productsidapand reliably to all users around the world;lirding in countries where we do not exj
significant shorterm monetization. Our expenses may be greatertieaanticipate, and our investments to make ouinkgs and our technic
infrastructure more efficient may not be successfubddition, we may increase marketing, saled,@her operating expenses in order to ¢
and expand our operations and to remain competitiveeases in our costs may adversely affect asiness and profitability.

Our business is dependent on our ability to maimtaand scale our technical infrastructure, and anygsificant disruption in our servic
could damage our reputation, result in a potentialss of users and engagement, and adversely affectfinancial results.

Our reputation and ability to attract, retain, aedve our users is dependent upon the reliablemeaihce of Facebook and our underl
technical infrastructure. Our systems may not texjadtely designed with the necessary reliability smdundancy to avoid performance de
or outages that could be harmful to our businddsatebook is unavailable when users attempt tesacit, or if it does not load as quickly
they expect, users may not return to our websiteftas in the future, or at all. As our user basé the amount and types of information sh
on Facebook continue to grow, we will need an iasireg amount of technical infrastructure, includimgwork capacity, and computing pov
to continue to satisfy the needs of our userss Ipassible that we may fail to effectively scaled agjrow our technical infrastructure
accommodate these increased demands. In additiofusiness is subject to interruptions, delaygaibures resulting from earthquakes, o
natural disasters, terrorism, or other catastrophents.

A substantial portion of our network infrastructuseprovided by third parties. Any disruption oildiae in the services we receive fr
these providers could harm our ability to handlesting or increased traffic and could significantigrm our business. Any financial or of
difficulties these providers face may adverselyeetffour business, and we exercise little contradrahese providers, which increases
vulnerability to problems with the services thepvide.

We recently began to own and build key portionsaefr technical infrastructure, and, because of ouirdited experience in this area, \
could experience unforeseen difficulties.

In 2011, we began serving our products from dat#tece owned by Facebook using servers specifiaslsigned for us. We plan
continue to significantly expand the size of oufrastructure, primarily through data centers tha& edesign and own. The infrastruct
expansion we are undertaking is complex, and ucipated delays in the completion of these projectavailability of components may leac
increased project costs, operational inefficienaieinterruptions in the delivery or degradation of thelity of our products. In addition, th:
may be issues related to this infrastructure thatreot identified during the testing phases of giesand implementation, which may o
become evident after we have started to fully adilihe underlying equipment, that could furtherrddg the user experience or increase
costs.

Our software is highly technical, and if it contagundetected errors, our business could be adveraéfected.

Our products incorporate software that is highthtécal and complex. Our software has contained,raay now or in the future conte
undetected errors, bugs, or vulnerabilities. Soma®in our software code may only be discovelféel he code has been released. Any el
bugs, or vulnerabilities discovered in our coderafelease could result in damage to our reputalibss of users, loss of revenue, or liability
damages, any of which could adversely affect osirtass and financial results.
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We cannot assure you that we will effectively maeagur growth.

Our employee headcount and the scope and complekityur business have increased significantly, with number of fu-time
employees increasing from 2,127 as of Decembe?@10, to 3,200 as of December 31, 2011, and wectxmadcount growth to continue
the foreseeable future. The growth and expansicouofbusiness and products create significant ehgéls for our management, operatic
and financial resources, including managing mudti@lations with users, advertisers, Platform dgweis, and other third parties. In the e
of continued growth of our operations or in the memof our thirdparty relationships, our information technologyteyss or our intern
controls and procedures may not be adequate toosuppr operations. In addition, some members ofroanagement do not have signific
experience managing a large global business operatd our management may not be able to manadegsawth effectively. To effective
manage our growth, we must continue to improveaparational, financial, and management processgsystems and to effectively expe
train, and manage our employee base. As our orgtmizcontinues to grow, and we are required tolément more complex organizatio
management structures, we may find it increasimlififcult to maintain the benefits of our corporatelture, including our ability to quick
develop and launch new and innovative productss €buld negatively affect our business performance.

The loss of one or more of our key personnel, or dailure to attract and retain other highly qualied personnel in the future, could har
our business.

We currently depend on the continued services arfopnance of our key personnel, including Mark kKearberg and Sheryl |
Sandberg. In addition, many of our key technologied systems are custamade for our business by our personnel. The logswppersonne
including members of management as well as keyneeging, product development, marketing, and spkrsonnel, could disrupt ¢
operations and have an adverse effect on our assine

As we continue to grow, we cannot guarantee we auilitinue to attract the personnel we need to miairdur competitive position.
particular, we intend to hire a significant numbéengineering and sales personnel in 2012, andxpect to face significant competition fr
other companies in hiring such personnel, partibule the San Francisco Bay Area. As we mature, iticentives to attract, retain,
motivate employees provided by our equity awardbyofuture arrangements, such as through cash benugay not be as effective as in
past. Additionally, we have a number of current Exyges whose equity ownership in our company gikiem a substantial amount of pers:
wealth. Likewise, we have a number of current elygds whose equity awards are fully vested and Ighafter the completion of our initi
public offering will be entitled to receive subsiahamounts of our capital stock. As a resulmay be difficult for us to continue to retain i
motivate these employees, and this wealth couktatheir decisions about whether or not they cwtito work for us. If we do not succee
attracting, hiring, and integrating excellent persel, or retaining and motivating existing persdnmne may be unable to grow effectively.

We may incur liability as a result of informationatrieved from or transmitted over the Internet oogted to Facebook and claims relatec
our products.

We have faced, currently face, and will continuéaite claims relating to information that is pubéisl or made available on Facebool
particular, the nature of our business exposes afatms related to defamation, intellectual propeights, rights of publicity and privacy, &
personal injury torts. This risk is enhanced intaierjurisdictions outside the United States whaue protection from liability for thirgsarty
actions may be unclear and where we may be lesegbed under local laws than we are in the UnitedeS. We could incur significant cc
investigating and defending such claims and, ifanefound liable, significant damages. If any @ events occur, our business and fina
results could be adversely affected.
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Computer malware, viruses, hacking and phishingaatks, and spamming could harm our business and fesof operations.

Computer malware, viruses, and computer hackingphiighing attacks have become more prevalent innolustry, have occurred on «
systems in the past, and may occur on our systerisei future. Because of our prominence, we belita¢ we are a particularly attract
target for such attacks. Though it is difficultdetermine what, if any, harm may directly resudtnfrany specific interruption or attack, i
failure to maintain performance, reliability, seityirand availability of our products and technig#rastructure to the satisfaction of our u:
may harm our reputation and our ability to retaiisgng users and attract new users.

In addition, spammers attempt to use our prodacsehd targeted and untargeted spam messagesdpwiiEh may embarrass or an
users and make Facebook less dgendly. We cannot be certain that the technolsgi@d employees that we have to attempt to ¢
spamming attacks will be able to eliminate all spagssages from being sent on our platform. As@trespamming activities, our users r
use Facebook less or stop using our products dltege

Payment transactions on the Facebook Platform maibgct us to additional regulatory requirements ardher risks that could be cos
and difficult to comply with or that could harm oubusiness.

Our users can use the Facebook Platform to purchiaeel and digital goods from our Platform deysdes using our Payme
infrastructure. Depending on how our Payments prbeuolves, we may be subject to a variety of land regulations in the United Sta
Europe, and elsewhere, including those governingnanaransmission, gift cards and other prepaid scdestruments, electronic fur
transfers, anti-money laundering, courtenrorist financing, gambling, banking and lendira;yd import and export restrictions. In sc
jurisdictions, the application or interpretationtbése laws and regulations is not clear. To irsgdkexibility in how our use of Payments r
evolve and to mitigate regulatory uncertainty, veerdnapplied for certain money transmitter liceresed expect to apply for additional moi
transmitter licenses in the United States, which geénerally require us to demonstrate complianih many domestic laws in these areas.
efforts to comply with these laws and regulationsild be costly and result in diversion of managemine and effort and may still r
guarantee compliance. In the event that we aredfdarbe in violation of any such legal or regulstoequirements, we may be subjec
monetary fines or other penalties such as a ceabéesist order, or we may be required to makeymochanges, any of which could have
adverse effect on our business and financial result

In addition, we may be subject to a variety of &ddal risks as a result of Payments on the FadeBtatform, including:

. increased costs and diversion of management timeort and other resources to deal with bad @etisns or customer disputes;
. potential fraudulent or otherwise illegal activity users, developers, employees, or third pal

. restrictions on the investment of consumer funeslus transact Payments; and

. additional disclosure and reporting requireme
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We plan to continue expanding our operations abroatiere we have limited operating experience and rbaysubject to increased busin
and economic risks that could affect our financiagsults.

We plan to continue the international expansionoof business operations and the translation ofpvaducts. We currently ma
Facebook available in more than 70 different laggsa and we have offices or data centers in mane 20 different countries. We may el
new international markets where we have limitedh@experience in marketing, selling, and deploying products. For example, we conti
to evaluate entering China. However, this market fizbstantial legal and regulatory complexities bave prevented our entry into Chini
date. If we fail to deploy or manage our operationmternational markets successfully, our bussmesy suffer. In addition, we are subject
variety of risks inherent in doing business int¢iorally, including:

. political, social, or economic instability;
. risks related to the legal and regulatory environtria foreign jurisdictions, including with respetd privacy, and unexpect
changes in laws, regulatory requirements, and eefoent;

. potential damage to our brand and reputation dusotopliance with local laws, including potentiaheership or requirements
provide user information to local authoritit

. fluctuations in currency exchange rates;

. higher levels of credit risk and payment fra

. enhanced difficulties of integrating any foreigmaisitions;

. burdens of complying with a variety of foreign lgv

. reduced protection for intellectual property rigimsome countries;

. difficulties in staffing and managing global opévat and the increased travel, infrastructure, lagel compliance costs associt
with multiple international location:

. compliance with the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practiet the U.K. Bribery Act, and similar laws in otherisdictions; and

. compliance with statutory equity requirements armhagement of tax consequenc

If we are unable to expand internationally and nganthe complexity of our global operations sucadlsfour financial results could
adversely affected.

We plan to continue to make acquisitions, which dduequire significant management attention, disrtipur business, result in dilution 1
our stockholders, and adversely affect our finantiasults.

As part of our business strategy, we have maddrdadd to make acquisitions to add specialized eyg@s, complementary compan
products, or technologies. However, we have noteveaty large acquisitions to date, and, as a remultability to acquire and integrate lar
or more significant companies, products, or tecbgiels in a successful manner is unprovém the future, we may not be able to find o
suitable acquisition candidates, and we may notlble to complete acquisitions on favorable termisatiall. Our previous and futt
acquisitions may not achieve our goals, and anyréuacquisitions we complete could be viewed neghtiby users, developers, advertiser
investors. In addition, if we fail to successfuilytegrate any acquisitions, or the technologieo@aged with such acquisitions, into
company, the revenue and operating results of tmbmed company could be adversely affected. Anggiration process may reqt
significant time and resources, and we may notlide 0 manage the process successfully. We mayumtessfully evaluate or utilize -
acquired technology or personnel, or accuratelgdast the financial impact of an acquisition tratisa, including accounting charges.
may have to pay cash, incur debt, or issue eqeityrties to pay for any such acquisition, any dfichi could adversely affect our financ
results. The sale of equity or issuance of definemce any such acquisitions could result in @luto our stockholders. The
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incurrence of indebtedness would result in incrédseed obligations and could also include coveramtother restrictions that would imp
our ability to manage our operations.

If we default on our leasing and credit obligation®ur operations may be interrupted and our busiseand financial results could t
adversely affected.

We finance a significant portion of our expendititerough leasing arrangements, some of which atreequired to be reflected on
balance sheet, and we may enter into additionalairmrrangements in the future. In particular, heve used these types of arrangemer
finance some of our equipment and data cente@ddition, we have a revolving credit facility tiveé may draw upon to finance our operat
or other corporate purposes, such as funding ouwtthholding and remittance obligations in conmeetwith the settlement of RSUs. If
default on these leasing and credit obligations J@asing partners and lenders may, among othegshi

. require repayment of any outstanding lease obtigator amounts drawn on our credit facil
. terminate our leasing arrangements and credititfgcil

. terminate our access to the leased data centeusilize;

. stop delivery of ordered equipment;

. sell or require us to return our leased equipnar

. require us to pay significant damages.

If some or all of these events were to occur, qerations may be interrupted and our ability todfonir operations or obligations, as \
as our business, financial results, and finan@abdion, could be adversely affected.

We may have exposure to greater than anticipated|tabilities.

Our income tax obligations are based on our cotpayperating structure and intercompany arrangesnerdluding the manner in whi
we develop, value, and use our intellectual prgpartd the valuations of our intercompany transastioThe tax laws applicable to
international business activities, including thevdaof the United States and other jurisdiction® aubject to interpretation. The tax
authorities of the jurisdictions in which we operahay challenge our methodologies for valuing dgwedl technology or intercompe
arrangements, which could increase our worldwidecéf/e tax rate and harm our financial positiom aesults of operations. In addition,
future income taxes could be adversely affecteédiyings being lower than anticipated in jurisdiet that have lower statutory tax rates
higher than anticipated in jurisdictions that h&igher statutory tax rates, by changes in the vViainaf our deferred tax assets and liabilitie:
by changes in tax laws, regulations, or accoungirigciples. We are subject to regular review anditalny both U.S. federal and state
foreign tax authorities. Any adverse outcome ofhsacreview or audit could have a negative effecioan financial position and results
operations. In addition, the determination of owrldwide provision for income taxes and other tabilities requires significant judgment
management, and there are many transactions whereltimate tax determination is uncertain. Althbuge believe that our estimates
reasonable, the ultimate tax outcome may diffemftbe amounts recorded in our financial statemantsmay materially affect our financ
results in the period or periods for which suctedeination is made.

The enactment of legislation implementing changes the U.S. taxation of international business adties or the adoption of other te
reform policies could materially affect our finanai position and results of operations.

The current administration has made public statésnieicating that it has made international tefoma a priority, and key members
the U.S. Congress have conducted hearings and ggd@owide variety of
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potential changes. Certain changes to U.S. tax, legkiding limitations on the ability to defer U.@&xation on earnings outside of the Un
States until those earnings are repatriated tdJiiteed States, could affect the tax treatment offoteign earnings, as well as cash and
equivalent balances we currently maintain outsiti¢he United States. Due to the large and expandoade of our international busin
activities, any changes in the U.S. taxation ohsactivities may increase our worldwide effectiag tate and harm our financial position
results of operations.

Risks Related to Our Initial Public Offering and Ownership of Our Class A Common Stock
The market price of our Class A common stock mayvodatile or may decline regardless of our operaiperformance, and you may not

able to resell your shares at or above the iniglblic offering price.

The initial public offering price for our Class Ammon stock will be determined through negotiatibaveen the underwriters anc
and may vary from the market price of our Classofnmon stock following our initial public offerindf you purchase shares of our Clas
common stock in our initial public offering, you gnaot be able to resell those shares at or abavénttial public offering price. We canr
assure you that the initial public offering prideoorr Class A common stock, or the market pricéofeing our initial public offering, will equi
or exceed prices in privately negotiated transastiof our shares that have occurred from timent fprior to our initial public offering. Tl
market price of our Class A common stock may flatgusignificantly in response to numerous factorany of which are beyond our cont
including:

. actual or anticipated fluctuations in our revenod ather operating resull
. the financial projections we may provide to the lpylany changes in these projections or our failiarmeet these projections;

. actions of securities analysts who initiate or rteiincoverage of us, changes in financial estimbyeany securities analysts w
follow our company, or our failure to meet thesgneates or the expectations of investc

. additional shares of our common stock being sdiol ine market by us or our existing stockholdertheranticipation of such sal
including if we issue shares to satisfy R#&lated tax obligations or if existing stockholdeedl shares into the market wl
applicable*lock-up” periods end

. announcements by us or our competitors of sigmficaroducts or features, technical innovations, ugtions, strateg
partnerships, joint ventures, or capital commitrag

. announcements by us or estimates by third parfiextoal or anticipated changes in the size of usar base or the level of u
engagemen

. changes in operating performance and stock marketations of technology companies in our indusingluding our Platforr
developers and competitol

. price and volume fluctuations in the overall stocérket, including as a result of trends in the ecoy as a whole;
. lawsuits threatened or filed against

. developments in new legislation and pending lavgsoit regulatory actions, including interim or finallings by judicial @
regulatory bodies; an

. other events or factors, including those resulfiogh war or incidents of terrorism, or responsethegse event:

In addition, the stock markets have experienceteme price and volume fluctuations that have adi@@nd continue to affect the ma
prices of equity securities of many technology canips. Stock prices of many

27



Table of Contents

technology companies have fluctuated in a manneszlated or disproportionate to the operating pentoice of those companies. In the |
stockholders have filed securities class actiagditon following periods of market volatility. ve were to become involved in securi
litigation, it could subject us to substantial gpstivert resources and the attention of managefmemt our business, and adversely affeci
business.

Substantial blocks of our total outstanding sharesy be sold into the market whe‘lock-up” or “market standoff” periods end. If there a1
substantial sales of shares of our common stocle grice of our Class A common stock could decli

The price of our Class A common stock could dedliriieere are substantial sales of our common stpakKicularly sales by our directc
executive officers, employees, and significant ldtodders, or when there is a large number of shaf@sir common stock available for s
After our initial public offering, we will have ostanding shares of our Class A comrstmck and shares of our Clas:
common stock, based on the number of shares odistp@as of December 31, 2011. This includes shares that we and the se
stockholders are selling in our initial public affeg, which shares may be resold in the public reaitnmediately following our initial publ
offering, and assumes no additional exercises tdtanding options (other than the exercise of thigon held by Mr. Zuckerberg descrit

elsewhere in this prospectus). In addition, we ekpe issue shares of our Class B commtock upon the net settlement of R
approximately six months following our initial publoffering. Shares of our Class B common stockcanevertible into an equivalent num
of shares of our Class A common stock and genecalfyert into shares of our Class A common stoanupansfer. The shares of c
Class A common stock and shares of our Class B common stockdhanot offered and sold in our initial publidesfng as well as tt
shares underlying outstanding RSUs will be eligiblesale in the public market in the near futusesat forth below.
Date Available for Sale into Public Market Number of Shares of Common Stocl
91 days after the date of this prospectus shares held by the selling stockhaddgher than
Mr. Zuckerbercg
Approximately six months after the date of thisgpectus approximately shares underlyinc- settled RSU:
181 days after the date of this prospe! share
211 days after the date of this prospe! shares held by the selling stockha
One year after the date of this prospe! shares held by Mail.ru Group LimitedlaDST Globa
Limited and their respective affiliat
18 months after the date of this prospectus shares held by Mail.ru Group LimitedldDST Global

Limited and their respective affiliats

Of the 138,539,434 shares of our Class B commarkgtat were subject to stock options outstandamyl (not held by Mr. Zuckerbe
as of December 31, 2011, options to purchase 18484 shares of Class B common stock were vestenf &ecember 31, 2011 and
Class B common stock underlying such options vélketigible for sale approximately six months aftex date of this prospectus. We expe«
additional shares of Class B commaglsto be delivered upon the net settlement of RB&fe/een the date that is approximately
months after the date of this prospectus and DeeeBith 2012, which shares would be eligible foesal the public market immediat
following settlement.

After our initial public offering, certain holders our Class A common stock and Class B commorksitolt have rights, subject to sol
conditions, to require us to file registration staents covering their shares or to include thedreshin registration statements that we ma’
for ourselves or our stockholders. All of thesershaare subject to market standoff or lagkagreements restricting their sale for spec
periods of time after the date of this prospediMs.also intend to register shares of common stoakwe have issued and may
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issue under our employee equity incentive planeOme register these shares, they will be ableetgdid freely in the public market uf
issuance, subject to existing market standoff ckdgp agreements.

Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC may, in its sole discretigpermit our executive officers, our directorsdahe selling stockholders to ¢
shares prior to the expiration of the restrictivevisions contained in the “lock-ugigreements with the underwriters. In addition, waeymr
our sole discretion, permit our employees and ctrséockholders who are subject to market stanalgféements or arrangements with us
who are not subject to a loalp agreement with the underwriters to sell shargs po the expiration of the restrictive provisgnontained i
those market standoff agreements or arrangements.

The market price of the shares of our Class A comstock could decline as a result of the sale sifilastantial number of our share:
common stock in the public market or the percepitothe market that the holders of a large numlbshares intend to sell their shares.

In making your investment decision, you should naly on information in public media that is publigd by third parties. You should re
only on statements made in this prospectus in deti@ing whether to purchase our shares.

You should carefully evaluate all of the informatim this prospectus. We have in the past recei@ad,may continue to receive, a t
degree of media coverage, including coverage thaboi directly attributable to statements made Unyadficers and employees, that incorre
reports on statements made by our officers or eyegls, or that is misleading as a result of omitiiigrmation provided by us, our officers,
employees. You should rely only on the informatmmntained in this prospectus in determining whetioepurchase our shares of Clas
common stock.

We have broad discretion in the use of the net greds from our initial public offering and may notae them effectively.

We cannot specify with any certainty the particulaes of the net proceeds that we will receive fam initial public offering. Ot
management will have broad discretion in the apgilim of the net proceeds, including working cdpjassible acquisitions, and other gen
corporate purposes, and we may spend or invest fireseeds in a way with which our stockholderagtise. The failure by our managen
to apply these funds effectively could harm ouribess and financial condition. Pending their use,may invest the net proceeds from
initial public offering in a manner that does nobvguce income or that loses value.

If securities or industry analysts publish inaccur@or unfavorable research about our business, @tiock price could decline

The trading market for our Class A common stocK dépend in part on the research and reports #hairgies or industry analy:
publish about us or our business. If one or morthefanalysts who cover us downgrade our Classmmuan stock or publish inaccurate
unfavorable research about our business, our @lassnmon stock price would likely decline.

We do not intend to pay dividends for the foreselediture.

We have never declared or paid cash dividends orcapital stock. We currently intend to retain doyure earnings to finance 1
operation and expansion of our business, and weotl@xpect to declare or pay any dividends in tiredeeable future. As a result, you |
only receive a return on your investment in oursSla common stock if the market price of our Classommon stock increases. In addit
our credit facility contains restrictions on ouilap to pay dividends.
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If we are unable to implement and maintain effeativnternal control over financial reporting in théuture, investors may lose confidence
the accuracy and completeness of our financial refsoand the market price of our Class A common s¢auay be negatively affected.

As a public company, we will be required to maintaiternal controls over financial reporting andréport any material weaknesse
such internal controls. In addition, beginning withr 2013 Annual Report on Form ¥0to be filed in 2014, we will be required to fushi¢
report by management on the effectiveness of aernal control over financial reporting pursuantection 404 of the Sarban@sdey Act.
We are in the process of designing, implementimgl gesting the internal control over financial rap® required to comply with tk
obligation, which process is time consuming, cqostlyd complicated. If we identify material weakress# our internal control over financ
reporting, if we are unable to comply with the riegments of Section 404 in a timely manner or dgbet our internal control over financ
reporting is effective, or if our independent régied public accounting firm is unable to expressopinion as to the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting, investanay lose confidence in the accuracy and commsteaf our financial reports and the ma
price of our Class A common stock could be negbtiaéected, and we could become subject to ingasittins by the stock exchange on wi
our securities are listed, the Securities and BExgaaCommission, or other regulatory authoritiesicwttould require additional financial ¢
management resources.

The requirements of being a public company may &traur resources and divert management’s attention.

As a public company, we will be subject to the mipg requirements of the Securities Exchange Act384, as amended (Excha
Act), the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the DoBdank Act, the listing requirements of the , and other applicable securities rudes
regulations. Compliance with these rules and regula will increase our legal and financial comptia costs, make some activities n
difficult, time-consuming, or costly, and increase demand on @ies)s and resources. The Exchange Act requires)@ptber things, that v
file annual, quarterly, and current reports withpect to our business and operating results.

As a result of disclosure of information in thisgpectus and in filings required of a public comparur business and financial condit
will become more visible, which we believe may teguthreatened or actual litigation, including bgmpetitors and other third parties. If s
claims are successful, our business and operagts could be harmed, and even if the claimsalaeasult in litigation or are resolved in
favor, these claims, and the time and resourcesssacy to resolve them, could divert the resounfesir management and harm our busi
and operating results.

If you purchase shares of our Class A common staclour initial public offering, you will experiencesubstantial and immediate dilutior

If you purchase shares of our Class A common sitocur initial public offering, you will experiencgubstantial and immediate dilut
in the pro forma net tangible book value per sludi® per share as of December 31, 201kdan an assumed initial public offering p
of our Class A common stock of $ per shtre ,midpoint of the price range on the cover paighis prospectus, because the price tha
pay will be substantially greater than the pro farmet tangible book value per share of the Clagsgfimon stock that you acquire. T
dilution is due in large part to the fact that earlier investors paid substantially less thaniitéal public offering price when they purcha:
their shares of our capital stock. You will expade additional dilution upon exercise of optiongptochase common stock under our ec
incentive plans, upon vesting of RSUs, if we iseemricted stock to our employees under our eqgnitgntive plans, or if we otherwise is:
additional shares of our common stock. For morerinftion, see “Dilution.”
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The dual class structure of our common stock anckthoting agreements among certain stockholders htheeffect of concentrating votir
control with our CEO, and also with employees anidettors and their affiliates.

Our Class B common stock has ten votes per shadegar Class A common stock, which is the stockaweeoffering in our initial publ
offering, has one vote per share. Stockholders Wdid shares of Class B common stock, including exacutive officers, employees, :
directors and their affiliates, will together hagproximately % of the voting power of our datsling capital stock following our init
public offering. Because of the ten-dme voting ratio between our Class B and Class Wirmmon stock, the holders of our Class B com
stock collectively will continue to control a maijiyr of the combined voting power of our common &t@nd therefore be able to control
matters submitted to our stockholders for appr@ealong as the shares of Class B common stock geprat least 9.1% of all outstanc
shares of our Class A and Class B common stocks €bncentrated control will limit your ability tofluence corporate matters for
foreseeable future.

Future transfers by holders of Class B common staitkgenerally result in those shares convertiogCtass A common stock, subjec
limited exceptions, such as certain transfers &fkéor estate planning purposes. The conversidblags B common stock to Class A comi
stock will have the effect, over time, of increasthe relative voting power of those holders ofs8l18 common stock who retain their shart
the long term. If, for example, Mr. Zuckerberg esaa significant portion of his holdings of Clasommon stock for an extended perio
time, he could, in the future, continue to contrahajority of the combined voting power of our Gl# common stock and Class B comr
stock. For a description of the dual class stragtsee “Description of Capital Stock—Anti-TakeotAzovisions.”

We have elected to take advantage of the “contié®mpany” exemption to the corporate governancéesufor publicly-listed companies.

Because we qualify as“controlled compar” under the corporate governance rules for pul-listed companies, we are not require
have a majority of our board of directors be indefsnt, nor are we required to have a compensatiomittee or an independent nomina
function. In light of our status as a controlledrgmany, our board of directors has determined ndiatee an independent nominating func
and has chosen to have the full board of diredterdirectly responsible for nominating memberswflsoard, and in the future we could e
not to have a majority of our board of directorsilb@ependent or not to have a compensation comeni@er status as a controlled comyg.
could cause our Class A common stock to look lésactive to certain investors or otherwise harmtoading price.

Delaware law and provisions in our restated certdite of incorporation and bylaws that will be infett at the closing of our initial publi
offering could make a merger, tender offer, or prpxontest difficult, thereby depressing the tradipgce of our Class A common stock.

Following the closing of our initial public offerify our status as a Delaware corporation and thetaover provisions of the Delaw
General Corporation Law may discourage, delay revgnt a change in control by prohibiting us frongaging in a business combination \
an interested stockholder for a period of threesyedter the person becomes an interested stoakhadslen if a change of control would
beneficial to our existing stockholders. In additiour restated certificate of incorporation anthtwg that will be in effect at the closing of
initial public offering will contain provisions thanay make the acquisition of our company moredlif, including the following:

. any transaction that would result in a change introd of our company will require the approval ofrejority of our outstandir
Class B common stock voting as a separate ¢

. we have a dual class common stock structure, whiokides Mr. Zuckerberg with the ability to contrible outcome of matte
requiring stockholder approval, even if he owns#igantly less than a majority of the shares of outstanding Class A a
Class B common stoc

31



Table of Contents

when the outstanding shares of our Class B comnumk sepresent less than a majority of the combivatthg power of commc
stock, certain amendments to our restated ceittficd incorporation or bylaws will require the appal of twothirds of the
combined vote of our th-outstanding shares of Class A and Class B comnuak;s

when the outstanding shares of our Class B comnmok sepresent less than a majority of the combinetihg power of oL
common stock, vacancies on our board of directdlide able to be filled only by our board of diters and not by stockholdel

when the outstanding shares of our Class B comnmek gepresent less than a majority of the combinetthg power of ot
common stock, our board of directors will be clfisdiinto three classes of directors with staggehedeyear terms and directc
will only be able to be removed from office for cay

when the outstanding shares of our Class B comntmek gepresent less than a majority of the combinetthg power of ot
common stock, our stockholders will only be abl¢atce action at a meeting of stockholders and patiitten consent

only our chairman, our chief executive officer, quresident, or a majority of our board of directardl be authorized to call
special meeting of stockholde

advance notice procedures will apply for stockhidde nominate candidates for election as direabort® bring matters before
annual meeting of stockholde

our restated certificate of incorporation will aotize undesignated preferred stock, the terms d€lwmay be established, ¢
shares of which may be issued, without stockhcdggroval; anc

certain litigation against us can only be broughDelaware

For information regarding these and other provisj@ee “Description of Capital Stock—Anti-Takeo®eovisions.”
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This prospectus contains forwalabking statements. All statements contained is firospectus other than statements of historica,
including statements regarding our future resulteperations and financial position, our businesatsgy and plans, and our objectives
future operations, are forward-looking statemefite words “believe,” “may,” “will,” “estimate,” “catinue,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “expect,”
and similar expressions are intended to identifyvéod-looking statements. We have based these fddeaking statements largely on «
current expectations and projections about futwents and trends that we believe may affect ownfomnal condition, results of operatic
business strategy, short-term and long-term busigerations and objectives, and financial neettes& forwardeoking statements &
subject to a number of risks, uncertainties andragsions, including those described in the “RisktBes” section. Moreover, we operate i
very competitive and rapidly changing environmexgw risks emerge from time to time. It is not pbssifor our management to predict
risks, nor can we assess the impact of all faatarsur business or the extent to which any facogombination of factors, may cause ac
results to differ materially from those containedany forwardlooking statements we may make. In light of thas&st uncertainties a
assumptions, the future events and trends discusstiis prospectus may not occur and actual reszduld differ materially and advers
from those anticipated or implied in the forward#ing statements.

You should not rely upon forwaddoking statements as predictions of future evemte events and circumstances reflected it
forward-looking statements may not be achievedcoun Although we believe that the expectationkeotéd in the forwardeoking statemen
are reasonable, we cannot guarantee future relds of activity, performance, or achievemelife are under no duty to update any of t
forward-looking statements after the date of thisspectus or to conform these statements to aasalts or revised expectations.

INDUSTRY DATA AND USER METRICS

This prospectus contains estimates and informat@rcerning our industry, including market positiomarket size, and growth rates
the markets in which we participate, that are basethdustry publications and reports. This infotiora involves a number of assumptions
limitations, and you are cautioned not to give undieight to these estimates. We have not indepdigdesrified the accuracy or completen
of the data contained in these industry publicatiand reports. The industry in which we operatgulgect to a high degree of uncertainty
risk due to variety of factors, including those aésed in the “Risk Factors8ection. These and other factors could cause sesultiffe
materially from those expressed in these publicat@nd reports.

The numbers of monthly active users (MAUs) andydadtive users (DAUS) presented in this prospeatesbased on internal compi
data and we use these numbers in managing ourdsssiwe believe that our MAU and DAU numbers asseoaable estimates, and we -
measures to improve their accuracy, such as eltmm&nown fictitious or duplicate accounts. Theme inherent challenges in measu
usage across large online and mobile populationsnar the world. For example, there may be indivisineho have multiple Facebao
accounts in violation of our terms of service, despur efforts to detect and suppress such behaki® another example, applications
certain mobile devices may automatically contast smrvers for regular updates with no user actimolved, and this activity may cause
system to count the user associated with such iaeleg an active user of Facebook. We estimatdebsithan 5% of our estimate of worldw
DAUs as of December 31, 2011 could have resultamh fihis type of automatic mobile activity and tti@s type of activity had an even sma
effect on our estimate of worldwide MAUs. The impatthis automatic activity on our metrics may yay geography, as mobile usage ve
in different regions of the world. In addition, odata regarding the geographic location of oursugebased on a number of factors, such
address, which may not always accurately refleet lecation. We regularly review and may adjust processes for calculating these me
to improve their accuracy. In addition, our MAU aDAU estimates will differ from estimates publishieg third parties due to differences
methodology. For example, some third parties dacoant mobile users.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

We estimate that our net proceeds from the salkeo€Class A common stock that we are offering baélapproximately $ billion,
approximately $ billion if the underwriteexercise in full their right to purchase additibehares to cover ovelotments, assuming
initial public offering price of $ per sleamwhich is the midpoint of the price range oncdbeer page of this prospectus, and after dedt
estimated underwriting discounts and commissiorsestimated offering expenses payable by us. AGih€rease (decrease) in the asst
initial public offering price of $ per steawould increase (decrease) the net proceedsftorasour initial public offering by $ mibin,
assuming the number of shares offered by us, afbdhton the cover page of this prospectus, rem#ie same, after deducting estim
underwriting discounts and commissions.

The principal purposes of our initial public offegi are to create a public market for our Class Warmon stock and thereby enable fu
access to the public equity markets by us and mpl@yees, obtain additional capital, and facilitate orderly distribution of shares for
selling stockholders. We intend to use the netgeds to us from our initial public offering for vkimg capital and other general corpo
purposes; however, we do not currently have angiipeises of the net proceeds planned. We mayaysertion of the net proceeds to u
satisfy a portion of the anticipated tax withholgliand remittance obligations related to the inisieftlement of our outstanding RSUs, wl
will become due approximately six months followitige completion of our initial public offering. Addnally, we may use a portion of 1
proceeds to us for acquisitions of complementainasses, technologies, or other assets. Howeeehawe no commitments with respec
any such acquisitions or investments at this time.

Pending other uses, we intend to invest the pracéeds in investment-grade, interéstaring securities such as money market fi
certificates of deposit, or direct or guaranteetigations of the U.S. government, or hold as ca¥e. cannot predict whether the proce
invested will yield a favorable return. Our managemwill have broad discretion in the applicatidntlee net proceeds we receive from
initial public offering, and investors will be réhg on the judgment of our management regardin@fiptication of the net proceeds.

We will not receive any proceeds from the salehafres of Clasé common stock by the selling stockholders. Marlclzrberg, ot
founder, Chairman, and CEO, will offer and sell shares in our initial public offering. Végpect that substantially all of the net proc
Mr. Zuckerberg will receive upon such sale will biged to satisfy taxes that he will incur upon héisreise of an outstanding stock optiol
purchase 120,000,000 shares of our Class B comtook. s

DIVIDEND POLICY

We have never declared or paid cash dividends orcapital stock. We currently intend to retain dnyure earnings for use in t
operation of our business and do not intend toattecbr pay any cash dividends in the foreseealigefuAny further determination to [
dividends on our capital stock will be at the dégimn of our board of directors, subject to apgilealaws, and will depend on our finan
condition, results of operations, capital requirateggeneral business conditions, and other fathatsour board of directors considers rele\
In addition, the terms of our credit facility comtaestrictions on our ability to pay dividends.
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CAPITALIZATION

The following table sets forth our cash, cash egjeints, and marketable securities and capitalizatsoof December 31, 2011:

on an actual basis;

on a pro forma basis to give effect to (i) the awtic conversion of all of our outstanding sharesvertible preferred stock ir
Class B common stock, (ii) the amendment and mstant of our certificate of incorporation in conti@e with our initial publi
offering, and (iii) a sharbased compensation expense of approximately $6B®minet of income taxes, associated with retgo
stock units (RSUs) granted prior to January 1, 20r£2011 RSUSs) for which the service condition wasséiatil as of Decemb
31, 2011, and which we expect to record upon cotigpi@f our initial public offering, as describadfootnote (1) below; an

on a pro forma as adjusted basis to give furthfieccefo (i) the issuance and sale by us of shares of Class A common stoc
our initial public offering, and the receipt of thet proceeds from our sale of these shares atsamreed initial public offering pri
of the Class A common stock of $ per shéne, midpoint of the price range on the cover pafehis prospectus, afi
deducting estimated underwriting discounts and c@sions and estimated offering expenses payablespgnd (ii) the exercise
Mark Zuckerberg, our founder, Chairman, and CEGarmbutstanding stock option to purchase 120,000db@res of our Class
common stock and the automatic conversion of  of those shares into an equal number ofeshaf our Class A common st
upon their sale in our initial public offerin

The pro forma and pro forma as adjusted informabietow is illustrative only, and cash, cash eqa&d, and marketable securit
additional paid-in capital, retained earnings, ltatackholders’equity, and total capitalization following the colefon of our initial publi
offering will be adjusted based on the actual @hitiublic offering price and other terms of outtiali public offering determined at pricing. Y
should read this table in conjunction with the Eet entitled “Managemers’Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditionl &esults ¢
Operations” and “Description of Capital Stockhd our consolidated financial statements and e@latotes included elsewhere in
prospectus.
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As of December 31, 201

Pro Forma
Actual Pro Forma (1) As Adjusted () 3)
(in millions, except share and per share data)

Cash, cash equivalents, and marketable secL $3,90¢ $  3,90¢ $

Stockholder equity:

Convertible preferred stock, $0.000006 par valé,801,400 share

authorized, 543,366,110 shares issued and outstaadtual; no share

authorized, issued and outstanding, pro forma andgsma as adjuste $ 61F $ — $
Preferred stock, $0.000006 par value; no sharémered, issued and

outstanding, actual; shares authorinedshares issued and

outstanding, pro forma and pro forma as adju — —
Class A common stock, $0.000006 par value; 4,10100@ shares

authorized, 117,097,143 shares issued and outstprafitual;

shares authorized, 117,097,143 shares issued #stdrding, pro

forma; shares authorized, shares issued and outstand

pro forma as adjuste — —
Class B common stock, $0.000006 par value; 4,1401000 share

authorized, 1,213,350,999 shares issued and odistgractual;

shares authorized, 1,758,902,390 shares issueduastdnding, pro

forma; shares authorized, shares issued and outstand
pro forma as adjuste — —
Additional paic-in capital 2,68¢ 4,26
Accumulated other comprehensive | (6) (6)
Retained earning 1,60¢ 967
Total stockholder equity 4,89¢ 5,22¢
Total capitalizatior $4,89¢ $ 5,22¢ $

(1) The pro forma data as of December 31, 20&&guts our cash, cash equivalents, and markedhleities, total stockholders’ equity, and totgpitaization, and gives effect to a share-
based compensation expense of approximately $98®massociated with Pr@011 RSUs, for which the service condition was cleteg as of December 31, 2011 and whict
expect to record upon completion of our initial icitoffering, as further described in “Managemer@scussion and Analysis of Financial Condition @ekults of Operations—
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates—SharsdoaCompensation.” The pro forma adjustment reltdesharebased compensation expense of approximately $98@®mihas
been reflected as an increase to additional paaipital and the associated tax effect of $32ianihas been netted against this charge, resgpitira net reduction of $639 million
retained earnings. The income tax effects have beféected as an increase to deferred tax assdtsded in prepaid expenses and other current assatsflect the anticipated futt
tax benefits upon settlement of these R¢

(2) A $1.00 increase (decrease) in the assumed ipitilic offering price of $ per share wouldrease (decrease) each of cash, cash equivadactsnarketable securities, additic
paid-in capital, total stockholderstuity, and total capitalization by $ nati, assuming that the number of shares offeredsbysiset forth on the cover page of this prospt
remains the same, and after deducting the estimatedrwriting discounts and commissions. If the emditers’ option to purchase additional sharexdwer overallotments i
exercised in full, the pro forma as adjusted amaafneach of cash, cash equivalents, and marketsdterities, additional paid-in capital, total stieclders’ equity, and tot:
capitalization would increase by approximately $ million, after deducting estimated undergtidiscounts and commissions, and we would have  shares of our Clas:
common stock and shares of our ClassrBmon stock issued and outstanding, pro formedasted

(3) The pro forma as adjusted information discussed@millustrative only and will be adjusted basedthe actual initial public offering price and etherms of our initial public offerir
determined at pricing
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The table above excludes the following shares:

138,539,434 shares of Class B common stock issugdae the exercise of options outstanding as ofebder 31, 2011 under ¢
2005 Stock Plan, with a weight-average exercise price of approximately $0.83 pares

378,772,184 shares of Class B common stock sutgj@®EUs outstanding as of December 31, 2011 unate2@05 Stock Plar

1,947,208 shares of Class B common stock subjeRSids granted between January 1, 2012 and JanLia@032 under our 20
Stock Plan; an

77,185,000 shares of our common stock reserveflfore issuance under our equity compensation plamssisting of 25,000,0!
shares of Class A common stock reserved for issuander our 2012 Equity Incentive Plan, and 52@%,shares of Class
common stock reserved for issuance under our 2088k Flan. On the date of this prospectus, any i@nmgshares available 1
issuance under our 2005 Stock Plan will be addetth@éoshares to be reserved under our 2012 Equigntive Plan and we w
cease granting awards under the 2005 Stock Plan2@i2 Equity Incentive Plan also provides for auwtic annual increases in
number of shares reserved thereunder, as morededigribed ir* Executive Compensati—Employee Benefit Plar”
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DILUTION

If you invest in our Class A common stock, yourenast will be diluted to the extent of the diffecerbetween the initial public offeri
price per share of our Class A common stock andptbeforma as adjusted net tangible book valuespare of our Class A common st
immediately after our initial public offering.

Our pro forma net tangible book value as of Decendtie 2011 was $ billion, or $ are of common stock. Our pro for
net tangible book value per share represents tloiainof our total tangible assets reduced by theuarnof our total liabilities and divided
the total number of shares of our common stocktanting as of December 31, 2011, after giving e¢ffecthe automatic conversion of
outstanding shares of our convertible preferredkstioto Class B common stock in connection with imitial public offering.

After giving effect to (1) our sale in our initiglublic offering of shares of Class émamon stock at an assumed initial pu
offering price of the Class A common stock of $ per share, the midpoint of the price rangetten cover page of this prospectus, :
deducting estimated underwriting discounts and c@msions and estimated offering expenses payablesbgnd (2) the exercise by M
Zuckerberg, our founder, Chairman, and CEO, of @standing stock option to purchase 120,000,00€esha our Class B common stock,
pro forma as adjusted net tangible book value a3emfember 31, 2011 would have been approximately $ billion, or $ per share
common stock. This represents an immediate increageo forma as adjusted net tangible book valti§ o per share to our exist
stockholders and an immediate dilution of $ per share to investors purchasing shares in d@tialipublic offering.

The following table illustrates this per share tidn.

Assumed initial offering price per she $

Pro forma net tangible book value per share asezeihber 31, 201 $

Increase in pro forma net tangible book value peres attributable to investors purchasing sharesiin

initial public offering

Pro forma as adjusted net tangible book value Ipgresafter our initial public offerin
Dilution in pro forma net tangible book value paage to investors in this offerir $

A $1.00 increase (decrease) in the assumed ipitiblic offering price of $ per share woutrease (decrease) our pro form
adjusted net tangible book value per share afteirotial public offering by $ , assumingaththe number of shares offered by us, a

forth on the cover page of this prospectus, remiesame, and after deducting the estimated umidiexgvdiscounts and commissions payi
by us.

If the underwriters’ option to purchase additioghres to cover ovellotments is exercised in full, the pro forma tatgible book vall
per share after giving effect to our initial pubtifering would be approximately $ per ghand the dilution in pro forma net tang
book value per share to investors in our initidblprioffering would be approximately $ [sare.
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The following table summarizes, as of December2®1,1, the differences between the number of sharear common stock purchas
from us, after giving effect to the conversion af gonvertible preferred stock into Class B comrstatk, the total cash consideration paid,
the average price per share paid by our existingkbblders and by our new investors purchasingeshar our initial public offering at tl
assumed initial public offering price of the Classommon stock of $ per share, the midpofrthe price range on the cover page of
prospectus, before deducting estimated underwrdisgounts and commissions and estimated offeripgrses payable by us:

. . Average
Shares Purchasec Total Consideration Price Per
Number Perceni Amount Perceni Share
Existing stockholder % % $
New investors
Total 10(% $ 10(%
A $1.00 increase (decrease) in the assumed ipitiblic offering price of $ per share woluhdrease (decrease) total consider:
paid by new investors by $ million, assugnthat the number of shares offered by us, asas#t bn the cover page of this prospet

remains the same, and after deducting estimateerwniting discounts and commissions payable by us.

Sales of shares of Class A common stock by théngedtockholders in our initial public offering Wwileduce the number of shares
common stock held by existing stockholders to  , or approximately % of the total shasésommon stock outstanding after our in
public offering, and will increase the number ofs held by new investors to , or apipnately % of the total shares of comr
stock outstanding after our initial public offering

If the underwriters’ option to purchase additioshires to cover ovelotments is exercised in full, our existing stbolders would ow
% and our new investors would own % ofttital number of shares of our common stock outstanalfter our initial public offering.

The above table and discussion are based on 11T4®%hares of our Class A common stock and 1,02&390 shares of our Clas
common stock outstanding as of December 31, 204yl as the exercise by Mark Zuckerberg, our émun Chairman, and CEO, of
outstanding stock option to purchase 120,000,0@€eshof our Class B common stock, and exclude:

. 138,539,434 shares of Class B common stock issugdae the exercise of options outstanding as ofebdxer 31, 2011 under ¢
2005 Stock Plan, with a weight-average exercise price of approximately $0.83 pares

. 378,772,184 shares of Class B common stock sutgjg®EUs outstanding as of December 31, 2011 unate2@05 Stock Plan;

. 1,947,208 shares of Class B common stock subjeRSids granted between January 1, 2012 and JanLa®032 under our 20
Stock Plan; ani

. 77,185,000 shares of our common stock reserveflfore issuance under our equity compensation plamssisting of 25,000,0!
shares of Class A common stock reserved for issuander our 2012 Equity Incentive Plan, and 52@%,shares of Class
common stock reserved for issuance under our 2088k Flan. On the date of this prospectus, any i@nmgshares available 1
issuance under our 2005 Stock Plan will be addetth@éoshares to be reserved under our 2012 Equigntive Plan and we w
cease granting awards under the 2005 Stock Plan2@i2 Equity Incentive Plan also provides for awtic annual increases in
number of shares reserved thereunder, as morededigribed ir* Executive Compensati—Employee Benefit Plar”

To the extent that any outstanding options areatsed or RSUs are settled, there will be furthértidin to new investors.
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SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA

The consolidated statements of income data for et years ended December 31, 2009, 2010, abti 3d the consolidated bala
sheets data as of December 31, 2010 and 2011 @vedi&om our audited consolidated financial sta¢ats that are included elsewhere in
prospectus. The consolidated statements of opesatiata for the years ended December 31, 2007 GORl&hd the consolidated balance st
data as of December 31, 2007, 2008, and 2009 areedefrom audited consolidated financial statersetitat are not included in tl
prospectus.

You should read this information together with “Maement Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiond aResults ¢
Operations” and our consolidated financial stateand the related notes included elsewhere irptioispectus.

Year Ended December 31
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
(in millions, except per share data)

Consolidated Statements of Operations Date

Revenue $ 152 $ 27z $777 $1,97¢ $3,711
Costs and expens®:
Cost of revenu 41 124 228 492 86C
Marketing and sale 32 76 11& 184 427
Research and developmt 81 47 87 144 38¢
General and administrati\ 122 80 90 121 28C
Total costs and expens 277 327 51E 942 1,95¢
Income (loss) from operatiol (124) (55) 262 1,032 1,75¢
Other expense, n 11 1 8 24 61
Income (loss) before provision for income ta (135) (56) 254 1,00¢ 169t
Provision for income taxe 3 — 25 402 69E
Net income (loss $(139) $ (56 $22¢ $ 60€ $1,00(
Net income (loss) attributable to Class A and CBis®mmon stockholde $(139) $ (56 $122 $ 37z $ 66€
Earnings (loss) per share attributable to Classd\@ass B common stockholder:
@
Basic $(0.1€) $(0.06) $0.12 $ 0.34 $ 0.52
Diluted $(0.1€) $(0.06) $0.1C $ 0.2¢ $ 0.4¢€

Pro forma earnings per share attributable to Gdaagsd Class B commc
stockholder«?:
Basic $ 0.4¢

Diluted $04

(1) Costs and expenses include s-based compensation expense as follc

Year Ended December 31,

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011

(in millions)
Cost of revenu $ 1 $ — — 8 — $ 9
Marketing and sale 3 4 2 2 43
Research and developme 56 7 6 9 114
General and administratiy 13 19 19 9 51
Total shar-based compensation expel $ Tz $ 3 $ 27 $ 2C $ 217

(2) See note 2 of the notes to our consolidated firrstatements for a description of how we compuatsidand diluted earnings (loss) per share ataiidatto Class A and Clas:
common stockholders and pro forma basic and dilagedings per share attributable to Class A andstacommon stockholdel
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As of December 31

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
(in millions)

Consolidated Balance Sheets Dat:

Cash, cash equivalents, and marketable sectL $ 30t $ 297 $ 632 $1,78¢ $3,90¢
Working capital 25C 27¢ 702 1,85 3,70t
Property and equipment, r 82 131 14¢ 574 1,47¢
Total asset 44¢ 50¢E 1,10¢ 2,99( 6,331
Total liabilities 174 17C 241 82¢ 1,43:
Total stockholder equity 273 33t 86¢ 2,16: 4,89¢

Free Cash Flow

In addition to other financial measures presentedcicordance with U.S. generally accepted accagimimciples (GAAP), we monit
free cash flow (FCF) as a n@AAP measure to manage our business, make plardengsions, evaluate our performance, and all
resources. We define FCF as net cash provided kyatipg activities reduced by purchases of propartgt equipment and property i
equipment acquired under capital leases.

We believe that FCF is one of the key financiaidatbrs of our business performance over the leng tand provides useful informat
regarding whether cash provided by operating am#wiis sufficient to fund the ongoing property aeguipment investments requirec
maintain and grow our business. We have chosenhtraxt both purchases of property and equipmedtpaoperty and equipment acqui
under capital leases in our calculation of FCF heeawe believe that these two items collectivelyresent the amount of property .
equipment we need to procure to support our busjrregardless of whether we finance such properggaipment with a capital lease. -
market for financing servers and other technicai@gent is dynamic and we expect our use of caf@taes could vary significantly from y
to year.

We have chosen our definition for FCF because wiemethat this methodology can provide useful sep@ntal information to he
investors better understand underlying trends inbmsiness. We present FCF in this document irséimee manner it is shared with our se
management and board of directors.

FCF has limitations as an analytical tool, and gbauld not consider it in isolation or as a substifor analysis of other GAAP financ
measures, such as net cash provided by operativgias. Some of the limitations of FCF are:

. FCF does not reflect our future contractual comraiits; anc

. other companies in our industry present similaithed measures differently than we do, limiting ithesefulness as comparat
measures

Management compensates for the inherent limitatessociated with using the FCF measure througHodisie of such limitation
presentation of our financial statements in acaocdavith GAAP, and reconciliation of FCF to the mdsectly comparable GAAP meast
net cash provided by operating activities, as prieskbelow.

The following is a reconciliation of FCF to the mesmparable GAAP measure, net cash provided byatipg activities:

Year Ended December 31,

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
(in millions)

Net cash provided by operating activit $ 11 $ 8 $ 15F $ 69¢ $1,54¢

Purchases of property and equipm (55) (70 (33 (293) (60€)

Property and equipment acquired under capital & (12) (26) (56) (217) (479)

Free cash flov $ (59 $ (89 $ 6¢ $ 18¢ $ 47C
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis of our finahcondition and results of operations should kead in conjunction with o
consolidated financial statements and related nth@s appear in this prospectus. In addition totbigal consolidated financial informatic
the following discussion contains forwalabking statements that reflect our plans, estimaend beliefs. Our actual results could di
materially from those discussed in the forw#rdking statements. Factors that could cause ortrdoute to these differences include tk
discussed below and elsewhere in this prospectuticplarly in “Risk Factors.”

Overview

Our mission is to make the world more open and eotad. Facebook enables you to express yoursel@muect with the world arou
you instantly and freely

We build products that support our mission by dnegtitility for users, developers, and advertisers:

Users.We enable people who use Facebook to stay connegtedheir friends and family, to discover whatgsing on in the worl
around them, and to share and express what mtdtdrem to the people they care about.

DevelopersWe enable developers to use the Facebook Platmtmitd applications (apps) and websites that mategwith Facebook
reach our global network of users and to build potslthat are more personalized, social, and engagi

Advertisers We enable advertisers to engage with more tham@ion monthly active users (MAUs) on Facebooksubsets of ol
users based on information they have chosen teeshidn us such as their age, location, genderntarésts. We offer advertisers a uni
combination of reach, relevance, social contexd, @mgagement to enhance the value of their ads.

We generate substantially all of our revenue fralveatising and from fees associated with our Paysigrfrastructure that enables u:
to purchase virtual and digital goods from our felah developers. For the year ended December 311,20e recorded revenue of $3,
million, operating income of $1,756 million, andtriecome of $1,000 million. We were incorporatedliny 2004 and are headquartere
Menlo Park, California.

Highlights in our history are depicted in the grigptn the next page.
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Our History
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Trends in Our User Metrics

Monthly Active Users (MAUs)We define a monthly active user as a registere@lbaak user who logged in and visited Facel
through our website or a mobile device, or toolaation to share content or activity with his or Reccebook friends or connectis
via a thirdparty website that is integrated with Facebookhilast 30 days as of the date of measurement. /&€ a measure
the size of our global active user community, whigls grown substantially in the past several yt

As of December 31, 2011, we had 845 million MAUs,irrcrease of 39% from December 31, 2010. We egpeed growth acro
different geographies, with users in Brazil andidnepresenting a key source of growth. We hadri#lion MAUs in the Unite
States as of December 31, 2011, an increase offi@%the prior year. We had 37 million MAUs in Bilaas of December 3

2011, an increase of 268% from the prior year. Addally, we had 46 million MAUs in India as of Damber 31, 2011, an incre:
of 132% from the prior year.
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There are more than two billion global Internetrasaccording to an industry source, and we aiotmect all of them. We ha
achieved varying levels of penetration within tlopplation of Internet users in different countrieer example, in countries suct
Chile, Turkey, and Venezuela we estimate that we hgenetration rates of greater than 80% of Intensers; in countries such
the United Kingdom and the United States we eséntlaat we have penetration rates of approximatés;6in countries such
Brazil, Germany, and India we estimate that we h@aretration rates of
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approximately 2B0%; in countries such as Japan, Russia, and &mrtda we estimate that we have penetration ratéssseftha
15%; and in China, where Facebook access is restrisve have near 0% penetration. We continueuesinin growing our us
base, particularly in markets where we are relfjtitess penetrated. We expect MAU growth will béndéfom increases
worldwide Internet users, in particular as a resfilincreasing broadband penetration and usageafiilendevices in developil
markets. Growth in MAUs depends on our ability &afn our current users, esigage with inactive users, and add new t
including by extending our reach across mobilefplats.

. Daily Active Users (DAUs)We define a daily active user as a registered Fagebser who logged in and visited Facebook thr
our website or a mobile device, or took an actmishare content or activity with his or her Facdbfs@ends or connections vie
third-party website that is integrated with Facebook,aogiven day. We view DAUs, and DAUs as a percentaighlAUs, a:
measures of user engagem

Worldwide DAUSs increased 48% to 483 million on age during December 2011 from 327 million duringc@&aber 2010. W
experienced growth in DAUs across major marketdutting Brazil, Canada, Germany, Mexico, the Unitéidgdom, and th
United States. Increased mobile usage was a keyilmator to this growth. DAUs as a percentage of WAincreased from 54%
December 2010 to 57% in December 2011.
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We believe that we have the opportunity to contitougrow our DAUs around the world. Growth in DAdJspends on our ability
attract new users and increase the frequency afgamgent for existing users. We aim to increase DByJdeveloping products tt
are more compelling for our users, increasing #levance of the information we display for eachrusereasing the number
compelling Platform apps and website integraticarg] improving the quality of our products acrossbiteoplatforms. We als
believe that younger users have higher levels glagement with the web and mobile devices in genandl with Faceboc
specifically. We anticipate that demographic trender the long term may contribute to growth in @ypement as a greater nun
of users will come from demographic groups thatehgrown up with the web and mobile devices and ggend more time onlil
every day.

. Mobile MAUs. We define a mobile MAU as a user who accessed ea&elia a mobile app or via mok-optimized versions of o
website such as m.facebook.com, whether on a mpbdee or tablet such as the iPad, during the gerfictneasuremen

We had more than 425 million mobile MAUs in Decemb@11. In 2011, mobile usage of Facebook increasethrkets around tl
world, including major developed markets such @&sUhited States where smartphone penetration gepidly. Our mobile MAL
growth was also driven by product enhancementssacseveral mobile platforms. For example, we imedowur product offerir
on feature phones following our acquisition of Suap April 2011 and we launched the Facebook appHe iPad in October 20:
Improving our mobile products and increasing mobiage of Facebook are key company priorities weabelieve are critical
help us maintain and grow our user base and engageser the long term. We expect consumers arthaavorld will continue t
increase the amount of time they spend and thenre#tion they share and consume through mobile dsvic

We do not currently display ads to users who acEasgbook via mobile apps or our mobile websitethieoextent that increasi
usage of Facebook through mobile apps or our melslesite substitutes for the use of Facebook thrqegsonal computers wh
we do show ads, the number of ads that we deliveisérs and our revenue may be negatively affectézss and until we inclu
ads or sponsored stories on our mobile apps andenobbsite. We believe that people around the availl continue to increa:
their use of Facebook from mobile devices, and dbate of this mobile usage has been and will caetto be a substitute for use
Facebook through personal computers.

Factors Affecting Our Performance

Growth trends in MAUs, DAUs, and mobile MAUs ardtical variables that affect our revenue and finahresults by influencing tt
number of ads we are able to show, the value o$ehads, the volume of Payments transactions, asasebur expenses and caf
expenditures.

In addition, changes in user engagement pattesosadlect our revenue and financial performance.béleve that overall engagemen
measured by the percentage of users who creatertasuch as wall posts, messages, or photos)margte feedback (such as by Liking
Commenting on the content created) has remaindtesta increased as our user base has grown. Mergthe average amount of content
feedback created by each user has continued teaserover time.

Our revenue trends are also affected by ad invgmanagement changes affecting the number, sizgoaninence of ads we display.
example, in the fourth quarter of 2010, we sigaifity increased the number of ads on many Facepag&s. As another example, in the fo
quarter of 2011, we increased the reserve priee, the minimum price threshold) in our advertisagrtion system in order to reduce
frequency with which low quality ads are displayedusers. This change caused a reduction in thelbbveimber of ads shown and incree
the average price per ad as a result of factolsdimgy the removal of ads with bids that were bekhw reserve price and some advert
raising their bids in response to this change.tRisrparticular
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change, we estimate that the decrease in the nuofitagts displayed and the increase in average peced approximately offset each o
such that the impact on total revenue was minimal.

We make ongoing product changes intended to enhiecaeser experience. In September 2011, at ouorference, we announced
launch of Timeline as an enhanced and updatedorerdi the Facebook Profile to enable users to bettganize and access the grov
quantity of their updates, photos, comments, ahdrotontent. We expect Timeline to roll out broadipund the world in the first quartet
2012. Also in September 2011, we announced thectaohthe next iteration of Open Graph APls, whictables Platform developers to cr
new types of social apps that facilitate sharimdf-expression, and serendipitous discovery acroseadbrariety of activities and interests.
expanded the Open Graph to include more typesasfrghactivities in the first quarter of 2012.

In 2011, we continued to make significant investtaan our technical infrastructure to ensure that growing user base can acc
Facebook rapidly and reliably. In April 2011, weghe serving user traffic out of our first owned dnult data center in Prineville, Oregon.
developed designs for data centers, server hargdwack software that were optimized for use in oewrdata center facilities, resulting
significant increases in energy efficiency whilgrsficantly reducing our server operation costs pared to the usage of traditional servers
leased data centers. We are investing in additibaeéboolewned data centers in the United States and Eumogave aim to deliver Facebc
products rapidly and reliably to all users aroumelworld.

At the end of 2011, we had 3,200 ftilhe employees, an increase of 50% from the year.p@ur employee headcount has incre
significantly and we expect this growth to contirfoe the foreseeable future. We have also madeirtetid to make acquisitions with -
primary objective of adding software engineers,dpid designers, and other personnel with certaghrtelogy expertise. While @
organization is growing rapidly, we are focusedrmreasing our talent base at a rate that allowts pseserve our culture.

Components of Results of Operations

Revenue

We generate substantially all of our revenue fralveatising and from fees associated with our Paysigrfrastructure that enables ut
to purchase virtual and digital goods from our félah developers.

Advertising.Our advertising revenue is generated by displaguhgproducts on our website. Advertisers pay foprmdiucts displayed ¢
Facebook, either directly or through their relasibips with advertising agencies, based on the nuofidepressions delivered or the numbe
clicks made by our users. We recognize revenue frardisplay of impressiobased ads on our website in the contracted pemiaehich the
impressions are delivered. Impressions are coreiidgelivered when an ad appears in pages disptayeskers. We recognize revenue fromr
delivery of click-based ads on our website in thaqr in which a user clicks on an ad.

Payments and other fee®Ve enable Payments from our users to our Platfiewelopers. Our users can transact and make payok
the Facebook Platform by using credit cards, PagPather payment methods available on our web##e receive a negotiated fee from
Platform developers when users make purchasesdtor®latform developers using our Payments infuastire. We recognize revenue ne
amounts remitted to our Platform developers. Weehaandated the use of our Payments infrastructurgdme apps on Facebook, and
related to Payments are generated almost exclydrah games. To date, games from Zynga have gtatethe majority of our payments ¢
other fees revenue. In addition, we generate déesr revenue in connection with arrangements eetatdusiness development transactions
fees from various mobile providers; in recent pasicother fees revenue has been immaterial.
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Cost of Revenue and Operating Expenses

Cost of revenueOur cost of revenue consists primarily of expersesociated with the delivery and distribution of products. Thes
include expenses related to the operation of ota danters such as facility and server equipmeptedéation, facility and server equipm
rent expense, energy and bandwidth costs, suppdnnaintenance costs, and salaries, benefits,fmrdisased compensation for employee
our operations teams. Cost of revenue also incladktit card and other transaction fees relatgudoessing customer transactions.

Marketing and salesOur marketing and sales expenses consist primefilgalaries, benefits, and shdrased compensation for
employees engaged in sales, sales support, magkbtisiness development, and customer serviceifunsctOur marketing and sales expe
also include user-, developer-, and advertisemfaonarketing and promotional expenditures.

Research and developmeResearch and development expenses consist prinvériglaries, benefits, and shdr@sed compensation
employees on our engineering and technical teantsam responsible for building new products as waslimproving existing products. \
expense substantially all of our research and dewe¢nt costs as they are incurred.

General and administrativédur general and administrative expenses consistapilly of salaries, benefits, and shdx@sed compensati
for our executives as well as our finance, legaimhn resources, and other administrative employeeaddition, general and administrar
expenses include outside consulting, legal and watow services, and facilities and other suppgrtioverhead costs. General
administrative expenses also include legal setthiésne

Share-based Compensation Expense

We have granted restricted stock units (RSUs) toemployees and members of our board of direcR®&Js granted prior to Januan
2011 (Pre2011 RSUs) under our 2005 Stock Plan vest uporsdtisfaction of both a service condition and aitiggy condition. The servic
condition for the majority of these awards is et over four years. The liquidity condition istisied upon the occurrence of a qualify
event, defined as a change of control transactiaixanonths following the effective date of ouiti@ public offering.

As of December 31, 2011, we have recognized noegbased compensation expense for &1 RSUs, because a qualifying e
described above had not occurred. In the quartewhiith our initial public offering is completed, waill begin recording sharbase:
compensation expense using the accelerated aibrbuotethod, net of forfeitures, based on the gdaté fair value of the Pr2011 RSUs. F
the Pre-2011 RSUs, if the initial public offeringchbeen completed on December 31, 2011, we wowe texognized $968 million of share-
basedcompensation expense on that date, and would hprexamately $239 million of additional future pedi expense to be recognized ¢
the remaining service periods through 2018.

RSUs granted on or after January 1, 2011 (R0%t RSUs) are not subject to a liquidity conditiomrder to vest. Compensation exp¢
related to these grants is based on the grantfdamtealue of the RSUs and is recognized on agititdine basis over the applicable sen
period. The majority of Post-2011 RSUs are earngat a service period of four to five years. In 20ie recognized $189 million of share-
based compensation expense related to theZ8d4t-RSUs, and we anticipate recognizing $1,18%amibf future period expense relatec
Post-2011 RSUs outstanding as of December 31, 2011.

As of December 31, 2011, there was $2,463 millibnrwecognized shareased compensation expense, of which $2,396 milioelate
to RSUs and $67 million is related to restrictedrsls and stock options. This unrecognized compiensaxpense is expected to be recogr
over a weighted-average period of approximately years.

See “—Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates-ai®hbased Compensation” for additional informatiegarding our sharkase:
compensation expense.
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Results of Operations
The following table summarizes our historical cditaded statements of income de

Year Ended December 31

2009 2010 2011
(in millions)
Consolidated Statements of Income Dat
Revenue $ 777 $1,97¢ $3,711
Costs and expens®:
Cost of revenu 22% 49: 86C
Marketing and sale 11F 184 427
Research and developmt 87 144 38¢
General and administrati\ 90 121 28C
Total costs and expens 51k 942 1,95¢
Income from operation 262 1,032 1,75¢€
Other expense, n 8 24 61
Income before provision for income tay 254 1,00¢ 1,69t
Provision for income taxe 25 402 69E
Net income $ 22¢ $ 60€ $1,00(

(1) Costs and expenses include s-based compensation expense as follc

Year Ended December 31,

2009 2010 2011
(in millions)
Cost of revenur $ — — $ 9
Marketing and sale 2 2 43
Research and developme 6 9 114
General and administratiy 19 9 51
Total shar-based compensation expel $ 27 $ 2C $ 217

The following table summarizes our historical cditsied statements of income data as a percenfageenue for the periods shown:

Year Ended December 31

2009 2010 2011
Consolidated Statements of Income Date
Revenue 10C% 100% 10C%
Costs and expens®:
Cost of revenu 29 25 23
Marketing and sale 15 9 12
Research and developmt 11 7 10
General and administrati\ 12 6 8
Total costs and expens 66 48 53
Income from operation 34 52 47
Other expense, n 1 1 2
Income before provision for income tay 33 51 46
Provision for income taxe 3 2C 19
Net income 29% 31% 27%

(1) Costs and expenses include the following s-based compensation expense as a percentage ofiee

Year Ended December 31

2009 2010 2011
Cost of revenue —% —% —%
Marketing and sale — — 1
Research and developme 1 — 3
General and administratiy 2 — 1
Total shar-based compensation expel 3% 1% 6%
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Years Ended December 31, 2009, 2010, and 2011

Revenue
Year Ended December 31 2009 to 201 2010 to 201
2009 2010 2011 % Change % Change
(in millions)
Advertising revenu $ 764 $1,86¢ $3,15¢ 145% 69%
Payments and other fees revel 13 10€ 557 NM NM
Total revenu $ 77 $1,97¢ $3,711 154% 88%

2011 Compared to 201®evenue in 2011 increased $1,737 million, or 88¥hmared to 2010. The increase was due primarily 6%
increase in advertising revenue to $3,154 milliddvertising revenue grew due to a 42% increaséénnumber of ads delivered and an !
increase in the average price per ad delivered.ifidrease in ads delivered was driven primarilyusgr growth. The number of ads delive
was also affected by many other factors includingdpct changes that significantly increased the memof ads on many Facebook pe
beginning in the fourth quarter of 2010, partiadiffset by an increase in usage of our mobile prtgjughere we do not show ads, anc
various product changes implemented in 2011 thapijregate modestly reduced the number of ads resirc@ages. The increase in avel
price per ad delivered was affected by factorsuidiclg improvements in our ability to deliver momdavant ads to users and product cha
that contributed to higher user interaction with #us by increasing their relative prominence.

Payments and other fees revenue increased to $Bltohrm 2011 due to the adoption of Facebook Pegta, which has been gradu
adopted by our Platform developers and began geémgraignificant revenue in the fourth quarter dfl@. Facebook Payments bec
mandatory for all game developers accepting paysnent the Facebook Platform with limited exceptiams July 1, 2011. According!
comparisons of payments and other fees revenuertods before that date may not be meaningful Olh12 other fees revenue was immaterial.

In 2011, we generated approximately 56% of our maeefrom advertisers and Platform developers basé#te United States, compa
to 62% in 2010. This change is due to factors iticlg a faster growth rate of international users @@ expansion of international sales off
and payment methods. The majority of our revenuside of the United States came from customerstéadcen western Europe, Canada,
Australia.

2010 Compared to 200®Revenue in 2010 increased $1,197 million, or 15d&tnpared to 2009. The increase was primarily dug
145% increase in advertising revenue to $1,868anilin 2010. Advertising revenue grew primarily dioean increase in the number of
delivered driven by growth in users and engagerasnwell as the number of ads per page. Paymentsthed fees revenue increased to ¢
million in 2010 due to the initial adoption of Fao®mk Payments during the year. In 2010, we gengigtproximately 62% of our revenue fr
advertisers and Platform developers based in thetlStates, compared to 67% in 2009.

Twelve percent of our total revenue in 2011, args$ lhan 10% in 2010 and 2009, came from a singléomer, Zynga. This rever
consisted of payments processing fees related ng&y sales of virtual goods and from direct advergigirchased by Zynga. In May 20
we entered into an addendum to our standard tensiscanditions with Zynga pursuant to which it agiée use Facebook Payments as
primary means of payment within Zynga games playrethe Facebook Platform. Under this addendum,etgr a fee of up to 30% of the fi
value of user purchases in Zynga’s games on theldea Platform. This addendum expires in May 2015.
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Cost of revenue

Year Ended December 31, 2009 to 201 2010 to 201
2009 2010 2011 % Change % Change
(dollars in millions)
Cost of revenu $ 228 $ 492 $ 86( 121% 74%
Percentage of reveni 29% 25% 23%

2011 Compared to 201Q@ost of revenue in 2011 increased $367 million4%o, compared to 2010. The increase was primauigy/td al
increase in expenses related to expanding ourcaatizr operations, such as depreciation and datardacility rent. These expenses suppc
our user growth, the increased usage of our praducusers, developers, and advertisers, and tineheof new products. Credit card and ¢
related revenue processing fees also contributdtetncrease.

2010 Compared to 200€ost of revenue in 2010 increased $270 million]1 2%, compared to 2009. The increase was primeuiéytc
an increase in expenses related to expanding darcéater operations. Credit card and other relateenue processing fees also contributi
the increase.

We anticipate that cost of revenue will increasdatiar amount for the foreseeable future as weaedmur data center capacity to sup
user growth, increased user engagement, and thergedf new products. We expect costs will alserior payment processing as we incr
Payments volumes and add new payment methods.Xfieeted increase in cost of revenue may be paruailigated if we are able to real
improvements in server performance and the effaienf our technical operations. We expect costewenue as a percentage of revent
decline modestly over time to the extent we aressgful in meeting our objective of efficiently reasing revenue.

Marketing and sales

Year Ended December 31, 2009 to 201 2010 to 201
2009 2010 2011 % Change % Change
(dollars in millions)
Marketing and sale $ 11F $ 184 $ 427 60% 132%
Percentage of reveni 15% 9% 12%

2011 Compared to 2010Jarketing and sales expenses in 2011 increased $@#48n, or 132%, compared to 2010. The increase
primarily due to an increase in payroll and beseéikpenses, resulting from a 46% increase in erepldyeadcount to support global s:
business development, and customer service, arad lésser extent, an increase in our user-, developad advertisefacing marketing
Additionally, sharebased compensation expense increased from $2 milli@010 to $43 million in 2011 due to recognitioinexpense relat
to Post-2011 RSUs.

2010 Compared to 200 arketing and sales expenses in 2010 increasedn®i®n, or 60%, compared to 2009. The increase
primarily due to an increase in payroll and beseéikpenses, resulting from a 90% increase in erepldyeadcount to support global s:
business development, and customer service. Additin we increased our spending to support our-uskeveloper-, and advertiséeinc
marketing as well as our market research and aoslgapabilities.

We anticipate that marketing and sales expenségwibase in dollar amount and as a percentagevehue in 2012 as a result of gro
in headcount and headcount-related expenses, inglsthare-based compensation expense related te2@bk RSUs. We plan to add sa
business development and customer service emplogpes new offices, and continue our investmentisar-, developer-, and advertiser-
facing marketing. Assuming we complete our inifiagiblic offering in 2012, we also anticipate a sfgaint increase in marketing and si
expenses in 2012 due to the initial inclusion adrekbased compensation expense from Pre-2011 RStssaribed in “~Eritical Accounting
Policies and Estimates—Share-based Compensation.”
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Research and development

Year Ended December 31, 2009 to 201 2010 to 201
2009 2010 2011 % Change % Change
(dollars in millions)
Research and developm $ 87 $ 144 $ 38¢ 66% 169%
Percentage of reveni 11% % 10%

2011 Compared to 201®esearch and development expenses in 2011 incr§a4ddmillion, or 169%, compared to 2010. The iask
was primarily due to an increase from $9 million2@10 to $114 million in 2011 for share-based comspéon expense related to Past]
RSUs. Payroll and benefits expense also increasedala 57% growth in employee headcount in engimgedesign, product managem:

and other technical functions. This investment sutgal our efforts to improve existing products duild new products for users, develop
and advertisers.

2010 Compared to 200®esearch and development expenses in 2010 incrg&3emillion, or 66%, compared to 2009. The incecas:
primarily due to an increase in payroll and beseditpenses, resulting from a 81% increase in erepltyeadcount in engineering and rel
functions. This investment supported our effortgiiprove existing products and build new produotsusers, developers, and advertisers.

We anticipate that research and development expemifidncrease in dollar amount and as a percentdgevenue in 2012 as a resu
growth in headcount and headcount-related expersesding share-based compensation expense retat&bst2011 RSUs. We plan
continue rapidly hiring engineering, design, pradom@anagement, and other technical employees. Asgume complete our initial pub
offering in 2012, we also anticipate a significamtrease in research and development expenseslih @ge to the initial inclusion of share-
based compensation expense from Pre-2011 RSUseaslekel in “—Critical Accounting Policies and Estitas—Share-based Compensation.”

General and administrative

Year Ended December 31, 2009 to 201 2010 to 201
2009 2010 2011 % Change % Change
(dollars in millions)
General and administratiy $ 90 $121 $ 28C 34% 131%
Percentage of reveni 12% 6% 8%

2011 Compared to 201General and administrative expenses in 2011 inece&$59 million, or 131%, compared to 2010. Thedas:
was primarily due to an increase in payroll anddfigs expenses, resulting from a 54% increase ipleyee headcount in finance, legal, hui
resources, and other functions. Additionally, algstonsulting and legal fees contributed to theeimse. Sharbased compensation expe
increased from $9 million in 2010 to $51 million2011 due to recognition of expense related to-P0$L RSUs.

2010 Compared to 200%eneral and administrative expenses in 2010 inece$81 million, or 34%, compared to 2009. The inseewa

primarily due to an increase in payroll and besefitpenses, resulting from a 61% increase in ereplbgadcount in general and administri
functions and, to a lesser extent, an increaseatside consulting and legal fees.

We anticipate that general and administrative egpemvill increase in dollar amount and increasa psrcentage of revenue in 2012
result of growth in headcount and headcount-relatgqzbnses, including share-based compensatiordeiatthe Pos?011 RSUs. We plan
increase general and administrative employee heatico support our growth. Assuming we complete iaitial public offering in 2012, w
also anticipate a significant increase in genendladministrative expenses in 2012 due to thealriitclusion of
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share-based compensation expense from Pre-2011 RSUdescribed in “—Critical Accounting Policies amltstimates—Sharbase!
Compensation.”

Other expense, net

Year Ended December 31, 2009 to 201 2010 to 201
2009 2010 2011 % Change % Change
(in millions)
Interest expens $(10) $(22) $(42) 12(% 91%
Other income (expense), r 2 (2) (19) NM NM
Other expense, n $ (8) $(24) $(61) _200% _154%

2011 Compared to 201@ther expense, net in 2011 increased $37 milliol5d%, compared to 2010. Interest expense inclieas&2(
million, driven by an increase in fees related to credit facility as described in “—Liquidity ar@@apital Resourcesgnd the payments rela
to an increased volume of property and equipmeranited by capital leases. The change in other egpsas primarily due to $29 million
foreign exchange related losses in 2011. Foreighange losses in 2011 stemmed from the periodiceasurement of our intercompany E
balances. Foreign currency balances were immaier2010. These expenses were partially offsetrbjnarease in interest income driver
larger invested cash balances.

2010 Compared to 200thterest expense in 2010 increased as a result infcaeased use of capital leases and interest gratgmelated |
our $250 million credit facility as described in ‘=squidity and Capital Resources.” This loan wasaidpn full in March 2011.

Provision for income taxes

Year Ended December 31, 2009 to 201 2010 to 201
2009 2010 2011 % Change % Change
(dollars in millions)
Provision for income taxe $ 25 $ 402 $ 69t NM 73%
Effective tax rate 10% 40% 41%

2011 Compared to 201@ur provision for income taxes in 2011 increase#@3baillion, or 73%, compared to 2010 primarily doear
increase in taxable income. Our effective tax nateeased primarily due to losses arising outdigelnited States in jurisdictions where we
not receive a tax benefit and the impact of cemain-deductible share-based compensation expeatseds recognized during the year.

2010 Compared to 200Qur provision for income taxes in 2010 increased/$illion compared to 2009 primarily due to anrease i
taxable income. Our effective tax rate increasétgmily due to a benefit recorded in 2009 relatthe release of a valuation allowance, w
did not recur in 2010.

Our effective tax rate has exceeded the U.S. sigtuate in part because of losses arising outiddJnited States in jurisdictions wh
we do not receive a tax benefit. These losses wenearily due to the initial starp costs incurred by our foreign subsidiaries terafe it
certain foreign markets, including the costs inedrby those subsidiaries to license, develop, aedour intellectual property. Our effective
rate in the future will depend on the portion ofr quofits earned within and outside the United &atwvhich will also be affected by «
methodologies for valuing our intellectual propeatyd intercompany transactions.

Assuming we complete our initial public offering 2012, we anticipate a significant increase in slfi@sed compensation expense 1
Pre-2011 RSUs, which may contribute to increasimgedffective tax rate because a portion of theeshased compensation expense will nc
tax deductible in the United States. In
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addition, our effective tax rate may fluctuate digantly in any quarter in which there is signditt shardsased compensation expens
significant exercises or settlements of stock asard

Quarterly Results of Operations Data

The following tables set forth our quarterly condaled statements of income data in dollars aral gpercentage of total revenue for €
of the eight quarters in the period ended Decer8beP011. We have prepared the quarterly conseliistatements of income data on a |
consistent with the audited consolidated finansfatements included elsewhere in this prospeatuthe opinion of management, the finar
information reflects all adjustments, consistindyosf normal recurring adjustments, which we comsidecessary for a fair presentation of
data. This information should be read in conjunctigth the audited consolidated financial staternemtd related notes included elsewhe
this prospectus. The results of historical periadsnot necessarily indicative of the results for future period.

Three Months Ended

Mar 31, Jun 30, Dec 31 Mar 31, Jun 30,
Sep 30 Sep 30 Dec 31,
2010 2010 2010 2010 2011 2011 2011 2011
(in millions)
Consolidated Statements of Income Date
Revenue
Advertising revenu $34C $42¢ $45( $658 $ 637 $77€ $ 79 $ 942
Payments and other fees revel 5 8 17 76 94 11¢ 15€ 18¢
Total revenue 34t 431 467 731 731 89t 954 1,131
Costs and expens®:
Cost of revenu 10C 111 131 15C 167 21C 23¢€ 247
Marketing and sale 36 44 45 59 68 102 124 132
Research and developmt 25 32 41 45 57 99 10¢€ 124
General and administrati\ 22 26 34 40 51 76 72 80
Total costs and expens 18¢ 213 251 294 343 48¢ 54C 583
Income from operation 162 21¢ 21€ 437 38¢ 407 414 54¢
Net income $ 95 $12¢ $131 $251 $23= $24C $ 227 $ 30z

(1) Costs and expenses include s-based compensation expense as follc

Three Months Ended
Mar 31, Jun 30 Sep 30 Dec 31 Mar 31, Jun 30 Sep 30 Dec 31

2010 2010 2010 2010 2011 2011 2011 2011

(in millions)
Cost of revenu: $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 3 $ 3 $ 3
Marketing and sale — 1 — 1 — 11 16 16
Research and developme 2 2 2 3 4 35 33 42
General and administratiy 3 2 2 2 3 15 18 15
Total shar-based compensatic $ 5 $ 5 $ 4 $ 6 $ 7 $ 64 $ 70 $ 76
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Three Months Ended
Mar 31, Jun 30 Sep 3C Dec 31 Mar 31, Jun 30, Sep 30 Dec 31

2010 2010 2010 2010 2011 2011 2011 2011
(as a percentage of total revenue)

Consolidated Statements of Income Datz

Revenue
Advertising revenu 99% 98% 96% 90% 87% 87% 84% 83%
Payments and other fees revel 1 2 4 10 13 13 16 17
Total revenu 10C% 10C% 10C% 10C% 10C% 10C% 10C% 10C%
Costs and expens®:
Cost of revenu 29% 26% 28% 21% 23% 23% 25% 22%
Marketing and sale 10 10 10 8 9 12 13 12
Research and developmt 7 7 9 6 8 11 11 11
General and administrati\ 6 6 7 5 7 8 8 7
Total costs and expens 53 49 54 40 47 55 57 52
Income from operation 47 51 46 60 53 45 43 48
Net income 28% 30% 28% 34% 32% 27% 24% 27%

(1) Costs and expenses include s-based compensation expense as follc
Three Months Ended

Mar 31, Jun 30, Sep 30 Dec 31 Mar 31, Jun 30, Sep 3C Dec 31
2010 2010 2010 2010 2011 2011 2011 2011
(as a percentage of total revenue
Cost of revenur —% —% —% —% —% —% —% —%
Marketing and sale — — — — — 1 2 1
Research and developme 1 — — — 1 4 3 4
General and administratiy 1 — — — — 2 2 1
Total shar-based compensatic 1% 1% 1% 1% 1% 7% 7% 7%

Quarterly Trends

Revenue

Advertising spending is traditionally seasonallysy in the fourth quarter, and we have experiesiguificantly lower sequential grow
rates from the fourth quarter to the first quadkthe following year. The rapid growth in our busss may have partially masked these see
trends to date and the seasonal impacts may beprmmeunced in the future.

Fourth Quarter 2011 Compared to Fourth Quarter 20R@venue in the fourth quarter of 2011 increased$4illion, or 55%, compare
to the fourth quarter of 2010. The increase wanarily due to a 44% increase in advertising revanuk943 million. Advertising revenue gr
due to a 16% increase in the number of ads detivenel a 24% increase in the average price perlactidl. The increase in ads delivered
primarily driven by user growth, partially offsey lan increase in usage of Facebook mobile produbtre we do not show ads, proc
changes in 2011 which in aggregate reduced the eunftads on certain Facebook pages, our decisigmctease the reserve price for ac
our system thereby reducing the number of ads shanh a reduction in usage of apps on Facebookhwieiduced the number of ads shc
The increase in average price per ad for the fogutrter of 2011 as compared to the fourth quart&010 was driven by factors includ
changes that contributed to higher user interactith the ads by increasing their relative promiceion certain pages and the higher re:
price for ads.

Payments and other fees revenue increased to $il88rm the fourth quarter of 2011 due to the pton of Facebook Payments, wh
has been gradually adopted by our Platform devetoged began generating

55



Table of Contents

significant revenue in the fourth quarter of 20E@cebook Payments became mandatory for all gamelajers accepting payments on
Facebook Platform with limited exceptions on JulY2Q@11. Accordingly, comparisons of payments afetotees revenue to periods before
date may not be meaningful.

Cost of revenue and operating expenses

Cost of revenue and operating expenses increaséuagdevery quarter presented, primarily due to éased expenses related to
continued expansion of our technical infrastructanel increases in employee headcount. The incréasasarketing and sales, research
development, and general and administrative expgemmsethe 2011 quarterly periods also reflect sigaiit increases for shabmse:
compensation expense related to Post-2011 RSUs.

For additional information on matters that may efffeur quarterly results, see “Risk FactetsOur financial results will fluctuate fro
quarter to quarter, which makes them difficult tegict.”

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Year Ended December 31

2009 2010 2011
(in millions)

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows Dat:

Net cash provided by operating activit $ 15t $ 69¢ $ 1,54¢
Net cash used in investing activiti (62 (329 (3,027
Net cash provided by financing activiti 243 781 1,19¢
Purchases of property and equipm 33 (293 (60€)
Depreciation and amortizatic 78 13¢ 328
Shar-based compensatic 27 20 217

Our principal sources of liquidity are our cash @agh equivalents, marketable securities, and gasarated from operations. Cash
cash equivalents and marketable securities copsistarily of cash on deposit with banks and investts in money market funds and
government and U.S. government agency securitiesh Gind cash equivalents and marketable secutdtated $3,908 million as
December 31, 2011, an increase of $2,123 milliomfiDecember 31, 2010. This increase primarily o&$lé1,549 million of cash genera
from operations and $998 million of proceeds frdma $ale of common stock, partially offset by $608iom used for capital expenditures ¢
repayment of a $250 million loan facility. We curtly anticipate that our available funds, crediility, and cash flow from operations will
sufficient to meet our operational cash needsHerforeseeable future.

Pre2011 RSUs vest upon the satisfaction of both aiceirondition and a liquidity condition. The ligitig condition will be satisfied s
months following our initial public offering. We pgct that a portion of these RSUs will be settlecalate approximately six months after
initial public offering. On the settlement date, plan to withhold and remit income taxes at applieaminimum statutory rates based on
thencurrent value of the underlying shares. We curyeatipect that the average of these withholdingrédgs will be approximately 45%.
the price of our common stock at the time of setdat were equal to the midpoint of the price raogehe cover page of this prospectus
estimate that this tax obligation would be appratety $ billion in the aggregate. The antoefrthis obligation could be higher or low
depending on the price of our shares on the RSlléseint date. To settle these RSUs, assuming atdsd4ithholding rate, we anticipate t
we will net settle the awards by delivering appnoaiely shares of Class B commtotk to RSU holders and simultaneo
withholding approximately shaf Class B common stock. In connection with tiés settlement we will withhold and remit
tax liabilities on behalf of the RSU holders to theéevant tax authorities in cash.
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To fund the withholding and remittance obligatiare expect to sell equity securities near the satlg date in an amount substanti
equivalent to the number of shares of common stibakwe withhold in connection with the initial emment of the Pr011 RSUs, such tt
the newly issued shares should not be dilutive. &l@x, in the event that we issue equity securitiescannot assure you that we will be ab
successfully match the proceeds to the amountisftéx liability. If we elect not to fully fund ouwithholding and remittance obligatic
through the issuance of equity or we are unablotoplete such an offering due to market conditimnstherwise, we may choose to bor
funds from our credit facility, use a substantiaftjpn of our existing cash, or rely upon a combinraof these alternatives.

In 2011, we entered into an agreement for an umsddiveyear revolving credit facility that allows us torbow up to $2,500 milliot
with interest payable on borrowed amounts setathiteemonth London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) plug%. No amounts were dra
down under this agreement as of December 31, 20%1paid origination fees at closing and these &esamortized over the remaining terr
the credit facility. We also pay a commitment fé®d5% per annum on the daily undrawn balance.

As of December 31, 2011, $348 million of the $3,908lion in cash and cash equivalents and marketablcurities was held by «
foreign subsidiaries. We have provided for the tddal taxes that would be due if we repatriategséhfunds for use in our operations in
United States.

Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Cash flow from operating activities during 201 1nparily resulted from net income of $1,000 milli@djusted for certain n-cash item:
including total depreciation and amortization o233nillion, and share-based compensation expen$2laf million.

Cash flow from operating activities during 2010nparily resulted from net income of $606 million jested for certain nowash item:
including total depreciation and amortization of3$1million and shardased compensation expense of $20 million, paytiafiset by cas
consumed by working capital of $70 million.

Cash flow from operating activities during 2009nparily resulted from net income of $229 million jasted for certain nogash item:
including total depreciation and amortization oB3$fiillion and shardased compensation of $27 million, partially offsgtcash consumed
working capital of $179 million.

Cash Used in Investing Activities

Cash used in investing activities during 2011 prilpaesulted from the use of approximately $2,388lion for the net purchase
marketable securities. Our cash used in investitigifies in 2011 also consisted of capital expéngis of $606 million related to the purch
of servers, networking equipment, storage infrastme, and the construction of data centers.

Cash used in investing activities during 2010 a@d®primarily consisted of capital expendituresited to the purchases of property
equipment and the construction of data centersn@dsin restricted cash and deposits consumed B8rmand $32 million of cash related
security deposits in support of real estate expansi 2010 and 2009, respectively. Acquisitions, efecash acquired, also consumed
million of cash in 2010.

We anticipate making capital expenditures in 20fl&pproximately $1.6 billion to $1.8 billion, a gimn of which we will finance throu¢
leasing arrangements.
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Cash Provided by Financing Activities

Our financing activities have primarily consistefdeguity issuances, lease financing, and debt &imagn Net cash provided by financ
activities was $1,198 million, $781 million, and4®million, respectively, for 2011, 2010, and 20T%is includes excess tax benefits f
stock award activities of $433 million, $115 miliipand $51 million, respectively.

In January 2011, we completed an offering of owrs€IA common stock to certain nonS. investors that generated $998 million ir
proceeds. In December 2010, we completed an offairour Class A common stock that generated $50@®min proceeds. In May 2009, \
completed an offering of Series E preferred stbelt generated $200 million in proceeds.

In March 2010, we entered into a credit facilitythwcertain lenders. This facility allowed for thead/down of up to $250 million
unsecured senior loans. In April 2010, we drew ddlenfull amount available under the facility, andVarch 2011, we repaid the entire $
million balance.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We did not have any off-balance sheet arrangenier2811, 2010, or 2009.

Contingencies

We are involved in claims, lawsuits, governmentestigations, and proceedings arising from the amgircourse of our business. '
record a provision for a liability when we beliethat it is both probable that a liability has beecurred, and the amount can be reasor
estimated. Significant judgment is required to datee both probability and the estimated amountchSlegal proceedings are inhere
unpredictable and subject to significant uncertesitsome of which are beyond our control. Shoulg af these estimates and assump
change or prove to be incorrect, it could have gened impact on our results of operations, finahpiosition, and cash flows.

Commitments

Our principal commitments consist of obligationglencapital and operating leases for equipmentéfice and data center facilities. 1
following table summarizes our commitments to settintractual obligations in cash as of DecembgfG11.

Payment Due by Perioc

Less More

than 1-3 3-5 than

Total 1 Year Years Years 5 Years

Operating lease obligations $ 94t $ 18( $ 24: $ 19 $ 32t
Capital lease obligatior 817 322 337 28 13C
Other contractual commitmer®) 50C 45C 25 25 —
Total contractual obligatior $2,26: $ 952 $ 60t $ 25C $ 45E

(1) Other contractual commitments primarily relate qgoipment and supplies for our data center operstiand to a lesser extent, construction of our claxtéer sites

In addition, our other liabilities include $60 nwlh related to uncertain tax positions. Due to utadeties in the timing of the completi
of tax audits, the timing of the resolution of thgmsitions is uncertain and we are unable to maaleasonably reliable estimate of the timin
payments in individual years beyond 12 months. Aesalt, this amount is not included in the abaldd.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Comprehensive Income

In May 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards fBdasued guidance that changed the requiremenprigenting Comprehensiv
Income”in the consolidated financial statements. The wpdaquires an entity to present the componentshefr @aomprehensive income eit
in a single continuous statement of comprehengiceme or in two separate but consecutive statem@&hts currently available option
disclose the components of other comprehensivanieoweithin the statement of stockholdeesjuity will no longer be available. The updat
effective for fiscal years, and interim periodshiritthose years, beginning after December 15, 20tilshould be applied retrospectively.
adoption of the standard will have no impact on financial position or results of operations, bull vesult in a change in the presentatiol
our basic consolidated financial statements.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are prepamedccordance with U.S. generally accepted accognfirinciples (GAAP). Tt
preparation of these consolidated financial statgmeequires us to make estimates and assumptiahgffect the reported amounts of as
liabilities, revenue, costs and expenses, andeeldisclosures. These estimates form the basjsdgments we make about the carrying ve
of our assets and liabilities, which are not readpparent from other sources. We base our estinaaite judgments on historical experience
on various other assumptions that we believe aasorgable under the circumstances. On an ongoing, vas evaluate our estimates
assumptions. Our actual results may differ frons¢hestimates under different assumptions or camditi

We believe that of our significant accounting pigl#; which are described in note 1 to our constdidifinancial statements, the follow
accounting policies involve a greater degree ofjudnt and complexity. Accordingly, these are thkcjes we believe are the most critica
aid in fully understanding and evaluating our ficiahcondition and results of operations.

Revenue Recognition for Payments and Other Fees

We enable Payments from our users to our Platf@weldpers. Our users can make payments on the é@céatform by using cre:
cards or other payment methods available on oursitebThe primary process for these transactiontbrisugh the purchase of our virt
currency. Our users then use this virtual curretocpurchase virtual and digital goods in games appls from developers on the Facet
Platform. Upon the initial sale of the virtual cemcy, we record the value purchased by a userfagelé revenue and deposits.

When a user engages in a payment transactioningjlthe virtual currency for the purchase of auattor digital good from a Platfoi
developer, we reduce the virtual currency balarfcth@ user by the price of the purchase, which fwiee that is solely determined by
Platform developer. We remit to the Platform depeloan amount that is based on the total amounwirtafal currency redeemed less
processing fee that we charge the Platform develfgrethe transaction. Our revenue is the net armhafirthe transaction representing
processing fee for the transaction. We record negem a net basis as we do not consider ourseies the principal in the sale of the viri
or digital good to the user. Under GAAP guidandatesl to reporting revenue gross as a principaugenet as an agent, the indicators us
determine whether an entity is a principal or aerigo a transaction are subject to judgment. Wesider ourselves the agent to tf
transactions when we apply the indicators to ouatstaShould material subsequent changes in thaaswuesor nature of the transactions
Platform developers result in us being considehedprincipal in such sales, we would reflect theual and digital goods sale as revenue
the amounts paid to the Platform developers asaoc#ted cost. This would have no impact uponoperating income, but our revenue
associated costs would increase by a similar amount
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Income Taxes

We are subject to income taxes in the United Statesnumerous foreign jurisdictions. Significandgment is required in determini
our provision for income taxes and income tax asard liabilities, including evaluating uncertadstin the application of accounting princij
and complex tax laws.

We record a provision for income taxes for the @péted tax consequences of the reported resultgpefations using the asset
liability method. Under this method, we recognizfelred tax assets and liabilities for the expedtadre tax consequences of tempo
differences between the financial reporting and laxes of assets and liabilities, as well as faragng loss and tax credit carryforwa
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured)uke tax rates that are expected to apply takixincome for the years in which those
assets and liabilities are expected to be realizeskttled. We record a valuation allowance to cedour deferred tax assets to the net an
that we believe is more likely than not to be rzsdi.

We recognize tax benefits from uncertain tax posgionly if we believe that it is more likely thaot that the tax position will |
sustained on examination by the taxing authoriti@sed on the technical merits of the position. éutih we believe that we have adequi
reserved for our uncertain tax positions, we cawviple no assurance that the final tax outcome edée¢hmatters will not be materially differe
We make adjustments to these reserves when fagtsimoumstances change, such as the closing of autdit or the refinement of an estim
To the extent that the final tax outcome of thesstens is different than the amounts recorded, diffarences will affect the provision 1
income taxes in the period in which such deternmmats made and could have a material impact onfimancial condition and operati
results. The provision for income taxes includesdffects of any reserves that we believe are ppiate, as well as the related net interes!
penalties.

Share-based Compensation

Overview

We have granted RSUs to our employees and memlersrdoard of directors. F-2011 RSUs vest upon the satisfaction of bc
service condition and a liquidity condition. Thendee condition for the majority of these awardssatisfied over four years. The liquic
condition is satisfied upon the occurrence of difyilag event, defined as a change of control tearti®n or six months following the effect
date of an initial public offering. Under the termfsour 2005 Stock Plan, the shares underlying RtBlsatisfy both of these conditions ar
be delivered to holders six months following oditi@h public offering.

Post-2011 RSUs are not subject to a liquidity ctioiin order to vest. The majority of Pé&#11 RSUs are earned over a service p
of four or five years.

Share-based Compensation Expense

We account for sharkased employee compensation plans under the flaie vacognition and measurement provisions in atzowre witl
applicable accounting standards, which requireshiirebased payments to employees, including grants auksbptions and RSUs, to
measured based on the grant-date fair value aivlaeds.

Sharebased compensation expense is recorded net of atstinforfeitures in our consolidated statementsnobme and as such
recorded for only those shabased awards that we expect to vest. We estimatiotfeiture rate based on historical forfeiturégquity award
and adjust the rate to reflect changes in factsadnmdmstances, if any. We will revise our estindaterfeiture rate if actual forfeitures dif
from our initial estimates. We record share-basedpensation expense for serviiased equity awards such as stock options, rextrgttare
and Post-2011 RSUs using the strailiym- attribution method over the period during whithe employee is required to perform servic
exchange for the award. We record share-based cmatien expense for performance-based equity avgrcts as Pr@éd11 RSUs using tl
accelerated attribution method over the vestingtence the liquidity condition has been satisfied.
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We have historically issued unvested restrictedeshéo employee stockholders of certain acquiredpamies. As these awards
generally subject to continued post-acquisition leyment, we have accounted for them as post-admuissharebased compensation expel
We recognize compensation expense equal to the dasan fair value of the common stock on a straligiet basis over the employeerequire:
service period, net of estimated forfeitures.

We capitalize share-based employee compensatioensgpwhen appropriate. Capitalized shHzased compensation expense was
material in the three years ended December 31,.2011

As of December 31, 2011, no share-based compensatjpense had been recognized for 2081 RSUs because the qualifying ev
described above had not occurred. In the quartewhiith our initial public offering is completed, waill begin recording sharbase:
compensation expense using the accelerated aitribonethod net of forfeitures based on the grate tr value of the Pre-2011 RSUSs.

The following table summarizes, on a pro forma &asie share-based compensation expense relafee#911 RSUs that we wot
have incurred, assuming our initial public offerimad occurred on December 31, 2011.

“Veste(” Pre-2011 RSU “Unveste(’” Pre-2011 RSU Pro Forma Share-basec
as of Dec 31, 201 as of Dec 31, 201%) Compensation Expens
(in thousands) (in millions)
224,471 101,92¢ $968

(1) For purposes of this tabl*Veste” RSUs include those RSUs for which the service d@rdhad been fulfilled as of December 31, 2C
(2) For purposes of this table, “UnvestdRiSUs include those RSUs for which the service dadhad not been fulfilled as of December 31, 2@hdl exclude an estimate of forfel
RSUs.

This table is based on P2811 RSUs outstanding as of December 31, 2011 saimdtended to be illustrative only. The actual timiof
compensation expense we will recognize relateditstanding Pr&011 RSU awards will depend on the date of therdpsf our initial publit
offering. The actual amount of compensation expevesevill incur will vary because the service coiatitof additional RSUs will be fulfille
between December 31, 2011 and the closing datardhitial public offering.

We estimate that the remaining unrecognized shasedbcompensation expense relating toZRtet RSUs would be approximately $
million, after giving effect to estimated forfeigsg and would be recognized in 2012 and thereadteshawn on the table below, if our ini
public offering had occurred on December 31, 2011.

In addition, as of December 31, 2011, we had 5#aniPost-2011 RSUs outstanding. For these R0%t RSUs, $189 million in expet
was recognized in 2011 and, after giving effeatstmated forfeitures, a remaining $1,189 millioitl e recognized in 2012 and thereafte
shown in the table below. This table estimatesr&usharebased compensation expense related to all outsigmrdjuity grants, consisting
RSUs, restricted shares, and stock options thraedtember 31, 2011. The table does not take intousxtcany shar&ased compensati
expense related to future awards that may be giaotemployees, directors, or other service pragidadditionally, the amounts in the ta
include an estimate of unvested awards that mafpteited in future periods due to the departureeniployees or directors. Our forfeit
estimates are subject to adjustment based on aotpatience.

2012 2013 2014 2015 Beyond 201!
(in millions)

Pre-2011 RSU«® $143 $ 63 $ 23 $ 6 $ 4

Pos-2011 RSU:s 28¢ 291 29¢ 241 71

Restricted share 14 11 10 3 —

Stock options 7 7 5 4 6

Total $452 $372 $33€ $254 $ 81

(1) Assumes our initial public offering was completed®@ecember 31, 201
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We estimated the fair value of stock option awamttuded in the table above using the Black-Schieston single optionsaluatior
model, which requires inputs such as expected texpected volatility, and riskee interest rate. The estimated forfeiture rdtstack optiol
awards also affects the amount of aggregate cormapiensexpense we will incur. These inputs are suhje and generally require significi
analysis and judgment to develop.

We estimate the expected term for stock option dsvéased upon the historical behavior of our engdey The expected volatility
based on a study of publicly traded industry peenganies. The forfeiture rate is derived primafitym our historical data, and the rifilee
interest rate is based on the yield available d®. Ureasury zergoupon issues. Our dividend yield is 0%, since weehnot paid, and do r
expect to pay, dividends.

We estimated the fair value of employee stock eygtigranted in 2009 and 2010 as of the date of téuet gising the following weighted-
average assumptions:

Year Ended December 31,

2009 2010
Expected term from grant date (in yee 5.04 7.1%
Risk-free interest rat 2.01% 1.6%
Expected volatility 0.57 0.4€

Dividend yield — —

The weightedaverage grant date fair value of employee stoclongtgranted during 2009 and 2010 was $1.12 ar@b$Bespectivel
per share. We did not grant any stock options 120

Tax Withholding and Remittance Obligations

We estimate that approximately shamderlying Pre2011 RSUs will settle approximately six months aftar initial public
offering. In addition, we estimate that an additibn million Pre2011 RSUs will settle following such date througle £nd of 2012. W
estimate that an aggregate of milfse-2011 RSUs and Post-2011 RSUs will settle irB201

RSU holders generally will recognize taxable incdmsed upon the value of the shares on the datatkesettled and we are require
withhold taxes on such value at applicable minimstatutory rates. We currently expect that the ayermaf these withholding rates will
approximately 45%. For additional information orr ¢éax withholding and remittance obligations rethte RSU vesting, see “Hquidity anc
Capital Resources” above.

Corporate Income Taxes

The RSU activity discussed above, as well as agtiom other equity awards including stock optiondll also have corporate incol
tax effects. The most significant effect is that Hettlement of awards or exercise of nonstatigtogk options generates a corporate incom
deduction that will reduce our U.S. corporate inecx liability. The exercise of incentive stockiops (ISOs) may also result in a corpo
income tax deduction, but only in certain circumsts where the holder of the ISOs also sells theiged shares in a disqualifying disposit
The amount of this corporate income tax deductidhb& based on the value of shares at the exearisettlement date, which differs from
value of the shares at the grant date that is itssddtermine the shatmsed compensation expense. Depending on the eftbe shares on t
date the equity awards are settled or options eeecised, we could generate a corporate incomaléahction that exceeds our other |
taxable income in that year, which would resultiitaxable loss for U.S. corporate income tax pwepdBat reduces our U.S. corporate inc
tax liability to an immaterial amount for that yelr 2012, we expect to settle approximately million RSUs. In addition, as of Decem
31, 2011, we had vested nonstatutory options audstg to purchase approximately 187 million sharesur Class B common stock. As
December 31, 2011, we also had vested 1SOs outstatm purchase approximately 58 million shareswf Class B common stock, but git
the uncertainty in predicting whether the 1ISO hotdgill choose to make disqualifying
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dispositions, we are assuming that no corporateniec tax deductions will be generated by these 1S3suming all of these vest
nonstatutory stock options are exercised durin228id assuming the value of our Class B commork stbsettlement or upon exercise is
midpoint of the price range on the cover page f pnospectus, we estimate that this settlementoptidn exercise activity would general
corporate income tax deduction of approximately ®illion to $  billion. The amount that thieduction exceeds our other U.S. tax
income will result in a net operating loss (NOLatltan be carried back to the preceding two yeaoffset our taxable income for U.S. fed:
income tax purposes, as well as in some stateshwiduld allow us to receive a refund of some efd¢brporate income taxes we paid in ti
years. Based on the assumptions above, we angdipatt this refund could be up to $500 million gagable to us during the first six month
2013. Any portion of the NOL remaining after thiariyback would be carried forward to offset ouresth).S. taxable income generate
future years, which taxable income will also beuess by deductions generated from new stock awetttement and stock option exert
activity occurring in those future years.

Utilization of our NOL carryforwards may be subject annual limitations due to the ownership chaligdtations provided by tt
Internal Revenue Code and similar state provisiSuogh annual limitations could result in the exjpira of the NOL carryforwards before th
utilization. The events that may cause ownershgngbs include, but are not limited to, a cumulasitack ownership change of greater 1
50% over a three-year period.

The corporate income tax deductions generatedibyséttlement and exercise activity described alutmveot reduce our effective tax r
reflected in our consolidated statements of inco®wx: provision for income taxes reflects the taxdfés that are recorded at the time
sharebased compensation is initially recognized as qeege, which is based on the fair value of shargsaat date, and is different than
corporate income tax deduction, which is basedhenvilue of shares at settlement or at exercigbelfeduction in our corporate income
liability from settlements and exercises is gredbemn the tax benefits that we recognized whensti@ebased compensation expense
initially recorded, which will generally occur ifuo share price has appreciated between grant datesettlement or exercise date, this
create an “excess tax benefit” that is recorded asmponent of additional paid-capital and not as a reduction of our provisionincome
taxes in our consolidated statements of income. tithang in which these excess tax benefits areeotfid on our balance sheet gene
matches the timing in which the reduction in prorfuture income tax liability occurs. Thus, if wmave these types of NOLs remaining ¢
any carryback claims, we would not record a detetex asset for such NOLs, but rather we would neé@m adjustment to additional pard-
capital and a reduction to our corporate incomditility during the period in which those NOLseansed to reduce our corporate income
liability. These excess tax benefits would be rdedrin our statements of cash flows as cash prdwgdinancing activities.

Valuation of Our Common Stock

The valuations of our Class B common stock wererd@hed in accordance with the guidelines outlimedhe American Institute
Certified Public Accountants Practice Aidaluation of Privately-Held-Company Equity Secestilssued as CompensatioliVe considere
numerous objective and subjective factors to detexrour best estimate of the fair value of our €lBscommon stock, including but |
limited to, the following factors:

. recent private stock sale transactic

. our historical financial results and estimated dseand prospects for our future financial perforagan

. our performance and market position relative toa@mpetitors and/or similar publicly traded com s
. the economic and competitive environment, includhmgindustry in which we operate; and

. independent thir-party valuations completed as of the end of eaeltqu

63



Table of Contents

We have granted the following RSUs since Januap11].:

Shares Aggregate
Underlying Grant Date Grant Date
Grant Date RSUs Fair Value Fair Value
(thousands (millions)
First Quarter
February 16, 201 2,022 $ 24.U $ 4¢
March 25, 201: 40,00¢ 25.4: 1,015
Second Quarter
May 11, 2011 2,58( 27.5¢ 71
June 6, 201 1,64: 28.8¢ 47
June 22, 201 1,01C 29.6i 30
Third Quarter
July 21, 2011 2,89¢ 30.07 87
September 1, 201 1,42¢ 30.0i 43
September 6, 201 20 30.07 1
September 22, 201 1,64¢ 30.07 50
Fourth Quarter
November 11, 201 67C 29.91 20
December 22, 201 1,20z 29.7¢ 36

We conducted valuations of our Class B common stxlof the end of each quarter. The valuations otk account the factc
described above and used a combination of finaraia markebased methodologies to determine our business peiseervalue (BEV
including the following approaches:

Discounted Cash Flow Method (DCFI. DCFM involves estimating the future cash flowsadfusiness for a certain discrete pe
and discounting such cash flows to present vafuihel cash flows are expected to continue beyoradithcrete time period, the:
terminal value of the business is estimated ancbdisted to present value. The discount rate refléet risks inherent in the ci
flows and the market rates of return available fadtarnative investments of similar type and gyadi$ of the valuation dat

Guideline Public Company Method (GPCI. GPCM assumes that businesses operating in the saiustry will share simil
characteristics and that the subject busisegalue will correlate to those characteristicsefBfiore, a comparison of the sub
business to similar businesses whose financiatimition and public market value are available mayvide a reasonable basis
estimate the subject business/alue. The GPCM provides an estimate of valuagusiultiples derived from the stock price:
publicly traded companies. In selecting guidelingble companies for this analysis, we focused prilpjaon quantitativi
considerations, such as financial performance dherguantifiable data, as well as qualitative aderstions, such as industry :
economic drivers

Market Transaction Method (MTN. MTM considers transactions in the equity secesitf the business being valued. During 2
there were private stock sale transactions in aunroon stock. These transactions are considerdueif dbccur with or amor
willing and unrelated parties. For our MTM estimgtee evaluate all transactions in the quarter patticular focus on transactic
that are closer in proximity to the valuation datée choose the weighting for the MTM each quartesea on factors such as
volume of transactions in each period, the timihthese transactions, and whether the transaciimadved investors with access
our financial information

We performed all three methodologies for each guadnd weighted the methodologies based on ths &awl circumstances in -
quarter. Our indicated BEV at each valuation date then allocated to the shares of preferred stmkmon stock, warrants, options,
RSUs, using the option pricing method (OPM).
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First Quarter 2011

We determined the fair value of our Class B commsimtk to be $25.54 per share as of March 31, 20/l gave the greatest weigh
the MTM due to the significant volume of third-pagirivate stock sale transactions in March 201tluiding a thirdparty Class B comm
stock tender offer transaction for employee shéose$25.00 per share which became binding upors#éiéng stockholders on March 29. ~
tender offer was undertaken by investors who hagssto our historical financial information. Th®GM and DCFM were also utilized
determine fair value. The GPCM reflected the stpdkes and market multiples of guideline public pamies. The DCFM was based ¢
weighted average cost of capital of 15% and a pegbgrowth rate of 5%. The BEV resulting from thisalysis was then allocated using
OPM and a 7.5% marketability discount was applied.

Second Quarter 2011

We determined the fair value of our Class B comstmck to be $30.07 per share as of June 30, 20&lgalVe the greatest weight to
MTM due to the significant volume of thindarty private stock sale transactions in June 201tlyding transactions involving investors v
had access to our historical financial informatidhe GPCM and DCFM were also utilized to deternfiie value. In this period, we adc
certain Internet companies that had recently coraglmitial public offerings to our set of guidedipublic companies for use in estimating
GPCM. The DCFM was based on a weighted averageofastpital of 15% and a perpetual growth rate %f The BEV resulting from th
analysis was then allocated using the OPM and &b 6rtarketability discount was applied. Significaattors influencing the change
valuation relative to the prior quarter includee tforegoing private stock sale transactions andatiidition to our set of guideline put
companies of newly public companies whose valuatioitiples were relatively higher than others i tomparison group.

Third Quarter 2011

We determined the fair value of our Class B comstock to be $30.07 per share as of September 3Q, 20e used a combination of
GPCM, the DCFM, and the MTM to determine BEV. The M was weighted most heavily in this valuationcsinve had recently updated
financial plan. The BEV resulting from this analysias then allocated using the OPM and a 6.0% reditiey discount was applied. Relat
to the first and second quarters, in the third gprave placed a lower weighting on the MTM duehe tower overall volume of thirgarty
private stock sale transactions occurring in prawino the valuation date and the lack of signifitransactions with investors that had ac
to our financial information.

Fourth Quarter 2011

We determined the fair value of our Class B commstmeck to be $29.73 per share as of December 311,. 202 gave the greatest wei
to the MTM due to the significant volume of thipadty private stock sale transactions in Deceml®drl2including transactions involvi
investors who had access to our historical findriofarmation. The GPCM and DCFM were also utilizeddetermine fair value. In this peri
we included additional Internet companies that tesently completed initial public offerings to aat of guideline public companies for us
estimating the GPCM. The DCFM was based on a weihhiverage cost of capital of 15% and a perpetteaiith rate of 5%. The BE
resulting from this analysis was then allocatechigishe OPM and a 5.5% marketability discount wasdia@. The primary factor influencing t
change in valuation relative to the prior quarteswthe foregoing private stock sale transactions.
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Qualitative and Quantitative Disclosures about Marlet Risk
We are exposed to market risk, including changéstévest rates, foreign currency exchange ratddrdfation.

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

International revenue as a percentage of revense3@%, 38%, and 44% in 2009, 2010, and 2011, rédgpbc We have foreign curren
risks related to our revenue and operating expestesesminated in currencies other than the U.Sadagbrimarily the Euro. In general, we ai
net receiver of currencies other than the U.SadoAccordingly, changes in exchange rates, anqhiticular a strengthening of the U.S. do
will negatively affect our revenue and other ope@tesults as expressed in U.S. dollars.

We have experienced and will continue to experidhaguations in our net income as a result of $egtion gains or losses relatel
revaluing certain current asset and current ligbbialances that are denominated in currencies thiaa the functional currency of the enti
in which they are recorded. We recognized a foreigmency loss of $29 million in 2011. Foreign @ty losses were not significant in 2
or 2010. At this time we do not, but we may in fire, enter into derivatives or other financiatruments in an attempt to hedge our for
currency exchange risk. It is difficult to predibe impact hedging activities would have on ouulssof operations.

Interest Rate Sensitivity

Our cash and cash equivalents and marketable seswbnsist of cash, certificates of deposit, tieposits, money market funds
U.S. government treasury and agency debt securfdiesinvestment policy and strategy are focusegraservation of capital, supporting
liquidity requirements, and compliance with thedatment Company Act of 1940.

Changes in U.S. interest rates affect the intexasted on our cash and cash equivalents and milkestecurities and the market valu
those securities. A hypothetical 100 basis pointdase in interest rates would result in a decrebspproximately $15 million in the marl
value of our available-fosale debt securities as of December 31, 2011. Aalized gains or losses resulting from such intei@es change
would only occur if we sold the investments priomtaturity.

Inflation Risk

We do not believe that inflation has had a matesfigEgct on our business, financial condition, culés of operation:
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LETTER FROM MARK ZUCKERBERG

Facebook was not originally created to be a comp#inwas built to accomplish a social mission te- make the world more open ¢
connected.

We think it’s important that everyone who invests in Facebauaetstands what this mission means to us, how we mecisions and why \
do the things we do. | will try to outline our appch in this letter.

At Facebook, wete inspired by technologies that have revolutiotiz®w people spread and consume information. Wenofalk abot
inventions like the printing press and the telexisi—by simply making communication more efficient, tHegl to a complete transformatior
many important parts of society. They gave morepfeea voice. They encouraged progress. They chathgeday society was organized. T
brought us closer together.

Today, our society has reached another tippingtp@ite live at a moment when the majority of pedpl¢he world have access to the inte
or mobile phones — the raw tools necessary to stating what theyé thinking, feeling and doing with whomever thegnti Faceboc
aspires to build the services that give peopletheer to share and help them once again transfaanyraf our core institutions and industries.

There is a huge need and a huge opportunity teggtone in the world connected, to give everyoreiee and to help transform society
the future. The scale of the technology and inftestire that must be built is unprecedented, anthalieve this is the most important prob
we can focus on.

We hope to strengthen how people relate to each ath

Even if our mission sounds big, it starts small -thwhe relationship between two people.

Personal relationships are the fundamental unibwf society. Relationships are how we discover méeas, understand our world
ultimately derive long-term happiness.

At Facebook, we build tools to help people conmneith the people they want and share what they wamd, by doing this we are extend
people’s capacity to build and maintain relatiopshi

People sharing more — even if just with their clé$ends or families —ereates a more open culture and leads to a bettlrstanding of tf
lives and perspectives of others. We believe thiatdreates a greater number of stronger relatipadietween people, and that it helps pe
get exposed to a greater number of diverse peigpsct

By helping people form these connections, we hopewire the way people spread and consume infaamatVe think the worlds informatior
infrastructure should resemble the social graph -retavork built from the bottom up or peer-to-pe@ther than the monolithic, tagewr
structure that has existed to date. We also betieategiving people control over what they shara fandamental principle of this rewiring.

We have already helped more than 800 million peampdg out more than 100 billion connections so dad our goal is to help this rewiri
accelerate.

We hope to improve how people connect to businessasd the economy.

We think a more open and connected world will heripate a stronger economy with more authentic lgsis that build better products
services.

As people share more, they have access to moréoopifrom the people they trust about the prodacis services they use. This mak
easier to discover the best products and improzegtiality and efficiency of their lives.
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One result of making it easier to find better pretdus that businesses will be rewarded for bugdietter products —enes that are personali:
and designed around people. We have found thatuptedhat are “social by designénd to be more engaging than their traditi
counterparts, and we look forward to seeing morhefvorld’s products move in this direction.

Our developer platform has already enabled hundréttseousands of businesses to build higieality and more social products. We have
disruptive new approaches in industries like ganmegsic and news, and we expect to see similar mligm in more industries by ne
approaches that are social by design.

In addition to building better products, a more opegorld will also encourage businesses to engagh thieir customers directly a
authentically. More than four million businessesdé®ages on Facebook that they use to have a daloegh their customers. We expect
trend to grow as well.

We hope to change how people relate to their govaments and social institutions.
We believe building tools to help people share lbeng a more honest and transparent dialogue argomdrnment that could lead to m
direct empowerment of people, more accountabitityofficials and better solutions to some of thggeist problems of our time.

By giving people the power to share, we are stgrtinsee people make their voices heard on a diffescale from what has historically b
possible. These voices will increase in number aidme. They cannot be ignored. Over time, we ekgevernments will become mc
responsive to issues and concerns raised diregtdy bheir people rather than through intermedisi¢ontrolled by a select few.

Through this process, we believe that leaders evilerge across all countries who are ipternet and fight for the rights of their peo
including the right to share what they want andrtpkt to access all information that people wanshare with them.

Finally, as more of the economy moves towards higjuality products that are personalized, we alsceejo see the emergence of |
services that are social by design to addressatige Worldwide problems we face in job creationjcadion and health care. We look forwar
doing what we can to help this progress.

Our Mission and Our Business
As | said above, Facebook was not originally fouhtte be a company. V've always cared primarily about our social missitwe, service
we’re building and the people who use them. Thisd#farent approach for a public company to takel s@ant to explain why | think it work:

| started off by writing the first version of Faagk myself because it was something | wanted teteSince then, most of the ideas and
that have gone into Facebook have come from thet gepple we've attracted to our team.

Most great people care primarily about building dmihg a part of great things, but they also wantheke money. Through the proces
building a team — and also building a developer mamity, advertising market and investor base e Ideveloped a deep appreciatior
how building a strong company with a strong ecoroemgine and strong growth can be the best walign many people to solve importi
problems.

Simply put: we don’t build services to make moneg; make money to build better services.

And we think this is a good way to build somethifigese days | think more and more people wanteosesvices from companies that bel
in something beyond simply maximizing profits.
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By focusing on our mission and building great sezsi we believe we will create the most value forshareholders and partners over the
term — and this in turn will enable us to keepaiting the best people and building more greaticesyWe dort’'wake up in the morning wi
the primary goal of making money, but we understdad the best way to achieve our mission is tédbauistrong and valuable company.

This is how we think about our IPO as well. \Wegoing public for our employees and our investdfe made a commitment to them wher
gave them equity that we'work hard to make it worth a lot and make it lijuand this IPO is fulfilling our commitment. Asenbecome
public company, we’re making a similar commitmenbtr new investors and we will work just as hardufill it.

The Hacker Way

As part of building a strong company, we work hatanaking Facebook the best place for great peopiave a big impact on the world
learn from other great people. We have cultivatedigue culture and management approach that weheaHacker Way.

The word “hacker’has an unfairly negative connotation from beingtiaged in the media as people who break into coerputn reality
hacking just means building something quickly atitey the boundaries of what can be done. Like rtiosgs, it can be used for good or t
but the vast majority of hackers I've met tend ¢oidealistic people who want to have a positivedotpn the world.

The Hacker Way is an approach to building that ime® continuous improvement and iteration. Hackedlgeve that something can always
better, and that nothing is ever complete. Theyhase to go fix it — often in the face of peoplamsay its impossible or are content with
status quo.

Hackers try to build the best services over theglearm by quickly releasing and learning from sewalterations rather than trying to
everything right all at once. To support this, wavé built a testing framework that at any givenetioan try out thousands of version:
Facebook. We have the words “Done is better thafeq@® painted on our walls to remind ourselvesitways keep shipping.

Hacking is also an inherently hands-on and actiseigline. Instead of debating for days whetheew ideais possible or what the best wa
build something is, hackers would rather just pngie something and see what works. There’s a haokertra that yodl' hear a lot arour
Facebook offices: “Code wins arguments.”

Hacker culture is also extremely open and meritacrédackers believe that the best idea and impleat®n should always win —not the
person who is best at lobbying for an idea or tes@n who manages the most people.

To encourage this approach, every few months we havackathon, where everyone builds prototypesduar ideas they have. At the end,
whole team gets together and looks at everythiag lilhs been built. Many of our most successful gpetalcame out of hackathons, incluc
Timeline, chat, video, our mobile development fraraek and some of our most important infrastruclike the HipHop compiler.

To make sure all our engineers share this appraaehequire all new engineers even managers whose primary job will not be toewvcibds
— to go through a program called Bootcamp where thagn our codebase, our tools and our approacthreTdre a lot of folks in the indus
who manage engineers and don’t want to code theesdbut the type of hands-on people ivdboking for are willing and able to go throt
Bootcamp.
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The examples above all relate to engineering, leubave distilled these principles into five coréuea for how we run Facebook:

Focus on Impact

If we want to have the biggest impact, the best toago this is to make sure we always focus onisglthe most important problems. It sou
simple, but we think most companies do this poarig waste a lot of time. We expect everyone atlf@aleto be good at finding the bigg
problems to work on.

Move Fast

Moving fast enables us to build more things andnléaster. However, as most companies grow, thay slown too much because t're more
afraid of making mistakes than they are of losipgatunities by moving too slowly. We have a sayifMove fast and break thingsThe idei
is that if you never break anything, you're prolyatbt moving fast enough.

Be Bold

Building great things means taking risks. This barscary and prevents most companies from doingdhthings they should. However, i
world that's changing so quickly, you're guarantéedail if you don’t take any risks. We have aratlsaying: The riskiest thing is to take
risks.” We encourage everyone to make bold decdssieven if that means being wrong some of the time.

Be Open

We believe that a more open world is a better wbddause people with more information can makesbd#cisions and have a greater imy
That goes for running our company as well. We wioeikd to make sure everyone at Facebook has aeaessmuch information as possi
about every part of the company so they can makééist decisions and have the greatest impact.

Build Social Value

Once again, Facebook exists to make the world rmpem and connected, and not just to build a compateyexpect everyone at Faceboa
focus every day on how to build real value forwwegld in everything they do.

Thanks for taking the time to read this letter. W&dieve that we have an opportunity to have an ntapd impact on the world and builc
lasting company in the process. | look forward widdlding something great together.

TR 28
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BUSINESS

Overview

A digital display of the Facebook user communitgl e connections between users. On a blank baokgrdhe connections form a
picture that approximates a global me¢

Our mission is to make the world more open and eotad.

We believe that some of the most important inn@vegiin history have been tools that make it eamidaster for one human being
share something with another.

Facebook enables you to share the things you dsmet avith the people you care about. You can phbfisur ideas, opinions, pictul
and activities to your friends, family, colleagumsthe world. We believe that Facebook gives eymmson a voice-an opportunity to say:
exist, and this is my story.

Facebook also enables you to discover vhgtiing on in the world around you, through theseged ears of people you trust. Every
hundreds of millions of people come to Facebookind out what their friends have to share—the lmest music thewe listened to, phot
from their recent honeymoon, who they plan to votein the next election. Each perseréxperience on Facebook is unique and comp
personalized—akin to reading a real-time newspapstories compiled just for them that they cameavith them wherever they go.

People connect with Facebook to connect with people believe that we are at the forefront of emaplfaster, easier and ricl
communication between people around the world.
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How We Create Value for Users
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Our top priority is to build useful and engaginggucts that enable you to:

. Connect with Your FriendsWith 845 million monthly active users (MAUs) worldtfe, our users are increasingly able to find
stay connected with their friends, family, and eatiues on Facebook. Users can share major liféseseoh as the birth of a ch
upload photos of their latest vacation, congragutafriend on a new job by Liking or Commentingtba friends post, and stay
touch through messages and ¢

. Discover and LearnWe believe that users come to Facebook to discav@iearn more about what is going on in the warttlinc
them, particularly in the lives of their friendsdafamily and with public figures and organizatiahst interest them. Each user’
experience on Facebook is unique based on therdmsttared by his or her friends and connectiong Gtntent is personalized
each user in our products such as News Feed anglimar

. Express YourselfWe enable our users to share and publish theii@mnideas, photos, and activities to audienceging fron
their closest friends to our 845 million users,iigivevery user a voice within the Facebook comnyu
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. Control What You Share. Through Faceboc's privacy and sharing settings, our users can alowtrat they share and wiwhorr
they share it

Example of User Control Over Sharing

Status [ Phato Q Place = Life Event

Thank you all for an awesome birthday party! | was totally

surprised — with Cindy Leeper and 11 others at Forbes Mill
CranlRiies Users can control what the
share and with whom they
T share it. For example, each
1- i m [_Post | time a user updates his or
i Public status, he or she can choose
v M Friends ( = {0 share with everyone,
@ Only Me with all friends, or with a
# Custom subset of friends that the u

can customize

. Experience Facebook Across the WeThrough applications (apps) and websites built byetbpers using the Facebook Platfc
our users can interact with their Facebook friemdldle playing games, listening to music, watchingues, reading news, a
engaging in other activitie

. Stay Connected with Your Friends on Mobile DevicThrough the combination of our mobile sites, smaste apps, and feat
phone products, users can bring Facebook with themobile devices wherever they |

Foundations of the Social Web

We believe that the web, including the mobile wistgvolving to become more social and personalikstorically, most people surf
the web anonymously and visited websites where shgythe same content as everyone else. Recenaitimas in software development al
with advances in large-scale database and compirtfrestructure have enabled web experiences tteatveore personalized to each user
interests and created new ways of ik sharing and communicating. The social webteregewarding experiences that are centere
people, their connections, and their interests béleve that the following elements form the foumalaof the social web:

. Authentic Identity.We believe that using your real name, connectingotar real friends, and sharing your genuine irgerenling
create more engaging and meaningful experiencegreRenting yourself with your authentic identityline encourages you
behave with the same norms that foster trust asge in your daily life offline. Authentic identitis core to the Facebao
experience, and we believe that it is central &oftiture of the web. Our terms of service requia jo use your real name and
encourage you to be your true self online, enahlsignd Platform developers to provide you with eqmersonalized experienc

. Social Graph.The Social Graph represents the connections betpeeple and their friends and interests. Every@ems entity i
represented by a point within the graph, and tH#iations between people and their friends anceriests form billions «
connections between the points. Our mapping ofsth@al Graph enables Facebook and Platform devedapéuild more engagil
user experiences that are based on these conrg:
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lllustration of the Social Graph

Social Distribution.Over time, people are consuming and creating mimrd@skof information at a faster pace across a lwoeghg
of devices. The growing volume of information malkteshallenging to find meaningful and trusted aoritand to effectively ma
your voice heard. Facebook organizes and priositizentent and serves as a powerful social distobubol delivering to use
what we believe they will find most compelling bdsen their friends and interests. Facebsosocial distribution enables us
Platform developers, and advertisers to sharermdtion with target audiences large or sn

Our Size and Scale

Building on our use of authentic identity, the Sbcbraph, and social distribution, Facebook hasvgrérom our beginnings in a colle
dorm room in 2004 to a service that is fundameyteianging the way people connect, discover, aagdeshround the world. We believe 1
Facebook has become an integral part of many ofusars’daily lives. Users add value to the overall Facébecosystem each time tt
engage with friends, developers, or advertisergelses in user engagement enable us to attraetusers, developers, and advertisers. Gr
in the number of users, developers, and advertésgtghe interactions among them enhances the wadweliver to all of our constituencies.

We had 845 million MAUs as of December 31, 2011 ramease of 39% as compared to 608 million MAUsB®ecember 3.
2010.

We had 483 million daily active users (DAUs) on m@age in December 2011, an increase of 48% as ceupar327 million DAU
in December 201(

We had more than 425 million MAUs who used Facehbmobile products in December 20:

During the month of December 2011, we had on awe&&) million users who were active with Faceboolableast six out of tl
last seven days, providing perspective on the nummibgeople for whom Facebook is essentially amlagy activity.

There were more than 100 billion friend connectiond-acebook as of December 31, 2(
On average more than 250 million photos per dayweioaded to Facebook in the three months endedrteer 31, 2011.

Our users generated an average of 2.7 billion Lases Comments per day during the three months ebdedmber 31, 2011. Sir
users Like and Comment on content they find intergswe believe
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that the number of Likes and Comments provides somsight into how engaging users find the conterdilable to them c
Facebook and through our Platform develog

As of December 31, 2011, there were more than 3ibmPages with ten or more Likes. Anyone, inchgliartists, public figure
businesses, brands, or charities can set up a éa@lcdbage to engage with our users. Examples of lapflages on Facebc
include Lady Gaga, Disney, and Manchester Unitadhef which has more than 20 million Lik

How We Create Value for Developers Through the Fadm®mok Platform

The Facebook Platform is a set of development taal$ application programming interfaces (APIs) thaables developers to ea
integrate with Facebook to create social apps aglusites and to reach our 845 million users. Platfdevelopers build experiences that a
our users to connect and share with friends whilgaging in activities such as playing games, lisgrno music, watching movies, read
news articles, discovering new recipes, and expdpriew running routes. Platform developers rangmfa student on his or her compute
home to teams of programmers at leading websitezreMhan seven million apps and websites were liated with Facebook as
December 31, 2011. We are focused on the growttsaockss of Platform developers in creating cornmgeliser experiences by enabling:

Personalized and Social ExperienceWe enable Platform developers to create betterymtsdhat are personalized and social
that offer new ways for our users to engage witnfis and share experiences across the web analuterdevices. For example
Facebook user can visit the Pandora website ancdiately begin listening to a personalized radadieh that is customized ba:
on the bands the user Likes on Facebook. As anettaenple, a Facebook user can vidie New York Timesebsite and see whi
articles have been recommended by friends. OufdPfatdevelopers can only access information thatusers agree to share v
them.

Social Distribution.We enable Platform developers to reach our globat base and use our social distribution channéfscteas
traffic to their apps and websites. For exampleysisan invite their Facebook friends to play a gamsee when their friends h
achieved a new high scol

PaymentsWe provide an online payments infrastructure timatbées Platform developers to receive payments fsanusers in ¢
easy-touse, secure, and trusted environment. In 2011 Ptatform developers received more than $1.4 bilfimm transactior
enabled by our Payments infrastructt

How We Create Value for Advertisers and Marketers
We offer advertisers and marketers a unique cortibmaf reach, relevance, social context, and eegemt:

Reach. Facebook offers the ability to reach a vast coreuaudience of over 800 million MAUs with a singldvertising purchas
For example, a movie studio seeking to increasaevess of an upcoming film release can reach adbaodience of Facebao
users on the day or week before the film’'s openBy.advertising the release @fansformers: Dark of the Mooon Facebool
Paramount Studios reached 65 million users in thiged States in a single d¢

Advertising Example—Reach

San Transformers 3 in 3D

IF theaters nonwl ACcess
Hadllywood says
Transformars: Dark of
the Moon has, "the best
30 since Avatar!™ Click 1o
get your Iickets mnow!

11,791,689 penple like Transformers

e Like
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. Relevance. Advertisers can specify that we show their ads teubset of our users based on demographic fastmts as ag
location, gender, education, work history, and Bpeimterests that they have chosen to share witton Facebook or by using
Like button around the web or on mobile devices. &lew advertisers to select relevant and appropréaudiences for their a
ranging from millions of users in the case of glom@nds to hundreds of users in the case of smédleal businesses. We belit
that users have a better experience when ads fetiedly tailored to them. Examples of Facebook #tht allowed advertisers
reach a relevant audience inclu

- Procter & Gamble chose to advertise on Facebogeterate awareness for Secret deod’s “Mean Stink” program an
selected a female audience likely to be receptivéhe campaign. The ad featured a confessistydéd- video of a gi
admitting that she had bullied others, realizing tthmage she had caused, and apologizing. In thee@ks after the Mei
Stinks campaign launched, Secret experienced an@fédse in U.S. sales and an increase in engagevitarits Faceboc
Page

- CM Photographics, a wedding photography businessd@ Minneapolis, Minnesota, used Facebook adsetch the use
it cared most about: women aged 24 to 30 livingr fdaneapolis who shared their relationship statasFacebook i
“engaged.”Over 12 months, CM Photographics generated a gignif increase in revenue after running a $600 ridusg
campaign on Faceboa

Because authentic identity is core to the user mepee on Facebook and users generally share iafaovmthat reflects their re
interests and demographics, we are able to dedidethat reach the intended audience with higharracy rates compared to onl
industry averages. For broadly targeted campaigmsexample, adults between the ages of 25 andvé9were able to reach 1
desired audience with 95% accuracy, compared todustry average of 72%, according to a ttpatty study. For more narrov
targeted campaigns, for example, females betweeagdhs of 25 and 34, Facebook was able to reaatetieed audience with 9(
accuracy compared to an industry average of 35%grding to this thirdparty study. As our users maintain and expand
authentic identity on Facebook, they are incredgimfpoosing to share their interests and preferemegarding products a
services. We use this information to improve outitglto deliver relevant ads that we believe arereinteresting and compelli
for each user.

. Social Context.We believe that the recommendations of friends havmowerful influence on consumer interest and has:
decisions. We offer advertisers the ability to it “social contextivith their marketing messages. Social context fisrinatior
that highlights a user’s friendsbnnections with a particular brand or business.baeve that users find marketing messages
engaging when they include social context. Somesatiexamples of social context that we offer idelthe following:

- Social AdsWe offer tools to advertisers to display social teah alongside their ads. As a result, advertisgesable t
differentiate their products and complement thearketing messages with trusted recommendations €reens’friends. A
recent Nielsen study of 79 advertising campaigng-acebook demonstrated a greater than 50% incieaa@ recall fo
Facebook ads with social context as compared teldeak ads that did not have social cont
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Advertising Examp—uwithout Social Conte» Advertising Examp—uwith Social Contex
Sponsored e o L Sponsored
Ben & Jerry's ”
m Celebrate Mational Dessert Day with B .-;':_"" L;Irrj-rh. " I.w,l. :H.. '.I,
usl Which Tlnwse will you indulge in (kb ey ub

tonight?

e Ban & Jerry's
i Coefelbrare National Dessent Day with
usl Which Flasesr will you indulge in
vonight?

3,314 B 1178 - Line

- Sponsored StorieSponsored stories enable marketers to amplify idtelglition of stories that users have already ethéina
are relevant to their marketing efforts. For examplhen a user posts on Facebook that he or shé&chasked in”to e
Starbucks store, this check-in creates a storydhatbe shown in the user’s friends’ News Feedthodigh all of a useg’
friends may be eligible to view this check-in stooply a fraction of the usex’friends will typically see it (based on fac!
such as when the userfriends check their News Feeds and our rankirgjldhe content that is available to show to eof
the users friends). Starbucks can purchase sponsored storignificantly increase the reach, frequencglistribution, an
prominence of this story to the useftiends. Marketers can also use sponsored sttripsomote the stories they pub
from their Facebook Page to users who have conhedtd the Page. Sponsored stories are shown orighehand side «
the page, and in January 2012, we also began ingutiem in usersNews Feeds. We believe that sponsored s
complement the social discovery that is core toRtheebook user experient

. Engagement.We believe that the shift to a more social web tereaew opportunities for businesses to engage widreste
customers. Many of our ad products offer new amsbwative ways for our advertisers to interact withlr users, such as ads -
include polls, encourage comments, or invite useen event. Additionally, any brand or business lcave a presence on Facet
by creating a Facebook Page. Through Pages, webgarels the opportunity to form direct and ongoialgtionships with the
customers, with the potential to turn them intougdlle advocates. When a Facebook user Likes a Beg®age owner has
opportunity to publish stories to the useRews Feed on an ongoing basis. We believe tlstotigoing connection provide:
significant advantage for Facebook Pages as compar¢raditional business websites. In additionsibesses can use Page
influence fans and drive referral traffic to theicommerce websites or physical stores. We do nagehausinesses for their Pay
nor do we charge for the resulting organic distidou However, we believe that Page owners canRasebook ads and sponsc
stories to increase awareness of and engageménmtheit Pages. Examples of brands utilizing FackiRages include

- Burberry used its Page and an innovative marketamgpaign on Facebook to announce the launch ofvdweiry fragranc
to its nearly ten million Facebook fans in ordedtive traffic to and purchases at Burberry stayiebally, including its e-
commerce site. When users Liked or Commented omBtiiberry Page or the perfume story, the usactions were shar
with their friends via News Feed, driving awarenisa wider circle of users and increasing brangbeure, recognition, a
engagemen
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PF Chan’s created a coupon offer on its Page for a freeitetWrap appetizer and promoted the offer withrae-week ai
campaign. The Facebook ads targeted users whodmagcted to PF Chang’s Page, those u$eesids, and users in mark
where PF Chang’s has a high density of restaur&@wer 50,000 customers, of whom 40% were fiirse customer
redeemed the coupon at PF CF's restaurant:

Our Market Opportunity

Our Advertising Market Opportunity

Advertiser’ objectives range from building lo-term brand awareness to stimulating an immediatehaise. We offer advertisi
solutions that are designed to be engaging forsuaed personalized to usedgmographics and interests in order to help acezdibette
achieve their goals. Facebosktombination of reach, relevance, social contamt| engagement gives advertisers enhanced oppasutt
generate brand awareness and affiliation, while alsating new ways to generate ngam demand for their products from consumers yike
have purchase intent. According to an industry emutotal worldwide advertising spending in 2016:v$&88 billion. Our addressable ma
opportunity includes portions of many existing adigeng markets, including the traditional offlineranded advertising, online disp
advertising, online performance-based advertisingl, mobile advertising markets.

Traditional Offline Branded Advertising.Television, print, and radio accounted for $363idni, or 62% of the total advertisi
market in 2010 according to an industry sourcetdtisally, advertisers interested in generating r@mass of and demand for tt
brands have heavily relied on these offline mediaetach their audiences at scale. We believe ttestet brand advertisers \
increasingly dedicate a portion of their advertisitollars to Facebook because the broad audiehegsate trying to reach are aci
on Facebook on a daily basis, because we can thachdesired audiences with precision, and bec#usg can spark word
mouth marketing through Facebook. In December 2@hladvertiser could reach an estimated audienceooé than 65 millio
U.S. users in a typical day on Facebook. By comspatithe 2011 season finale of American Idol wasved by an estimated U
audience of 29 million people. In 2011, our adwémy customers included each of the 100 largediagladvertising spenders,
ranked by an industry source. Examples of Faceldokrtising campaigns by large brand advertisensi die:

Nike launched it“Write the Future”campaign on Facebook as an integral part of it® 20brld Cup marketing effort. Tl
launch placement was seen by 140 million user®indintries and users engaged with the messagethareeven millio
times by taking actions such as watching the ~minute embedded video, or Liking, clicking, or Cosmting on the ac

American Express purchased ads on Facebook andtspiacebook Page at the center of its advertis@gpaign i
November 2010 to introduce and prom“Small Business Saturdayd new local initiative designed to encourage shay
at small businesses on the Saturday after Thariksgivhe ads reached 84 million Facebook users therthree wee
campaign. American Express continued the campai@®11. The campaign reached 91 million peopléudicg 74 millior
who were shown an ad that featured a connectidm théir Facebook friends, successfully leveragimgjad context at scal
We believe that advertising on Facebook contributethe successful results of the Small Businesar&ay campaign;

2011 public awareness of Small Business Saturdsgy 1@ 65% from 37% in 2010. Additionally, AmericBRpress saw
23% increase in Cardmember transactions at smsithéss merchants on Small Business Satui

Online Advertising.From 2010 to 2015, the worldwide online advertisingrket is projected to increase from $68 billior$t2(
billion, representing 12% and 16%, respectivelythef worldwide advertising market according to raguistry source. Currently, t
online advertising market is genera
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divided between display advertising, where the da@er is seeking impressions, and perform-based advertising, where
advertiser is seeking clicks or conversic

- Display Advertising Online display advertising typically includes bana€s, interstitials, video ads, and rich mediathe:
aim to reach large numbers of consumers within réiqodar audience segment. Display advertisersinpressionbase:
campaigns on Facebook in order to reach our lasge base and because of the amount of time thas spend with u
Since January 2011, Facebook.com has been the naméevebsite worldwide as measured by total mgafent and tot
page views, according to an industry source. Omagee users in the aggregate spent more than l8éhbhinutes per de
on Facebook on personal computers during Decentielr. Display advertisers also use Facebook in dalerore precise
reach their target audiences among our users aleveécage social context and our social distributihannels to incres
engagement. Examples of display advertising cammgadg Facebook includ

-  Walmart U.S. purchased advertising on Facebooletmg users in the United States between the afj&8 and 4
during the days surrounding “Black Fridaiyi’ November 2011. The campaign, which encouragedsus download
Black Friday shopping map of their local WalmarSUstore to help them find great prices fasterghred 60 milliol
Facebook user:

- Diageo, the world largest producer of spirits, purchased advegisin Facebook for a portfolio of its brar
including Captain Morgan rum and Smirnoff vodkapnder to increase market share for its productiahlyeting use
in the United States over the age of 21. The cagmpegached 50 million Facebook users, drove a 2@ease i
offline sales, and achieved a significant returnramestment as measured by an industry sol

- Performancebased AdvertisingPerformanc-based online advertising has typically involved extigers seeking a spec
user behavior such as a click on a search ad eyadrdbased content ad, a response to an email campaigm, onlin:
purchase. We enable new forms of performaveged advertising, where advertisers can conndetusers who are likely
have demand for their products based on the infiomahat our users have chosen to share. We Igetleat performance-
based campaigns on Facebook allow advertisersfey tifeir products to users with inferred intentdanhance users’
experiences by showing them relevant ads tailovettieir specific interests. Examples of performabased advertising
Facebook include

—  Alocal concert promoter advertised available tiski®r an upcoming concert to users who lived ia thetropolita
area where the concert was to be held and wholbad é&ed the artist

- 1-80C-FLOWERS.COM purchased a Motl's Day advertising campaign on Facebook targetéd ttns and friends
its fans in order to drive traffic to its websitedaincrease sale

—  Social game developers including Disney, Electrohits, and Zynga purchased performabesed advertising
Facebook to drive player acquisition by promotiegvrgame launches and existing gan

. Mobile Advertising.The global mobile advertising market was $1.5 duillin 2010 and is expected to grow at a 64% comg
annual rate to $17.6 billion in 2015 according moirdustry source. According to a thipdwty report published in September 2
the Facebook app is the most frequently downloaggxdacross all major smartphone platforms in thi#éedrStates. We had me
than 425 million MAUs who used Facebook mobile pratd in December 2011. We currently do not showaadsirectly genera
any meaningful revenue from users accessing Fagettwough our mobile products, but we believe twat may have potent
future monetization opportunities such as the isiol of sponsored stories in u¢ mobile News Feed:
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Advertising on the social web is a significant netrkpportunity that is still emerging and evolvidge believe that most advertisers
still learning and experimenting with the best waydeverage reach, relevance, social context,eamghgement offered by Facebook. We
continue to balance our efforts to build effectpp@ducts for advertisers while also prioritizinge thverall user experience, and this balar
effort will influence the number of ads we show dhd formats and prominence of the ads. Our styategters on the belief that more sc
and relevant ad products are more valuable for bst¢ins and advertisers.

Currently the substantial majority of our revensigénerated by advertisers from more developed@alilvertising markets including
United States, western Europe, Canada, and AuwstrHiiere are also many emerging ad markets in whitsell ads and other commer
content, and we expect continued growth in adwartiemand as these markets mature, we achieveasgmttdevels of user penetration
engagement, and we further expand our sales resodeticated to these markets.

Our Market Opportunity for Payments

When users purchase virtual and digital goods foam Platform developers using our Payments infuastire, we receive fees t
represent a portion of the transaction value. Glyresubstantially all of the Payments transactibetween our users and Platform develc
are for virtual goods used in social games, fomgpla virtual tractors in the social game FarmVilkgecording to an industry source,
worldwide revenue generated from the sale of virqaeds increased from $2 billion in 2007 to $7itil in 2010, and is forecasted to incre
to $15 billion by 2014. Payments integration isrently required in apps on Facebook that are caisghbas games, and we may seek to e:
the use of Payments to other types of apps inuhed. Our future revenue from Payments will dependnany factors, including our succ
in enabling Platform developers to build experientteat engage users and create user demand foptbducts, and the fee arrangement
are able to negotiate in the future.

Our Strategy

We are in the early days of pursuing our missiomtzke the world more open and connected. We betiesewe have a significe
opportunity to further enhance the value we deltearsers, developers, and advertisers. Key elesdrdur strategy are:

. Expand Our Global User CommunityThere are more than two billion global Internetresgccording to an industry source anc
aim to connect all of them. We had 845 million MAdbbally with approximately 80% accessing Faceb@olkn outside th
United States as of December 31, 2011. We contimdiecus on growing our user base across all ggbgga, including relative
lesspenetrated, large markets such as Brazil, Germadijg, Japan, Russia, and South Korea. We intergtder our user base
continuing our marketing and user acquisition éff@nd enhancing our products, including mobilesapporder to make Facebc
more accessible and usel

. Build Great Social Products to Increase EngagemeWe prioritize product development investments thatbelieve will creal
engaging interactions between our users, develpp@éid advertisers on Facebook, across the webpanaiobile devices. W
continue to invest significantly in improving ouore products such as News Feed, Photos, and Grdapsloping new produc
such as Timeline and Ticker, and enabling new &latfapps and website integratio

. Provide Users with the Most Compelling Experienf=acebook users are sharing and receiving morennation across a broac
range of devices. To provide the most compellingr experience, we continue to develop productstaoknologies focused
optimizing our social distribution channels to dgeli the most useful content to each user by anajyand organizing vast amou
of information in real time

. Build Engaging Mobile ExperiencesWe are devoting substantial resources to develogngaging mobile products &
experiences for a wide range of platforms, inclgdimartphones and featt
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phones. In addition, we are working across the taabdustry with operators, hardware manufacturepgrating system provide
and developers to improve the Facebook experiencmabile devices and make Facebook available tcerpeople around t
world. We had more than 425 million MAUs who useat&book mobile products in December 2011. We belibat mobile usay
of Facebook is critical to maintaining user growatid engagement over the long term, and we areejicteeking to grow mobi
usage, although such usage does not currentlytigfigeenerate any meaningful reven

. Enable Developers to Build Great Social Productsitds the Facebook PlatformThe success of Platform developers anc
vibrancy of our Platform ecosystem are key to iasheg user engagement. Social games have achigweficant levels of adoptic
by Facebook users, and we are also focused oniegahe development of apps in categories beyomdega For example, ¢
latest enhancements to the Facebook Platform haabled new types of social apps that facilitaterisljaand serendipitor
discovery of music, news, movies, television prograng, and other everyday interests such as cookimg) running. Us
engagement with our Platform developepps and websites creates value for Facebook itiptewvays: our Platform supports
advertising business because apps on Faceboole areat engagement that enables us to show adsPlatiorm develope
purchase advertising on Facebook to drive trafficthteir apps and websites; Platform developers ailsePayment system
facilitate transactions with users; and users’ gegeent with Platform apps and websites contribtdesur understanding of users’
interests and preferences, improving our abilityp&wsonalize content. We continue to invest ingaotd APIs that enhance
ability of Platform developers to deliver produtiiat are more social and personalized and bettggeusers on Facebook, ac
the web, and on mobile devices. Additionally, warpto invest in enhancing our Payments offerings iarmaking the Paymer
experience on Facebook as seamless and convesipassible for users and Platform develog.

. Improve Ad Products for Advertisers and UseWe plan to continue to improve our ad productsrisieo to create more value
advertisers and enhance their ability to make thawertising more social and relevant for users. &lvertising strategy centers
the belief that ad products that are social, relevand wellintegrated with other content on Facebook can eréhdhe use
experience while providing an attractive return éolvertisers. We intend to invest in additionalduets for our advertisers &
marketers, such as our recent introduction of sp@us stories in News Feed, while continuing to beda our monetizatic
objectives with our commitment to optimizing theeugxperience. We also continue to focus on amalygthd measurement tool:
evaluate, demonstrate, and improve the effectivweatad campaigns on Facebo

Our Products for Users, Developers, and Advertisers

Products for Users

Our product development approach is centered oldibgi the most useful tools that enable users toneot, share, discover, ¢
communicate with each other. Our products for ugseesfree of charge and available on the web, raobéb, and mobile platforms suct
Android and iOS.

. Timeline.We launched Timeline in September 2011 as an eeldaayed updated version of the Facebook Profileltbstructure ar
organization to the growing quantities of each sactivities and social content. Timeline allowsnssto organize and display
events and activities that matter most to thempkmg them to curate their memories in a searchaelsonal narrative that
organized chronologically. Users choose what infitian to share on their Timeline, such as theirigdts, photos, education, w
history, relationship status, and contact inforomtiand users can control with whom each pieceootent is shared on th
Timeline.
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. News FeedThe Facebook News Feed is the core feature of’s homepage and is a regularly updating list ofiesdirom friends
Pages, and other entities to which a user is caadem Facebook. It includes posts, photos, evetates, group memberships,
updates, and other activities. Each user’s Newsd igepersonalized based on his or her interestsrendharing activity of the user
friends. Stories in a user'News Feed are prioritized based on several faciocluding how many friends have Liked
Commented on a certain piece of content, who pasieaontent, and what type of content it is. N&eged is a key component
our social distribution capabilit

Example of Facebook News Feed
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. Photos and VideosFacebook is the most popular photo uploading semitthe web. On average, more than 250 milliorigshpe
day were uploaded to Facebook in the three montdede December 31, 2011. Users can upload an uetinmiimber of hig
resolution photos, create photo albums, and sheem twith their friends or any audience they chobssers can also upload ¢
share videos. Users can set specific privacy ggttior each of their photo albums and videos, nakirem visible to everyone,
only to certain friends. Users can easily arrargartphotos, add captions, and “tgggople in a photo or video. Tagging allc
users to identify a person in a photo or videoras af their friends

. MessagesOur messaging products include email, chat, antdrntessaging. The delivery of messages is optimiaedhe devic
through which the user is accessing Facebook. ¥ample, users on their mobile phones will receissages via text or Faceb
mobile messenger, while the conversation is alscedtin their Facebook message inbox. We aim tihédastest and most relia
way for users to communicate throu

- Email. Users can set up a free @facebook.com adc
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- Chat. Users can send messages to their friends in aminstessage forme

- Text Messaging. Users can activate text messaging on Facebooklyiatiothe texts they exchange with friends tc
incorporated into their respective conversationsigwith their message and chat hist

. Groups.Groups are shared Facebook pages for groups of tesdiscuss common interests. For example, menaf@soccer tea
can plan the seasanschedule together and share photos with each. dikers are able to customize the privacy settingeacl
Group they create

. Lists. Lists allow users to organize their friends in ortiefilter the stories shown in their News Feedd eseach or exclude spec
people when they share on Facebook. For exampégs csmn see News Feed posts from a List of just thesest friends ¢
announce a garage sale to a List of friends whidedns the uses current city. Users are able to customize theapyi settings fc
each List they creat

. Events. Through Events, users can organize gatherings, geaimvitations, and send event notifications anuiinelers to the
friends. From the Events page, users can creagwaemnent, check out upcoming events of intereshéon and their friends, a
view previous events. For example, users can usatg\o invite their friends to a dinner party oganize a run in the Race for
Cure to raise awareness for breast cancer. Thereuarently more than 16 million events created~anebook each mont

. Places.Through Places, users can share their locatiorseadvhere their friends are. They are able tofsagyiof their friends a
nearby and connect with them easily. Users candisak in to Places to tell their friends whereythee, tag their friends in t
Places they visit, or view Comments their friendgénmade about the Places they v

. Subscribe Using Subscribe, users can sign up to receive ppboists in their News Feeds from other Facebooksifanterest suc
as celebrities, thought leaders, and other pulgiaés.

. Ticker. Ticker is a live stream of the r-time activities of a us’s friends and the Pages and other entities to wihiehuser i
connected

. Notifications. On the top of each Facebook page, a highlightedl i€dlisplayed to users when there is relevantrewd informatiol
available to them, such as a new friend requestva message from a friend, or an alert that the lnas been tagged in a ph
posted by a friend. We believe that Notifications an important part of Facebc's distribution capability

. Facebook PagesA Facebook Page is a public profile that allows argy including artists, public figures, businesdasnds
organizations, and charities to create a presendéaoebook and engage with the Facebook commukiBage owner can conn
with interested users in order to provide updaa@swer questions, receive feedback, or otherwisriktte interest in the owner’
messages, products, and services. When a Facebeok.ilies a Page, the Page owner has the oppgrtonitublish stories to tl
user’'s News Feed on an ongoing basis. In addititlven a Facebook user Likes or Comments on a poastlgge owner, that user’
action may be shared with the user’s friends viavd&eed to drive awareness to a wider circle ofsjsacreasing the Page’
exposure, recognition, and engagement. We do natgehfor Pages, nor do we charge for the resultirganic distributior
However, we believe that awareness of and engagemitmPages can be amplified and complementedhéyse of Facebook ¢
and sponsored stories by Page owners. As of Deae3db@011, there were more than 37 million Pagik ten or more Like:
including Harvard, Lady Gaga, The Metropolitan Museof Art, Starbucks, and Boo (the WoddCutest Dog), as well as millic
of local businesse
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Products for Developers

The Facebook Platform is a set of tools and AP&s tievelopers can use to build social apps on eabebr to integrate their websi
with Facebook. As of December 31, 2011, more theawes million apps and websites were integrated wdbebook. Our goal is to mak
easy for Platform developers to integrate with Baok& and build valuable products and businesseg.ef@ments of the Facebook Platft
include:

. Open Graph.Our Open Graph is a set of APIs that developersusanto build apps and websites that enable useshare the
activities with friends on Facebook. For exampleisar who is listening to music through a develtapapp or website can publ
his or her music selections to Facebook where th®iercan be shared with frienc

. Social Plugins.Social plugins are social features that developarseasily integrate with their websites by incogtiog a singl
line of HTML code. For example, a developer cangbbx on its website that shows Facebook users tivbi friends have Like
and recommended on the site. Social plugins alkavalisers to easily share interesting content kackacebook that can
distributed to their friends through News Feed, dlime, and Ticker. The following features are exbampf functionality provide
through social plugins

- Like Button. Allows users to share content from a t-party website to Facebook and their friends with olick.
- Recommendation<Allows a website to display to Facebook users vttt friends have recommend:e

- Single Sigr-On Registration and Lo-In. Allows users to easily sign up for access to tipiadty websites with the
Facebook accounts, eliminating the need for ugecsdate another username and passv

- CommentsAllows users to post their views, questions, aritigcres on any piece of content on a web:t

. Payments Facebook provides an online payments infrastrudtuae enables developers to receive payments freemsuthrough ¢
efficient and secure system. Developers can foousr@ating engaging apps and content rather thandépg time and resources
build payment processing and fraud management ddjgsb Our users can store their payment credéntivith Facebook in
trusted and safe environment, facilitating easy fasti purchases across the Facebook Platform retherhaving to reuthenticat
and reenter payment information for each developer. Weigteed our Payments infrastructure to streamlimebthying proce:
between our users and developers. Our Paymentnsygstables users to purchase virtual or digitalgdmom developers and third-
party websites by using debit and credit cardsPRiymobile phone payments, gift cards or othethort. We have also extens
our Payments infrastructure to support mobile wgtisaon certain mobile platfornr

Developers have used the Facebook Platform to lauildriety of user experiences, including apps acebook, desktop apps, mo
apps, and Platform-integrated websites, each oftwtdén take advantage of the capabilities of tleeB@ok Platform.

. Apps on FacebookApps on Facebook run within the Facebook websiteigs games are currently the most successful ap
Facebook. The Facebook Platform has also enabledymes of social apps on Facebook beyond gaméxcilitate social sharir
and discovery of music, news, television prograngnand everyday interests such as cooking, fitrevss travel. For exampl&he
Washington Post Social Readsran app on Facebook that offers a personalized neading experience in which each user s
unique set of stories tailored to the usenterests and based on what his or her frienelsesding. Assuming the user has give!
app permission, stories read by a user are ingtahtdred with friends, creating a socially powenegvswire of relevant article
Apps
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on Facebook generally have Facebook ads visibtberight side of the page and can integrate wéttebook Payment

. Desktop AppsDevelopers can also build desktop apps that ruh@mperating system of a personal computer aret effperience
that are integrated with the Facebook Platform.es@mple, Spotify, an online music service, prosidelesktop app integrated v
Facebook that offers a social listening experidmcgiving users the ability to share their plagjdisten to songs with friends, ¢
explore new music through their frien

. Mobile Apps. The Facebook Platform for mobile has enabled deestoto create engaging mobile apps that integséte
Faceboo’s social and personalization capabiliti

. Platform-Integrated WebsitesWebsites can integrate with Facebook using simpdéak plugins such as the Like button or de
more deeply integrated social experiences builurgdousers and their friends. For example, by tapjximo our rich social dat
TripAdvisor connects users to their friends andebaelevant content about where their friends heaxeled and where they wo
like to visit in the future. While on the TripAdwswebsite, friends can discuss their travel pkamd recommendations and build
personal profiles of places they have be

Example of Platform-Integrated Third-Party WebsiteipAdvisor
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Products for Advertisers and Marketers

Facebook offers products that enable advertisetsvearketers to leverage our unique combinatiorea€h, relevance, social context,
engagement.

Facebook AdsWhen creating a Facebook ad, advertisers can gpetifle, content, image, and destination web pargeaceboac
Page to which a user is directed if he or she slmk the ad. Because we have a standard formeafmbook ads, our users ber
from a consistent ad experience, and our advestaer able to deploy and adjust campaigns rapidlyertisers can further enge
their intended audiences by incorporating socialted with their marketing messages. Social contegiudes actions a user’
friends have taken, such as Liking the advertideasebook Page. Ads with social context are shaviyto a usess friends, and tt
users privacy settings apply to social ads. We offearsge of ads with social context, from an ad witsirggle Like button to ol
Premium Ad paired with social context, which alloadvertisers to highlight the interactions of artsdriends with a brand
product.

Sponsored StoriesSponsored stories enable marketers to promotetdhiesthey publish from their Facebook Page tasusdc
have connected with the Page or to amplify theritistion of stories users are already sharing #natrelevant to their marketi
efforts. For example, when a user Likes Red Budid Bull can pay to amplify the reach, frequencylistribution, and prominen
with which the story is shown to friends of thaéeu:

Examples of Facebook Products for Advertisers aadksters
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Facebook Ad SystenWhen advertisers create an ad campaign with Fageltbey specify the types of users they would li@
reach based on information that users chose tceshlaout their age, location, gender, relationshétus, educational histo
workplace, and interests. For example, a s&lfage company ran a campaign to reach studerusliege campuses prior to sumi
break. Additionally, advertisers indicate the manuim price they are willing to pay for their ad artteit maximum budge
Advertisers choose to pay for their ads based theretost per thousand impressions (CPM) on a fotebidded basis or cost |
click (CPC) on a bidded basis. Our system also eupmuaranteed delivery of a fixed number of agrigssions for a fixed pric
Facebooks ad serving technology dynamically determineshibgt available ad to show each user based on thbication of th
use’s unique attributes and the I1-time comparison of bids from eligible a
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Examples of How Our Ad System Matches RelevantoAdformation a User has Chosen to Share

Information use
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Ad Analytics. Advertisers can use our analytics platform to trackl optimize the performance of their campaignsei time
Facebook ad analytics enable advertisers to gaiglits into which ads were displayed and clicked Bimese analytics he
advertisers make modifications to their ad campaignorder to maximize results. Advertisers wittc€tzook Pages can also v
the number of users who Liked and Commented om Bege and a newly introduced metric, “People Tglkhbout This,"which

History by Year

Basic Info

Mssrarin Chimaas and Englivs

# [di

shows how many stories about their brand are baiegted and share

Building and Maintaining User Trust

Trust is a cornerstone of our business. We dedisigeificant resources to the goal of building useist through developing a
implementing programs designed to protect userapyiyv promote a safe environment, and assure theiseof user data. The resources
dedicate to this goal include engineers, analyatgyers, policy experts, and operations specialassswell as hardware and software f

leading vendors and solutions we have designedaittd

Privacy and Sharing.People come to Facebook to connect and share.cBngteiser privacy is an important part of our pro
development process. Our objective is to give usbice over what they share and with whom theyeslita This effort i

fundamental to our business and focuses on comtanlsparency, and accountabili

- Control. We believe that by providing our users with clead @as-to-use controls, we will continue to promote trusbin

products. For example, when a user posts a stptieel ol
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uploads a photo to Facebook, ot-line controls allow the user to select his or hattiance at the same time that he or s
publishing the post. In addition, we have introdliother personal information control tools and teghes. “Activity Log”
was recently introduced and is a unified tool thsgrs can use to review and manage the contenththey posted and t
actions they have taken on Facebook. For examgieg the Activity Log, a user can view his or hetivdty with a particula
app, delete a specific post, change who can sd®ta,por remove an app completely. Additionallyr 6Download You
Informatior” tool enables users to remove or store their pefsoftamation off of Facebook

- Transparency.Our Data Use Policy describes in plain languagedatia use practices and how privacy works on Faie
We also offer a number of tools and features thavide users with transparency about their infofamabn Facebook. O
application settings feature enables users to @aeh of the apps they have chosen to use, thariaf@mn needed by es
app, and the audience with whom the user has chtesehare his or her interactions with each app.b#eve that th
transparency enables users to make more informadidies about their activities on Facebo

- Accountability. We continue to build new procedural safeguards @t @f our comprehensive privacy program. Tl
include a dedicated team of privacy professiondi® w&re involved in new product and feature develemnirom desig
through launch; ongoing review and monitoring of thay data is handled by existing features and;agp$ rigorous da
security practices. We regularly work with onlinevacy and safety experts and regulators aroundvititd. In Novembe
2011, we announced a 3@ar agreement with the Federal Trade Commissi@nbtance our privacy program. We ma
clear and formal longerm commitment to giving users tools to controlvitbey share on Facebook. We also have unde
an audit by the Office of the Irish Data Protect@ommissioner. The audit comprehensively reviewedocompliance wit
Irish data protection law, which is grounded in &@an data protection principles. As part of theitgorocess, we agreed
enhance various data protection and privacy prestio ensure compliance with the law and adheréméedustry be:
practices

. Safety.We design our products to include robust safetystobhese tools are coupled with educational ressuand partnershi
with online safety experts to offer protections &tlrusers, particularly teenagers. We take inttbant the unique needs of teena
who use our service and employ appropriate settings that restrict their visibilitynit the audience with whom they can sh
and help prevent unwanted contact from strang

Our abuse reporting infrastructure allows anyoneFanebook to report inappropriate, offensive, ongdmous content throu
“report” links found on nearly every page of ouesiWe have enhanced this reporting system to dect$ocial Reporting,Which
gives users the option to report content to usepmrt content to a trusted friend, or to block pleeson who posted the content\
one easy-touse tool. Our Safety Advisory Board, comprised igé fleading online safety organizations from arotine world
advises us on product design and helps us to coeatgrehensive safety resources for everyone wles osr service. The
resources are located in our multimedia Family af&enter on our website, which also offers speitildrmation for parent
educators, teenagers, and members of the law enfi@rct community. Additionally, we work with law eméement to help promc
the safety of our users as required by law.

. Security.We invest in technology, processes, and peopladopour commitment to safeguarding our usar@rmation. We use
variety of techniques to protect the data that wee emtrusted with, and we rely on multiple layefsnetwork segregation usi
firewalls to protect against attacks or unauthatizecess. We also employ proprietary technologieprotect our users. F
example, if we suspect that a user’'s account mase lieeen compromised, we may use a process thaefee to as Socia
authenticationo validate that the person accessing the accauthtel actual account holder. The process of sacitlenticatio
may include asking the person accessing the actol

88



Table of Contents

identify photos of the account hol’s friends. Our security team actively scans fousgcvulnerabilities using commercial toc
penetration tests, code security reviews, and nateand external audits. We also have a networgeafgraphically distribute
single-tenant data centers, and we take measures to ptiéeioformation stored in these data cent

Competition

We face significant competition in almost everyexgpof our business, including from companies agksoogle, Microsoft, and Twitt:
which offer a variety of Internet products, sergiceontent, and online advertising offerings, a8l a® from mobile companies and sme
Internet companies that offer products and sentica@smay compete with specific Facebook featunés.also face competition from traditio
and online media businesses for a share of adeestisudgets and in the development of the tools antesysfor managing and optimizi
advertising campaigns. We compete broadly with Gsgegsocial networking offerings, including Google+hieh it has integrated with cert:
of its products, including search and Android. didiion, we compete with other, largely regionalcial networks that have strong position
particular countries, including Cyworld in Koreaj®lin Japan, Orkut (owned by Google) in Brazil dndia, and vKontakte in Russia. As
introduce new products, as our existing productdvey or as other companies introduce new prodactsservices, we may become subje
additional competition.

The areas in which we compete include:

. Users and EngagemenWe compete to attract, engage, and retain usexsauBe our products for users are free of charg
compete based on the utility, ease of use, perfocsyaand quality of our produc

. Advertising.We compete to attract and retain advertisers. Wnduuish our products by providing reach, releeqrsocial contex
and engagement to amplify the effectiveness of ididee’ message:

. Platform. We compete to attract and retain developers tadbeoimpelling apps and websites that integrate wabebook. W
compete in this area primarily based on the vafubetools and APIs we provide to developers tabds them to access our la
global base of engaged users and their conneciimhso drive traffic to their apps and websi

. Talent. We compete to attract and retain highly talentelividuals, especially software engineers, desigraerd product manage
Competition for employee talent is particularlyense in the San Francisco Bay Area, where we ar@duartered. We compete
these potential employees by providing a work emuinent that fosters and rewards creativity and vation and by providin
compensation packages that we believe will enabl® attract and retain key employe

While our industry is evolving rapidly and is bedam increasingly competitive, we believe that wenpete favorably on the fact
described above. For additional information, sesKRFactors—Our business is highly competitive. Competitiongemrs an ongoing threalt
the success of our business.”

Technology

We have assembled a team of highly skilled engiard computer scientists whose expertise sparsad bange of technical areas.
make significant investments in product and featieeelopment, data management and personalizaaimaelogies, largeeale systems a
scalable infrastructure, and advertising techn@sgas follows:

. Product and Feature DevelopmernWe aim to continuously improve our existing produand to develop new products for
users, developers, and advertisers. Our productlolement philosophy is centered on continuous iatiow in creating produc
that are social by design, which means that oulyts are designed to place our users and thdalsoteractions at the core of 1
product experienct
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. Data Management and Personalization TechnologiTo provide each user with a personalized Facebapkreence, we mu
process and analyze a vast and growing amountrg&obshared by our users, developers, and adsestésd surface the m
relevant content in real time. For example, loadingsers home page typically requires accessing hundrédsreers, processi
tens of thousands of individual pieces of data, @glilering the information selected in less thae second. In addition, the d
relationships have grown exponentially and are tily changing. As such, we have invested extehsiin developin
technologies and analytics in areas includ

- Content optimization and deliveiWe use a proprietary distributed system that is &blquery thousands of pieces of cor
that may be of interest to an individual user ttedmine the most relevant and timely stories arivelethem to the user
milliseconds.

- Graph query.Our graph query technology enables us to efficjeptbbcess subjective queries about the Social Ghy
utilizing a proprietary set of search indices, guamocessors, and caching syste

- Media storage and servinWe store more than 100 petabytes (100 quadrilliged) of photos and videos. We have bt
number of storage and serving technologies, su¢tagstack, which allow us to efficiently serve atdre the date

- Large-scale data managemerWe developed Apache Hive, a data warehouse infietsire built on top of Hadoop,
provide tools to enable easy data summarizatiohpadjuerying, and analysis of large datas

- Software performancd-=acebook.com is largely written in PHP, or Hypetrtereprocessor, a widely used, gengualpos:
scripting language. We developed HipHop, which paogmatically transforms PHP source code into higigtimized C+-
code. HipHop offers significant performance gairteew compared to traditional PH

. Large-Scale Systems and Scalable InfrastructurOur products are built on a shared computing itfuature. We use
combination of off-theshelf and custom software running on clusters ohrodity computers to amass substantial comp
capability. Our infrastructure has enabled theagferand processing of large datasets and faailitate deployment of our produ
on a global scale. As our user base grows, andetred of engagement and sharing from our usersirooes to increase,
computing needs continue to expand. We aim to gewour products rapidly and reliably to all usensuad the world, including
countries where we do not expect significant skemta monetization. We expect to benefit if and las perunit pricing fol
computing power, memory and storage capacity coasirto decrease. We also intend to continue tolgewvata center and ser
architectures that are operationally efficient,|aioke, and reliable. By building custom servers aadstructing our first owned di
center in Prineville, Oregon, we introduced numsrtachnology advancements that are designe

- eliminate no-essential components, thereby reducing the cosinapidbving the serviceability of servel
- improve server cooling and power distribution asrbeth the data center and servers to minimize ptoss; anc

- optimize the power distribution system and servewgr supplies to operate at significantly highdicefncy and furthe
reduce power los:

Together, our custom server and data center desipwdted in a significant increase in energy edficy while significant!
reducing our costs compared to the usage of taawditiservers and leased data center facilitiesawea founding member of 1
Open Compute Project through which we make ournetgry data center, server hardware, and cert#iware designs availat
to the open source community. This initiative atmsiccelerate data center and server innovatioriremease computing efficien
through collaboration on relevant best practicastachnical specifications.
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. Advertising TechnologiesWe believe that a more valuable advertiser and eigeerience is created through our ability to maie
most relevant ads to each of our users based oprhi®r connections, demographics, and expresgecests. Our advertisil
technology serves billions of ad impressions eway, each of which is displayed to selected usasgdh upon the information tl
they have chosen to sha

Advertisers specify a bid, which is how much theg willing to pay for clicks or impressions of thaids. The actual price paid
each click or impression is computed using an anatiechanism that automatically calculates thenmima price an advertiser m
pay to “win” the auction and have its ad shown. We believedhatspecific auction mechanism encourages advesttsebid th:
maximum price they are willing to pay, understagdihat because of the way our auction works thdl/lvei charged a market-
determined price that is never higher and typichlyer than their bid. Our system also supportsragnized delivery of a fixe
number of ad impressions for a fixed price.

Our system manages our entire set of ads, thetsdlaadiences, and the advertiséids to determine which ads to show each
and how to display them for every page on Faceb®é&.use an advanced click prediction system thaghgemany reatime
updated features using automated learning techsidDer technology incorporates the estimated dlicktigh rate with both tl
advertiser’s bid and a user relevancy signal tecs¢he optimal ads to show.

Our research and development expenses were $8@mipiL44 million, and $388 million for 2009, 20Hhd 2011, respectively.

Sales and Operations

Many of our advertisers use our ss#frvice ad platform to establish accounts andunda and manage their advertising campaigns
also have a global sales force that is focusedttoacting and retaining advertisers and providingport to them throughout the stages o
advertising campaign cycle from pre-purchase dewcisiaking to real-time optimizations to pastmpaign analytics. We currently operatt
sales offices around the globe.

We have operations teams to provide support forusers, developers, and advertisers in four regioeaters located in Menlo Pa
California; Austin, Texas; Dublin, Ireland; and Hydbad, India. We also invest in and rely on seffsice tools to provide customer suppo
our users, developers, and advertisers.

Marketing

To date, the Facebook user community has growndlyivdath users inviting their friends to connectttvithem, supported by interi
efforts to stimulate user awareness and interest.nde been able to build our brand and user basma the world with relatively lo
marketing costs. We leverage the utility of ourdurats and our social distribution channels as oostreffective marketing tools. In additi
we undertake various user acquisition efforts agailarly host events and conferences to engagedeitelopers and advertisers.

Intellectual Property

Our success depends in part upon our ability tdeptoour core technology and intellectual propefftg. establish and protect «
proprietary rights, we rely on a combination ofguds, patent applications, trademarks, copyrightsle secrets, including knolew, licens
agreements, confidentiality procedures, miistlosure agreements with third parties, emplaliselosure and invention assignment agreen
and other contractual rights.

As of December 31, 2011, we had 56 issued patewlt$@3 filed patent applications in the United &ednd 33 corresponding patents
149 filed patent applications in foreign countniekting to social networking,
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web technologies and infrastructure, and relatetinelogies. Our issued patents expire between MAY 2nd June 2031. We cannot as
you that any of our patent applications will redalthe issuance of a patent or whether the examimg@rocess will require us to narrow
claims. In addition, any patents may be contestiegdmvented, found unenforceable or invalid, arelmay not be able to prevent third pa
from infringing them.

We generally control access to and use of our ety technology and other confidential informatithirough the use of internal ¢
external controls, including contractual protecsiomith employees, contractors, customers, and @astrand our software is protected
U.S. and international copyright laws. Despite efiorts to protect our trade secrets and propiyetights through intellectual property rigt
licenses, and confidentiality agreements, unauthdriparties may still copy or otherwise obtain arsg¢ our software and technology
addition, we intend to expand our internationalragiens, and effective patent, copyright, trademankl trade secret protection may no
available or may be limited in foreign countries.

Companies in the Internet, technology, and mediastries own large numbers of patents, copyrighaslemarks, and trade secrets
frequently enter into litigation based on allegati®f infringement, misappropriation, or other giins of intellectual property or other rigl
From time to time, we face, and we expect to facéhe future, allegations that we have infringee ttademarks, copyrights, patents, t
secrets and other intellectual property rights tofdt parties, including our competitors and racticing entities. As we face increas
competition and as our business grows, we willjikace more claims of infringement. For additioi@brmation, see “Risk FactorsWe art
currently, and expect to be in the future, partyptdent lawsuits and other intellectual properght$ claims that are expensive and
consuming, and, if resolved adversely, could hasigaificant impact on our business, financial dtind, or results of operations.”

Government Regulation

We are subject to a number of U.S. federal ane statd foreign laws and regulations that affect games conducting business on
Internet, many of which are still evolving and lgetested in courts, and could be interpreted insathgt could harm our business. These
involve user privacy, rights of publicity, data peotion, content, intellectual property, distrilmtj electronic contracts and ot
communications, competition, protection of minarsnsumer protection, taxation and online paymentices. In particular, we are subjec
federal, state, and foreign laws regarding privaiegt protection of user data. Foreign data protecpidvacy, and other laws and regulations
often more restrictive than those in the Unitedetal.S. federal and state and foreign laws agdlatéons are constantly evolving and ca
subject to significant change. In addition, thelmagpion and interpretation of these laws and ragjahs are often uncertain, particularly in
new and rapidlyevolving industry in which we operate. There argoah number of legislative proposals pending befoeeU.S. Congres
various state legislative bodies, and foreign gomemts concerning data protection which could &ffisc For example, a revision to the 1
European Union Data Protection Directive is culleieing considered by legislative bodies that nraglude more stringent operatio
requirements for data processors and significamdities for non-compliance.

In November 2011, we reached a&éar settlement agreement with the FTC to resalvieeestigation into various practices, by ente
into an agreement that, among other things, regjuiseto establish and refine certain practices wigipect to treatment of user data and pri
settings and also requires we completarnual independent privacy audits. Violation ofsérg or future regulatory orders or consent des
could subject us to substantial monetary finesathdr penalties that could negatively affect onaficial condition and results of operations.

Various laws and regulations in the United Statesabroad, such as the Bank Secrecy Act, the Boddk Act, the USA PATRIOT Ac
and the Credit CARD Act impose certain amtney laundering requirements on companies thafiaa@cial institutions or that provi
financial products and services. Under these lawisragulations, financial institutions are broadéfined to include money services busine
such
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as money transmitters, check cashers, and sellassuers of stored value. Requirements imposefinamcial institutions under these Ie
include customer identification and verificatiorograms, record retention policies, and procedunésti@nsaction reporting. We do not beli
that we are a financial institution subject to théswvs and regulations. However, it is possiblé Bleyments on the Facebook Platform coul
considered a financial product and that we couldidemed a financial institution subject to appliedd.S., state, or foreign regulation ur
certain interpretations of laws governing businesaeh as money transmitters, check cashers, #atss® issuers of stored value. To incre
flexibility in how our use of Payments may evolvedato mitigate regulatory uncertainty, we have ggaplor expect to apply througt
subsidiary for certain money transmitter licensethe United States, which will generally requiseta show compliance with many dome
laws relating to money transmission, gift cards atiger prepaid access instruments, electronicssftnathsfers, anti-money laundering, counter-
terrorist financing, gambling, banking and lendiagd import and export restrictions.

China is a large potential market for Facebook,usgtrs are generally restricted from accessingldeedefrom China. We do not know
we will be able to find an approach to managingteonhand information that will be acceptable toans to the Chinese government. It is
possible that governments of one or more othertt@snmay seek to censor content available on @losite, restrict access, block our web
or impose other restrictions that may affect theeasibility of Facebook for an extended periodragtor indefinitely.

We communicate with lawmakers and regulators incthdntries and regions in which we do business.hé&ke a dedicated policy te
that monitors legal and regulatory developments wadks with policymakers and regulators around wwrld to help ensure that ¢
perspective is heard in matters of importance to us

Legal Proceedings

We are currently parties to multiple lawsuits rethtto our products, including patent infringemestvsuits brought by both ott
companies and nopracticing entities as well as class action laveshibught by users and advertisers, and we madyeirfuture be subject
additional lawsuits and disputes.

We are also involved in other claims, lawsuits, gowment investigations, settlements, and procesdiniging from the ordinary course
our business.

Paul D. Ceglia filed suit against us and Mark Zubkeg on or about June 30, 2010, in the Supremet©bthe State of New York for tl
County of Allegheny claiming substantial ownersbipour company based on a purported contract betvWée Ceglia and Mr. Zuckerbe
allegedly entered into in April 2003. We removed tase to the U.S. District Court for the Westerstrizt of New York, where the case
now pending. In his first amended complaint, filed April 11, 2011, Mr. Ceglia revised his claimsitelude an alleged partnership v
Mr. Zuckerberg, he revised his claims for reliebt®k a substantial share of Mr. Zuckerb&@inership in us, and he included quotations
supposed emails that he claims to have exchangedMvi Zuckerberg in 2003 and 2004. On June 2, 20l filed a motion for expedit
discovery based on evidence we submitted to thet sbowing that the alleged contract and emailswupbich Mr. Ceglia bases his compl:
are fraudulent. On July 1, 2011, the court grardad motion and ordered Mr. Ceglia to produce, amotiter things, all hard copy &
electronic versions of the purported contract amdits. On January 10, 2012, the court granted eguest for sanctions against Mr. Ceglie
his delay in compliance with that order. We conginia believe that Mr. Ceglia is attempting to péngte a fraud on the court and we inten
continue to defend the case vigorously.

The Enforcement Division of the Securities and Exae Commission (SEC) has been conducting an iquin secondary transactic
involving the sale of private company securitiesnadl as the number of our stockholders of rectmdconnection with this inquiry, we ha
received both formal and informal requests forinfation from the staff of the SEC and we have Haliy cooperating with the staff. We he
provided all information requested and there areagmiests for documents or information that rensaitstanding. We

93



Table of Contents

believe that we have been in compliance with tlowigions of the federal securities laws relatinghtese matters.

Although the results of claims, lawsuits, governimierestigations, and proceedings in which we ak®lved cannot be predicted w
certainty, we do not believe that the final outcoofieche matters discussed above will have a matadeerse effect on our business, finar
condition, or results of operations. However, ddfeg these claims is costly and can impose a sagmf burden on management
employees, we may receive unfavorable preliminarinterim rulings in the course of litigation, atttere can be no assurances that favo
final outcomes will be obtained.

Culture and Employees

Our employees and our culture are critical to awocess. We value our “hacker cultureshich we define as a work environment
rewards creative problem solving and rapid decisi@mking. We try to move fast in developing new pretd and then continually iterate i
optimize to further improve our products. We seekpkyees who are motivated by the ability to hawdiract impact on how hundreds
millions of people around the world connect, disapwand express themselves.

We encourage our employees to think boldly. We &laee posted the phrase “this journey is 1% firdshecross many of our offi
walls, to remind employees that we believe thatewee only begun fulfilling our mission to make therld more open and connected.

We have grown rapidly, but at a rate that we belie¥l allow us to preserve a culture of collab@af excellence, and moving fast.
had 1,218 full-time employees, 2,127 full-time eaygles, and 3,200 full-time employees at the er2D6B, 2010, and 2011, respectively.

Facilities

As of December 31, 2011, we leased office facliieound the world totaling approximately 1.9 roiflisquare feet, including one milli
square feet for our corporate headquarters in MBald, California. We have data centers in the ééhBtates, including data center facili
that we own in North Carolina and Oregon and leaksd center facilities in California and VirginlAle believe that our facilities are adeq
for our current needs.
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MANAGEMENT

Executive Officers and Directors
The following table provides information regardiogr executive officers and directors as of Jandag012:

Name Age Position(s)

Mark Zuckerberg 27  Chairman and CE(

Sheryl K. Sandber 42  Chief Operating Office

David A. Ebersmal 42  Chief Financial Office

David B. Fische 39 Vice President, Marketing and Business Partners
Mike Schroepfe 36  Vice President of Engineerir

Theodore W. Ullyo 44  Vice President, General Counsel, and Secr¢
Marc L. Andreesse®® 40  Director

Erskine B. Bowle® 66  Director

James W. Breye®@ 50 Director

Donald E. Graham® ®) 66  Director

Reed Hasting® 51 Director

Peter A. Thie® 44  Director

* Lead Independent Directc

(1) Member of the audit committe

(2) Member of the compensation committ
(3) Member of the governance committ

Mark Zuckerbergs our founder and has served as our CEO and asyier of our board of directors since July 2004. Rlickerberg he
served as Chairman of our board of directors sirmeuary 2012. Mr. Zuckerberg attended Harvard Usityewhere he studied compt
science. We believe that Mr. Zuckerberg shouldeseawa member of our board of directors due tgérspective and experience he bring
our founder, Chairman, and CEO, and as our lag@sicontrolling stockholder.

Sheryl K. Sandberpas served as our Chief Operating Officer sincech&008. From November 2001 to March 2008, Ms. Bart
served in various positions at Google, Inc., mesently as Vice President, Global Online Sales &@fions. Ms. Sandberg also is a for
Chief of Staff of the U.S. Treasury Department amneviously served as a consultant with McKinsey &nipany, a management consul
company, and as an economist with The World Bamladdition to serving as our Chief Operating Offidds. Sandberg has been a memb
the boards of directors of Starbucks CorporatioresiMarch 2009 and the Walt Disney Company sinceeBéer 2009. Ms. Sandberg
elected not to stand for re-election at Starbu@kg2 annual meeting. Ms. Sandberg holds an A.Bconomics from Harvard University ¢
an M.B.A. from Harvard Business School.

David A. Ebersmamas served as our Chief Financial Officer sincet@aper 2009. Prior to joining us, Mr. Ebersman edrin variou
positions at Genentech, Inc., a biotechnology campacluding as its Chief Financial Officer fromath 2005 and as an Executive \
President from January 2006 until April 2009, fallng Genentech’s acquisition by F. Hoffmabha-Roche Ltd. in March 2009. Prior to join
Genentech, Mr. Ebersman was a research analyginbeimer & Company, Inc., an investment compbangddition to serving as our Ch
Financial Officer, Mr. Ebersman has been a membéreoboard of directors of Ironwood Pharmaceusichic. since July 2009. Mr. Ebersn
holds an A.B. in economics and international relaifrom Brown University.
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David B. Fischejoined us in April 2010 and serves as our Vice g, Marketing and Business Partnerships. Frdmn202 to Marc
2010, Mr. Fischer served in various positions ab@e, including most recently as its Vice Presigd&lbbal Online Sales & Operations. P
to joining Google, Mr. Fischer served as DeputyeClof Staff of the U.S. Treasury Department and aasssociate editor at the U.S. N
World Report, L.P., a news magazine company. Mcliér holds a B.A. in government from Cornell Unsity and an M.B.A. from tt
Stanford University Graduate School of Business.

Mike Schroepfethas served as our Vice President of EngineeringesiBeptember 2008. From December 2005 to Augus8,
Mr. Schroepfer served as Vice President of Engingeat Mozilla Corporation, an Internet companyioPto Mozilla, Mr. Schroepfer served
various positions at Sun Microsystems, Inc., amrimfation technology company, including as Chiefiretogy Officer of its data cen
automation division. He also dounded CenterRun, Inc., a developer of applicatoovisioning software, which was acquired by
Microsystems. In addition to serving as our Vicedtient of Engineering, Mr. Schroepfer has beeneaber of the board of directors
Ancestry.com Inc. since January 2011. Mr. Schraepdéds a B.S. and an M.S. in computer science fesamford University.

Theodore W. Ullyohas served as our Vice President, General CouasélSecretary since October 2008. From May 2008dimbe
2008, Mr. Ullyot was a partner at Kirkland & Ellid P, a law firm. From October 2005 to April 2008,rMllyot served as Executive Vi
President and General Counsel of ESL Investments, & private investment firm. Prior to joining [EBwestments, Mr. Ullyot served in t
federal executive branch under President GeorgBWh, including as Chief of Staff at the U.S. &iestDepartment and as a Deputy Assit
to the President. Earlier in his career, Mr. Ullyats an associate general counsel at AOL Time Walme and served as a law clerk for |
Supreme Court Justice Antonin Scalia and for Judgshael Luttig of the U.S. Court of Appeals for tReurth Circuit. Mr. Ullyot holds &
A.B. in History from Harvard University and a J.fbom the University of Chicago.

Marc L. Andreessehas served as a member of our board of directoreeslune 2008. Mr. Andreessen is afmmder and has beel
General Partner of Andreessen Horowitz, a ventapgtal firm, since July 2009. Previously, Mr. Andssen cdeunded and served as
Chairman of the board of directors of Opsware, Ificrmerly known as Loudcloud Inc.), a software gany. He also served as ClI
Technology Officer of America Online, Inc., an Imet services company. Mr. Andreessen was &uander of Netscape Communicati
Corporation, a software company, serving in varipositions, including Chief Technology Officer aBsecutive Vice President of Products
addition to serving on our board of directors, Kndreessen currently serves as a member of thedbadrdirectors of eBay Inc. and
Hewlett-Packard Company. Mr. Andreessen holds a iB.Bomputer science from the University of lllis@t Urbana&zhampaign. We belie
that Mr. Andreessen should serve as a member oboard of directors due to his extensive experiaag@n Internet entrepreneur, ven
capitalist, and technologist.

Erskine B. Bowledas served as a member of our board of directore sbeptember 2011. Mr. Bowles is President Ensefuthe
University of North Carolina and served as Predidienm January 2006 through December 2010. Mr. Bewlas also been a Senior Advisc
BDT Capital Partners, LLC, a private investmentfiisince January 2012. From February 2010 untiebdxer 2010, he served as Chair o
the National Commission on Fiscal Responsibilitd &eform. Mr. Bowles has been a Senior Advisoresig801 and was Managing Direc
from 1999 to 2001 of Carousel Capital LLC, a privatvestment firm. He was also a partner of Foratmiaittle & Co., an investment firr
from 1999 to 2001. Mr. Bowles began his careerorporate finance at Morgan Stanley and subsequbstped found and ultimately servec
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Bowles talkll Connor & Co., an investment banking firm. Blso was a founder of Kitty Ha
Capital, a venture capital firm. Mr. Bowles senasiWhite House Chief of Staff from 1996 to 1998 &meputy White House Chief of St
from 1994 to 1995. In addition to serving on ourtibof directors, Mr. Bowles currently serves asi@mber of the boards of directors
Morgan Stanley, Belk, Inc., Cousins Properties tpocated, and Norfolk Southern Corporation. Mr. Besvhas elected not to stand for re-
election at Cousins Properties’ 2012 annual meebifrgBowles also served as a member of the bobdifectors of
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General Motors Company from June 2005 to April 20@8. Bowles holds a B.S. in business from the @nsity of North Carolina at Chaj
Hill and an M.B.A. from Columbia University Gradeachool of Business. We believe that Mr. Bowlezutthserve as a member of our bc
of directors due to his extensive experience irfithencial services industry and academia as veeliis distinguished public service.

James W. Breydnas served as a member of our board of directace dhpril 2005. Mr. Breyer has been a Partner oféhd®artners,
venture capital firm, since 1987. Mr. Breyer isoale founder and has been the Chief Executivec&fiof Breyer Capital, an investment fi
since July 2006. Mr. Breyer is also a co-foundet has been co-lead on the strategic investment dtb@ensince inception of the IDB&ecel
China Funds. In addition to serving on our boardlioéctors, Mr. Breyer currently serves as a menabe¢he boards of directors of Dell, Ir
News Corporation, Prosper Marketplace, Inc., and-Mart Stores, Inc., where he is the lead/presidimdependent director. Mr. Bre)
previously served as a member of the board of wireof Marvel Entertainment Inc. from June 200®&cember 2009 and RealNetworks,
from October 1995 to June 2008. Mr. Breyer hold3.&. in interdisciplinary studies from Stanford Ugisity and an M.B.A. from Harva
University. We believe that Mr. Breyer should seagea member of our board of directors due toXtesnsive experience with social media
technology companies, as a venture capitalistaanohe of our early investors.

Donald E. Grahanhas served as a member of our board of directace dilarch 2009. Mr. Graham has served as the Ehiefutive
Officer of The Washington Post Company, an edunadiod media company, since 1991 and as Chairmés bbard of directors since 19
Mr. Graham holds an A.B. in English history anéiiture from Harvard University. We believe that KBraham should senas a member
our board of directors due to his extensive expegein the media industry, including serving inaisety of senior leadership roles with -
Washington Post Company.

Reed Hastingbas served as a member of our board of directoce slune 2011. Mr. Hastings has served as the ERefutive Office
and Chairman of the board of directors of Netflixg., a provider of an Internet subscription sezvior movies and television shows, si
1999. Prior to Netflix, Mr. Hastings served as Ghi&xecutive Officer of Technology Network, a pal@l service organization for t
technology industry. Mr. Hastings served as Chieddtitive Officer of Pure Atria Software, a makersoftware development tools, from 1¢
until it was acquired by Rational Software Corpmnat a software company, in 1997. In addition tovies on our board of directo
Mr. Hastings currently serves as a member of threrdof directors of Microsoft Corporation. Mr. Higts holds a B.A. in mathematics fr
Bowdoin College and an M.S.C.S. in computer scidrmm@ Stanford University. We believe that Mr. Hags should serve as a member of
board of directors due to his extensive experievite technology companies.

Peter A. Thiehas served as a member of our board of directoce SApril 2005. Since 2005, Mr. Thiel has been grfea of Founde!
Fund, a venture capital firm. Mr. Thiel has alsoved as President of Clarium Capital Managemen€ L& global macro investment mana
since 2002. In 1998, Mr. Thiel dounded PayPal, Inc., an online payment compangrevhe served as Chief Executive Officer, Presidar
as Chairman of its board of directors from 2000illtg acquisition by eBay in 2002. Prior to thy. Thiel worked for Credit Suisse,
investment firm, and Sullivan & Cromwell LLP, a laivm. Mr. Thiel holds a B.A. in Philosophy from &tford University and a J.D. frc
Stanford Law School. We believe that Mr. Thiel sldoserve as a member of our board of directors tdukis extensive experience as
entrepreneur and venture capitalist, and as ooeroéarly investors.

Election of Officers

Our executive officers are elected by, and sentheatliscretion of, our board of directors. There o family relationships among any
our directors or executive officers.
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Board Composition

Our board of directors may establish the authorinehber of directors from time to time by resolati®ur board of directors currer
consists of seven members. Our current certifiohtacorporation and amended and restated votimgesgents provide for certain member
our board of directors to be elected as designg@drbZuckerberg, the board of directors, or bytaier classes of our capital stock. The cul
members of the board of directors were electedlémnfs:

. Messrs. Andreessen, Graham, and Zuckerberg wereeélas designees of Mr. Zuckerberg, the holdéheinajority of the votin
power of the outstanding shares of Class A comnmeksand Class B common stoc

. Mr. Bowles was elected as the designee of the bafaddectors;

. Mr. Hastings was elected as the designee of Mrk&iterg, the holder of the majority of the votingager of the outstanding sha
of our capital stock

. Mr. Thiel was elected as the designee of stockhsltelding a majority of the outstanding shareswf Series A preferred sto
however, pursuant to the amended and restatedgvagireement, a majority of the members of our bo&irectors may design:
one member of the board of directors to fill theassif it becomes vacant; a

. Mr. Breyer was elected as the designee of stocknsidtho hold a majority of the outstanding shafesuo Series B preferred stoc

The amended and restated voting agreement anddhisipns of our certificate of incorporation by ieh the directors were elected \
terminate in connection with our initial public efing, and, except as described in “DescriptioCapital Stock—Voting Agreementsthere
will be no further contractual obligations regaglithe election of our directors. Our current diogstwill continue to serve as directors L
their resignations or until their successors atlg dlected by the holders of our common stock.

Classified Board

So long as the outstanding shares of our ClassnBrzn stock represent a majority of the combinedhgopower of common stock, 1
will not have a classified board of directors, atiddirectors will be elected for annual terms.

When the outstanding shares of our Class B comnomk sepresent less than a majority of the combiraithg power of common stoc
we will have a classified board of directors cotisgsof three classes of approximately equal ssaeh serving staggered thrngsar terms. Ol
directors will be assigned by the then-current Badrdirectors to a class.

Upon expiration of the term of a class of directatisectors for that class will be elected for #wear terms at the annual meetin
stockholders in the year in which that term expirés a result, only one class of directors will élected at each annual meeting of
stockholders, with the other classes continuingttfier remainder of their respective three-year teffaeh directos term continues until tl
election and qualification of his or her successomhis or her earlier death, resignation, or reahov

So long as our board of directors is classifiedy @mur board of directors may fill vacancies on taard. Any additional directorsh
resulting from an increase in the number of dinectwill be distributed among the three classeshab, as nearly as possible, each class
consist of one-third of the total number of diresto

The classification of our board of directors maywéahe effect of delaying or preventing changesun control or management. ¢
“Description of Capital Stock—Anti-Takeover Provias—Restated Certificate of Incorporation and ByRnavisions.”
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Director Independence

We intend to apply to list our common stock on &SDAQ Global Select Market or the New York StockcEange. The listing rules
these stock exchanges generally require that arityagd the members of a listed compasyoard of directors be independent within sped
periods following the closing of an initial publiéfering. In addition, the listing rules generatgguire that, subject to specified exceptions,
member of a listed company’s audit, compensatind,governance committees be independent.

Audit committee members must also satisfy the iedence criteria set forth in Rule 1@Aunder the Securities Exchange Act of 1
as amended (Exchange Act). In order to be considexdependent for purposes of Rule 18Aa member of an audit committee of a li
company may not, other than in his or her capaxityy member of the audit committee, the boardrettlirs, or any other board commit
accept, directly or indirectly, any consulting, @by, or other compensatory fee from the listethpany or any of its subsidiaries; or be
affiliated person of the listed company or anytsfsubsidiaries.

Our board of directors has determined that noneuofnonemployee directors has a relationship that woutdrfare with the exercise
independent judgment in carrying out the respolit#s of a director and that each of these dinects “independentés that term is defin
under the rules of the NASDAQ Stock Market and Weav York Stock Exchange. Our board of directors &la® determined that Mes:
Andreessen, Bowles, and Thiel, who comprise ouitawinmittee, Messrs. Breyer and Graham, who cosepour compensation commiti
and Messrs. Andreessen, Graham, and Hastings, whmprise our governance committee, satisfy the ieddpnce standards for th
committees established by applicable SEC ruledfadules of the NASDAQ Stock Market and the NewRkvStock Exchange.

Controlled Company

Because Mr. Zuckerberg controls a majority of outstanding voting power, we are “controlled compar” under the corpora
governance rules for publiclisted companies. Therefore, we are not requireldaie a majority of our board of directors be irefegent, nc
are we required to have a compensation committes andependent nominating function. In light of astatus as a controlled company,
board of directors has determined not to have degandent nominating function and to have thelfo#ird of directors be directly respons
for nominating members of our board. Additionalhs described in the section entitled “DescriptidnGapital Stock—AntiTakeove
Provisions—Restated Certificate of Incorporatiord @8ylaw Provisions,”so long as the outstanding shares of our Class B stoc
represent a majority of the combined voting poweswo common stock, Mr. Zuckerberg will be ablesféectively control all matters submiti
to our stockholders for a vote, as well as the aVemranagement and direction of our company.

Board Committees

Our board of directors has established an auditntitiere, a compensation committee, and a governeoeanittee, each of which w
have the composition and responsibilities descritiddw as of the closing of our initial public offeg. Members serve on these commit
until their resignations or until otherwise detemed by our board of directors.

Audit Committee

Our audit committee is comprised of Messrs. AndseesBowles, and Thiel. Mr. Bowles is the chairns&mour audit committee, is ¢
audit committee financial expert, as that termefirced under SEC rules and possesses financialsmalion as defined under the rules of
NASDAQ Stock Market and the New York Stock Exchangbe designation does not impose on Mr. Bowles duafjes, obligations 1
liabilities that are greater than are generallyasgd on members of our audit committee and ourdbofdirectors. Our audit committee
directly responsible for, among other things:

. selecting the independent registered public acdaogifirm to audit our financial statemen
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ensuring the independence of the independent eegispublic accounting firn

discussing the scope and results of the audit with independent registered public accounting fiand reviewing, wit
management and that firm, our interim and -end operating result

developing procedures to enable submission of anong concerns about accounting or audit mat
considering the adequacy of our internal accourtgogrols and audit procedures;
reviewing related party transactiol

approving or, as permitted, pre-approving all awditt nonaudit services to be performed by the independegistered publ
accounting firm; an

overseeing our internal audit function.

Compensation Committee

Our compensation committee is comprised of Me®rsyer and Graham. Mr. Breyer is the chairman af @ampensation committe
Each member of this committee is a non-employeectbr, as defined pursuant to Rule IBpromulgated under the Exchange Act, an
outside director, as defined under Section 162(f}he Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. d@mpensation committee
responsible for, among other things:

reviewing and approving, or recommending that aarl of directors approve, the compensation ofexecutive officers;
reviewing and recommending to our board of directbe compensation of our directc

reviewing and approving the terms of any compemgatgreements with our executive officers;

administering our stock and equity incentive ple

reviewing and making recommendations to our bo&xirectors with respect to incentive compensatiad equity plans; and

establishing and reviewing our overall compensapioiosophy.

Governance Committee

Our governance committee is comprised of Messrslrdgssen, Graham, and Hastings. Mr. Graham ishthiencan of our governan
committee. Our governance committee is respon$iljeamong other things:

reviewing developments in corporate governancetioes;

developing and recommending our corporate govemgunielines and policies, and evaluating theificgehcy;
reviewing proposed waivers of the code of cond

overseeing the process of evaluating the performafour board of directors; and

advising our board of directors on corporate gogece matters

Each of the above committees has a written chapproved by our board of directors. Following thesimg of our initial public offering
copies of each charter will be posted on the IroreRelations section of our website.

Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Parttipation

During 2011, our compensation committee consisfédeassrs. Breyer and Graham. Neither of them hasgttime in the last fiscal ye
been one of our officers or employees. During 2@18,0, and 2011, The Washington Post Company arrélated companies purchased
million, $4.8 million, and $4.2 million,

100



Table of Contents

respectively, of advertisements on our website.&taham is the Chief Executive Officer of The Wasiton Post Company. The purchase
The Washington Post Company and its related estitiere made in the ordinary course of businesoomeercially reasonable terms.

None of our executive officers has served as a memwtthe board of directors, or as a member ottmapensation or similar committ
of any entity that has one or more executive offiagho served on our board of directors or comp@&rsaommittee during 2011.

Code of Business Ethics and Conduct

In connection with our initial public offering, otmoard of directors will adopt a code of businetbéce and conduct that will apply to
of our employees, officers, and directors. The fet of our code of business conduct will be posia the Investor Relations section of
website. We intend to disclose future amendmentgttain provisions of our code of business condurctvaivers of these provisions, on
website or in filings under the Exchange Act.

Director Compensation

In September 2011, our board of directors apprarednnual retainer fee of $50,000 for each of am-@employee directors. Our non-
employee directors received a prorated fee durldbl2In addition, starting on January 1, 2012, ¢hairman of our audit committee v
receive an annual retainer fee of $20,000. Priayuoinitial public offering, there was no formabligy in place to provide our directors w
equity compensation for their services as membieosiioboard of directors or any committee of ouatsbof directors. In June 2011, our bc
of directors approved the grant of 20,000 resthicock units (RSUs) to Mr. Hastings, as compeasdtr Mr. Hastings'service as a memt
of our board of directors. In September 2011, aeartl of directors approved the grant of 20,000 R8UKIr. Bowles, as compensation
Mr. Bowles’ service as a member of our board of directors. RB&Js granted to Messrs. Bowles and Hastings arfjedub vesting based
their continued services to us through each vestatg, which is more fully described below.

Although there was no formal policy in place reigtito the granting of equity awards to our diregtdhe following table presents
total compensation for each person who served meraber of our board of directors during 2011. Ottian as set forth in the table :
described more fully below, in 2011 we did not pay fees to, make any equity awards or rquoity awards to, or pay any other compens
to the members of our board of directors. Mr. Zubkeg, our founder, Chairman, and CEO, receivegorapensation for his service a
director, and is not included in the table below.

Fees Earned o

Stock

Paid Awards
Director Named in Cash ($) ($) D) Total ($)
Marc L. Andreesse® 16,667 — 16,66
Erskine B. Bowle® 16,667 601,40( 618,06°
James W. Breye 16,667 — 16,66
Donald E. Grahar® 16,667 — 16,66
Reed Hasting® 16,66 593,40( 610,06°
Peter A. Thie 16,667 — 16,667

(1) Amounts reported represent the aggregate granfaiasalue of RSUs without regards to forfeitugranted to the independent members of our boadét@ftors during 2011 under ¢
2005 Stock Plan, computed in accordance with ASE The valuation assumptions used in calculatiegfdir value of the RSUs is set forth in “Managetheiscussion and Analy:
of Financial Condition and Results of Operations-ti€al Accounting Policies and Estimates—Share-daS8empensation.This amount does not reflect the actual economiae
realized by the directo

(2) Messrs. Andreessen and Graham hold RSUsegtamior to January 1, 2011 (Pre-2011 RSUs). Pid-ZRSUs only vest upon the satisfaction of botha (§ervicebased vestir
condition and (ii) a liquidity-based vesting comdlit The liquidity-based vesting condition for P2@11 RSUs is: (a) the date that is six months aftereffective date of our initi
public offering; or (b) a change of control (asidefl in our 2005 Stock Plan). The service-basetingsondition for the Pr@011 RSUs held by Messrs. Andreessen and Grahe
further described in footnotes (3) and (5) belo®UR granted on or after January 1, 2011 (R64tt RSUs) vest based on continuous service tasufsirther described in footnotes
and (6) below
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©)

©)

®)

(6)

As of December 31, 2011, Mr. Andreessen Be2d 7,490 RSUs. The servibased vesting condition was satisfied as to 1/d8the total shares underlying the RSUs on July2808
The remaining shares underlying the RSUs vestrateaof 1/48th of the total number of shares uryiteglthe RSUs on each month thereafter, subjecotdinued service to us throt
each vesting dat

As of December 31, 2011, Mr. Bowles held 20,000 BSThe vesting condition will be satisfied as t@4B3of the total shares underlying the RSUs on Betd5, 2012. The remaini
shares underlying the RSUs vest at a rate of 1/dfthe total number of shares underlying the R8lutpuarterly installments thereafter, not to excelsen quarterly installments, ¢
2/48th on October 15, 2015, subject to continuedice to us through each vesting date. None of Béwles’ RSUs will settle until the earliest to occur ofy lecember 31, 201
(i) an earlier date between January 1, 2013 arzkBwer 31, 2013 that is specified by us; andttig)date of a change of control (as defined in20@5 Stock Plan’

As of December 31, 2011, Mr. Graham held @,000 RSUs. The servidesed vesting condition was satisfied as to 1/#thetotal shares underlying the RSUs on Apr2a10. Th:
remaining shares underlying the RSUs vest at aofaté48th of the total number of shares underlytimg RSUs on each month thereafter, subject taraged service to us through e
vesting date

As of December 31, 2011, Mr. Hastings held 20,080R The vesting condition will be satisfied asltd of the total shares underlying the RSUs on 16ly2012. The remainil
shares underlying the RSUs vest at a rate of 1/dfthe total number of shares underlying the R8lUpuarterly installments thereafter, subject tatowied service to us through e
vesting date. None of Mr. HastingRSUs will settle until the earliest to occur off December 31, 2013; (ii) an earlier date betwestudry 1, 2013 and December 31, 2013 tf
specified by us; and (iii) the date of a changeasftrol (as defined in our 2005 Stock Pl¢
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EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Compensation Discussion and Analysis

Overview

This section explains our executive compensatiofogbdphy, objectives, and design; our compens-setting process; our execut
compensation program components; and the decisiaae in 2011 with respect to the compensation cifi @ our named executive office
Our named executive officers for 2011, which cansfghe executive officers who appear in “—201InfBuary Compensation Tabléelow
are:

. Mark Zuckerberg, our founder, Chairman and Chiedédtsive Officer (CEO);
. Sheryl K. Sandberg, our Chief Operating Officer @)C

. David A. Ebersman, our Chief Financial Officer;

. Mike Schroepfer, our Vice President, Engineering)

. Theodore W. Ullyot, our Vice President, General &ml, and Secretary.

Executive Compensation Philosophy, Objectives arssign

Philosophy We are focused on our mission to make the worldenogen and connected. We believe that Facebodktlie deginning ¢
this journey and that for us to be successful wstrhire and retain people who can continue to dgwelr strategy, quickly innovate and b
new products, bolster the growth of our user baskuser engagement, and constantly enhance ourdsgsinodel. To achieve these object
we need a highly talented team comprised of engimgeproduct, sales, and general and adminisggpirofessionals. We also expect
executive team to possess and demonstrate stradgrihip and management capabilities.

ObjectivesOur compensation programs for our named execuffieecs are built to support the following objeas

. attract the top talent in our leadership positiand motivate our executives to deliver the highestl of individual and team imp:
and results

. encourage our executives to model the importaneaspof our culture, which include moving fast, fgebold, communicatir
openly and building trust with each other and auplyees

. ensure each one of our named executive officersives a total compensation package that encourhigesr her longermr
retention;

. reward high levels of performance with commensulatels of compensation; ai

. align the interests of our executives with thoseowf stockholders in the overall success of Fadelipoemphasizing longgrrr
incentives

Design.As a privatelyheld company, our executive compensation prograheavily weighted towards equity, including stogitions
and restricted stock units (RSUs), with cash cormpton that is considerably below market relatweekecutive compensation at our
companies. We believe that equity compensationrotfee best vehicle to focus our executive offiaamsour mission and the achievemer
our long-term strategic and financial objectived &malign our executive officers with the longrteinterests of our stockholders.

For our executive officers who received a subsghimitial equity award in connection with the comncement of their employment,
have granted additional equity awards with sertiased vesting conditions where the commencemewtsiing is deferred until a date sc
years in the future, as discussed furthe“—Elements of Executive Compensation—Equity Compéing” below. When combined with t
executives’ initial equity awards, we believe ttta¢se additional grants represent a strong teng- retention tool and provide the exect
officers with long-term equity incentives.
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As we transition from being a privately-held compaon a publiclytraded company, we will evaluate our executive censatiol
programs, including our mix of cash and equity cengation, at least annually or as circumstancasreetased on our business objectives
the competitive environment for talent. We antitgpaontinuing our emphasis on pay-for-performane langterm incentive compensati
for our executive officers.

Compensation-Setting Process

Role of Our Compensation CommitteeThe compensation committee is responsible forrsmeing all aspects of our execu
compensation programs, including executive salapagouts under our annual bonus plan, the sizestmdture of equity awards, and .
executive perquisites. The compensation commitsesolely responsible for determining the compensatf our CEO and reviews &
approves compensation of other executive officers.

Role of Compensation Consultarithe compensation committee has the authorityntrage its own advisors to assist in carrying @
responsibilities. The compensation committee didratain the services of an outside compensatioisutant to provide advice with respec
our executive compensation programs for 2011. hudey 2012, the compensation committee engagededhdces of Compensia, Inc.
national compensation consulting firm. Compensig pravide the compensation committee and the bo&directors with guidance regard
the amount and types of compensation that we peacur executives, how our compensation practioegare to the compensation pract
of other companies, and other compensat@ated matters. Compensia will report directly the compensation committee, altho
Compensia may meet with members of managemenhéopurposes of gathering information on propodeas management may make to
compensation committee. The compensation commiteereplace Compensia or hire additional advisbeng time. To date, Compensia
not provided any services to us and has receivezbngpensation from us.

Role of Managemenin setting compensation for 2011, our CEO, our C@Qy our Vice President, Human Resources, workeskely
with the compensation committee in managing ourcetiee compensation program and attended meetihdiseocompensation committ:
From time to time, our Chief Financial Officer amdir General Counsel attended meetings of the cosafien committee to pres:
information and answer questions. Our CEO mademetendations to the compensation committee regambngpensation for our execut
officers other than himself because of his dailyoimement with our executive team. No executiveceff participated directly in the fir
deliberations or determinations regarding his ardven compensation package.

Our management team and the compensation comradtdeplay a role in evaluating and mitigating asl that may exist relating to ¢
compensation plans, practices and policies foemlployees, including our named executive officassfurther described in “Gompensatic
Risk Assessment” below.

Use of Comparative Market Dat&lVe aim to compensate our executive officers atléetieat are at least commensurate with the
competitive levels of compensation of executiveéceifs with executives in similar positions at aigr@f peer companies set forth below \
whom we compete for hiring and retaining executiakent (our Peer Group). The compensation commiglee considered the scope
responsibility of each executive officer, our cutreractice of maintaining minimal differentiatidmetween the cash packages of our exec
officers, the unvested balances of stock awardsdoh executive officer, as well as the compensationmittees assessment of each exect
officer’'s performance and impact to the organization. terd@ning 2011 compensation, we did not use a féairfar taking into account the
different factors.

Management provides the compensation committee lvath cash and equity compensation data for our 8ezup. We analyze mari
data for executive compensation at least annualigguthe most relevant published survey sourcespatudic filings. For 2011, our mark
analysis focused on technology companies with $ibmito $3 billion in annual revenue in the Radfdglobal Technology and Global St
Survey
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published by AON (Radford Survey). In the first ¢ea of 2011, the compensation committee also vestecompensation data from the pu
filings for the following Peer Group:

Accenture Google
Adobe System Intuit
Amazon.corr Microsoft
AOL NetApp

Apple Oracle

Cisco System salesforce.cor
eBay VMware
Electronic Arts Yahoo!

The compensation committee expects to periodicaliew and update this Peer Group.

In the first quarter of 2011, our compensation cotte® reviewed our executive compensation agaimstReer Group, to ensure that
executive officer compensation is competitive anfficent to recruit and retain our executive offis. Management provided the compens,
committee with total cash compensation data (bakeies and cash bonus awards at target) at vapietcentiles and total compensation
(total cash compensation and equity compensatipti)ead0th percentile. However, while the compdansatommittee considered this dati
determining executive officer compensation, we dad seek to benchmark our executive compensaticemyoparticular level. Rather,
sought to compensate our executive officers avel iwhich would allow us to successfully recruitdaretain the best possible talent for
executive team. We relied heavily on the knowledgd experience of the compensation committee ananamagement in determining
appropriate compensation levels for our executifiears. Overall, based on our Peer Group analysta) cash compensation for our exect
officers was below the 25th percentile of the RedlfSurvey and Peer Group data. When equity comfiensaas factored in, without taki
into account the effect of the servibased vesting conditions that begin several yaarthé future and that are applicable to the e
compensation of our executive officers, total congagion for our named executive officers signifibamxceeded the 90th percentile of
market. We believe that in 2011 the total compeosaif our named executive officers was competitiith or exceeded the highest level
Peer Group compensation.

In the second quarter of 2011, the compensatiomutige further refined our approach to reviewingrkea compensation data for «
named executive officers and approved a set ofctsete criteria for determining our peer group comipa as listed below, with t
understanding that the criteria will be revisitedaur business and market environment change. Gomgard, companies must meet al
some of the following criteria to be included inr@@mpensation peer group:

. high technology or media compatr
. key talent competitor;
. minimum revenue of $4 billion; or

. minimum market capitalization of $50 billio

This set of selection criteria led us to revise fleer group against whom we benchmark our execatwgpensation. We plan to use
following companies in our peer group for the 2@&cutive compensation process: Amazon.com; Appisco Systems; eBay; Goo¢
LinkedIn; Microsoft; Netflix; Oracle; salesforcermg VMware; Yahoo!; and Zynga.

Elements of Executive Compensation

Our executive officer compensation packages gegeralude:

. base salary

105



Table of Contents

. performanc-based cash incentives; a
. equity-based compensation in the form of RSUs leeroshare-based compensation.

We believe that our compensation mix supports djgative of focusing on aisk compensation having significant financial wesbase
on company and individual performance. We expecbttinue to emphasize equity awards because dfitbet link that equity compensat
provides between stockholder interests and theeste of our executive officers, thereby motivationgr executive officers to focus
increasing our value over the long term.

Base SalaryThe compensation committee believes base salamea aecessary element of compensation in ordatttact and reta
highly qualified executive officers. Historicallygur executive officers have received base salakiglsin a very narrow range that v
established when we were a smaller company with casstraints and based on our desire to maintaémrial pay equity between execu
officers and also relative to other key employgeswe have grown, we have gradually increased balsgies for our executive officers w
the goal of bringing salaries closer to market dirae. In 2011, we continued to pay executive lsaries that were below market relativ
our Peer Group, both to retain the ethos of a-statompany and because of our emphasis on ehagigd compensation. As noted abov
2011, based on our Peer Group analysis, our tagil compensation for our executive officers waswehe 25th percentile of the Peer Group.

The compensation committee reviews base salarfesufoexecutive officers at least annually and radjust them from time to time,
needed, to reflect changes in market conditionsteer factors. In the first quarter of 2011, thenpensation committee decided to increas
base salaries of our executive officers in ordetdntinue to bring their salaries closer to thoai by our Peer Group companies for sin
positions. Accordingly, our compensation commitieeeased the base salary of our CEO by $100,0806aeach other executive officer
$25,000. Following this 2011 salary increase, owceative officer salaries were still below the 2p#rcentile of the salaries provided by
Peer Group companies for executives in similartpms.

In the first quarter of 2012, our compensation catie® discussed and approved a request by our GEE&dtice his base salary to $1
year, effective January 1, 201

Named Executive Officer 2011 Base Salar
Mark Zuckerberg $500,00!
Sheryl K. Sandber 300,00(
David A. Ebersmal 300,00(
Mike Schroepfe 275,00(
Theodore W. Ullyo 275,00(

Cash Bonuse®ur 2011 Bonus/Retention Plan (Bonus Plan) providegble cash incentives, payable semitually, that are designec
motivate our executive officers to focus on compange priorities and to reward them for individu&ssults and achievements. All of
executive officers participate in the Bonus Plan.

For 2011, there were two sironth performance periods under our Bonus Planchwhie refer to as First Half 2011 and Second
2011. For each performance period in 2011, the emsgtion committee approved a set of compaitle priorities in order to focus c
executive officers on key areas of performancdHerperiod in question. The First and Second Haifl2company priorities reflect operatic
and noneperational objectives established by our comp@rsatommittee, in consultation with our CEO and &€Hrinancial Officer. Th
companywide priorities do not have specific targets asseci with them for purposes of determining perfarogaunder the Bonus Plan,
our compensation committee has complete discrétiatetermine the level of bonus payout for eaclioperance period. The amounts eal
by our executive officers pursuant to our Bonusi\Ptat Second Half 2011 have not yet been determined

106



Table of Contents

2011 Goals and Company Performance Multipliers {@oRlan Pools)Our First Half 2011 compamyide priorities were as follow
grow our user base and user engagement, improvsiteuguality and efficiency, expand the impacboaf Platform, continue strong revel
growth, improve our Profile product, build our migbplatform, expand our partnerships, and contioueinternational expansion. None
these priorities were assigned any specific weightir dollar amount of bonus. Taking into accowntaelivery of results in the areas identi
by the companyvide priorities approved by the compensation cor@ajtas well as all other relevant factors, our pemsation committt
applied its discretion and approved a First Halt P@ompany performance multiplier of 105%. In gadar, the compensation commil
focused on our strong user growth and revenue gréovtFirst Half 2011.

Our Second Half 2011 compamyide priorities were as follows: grow our user basel user engagement, increase distribution ¢
Platform, and continue strong revenue growth. Nafnnese priorities were assigned any specific tiig or dollar amount of bonus. Tak
into account our delivery of results in the aredentified by the companwide priorities approved by the compensation coreajtas well ¢
all other relevant factors, the compensation cotemiapplying its discretion, approved a Second B@ifl company performance multipliel
100%. The compensation committee focused on odomeance in all of the areas identified by the campwide priorities, as well as ¢
introduction of Timeline and other new productsSiecond Half 2011.

Bonus Plan Payout$Ve calculate Bonus Plan payouts to each participsing the following formula:

Base Individual Individual Company Individual
Salary (8) X Bonus X Performance X Performance = Bonus
y Target (%) Multiplier (%) Multiplier (%) Payout ($,

In the first quarter of 2011, the compensation cdttem decided to increase individual bonus tarfmt®ach executive officer from 3(
to 45% in order to continue to move bonuses cluasenarket rates paid by our Peer Group. Even fatigwhis bonus target increase, in 2(
our executive officer bonuses and total cash cosgt@n was still generally below those providedohy Peer Group companies for execut
in similar positions.

Individual Performance Multiplier.The individual performance multiplier is based upeach executive’ individual performanc
assessment for the performance period under coasigie In line with our pay-foperformance philosophy, a higher performance assss
drives a higher individual multiplier (and vieersa) such that it is possible for an executivénailow assessment to get less than their 1
bonus payout, or no bonus payout whatsoever. I 2itividual performance multipliers in our BonBtan could have ranged from 0%
300%, with executives meeting our expected higklle¥ performance expectations receiving an indigidoonus multiplier of 100%.

Individual performance assessments for each execofficer were determined at the discretion of ¢benpensation committee in cle
consultation with our CEO and our COO (except inheease when their own performance assessmening tetermined). The CE®’an(
COOQ’s executive officer performance assessmentmmetendations were based on an overall subjectivesasent of each officer
performance and no single factor was determinaitivesetting bonus levels, nor was the impact of amdividual factor on the bon
quantifiable. We operate in a rapidly evolving dmghly competitive industry and we set a high argerformance expectations for each
of our executive officers. The compensation conmenittvaluates our executive officers based on thweirall performance, impact and resi
as well as their demonstration of strong leaderdbipgterm vision, effective execution and managementbdities. First Half 2011 payo
levels and achievements and considerations for esetutive were as follows:

Mark Zuckerberg Mr. Zuckerberg received $220,500 for the Firstfi2811 bonus, which reflected the impact of hisfpenance i
leading our product development efforts, our suedegrowing Facebook’global user base and developing strong devekpdicommercii
relationships.
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Sheryl K. SandbergMs. Sandberg received $86,133 for the First RaE1 bonus, which reflected her contribution tovgrg revenue
building commercial and developer relationshipswing the Facebook team and excellence in executiafi business-related matters.

David A. Ebersman Mr. Ebersman received $86,133 for the First 128111 bonus, which reflected his contributions impteting ou
2010 financial statements, completing our privdée@ment financing, and preparing our financialrapens for this offering.

Mike Schroepfer Mr. Schroepfer received $63,000 for the Firstft2011 bonus, which reflected his contribution ieveloping an
overseeing our engineering team, software developeféorts, and engineering infrastructure.

Theodore W. Ullyot Mr. Ullyot received $78,750 for the First Half 2D bonus, which reflected his role in certain kitigation ant
regulatory matters involving our company.

Retention BonusAs part of our negotiation of his initial employntearrangement and as an inducement for Mr. Ullgobécome ot
Vice President and General Counsel, we agreedythiipaan annual retention bonus in the amount 60300 per year for each of his first 1
years of employment. He will continue to receivés thonus until 2013, pursuant to the terms of miwemrded and restated employn
agreement.

Equity CompensatiorMost of our executive officercompensation is delivered through equity awards.Uske equity compensation
align our executive officerdinancial interests with those of our stockholdéosattract industry leaders of the highest calibed to retain the
for the long term. In addition to the equity gréimit each executive receives as part of his onéerhire package, the compensation comn
has granted our executives additional equity award®rtain of the years after they joined. Additib equity grants for each of our execu
officers are determined on a discretionary basimgpinto account the following factors:

. delivering equity values that are highly compeéitivhen compared against those our peers would tpakecutives with simil;
responsibility;

. each executive offices’individual performance assessment, the resuttscantributions delivered during the year, as vasllth:
anticipated potential future impact of each indixatiexecutive

. the size and vesting schedule of existing equitmty in order to maximize the retentive power badtlitional grants; an

. the size of each executive officertotal cash compensation (base salary plus caslistmvards at target), which is generally Ic
than the cash compensation for executives withlaimeésponsibilities at our peer compan

Based on the foregoing factors, in 2011, our coragton committee awarded each of our executiveaffi (other than our CEO) a gt
of RSUs with a specific “initial equity valudjased on an estimated total value for each grdoté¢aking into account the deferred ves
considerations described below. The compensatiammitiee then calculated the exact number of RSUsetgranted by dividing this initi
equity value by $20.85 per share, which was theviglue of our Class B common stock as of the drizDa0.

The compensation committee deferred the vesting deges of all 2011 RSU grants made to our exeeutifficers to a future de
determined individually for each executive. The pemsation committee reviewed the size and vestihgdule for the remaining unves
portion of all outstanding equity award holdingseafch of our executive officers and agreed withrdemmmendation of our CEO and C
(except that our COO did not participate in disauss regarding her own equity compensation) thatekisting equity awards appropriai
satisfied our retention and incentive goals foritheediate future for each of our executive officekccordingly, the additional equity awa
granted in 2011 start vesting only after a sigaificportion of each executivebutstanding equity awards have vested, and thesteng sta
dates range from the fourth quarter of
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2013 to the fourth quarter of 2014. The compensat@mmmittee believes that these vesting schedudd® rthe equity awards more valuable
retaining our executive officers for the long terfrar more information relating to the vesting salled of these RSU grants, see 2641
Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table” below.

Mr. Zuckerberg did not receive any additional eggitants in 2011 because our compensation comniitbeved that his existing equ
ownership position sufficiently aligns his inteestith those of our stockholders.

Our other named executive officers received thiefohg RSU grants in 2011:

Sheryl K. Sandberg Ms. Sandberg received an additional equity gianthe amount of 1,199,041 RSUs. The RSUs are sultgj
quarterly vesting based on continued employment fowg years with a deferred vesting start dat®ctober 15, 2013.

David A. EbersmanMr. Ebersman received an additional equity gmnarthe amount of 719,424 RSUs. The RSUs are sutjegparterl
vesting based on continued employment over foursywith a deferred vesting start date of October203.4.

Mike Schroepfer Mr. Schroepfer received an additional equity giarthe amount of 959,233 RSUs. The RSUs are stibjequarter!
vesting based on continued employment over foursywith a deferred vesting start date of October203.3.

Theodore W. Ullyot Mr. Ullyot received an additional equity granttime amount of 239,808 RSUs. The RSUs are sulgegtiarter|:
vesting based on continued employment over foursywéth a deferred vesting start date of July 18,42
Compensation Governance

The compensation committee seeks to ensure sowewliixe compensation practices to adhere to ouff@agerformance philosopl
while appropriately managing risk and aligning sompensation programs with loerm stockholder interests. The following practivese
in effect during 2011

. the compensation committee is comprised solelydépendent director
. the compensation committee conducts an annualwesigd approval of our compensation strategy, inolyda review of ot

compensation-related risk profile to ensure thatammpensatiomelated risks are not reasonably likely to haveademal advers
effect on our compan

. the compensation committee retains discretion amubgayouts to enable it to respond to unforeseente and adjust bon
payouts as appropriat

. we do not offer post-employment benefits, excegh@case of certain new hires in prior years; and

. our compensation philosophy and related govern&mteires are complemented by several specific ipescthat are designed
align our executive compensation with I-term stockholder interests, including the followil

- we offer limited perquisites that are for busir-related purposes or necessary for the securityo€C&O; anc
- our executives participate in broad-based compgonsored health and welfare benefits program$i@same basis as
other ful-time, salaried employee
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Post-Employment Compensation

The material terms of pcemployment compensation for Ms. Sandberg and Myotlare described below i*—Employmen
Agreements and Offer Letters” and “—Potential Pagts@ipon Termination or Change in Control.”

Perquisites and Other Benefits

Consistent with the practices of many companiesuinPeer Group, we provide perquisites to our naexedutive officers for the reast
described below.

Because of the high visibility of our company weséamplemented a “comprehensive security progréon™r. Zuckerberg to addre
safety concerns resulting from his position asfounder, Chairman, and CEO. We require these dgameasures for the compasybenefi
because of the importance of Mr. Zuckerberg to Back, and we believe that the costs of this congmsive security program are appropi
and necessary. We paid for the initial procuremiaistallation and maintenance of security measfoedr. Zuckerbergs personal residen:
and we pay for the annual costs of security persihmeither of which constitutes taxable incométo Zuckerberg.

Our compensation committee has also authorizecC&® and COO to use private aircraft for businespgaes. This practice maximi:
such executivegdroductive time and ensures their quick availabilih addition, Mr. Zuckerberg may use private gdftfor personal purpos
in connection with his comprehensive security paogr On certain occasions, Mr. Zuckerberg may b@rapanied by family members
others when using private aircraft. For flightsolwing passengers flying for personal purposesatigregate incremental cost of such pers
usage is reported as other compensation to Mr.&hbekg. The reported aggregate incremental cdistdsd on costs provided by the applic
charter company, and includes passenger fees ciesl, and catering costs. The incremental cosbatable to Mr. Zuckerberg'use of priva
aircraft in 2011 is disclosed in the “All Other Cpensation” column in “—2011 Summary Compensatiobl@abelow.

In addition, we have historically paid for certaif our named executive officers to receive finahdi@ax and estate planning advice
assist them in obtaining professional advice onagarg the compensation they receive. We plan toodignue this practice as of April :
2012.

162(m) Tax Deductibility

Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code of 188@mended (Code), limits the amount that we dealyict from our federal incor
taxes for remuneration paid to our named executffieers (other than our Chief Financial Officeg) $1 million dollars per executive offic
per year, unless certain requirements are metiodbeb82(m) provides an exception from this deductlonitation for certain forms 1
“performance-based compensatiora$ well as for the gain recognized by covered ekezwfficers upon the exercise of qualify
compensatory stock options. In addition, “grandégtiprovisions may apply to certain compensation aamgnts that were entered into t
corporation before it was publicly held. To dat#,ad our compensation that has been granted has lexempt from the Section 162
deduction limitation. While our compensation contget is mindful of the benefit to us of the full detibility of compensation, o
compensation committee believes that it shouldbetonstrained by the requirements of Section 1p2(here those requirements wa
impair flexibility in compensating our executivefiobrs in a manner that can best promote our catpopbjectives. Therefore, «
compensation committee has not adopted a polidyréwires that all compensation be deductible. @ampensation committee intend:
continue to compensate our executive officersrimaaner consistent with the best interests of oorgany and our stockholders.
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Compensation Risk Assessment

Our management team and the compensation comradtgdeplay a role in evaluating and mitigating asly that may exist relating to ¢
compensation plans, practices and policies foreatployees, including our named executive officéns.connection with this offerin
management conducted a risk assessment of our osatpen plans and practices and concluded that@upensation programs do not cri
risks that are reasonably likely to have a matexthlerse effect on the company. The compensatiomitiee has reviewed and agrees
managemeng conclusion. The objective of the assessment avédentify any compensation plans or practices thay encourage employzt
to take unnecessary risk that could threaten timepeoy. No such plans or practices were identifigte risk assessment process inclu
among other things, a review of our cash and equitgntivebased compensation plans to ensure that they mreedl with our compar
performance goals and the overall compensatiomsnire an appropriate balance between fixed andblaripay components and betw
short- and long-term incentives.

2011 Summary Compensation Table

The following table presents summary informatiogareling the total compensation awarded to, eargedropaid to each of the nan
executive officers for services rendered to uglieryear ended December 31, 2011.

All Other
Stock Compensatior
Fiscal Salary Bonus Awards Total
Name and Principal Position Year ($) $)@ $) @ ($) ($)
Mark Zuckerberg, 2011 483,33: 220,50( — 783,520 1,487,36:
CEO
Sheryl K. Sandber 2011 295,83¢ 86,13 30,491,61 — 30,873,57
Chief Operating Office
David A. Ebersmar 2011 295,83¢ 86,13: 18,294,95 — 18,676,91
Chief Financial Officel
Mike Schroepfer 2011 270,83: 63,00( 24,393,29 — 24,727,12
Vice President of Engineerir
Theodore W. Ullyot 2011 270,83: 478,75(4 6,098,31 110,6445) 6,958,54.

Vice President, General Counsel and Secre

(1) The amounts reported in the bonus column reprefisatetionary bonuses earned during the first dfathe fiscal year pursuant to our Bonus Plan. afm®unts earned pursuant to
Bonus Plan during the second half of the fiscalr yes@ve not yet been determined. For more informaéibout our executive officers’ discretionary basjssee “—€ompensatic
Discussion and Analys—Elements of Executive Compensa—Cash Bonus¢’ above.

(2) Amounts reflect the aggregate grant date fair vafulae RSUs without regards to forfeitures, conepuin accordance with ASC 718. The valuation ass$iemg used in calculating t
grant date fair value of these RSUs are set fartiManagement’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€andition and Results of Operation&+itical Accounting Policies at
Estimates—Share-based Compensatidinis amount does not reflect the actual economioeveealized by the named executive officer. Th&JR$sued to our executive offic
during 2011 provide for quarterly vesting basectontinued employment over four years with a deféwesting start date of October 15, 2013 for Msidbarg, October 15, 2014
Mr. Ebersman, October 15, 2013 for Mr. Schroepfed July 15, 2014 for Mr. Ullyo

(3) The amount reported represent approximately $692@7costs related to personal use of aircraftteihed in connection with his comprehensive segymibgram and on which fam
and friends flew during 2011. For purposes of répgrthe value of such personal usage in this taléeuse costs provided by the applicable chadempany, which include passen
fees, fuel, crew and catering costs. The amourtrteg also represents approximately $90,850 foisae$ated to estate and financial planning dug@gl.

(4) Consists of a discretionary bonus under camiB Plan as described in footnote (1) above arahanoal retention bonus in the amount of $400,800Ullyot’ s retention bonus is mc
fully described ir“—Compensation Discussion and Anal—Elements of Executive Compensa—Retention BonL” above.

(5) Consists of relocation reimbursements, inicigch related grossp for taxes, paid to Mr. Ullyot pursuant to hisglayment agreement in effect as of December 31126®r mor
information about Mr. Ullyc's amended and restated employment agreemer“—Employment Agreements and Offer Let” below.
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2011 Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table

The following table presents, for each of the namegtutive officers, information concerning eacargrof an equity award made dut
the year ended December 31, 2011. This informatiopplements the information about these awardsfes#t in the 2011 Summa
Compensation Table.

Grant Date

All Other Stock Fair Value
Awards: Number of Stock Awards

Grant of Shares of

Name __Dae Stock or Units (#)® N OICON
Mark Zuckerberg — — —
Sheryl K. Sandber 3/25/201: 1,199,04. 30,491,61
David A. Ebersmal 3/25/201: 719,42 18,294,95
Mike Schroepfe 3/25/201: 959,23 24,393,29
Theodore W. Ullyo 3/25/201: 239,80t 6,098,31

(1) These awards are subject to vesting, as descmibeetail in“—2011 Outstanding Equity Awards at Y-End Tabl" below.

(2) Amounts reflect the grant date fair value of theURSvithout regards to forfeitures, computed in adaeace with ASC 718. The valuation assumptions irsedlculating the grant d¢
fair value of these awards are set forth in “Mamaget’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Comditand Results of Operations—Critical Accountindgjd®®s and Estimates—Share-
based Compensatic’ This amount does not reflect the actual economliceveealized by the named executive offic

(3) The RSUs issued to our executive officers duringj12provide for quarterly vesting based on continaetbloyment over four years with a deferred vessitagt date of October !
2013 for Ms. Sandberg, October 15, 2014 for Mr.r&fman, October 15, 2013 for Mr. Schroepfer, ang 16| 2014 for Mr. Ullyot
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2011 Outstanding Equity Awards at Year-End Table
The following table presents, for each of the namegcutive officers, information regarding outstaigdstock options and RSUs helc

of December 31, 2011.

Option Awards

Stock Awards

Market
Value of
Shares or
Number of Number of Number of Units of
Securities Securities Shares Stock That
Underlying Underlying or Units of
Unexercised Unexercised Option Option Stock That Have Not
Options (#) Options (#) Exercise Expiration Have Not Vested

Name Grant Date (1) Exercisable Unexercisable Price ($) (@ Date Vested (#)3) ($)@

Mark Zuckerberg 11/8/200! 120,000,006) — 0.0€ 11/7/201! — —

Sheryl K. Sandberg 8/1/200¢ — — — — 38,122,000
7123/201( — 3,500,00 10.3¢ 7122/202( — —

10/18/2011 — 1,200,001®) 15.0(®  10/17/202 — —
3/25/201.: — — — — 1,199,040

David A. Ebersman 10/26/200! 2,025,00! 2,475,001) 3.2t 10/25/201! — —
10/26/200! — — — — 6,750,00(12)
3/25/201: — — — — 719,42419)

Mike Schroepfe 1/12/2004 1,141,16! 570,58415) 1.8t 1/11/201¢ — —
1/12/200¢ 290,307 353,0416) 1.8t 1/11/201¢ — —
1/12/200¢ — — — — 1,497,77n
1/12/200: — — — — 1,176,829
8/19/200¢ 543,75( 581,25(19) 2.9t 8/18/201¢ — —
8/26/200¢ — — — — 1,125,00120)

8/26/201( — — — — 1,385,352
3/25/201: — — — — 959,23122)

Theodore W. Ullyo 1/12/200423) 1,720,33: 1,184,99(24) 1.8t 1/11/201¢ — —
1/12/200¢ — — — — 3,231,789
2/26/201( — — — — 311,23((26)

3/25/201.: — — — — 239,80¢27

(1) With the exception of the stock option grahte Mr. Zuckerberg described in footnote (5) belevhich was granted under our 2005 Office8sdck Plan, all of the outstanding eq

awards described below were granted under our 280k Plan

(2) With the exception of the stock option granted te. Mandberg described in footnote (9) below, thieran represents the fair value of a share of GBasemmon stock on the date

grant, as determined by our board of direct

(3) RSUs granted prior to January 1, 2011 (PretZRSUSs) issued to our executive officers only wggin the satisfaction of both (i) a service-basesting condition and (i) a liquidity-

based vesting condition. The liquidity-based vestiondition for Pre2011 RSUs is: (a) the date that is six months #dfteeffective date of our initial public offeringr (b) a change
control (as defined in our 2005 Stock Ple

(4) The market price for our Class B common stock seldeon the assumed initial public offering pricehe#f Class A common stock of $ per shdwe ntidpoint of the price range

the cover page of this prospect

(5) The shares subject to this option were fully vestedf November 1, 201

(6) The servicdsased vesting condition was satisfied as to 57%h@fotal shares underlying the RSUs on April 112Between April 1, 2011 and April 1, 2012, anitiddal 1.75% o

the total number of shares underlying the RSUs weidit per month, subject to continued service tthumugh each vesting date. The senbesed vesting condition will be satisfiec
to all of the shares underlying the RSUs on Apri213.

(7) 1/48th of the total number of shares subject toohgon will vest on May 1, 2013 and the remainsi@res subject to the option vest at a rate ofti/dBthe total number of sha

subject to the option on each month thereafterjestibo continued service to us through each vgstate.

(8) 260,000 of the total number of shares subjecteoofition will vest on May 1, 2013 in equal monthigtallments for a period of 48 months, and, thiteeathe remaining shares sub

to the option will vest in equal monthly installnieffior a period of 12 months, subject to continservice to us through each vesting d
(9) The compensation committee set the option exepzise for this grant at $15.00 per share, a prentuthe fair market value of a share of Class B mmm stock on the date of gr

which was determined by our compensation committdes $12.56 per shai
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(10)
(11
(12)
(13)

(14)
(15)

(16)
an
(18)
19
(20)
1)
(22)

(23)
(24

(25)
(26)

@7

The vesting condition will be satisfied as to 1H.6f the total shares underlying the RSUs on Janiy 2014. The remaining shares underlying the &t at a rate of 1/16th of
total number of shares underlying the RSUs on eaeinter thereafter, subject to continued serviagstthrough each vesting da

1/5th of the total number of shares subject toojgon vested on September 8, 2010 and the rengpgtiares subject to the option vest at a rate6ffti/of the total number of sha
subject to the option on each month thereafterjestio continued service to us through each vgstate.

The servicebased vesting condition was satisfied as to 1/6thetotal shares underlying the RSUs on SeptehbeP010. The remaining shares underlying the R84t at a rate

1/60th of the total number of shares underlyingRI®Js on each month thereafter, subject to cordiseevice to us through each vesting d

The vesting condition will be satisfied as to 1H.6f the total shares underlying the RSUs on Janifayr2015. The remaining shares underlying the R&kst at a rate of 1/16th of
total number of shares subject to the RSUs on gaalter thereafter, subject to continued serviagstthrough each vesting da

In June 2011, in connection with certain estatemileg, Mr. Schroepfer transferred options to pusehd00,000 shares of Class B common stock to daerodamily trusts.

1/5th of the total number of shares subject todpton vested on August 25, 2009 and the remaisiages subject to the option vest at a rate ofti/6Dthe total number of sha
subject to the option on each month thereafterjestibo continued service to us through each vgstate.

1/5th of the total number of shares subject toaption vested on October 29, 2009 and the remaisiirages subject to the option vest at a rate d@fthi/6f the total number of sha
subject to the option on each month thereafterjestibo continued service to us through each vgstate.

The servicebased vesting condition was satisfied as to 1/6thetotal shares underlying the RSUs on Septerhp2009. The remaining shares underlying the R®ds¢ at a rate

1/60th of the total number of shares underlyingRI®Js on each month thereafter, subject to cordiseevice to us through each vesting d

The servicebased vesting condition was satisfied as to 1/6thetotal shares underlying the RSUs on Novenb@009. The remaining shares underlying the RStds$ at a rate

1/60th of the total number of shares underlyingRI®Js on each month thereafter, subject to cordiseevice to us through each vesting d

1/5th of the total number of shares subject tooghtion vested on July 15, 2010 and the remainirgeshsubject to the option vest at a rate of 1/60the total number of shares sub
to the option on each month thereafter, subjecbtdinued service to us through each vesting

The servicebased vesting condition was satisfied as to 1/6theototal shares underlying the RSUs on July2DA,0. The remaining shares underlying the RSUsatesstrate of 1/60
of the total number of shares underlying the RStusach month thereafter, subject to continued seta us through each vesting d:

The servicebased vesting condition will be satisfied as tdbiilof the total shares underlying the RSUs on Aud5, 2014. The remaining shares underlying thed€k&st at a rate
1/16th of the total number of shares underlyingRI®Js on each quarter thereafter, subject to ceedirservice to us through each vesting ¢

The vesting condition will be satisfied as to 1H.6f the total shares underlying the RSUs on Janiy2014. The remaining shares underlying the R&tst at a rate of 1/16th of
total number of shares underlying the RSUs on eaelnter thereafter, subject to continued serviagstthrough each vesting da

In December 2011, in connection with certain espddaning, Mr. Ullyot transferred options to pursbat00,000 shares of Class B common stock to dyfamst.

1/5th of the total number of shares subject toapton vested on October 20, 2009 and the remaisiirages subject to the option vest at a rate d@fth/6f the total number of sha
subject to the option on each month thereafterjestio continued service to us through each vgstate.

The servicébased vesting condition was satisfied as to 1/6thetotal shares underlying the RSUs on Novemb@009. The remaining shares underlying the R34 at a rate

1/60th of the total number of shares underlyingRI®Js on each month thereafter, subject to cordiseevice to us through each vesting d

The servicebased vesting condition will be satisfied as tal & the total shares underlying the RSUs on Au@bs 2014. The remaining shares underlying the R@&&$t at a rate
1/16th of the total number of shares underlyingRI®Js on each quarter thereafter, subject to coedirservice to us through each vesting ¢

The vesting condition will be satisfied as to 1H.6f the total shares underlying the RSUs on Oct&be2014. The remaining shares underlying the R&tst at a rate of 1/16th of
total number of shares underlying the RSUs on eaeinter thereafter, subject to continued serviagstthrough each vesting da

114



Table of Contents

2011 Option Exercises
The following table presents, for each of the naregecutive officers, the number of shares of ounmmn stock acquired upon
exercises of stock options during 2011 and theegage value realized upon the exercises. No RSktedén 2011.

Option Awards
Number of Share:

Value Realized ol

Acquired on
Name Exercise (#) Exercise ($)(1)
Mark Zuckerberg — —
Sheryl K. Sandber — —
David A. Ebersmal — —
Mike Schroepfe 319,50( 7,417,51.
Theodore W. Ullyo 326,45¢ 7,579,07.

(1) These options were exercised in connection witrsétle by Messrs. Schroepfer and Ullyot of certdithese shares to third parties. The aggregateevelalized upon the exercise of
options represents the amount by which $25.07, hvhias the price per share at which Messrs. Scheogpid Ullyot sold certain of these shares, exatéue aggregate exercise p
of the options, which was $1.854 per sh.

Employment Agreements and Offer Letters

We have entered into employment agreements or leffiers with each of the named executive officésese agreements provide for at-
will employment and generally include the namedcexige officer’s initial base salary, an indication of eligibiliiyr an annual cash incent
award opportunity, and, in some cases, arrangemdgtitsrespect to the accelerated vesting of eqgaitards. In addition, each of our nar
executive officers has executed a form of our stesh@onfidential information and invention assigminagreement. Any potential payme
and benefits due upon a termination of employmerd ehange in control of us are further described quantified below in “—Potentia
Payments upon Termination or Change in Control.”

Mark Zuckerberg

We entered into an amended and restated offer Isite Mr. Zuckerberg, our founder, Chairman, an8Qd in January 2012. This of
letter agreement has no specific term and conssitat-will employment. Mr. Zuckerbeggcurrent annual base salary is $500,000 and
eligible to receive annual bonus compensation underBonus Plan. Effective January 1, 2013, Mr.k&ubergs annual base salary will
reduced to $1.

Sheryl K. Sandberg

We entered into an amended and restated employageeément with Ms. Sandberg, our Chief Operatinic€f in January 2012. T
employment agreement has no specific term and itatest at-will employment. Ms. Sandbesgurrent annual base salary is $300,000, ar
is eligible to receive annual bonus compensatiotetumur Bonus Plan. In the event Ms. Sandbergtigerinvoluntarily terminated witha
cause (other than as a result of death or disgbiit is constructively terminated, in either cagighin one month prior to or six mont
following a change in control, she will be entitiedaccelerated vesting of 100% of the unvested &i8Wer initial grant, subject to executir
release of claims. In addition, the employment egrent provides that in the event of a change inrebwhere the RSUs are not assume
substituted for an equivalent award, any unvest&URRwill vest immediately prior to the consummatiohthe change in control. T
employment agreement also provides that if Ms. Barglis terminated without cause (other than assaltr of death or disability), and ot
than in connection with a change in control, shi g entitled to accelerated vesting of the une@9RSUs in her initial grant in an ama
equal to the number of RSUs that would have velséetlher employment continued for the first halftef months remaining between the |
of her termination and April 1, 2013, subject t@euting a release of claims, and if she is termeithats a result of death or disability, she wi
entitled to continued vesting of her unvested R&lW®ne year.
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David A. Ebersman

We entered into an amended and restated offer letth Mr. Ebersman, our Chief Financial Officen, January 2012. The offer let
agreement has no specific term and constitutedlagémployment. Mr. Ebersmas’current annual base salary is $300,000, and &@ible tc
receive annual bonus compensation under our Bolauns P

Mike Schroepfer

We entered into an amended and restated offer Mtte Mr. Schroepfer, our Vice President, Engiregr in January 2012. The of
letter agreement has no specific term and conssitat-will employment. Mr. Schroepfsrturrent annual base salary is $275,000, and
eligible to receive annual bonus compensation undeBonus Plan.

Theodore W. Ullyot

We entered into an amended and restated employages¢ment with Mr. Ullyot, our Vice President, Gei€Counsel, and Secretary
January 2012. The employment agreement has nofispiecm and constitutes at-will employment. Mrlydit’s current annual base salar
$275,000, and he is eligible to receive annual barampensation under our Bonus Plan. In additlom.eimployment agreement provides
Mr. Ullyot is entitled to an annual retention borafsp400,000 for the first five years of his empimgnt (Mr. Ullyot's employment commenc
in October 2008). In the event that Mr. Ullyot igher involuntarily terminated without cause (otltlean as a result of death or disability) ¢
constructively terminated, in either case withireanonth prior to or six months following a changecontrol, he will be entitled to accelere
vesting of 100% of the unvested RSUs and optiortsisninitial grants, subject to executing a releatelaims. In addition, the employm
agreement provides that in the event that if, inneztion with a change in control, the RSUs andeshaubject to options are not assume
substituted for equivalent awards, then any ungeBi8Us or shares subject to options will vest imiatetyy prior to the consummation of
change in control. The employment agreement alswiges that if Mr. Ullyot is involuntarily terminatl in the fourth or fifth years of |
employment either without cause (other than assaltref death or disability) or is constructivebrminated, other than in connection wi
change in control, he will be entitled to acceledatesting of 50% of the remaining unvested RSUbksirares subject to options in his in
grants, subject to executing a release of clairhe.dmployment agreement also provides that heb@iéntitled to a severance payment eqt
one year of base salary and his annual retention$d he is involuntarily terminated either withaause (other than as a result of dea
disability) or is constructively terminated, in ewction with a change in control or otherwise, eabjo executing a release of claims.

Potential Payments upon Termination or Change in Cotrol

Under the terms and conditions of their individagteements, as described in detail above, Ms. ®@agdind Mr. Ullyot are eligible
receive certain benefits in connection with higier termination of employment, depending on theurirstances, including following a cha
in control of us (such as a sale of all or substdiptall of our assets or a merger involving ttadesof a majority of the outstanding shares o
voting capital stock).

The actual amounts that would be paid or distritbitethese named executive officers as a resudttefmination event occurring in-
future may be different than those presented belsunany factors will affect the amount of any pagtaeand benefits upon a terminatiol
employment. For example, some of the factors tbatdcaffect the amounts payable include the nanxedwgive officers base salary and 1
market price of our common stock. Although we ha@mesome instances, entered into written arrangésngenprovide benefits to the nan
executive officers in connection with a terminatmimemployment under particular circumstances, avegn acquirer, may mutually agree v
the named executive officers on severance terntwvémg from
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those provided in these pre-existing arrangeméfas.more information about the named executiveceff’ outstanding equity awards as
December 31, 2011, see “—2011 Outstanding Equitaie at Year-End Table” above.

For purposes of the tables below as to Ms. SandieagMr. Ullyot, an “involuntary terminationgenerally means the termination of
executive’s employment by us without cause or sclividual’'s voluntary resignation following a material adeeichange in his or
compensation, responsibility, or the location of o her services. “Causé’ generally defined to include acts of materiahdinesty or gro
negligence, failures to comply with our policiesagireements, or any conviction of a felony or crhenoral turpitude.

Sheryl K. Sandberg

The table below summarizes the value of the vestiogeleration to which Ms. Sandberg would be eutjtlassuming a qualifyil
termination as of December 31, 2011.

No Change
in Control (3 Change in Control (4)
Involuntary No Involuntary
Benefit Termination Termination Termination
Vesting Acceleratiotb@ $ $ $
(1) Calculated based on the assumed initial publicrioifeprice of $ per share, the midpointte price range on the cover page of this prospe

(2) As of December 31, 2011, the service-basating condition on 8,258,748 shares underlying $mdbergs initial RSUs would be accelerated if she was ieated as a result of t
death or disability, which is the number of initREUs that would have vested if Ms. Sandberg hethired employed for an additional twelve monthsifrihe date of her death
disability. The value of this vesting acceleratioas $ as of December 31, 2011 when cakedilas described in footnote (1) abc

(3) As of December 31, 2011, the service-baseting condition on 5,463,644 shares underlying $mdberg initial RSUs would be accelerated if she was ieated without caus
other than as a result of her death or disabilitiygich is the number of initial RSUs that would harested if Ms. Sandberg had remained employedhierfitst half of the montl
remaining between the date of termination and Apr2013.

(4) As of December 31, 2011, 11,055,380 shardsnlying Ms. Sandberg'initial RSUs would be accelerated if she waseeithvoluntarily terminated, other than as a resfilier death ¢
disability, within one month prior to or within simonths following a change in control, or her @itRSUs were not assumed or substituted for arvalnt award, such that 100%
the shares underlying Ms. Sandt’s initial RSUs would be veste

Theodore W. Ullyot

The table below summarizes the value of vestinglecation and severance payments to which Mr. Whyould be entitled, assumin
qualifying termination as of December 31, 2011.

No Change
in Control (2) Change in Control (3)
Involuntary No Involuntary
Benefit Termination Termination Termination
Severance $ 675,00( $ — $ 675,00(
Vesting Acceleratiol®
Total Value $ $ $

(1) Calculated based on the assumed initial publicrioffeprice of the Class A common stock of $ per share, the midpoint of the price range orcther page of this prospect

(2) As of December 31, 2011, 592,495 shares sutgeMr. Ullyot’s initial option and the serviceabed vesting condition on 619,425 shares underlyindJllyot’s initial RSUs would &
accelerated if he was involuntarily terminated,eotthan as a result of his death or disability,oltis 50% of the remaining unvested shares unaeylilr. Ullyot’s initial option an
RSUs. In addition, Mr. Ullyot would be entitled $everance equal to his base salary of $275,000iarrdtention bonus of $400,0(

(3) As of December 31, 2011, 1,184,990 sharegsuto Mr. Ullyot’s initial option and 1,238,85Gares underlying Mr. Ullyos initial RSUs would be accelerated if he was iontdrily
terminated, other than as a result of his deatisability, within one month prior to or within sixonths following a change in control, or if histial option and RSUs were r
assumed or substituted for an equivalent awardy tat 100% of the shares underlying Mr. UI's initial option and RSUs would be vest
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Employee Benefit Plans

2005 Stock Plan

Our board of directors adopted our 2005 Stock Bladanuary 7, 2005, which our stockholders appravedanuary 14, 2005. Our 2(
Stock Plan provides for the grant of incentive ktoptions, within the meaning of Section 422 of @ede, to our employees or any parel
subsidiarys employees, and for the grant of nonstatutorykstgtions to our employees, directors, and constdtand any parent, subsidit
or affiliate corporationsemployees and consultants. Stock purchase rigltsestricted stock units may also be granted uttfte2005 Stoc
Plan. We will cease issuing awards under the 2@66kSPlan upon the implementation of the 2012 Bglitentive Plan, which is descrit
below. Likewise, we will not grant any additionalads under our 2005 Stock Plan following our &ipublic offering. Instead, we will gre
equity awards under our 2012 Equity Incentive Plan.

Share ReserveAs of December 31, 2011, we had reserved 9719854shares of our Class B common stock for issuander our 20C
Stock Plan. As of December 31, 2011, options taipase 427,132,796 of these shares had been exkrgp®ns to purchase 138,539,43
these shares remained outstanding and 52,185,00besk shares remained available for future gr@he options outstanding as
December 31, 2011 had a weighted average exendeeeqf $0.83 per share. In addition, as of Decarlie 2011, we had 378,772,184 R!
outstanding under the 2005 Stock Plan. However,cantgtanding awards granted under the 2005 Stak Will remain outstanding, subjec
the terms of our 2005 Stock Plan and applicablerdnagreements, until they are exercised or setttaghtil they terminate or expire by tr
terms. Shares of Class B common stock availables§mance pursuant to the 2005 Stock Plan willdled into our 2012 Equity Incentive P
on the date of this prospectus as further desciieéalv.

Administration. Our compensation committee currently administars 2005 Stock Plan. Our compensation committee cloasplet
discretion to make all decisions implementing tf@#% Stock Plan, including the power to (1) deteemimho will receive the awart
(2) determine the fair market value of the ClassoBimon stock, (3) interpret the terms of the 20&@&ISPlan and the awards thereunder,
(4) specify the terms and conditions of such awasdsh as the exercise price, the number of shsatgect to each award, the vesting sche
and exercisability of awards and the form of coasition payable upon exercise.

Stock Options The exercise price of incentive stock options ntigsat least equal to the fair market value of ©lass B common sto
on the date of grant and the term of the incerdteek options may not exceed ten years. With régdpeacentive stock options granted to
employee who owns 10% or more of the voting powealloclasses of our outstanding stock as of ttengdate, the term must not exceed
years and the exercise price must equal at le®@6 1l the fair market value on the grant di

When an employee ceases to provide continuouscesrid us (or any parent, subsidiary, or affiliated or she may exercise his or
incentive stock option for the period of time sthia the incentive stock option agreement, to tkierg his or her incentive stock optior
vested on the date of termination. Subject to #wguirements of all applicable laws, rules or retjofes, each nonstatutory stock op
agreement shall contain provisions relating toyet@imination of the nonstatutory stock option lshspon termination of the holdsrservice t
us as determined by our compensation committetherevent of a termination of a service providerdause, all options held by such ser
provider will immediately terminate. In additiomyavested shares that were acquired upon the erentia stock option may be repurchase
us. A stock option may never be exercised later tha expiration of its term.

Stock Purchase RightsThe compensation committee may offer rights techase shares of our Class B common stock unde2(g
Stock Plan and, to the extent permitted by apple&w, shall determine the purchase price of theres subject to each stock purchase
The offer to purchase shares underlying this sfmoichase right shall be accepted by the offerexecution of a restricted stock purct
agreement, in the form prescribed by the compeamsatbmmittee. This restricted stock purchase ageeémay subject the
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acquired shares to a repurchase option, which wéla@xercise upon the voluntary or involuntary teration of the purchasexr’services fc
any reason. In addition, in the event of a terniamadf a service provider for cause, vested stagkipased to a stock purchase right may al:
repurchased by us.

Restricted Stock UnitsOur 2005 Stock Plan also permits the issuandeS3ifs, to our service providers. RSUs granted under200!
Stock Plan represent the right to receive sharesiofClass B common stock or cash payment at afsgueéuture date and may be subjec
vesting requirements.

Transferability. Incentive stock options may not be transferredtept by will or by the laws of descent or disttibn. However, th
compensation committee may, in its sole discretipant nonstatutory stock options or RSUs that tmayransferred in the event of deatl
disability, or to immediate family members.

Effect of Certain Corporate Transactionsn the event we experience a sale of all or sutigtlly all of our assets, a merger or cel
other corporate transactions including a changeoimtrol, all awards granted under the 2005 Stoakn Bhall be subject to the agreer
evidencing such merger or consolidation and sucheagent shall provide for one or more of the foiloyv

. the continuation or assumption of such outstandimgrds by the surviving corporation or its par
. the substitution by the surviving corporation arpiarent of equivalent awards for such outstandimgrds; or
. termination of the outstanding awards upon consutiomaf the corporate transaction.

The 2005 Stock Plan provides for proportional atjiet of awards in the event of a stock split, lstdiwidend and certain other simi
corporate events.

PaymentThe compensation committee may permit any of tHeviing methods of payments for the exercise ofa:
. cash or cash equivalen

. a promissory note having such recourse, interedemption and security provisions as determineth&yompensation committee;
. shares of Class B common stock that the optionmeady owns
. cancellation of indebtedness; or

. an immediate sale of the option shares throughokebrdesignated by us in a cashless exercise,d@dwhat such a progran
adopted by our compensation commit!

Additional Provisions Our compensation committee has the authorityrieral, suspend or terminate the 2005 Stock Plarjded tha
no amendment may materially or adversely affectrdsvalready granted without the written consenthef holder of the affected award. (
stockholders approve actions that require stocldradghproval under applicable law and approve aosease in the number of shares rese
for issuance under the 2005 Stock Plan.

2005 Officers’ Stock Plan

On November 8, 2005, our board of directors adopied2005 Officers’ Stock Plan (Officers’ Plan). eTlfficers’ Plan permits tt
issuance of shares of our Class B common stocktiors to purchase such shares to certain of opf@mes and officers. The total numbe
shares of our Class B common stock that may be wodtér the OfficersPlan is 120,000,000. All shares under this plansaftgect to a
outstanding award held by our founder, Chairmaul, @GEO. We will not grant any additional awards untee Officers’Plan following ou
initial public offering.
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Our board of directors, or a committee designatethb board, determines who will receive grantsauritlis Officers’Plan and the terr
and conditions of such grants. The rights or oitmpurchase shares under the OfficBtan shall be nontransferable, other than by wilby
the laws of descent or distribution. Pursuant ® ttrms of the OfficersPlan, and if required by applicable law, we musivjiite annu
financial statements to each grantee, unless sactieg has access to equivalent information thratlgbr means. Shares issued pursuant t
Officers’ Plan are subject to our right of repureba

2012 Equity Incentive Plan

Our board of directors adopted our 2012 Equity mhi#e Plan, subject to stockholder approval, whptdn will become effective on t
date of this prospectus and will serve as the ssoreo our 2005 Stock Plan.

Share Reserv&Ve have reserved 25,000,000 shares of our Clagsmnon stock for issuance under our 2012 Equityritice Plan plu
an additional number of shares of Class A commoaoks¢équal to any shares reserved but not issuedlject to outstanding awards under
2005 Stock Plan on the date of this prospectus, pin and after the date of this prospectus, @jeshthat are subject to outstanding aw
under the 2005 Stock Plan which cease to be subjestich awards, (ii) shares issued under the Z06k Plan which are forfeited
repurchased at their original issue price, anjighiares subject to awards under the 2005 StocktRéd are used to pay the exercise price
option or withheld to satisfy the tax withholdingligations related to any award. The number of ehaeserved for issuance under our .
Equity Incentive Plan will increase automatically the first day of January of each of 2013 thro2§@2 by a number of shares of Clas
common stock equal to (i) the lesser of 2.5% ofttitel outstanding shares our common stock aseofrttmediately preceding December .
or (i) a number of shares determined by the badrdirectors. In addition, the following sharesafr Class A common stock will again
available for grant or issuance under our 2012 fgdotcentive Plan:

. shares subject to options granted under our 20L\Elpcentive Plan that cease to be subject tothteon for any reason other tt
exercise of the optior

. shares subject to awards granted under our 2012yHageentive Plan that are subsequently forfeitedrepurchased by us at
original issue price

. shares subject to awards granted under our 201®yHguoentive Plan that otherwise terminate withebéres being issued; and

. shares surrendered, cancelled, or exchanged for

Term.We anticipate that our 2012 Equity Incentive Plah t®rminate ten years from the date our boardlioéctors approves the pl:
unless it is terminated earlier by our board oédiors.

Eligibility. We anticipate that our 2012 Equity Incentive Plaili authorize the award of stock options, restricstock awards, sto
appreciation rights, restricted stock units, perfance shares and stock bonuses. No person willigible to receive more than 2,500,(
shares in any calendar year under our 2012 Equoégntive Plan other than a new employee of ours, witl be eligible to receive no mc
than 5,000,000 shares under the plan in the calgmda in which the employee commences employment.

Administration.Our 2012 Equity Incentive Plan will be administet®ad our compensation committee, all of the memlnérarhich ar
nonemployee directors under applicable federal seéesritaws and outside directors as defined undelicafyppe federal tax laws. T
compensation committee will have the authority emstrue and interpret our 2012 Equity IncentivenPlgrant awards and make all of
determinations necessary or advisable for the adtration of the plan. Awards under the 2012 Equityentive Plan may be made subje«
“performance factors” and other terms in orderdalify as performance based compensation for thpgses of 162(m) of the Code.
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Stock OptionsOur 2012 Equity Incentive Plan will provide for theant of incentive stock options that qualify un&ection 422 of tt
Code only to our employees. All awards other threreintive stock options may be granted to our engasydirectors, consultants, indepen
contractors and advisors, provided the consultémigependent contractors and advisors render g=rviot in connection with the offer and :
of securities in a capitahising transaction. The exercise price of eacbkstption must be at least equal to the fair maviatie of our Class
common stock on the date of grant. The exercisemf incentive stock options granted to 10% stobdkdrs must be at least equal to 110¢
that value.

Our compensation committee may provide for optittnbe exercised only as they vest or to be immelyiatxercisable with any sha
issued on exercise being subject to our right péirehase that lapses as the shares vest. In geogtiahs will vest over a fouyear period. Ttk
maximum term of options granted under our 2012 fgdacentive Plan is ten years.

Restricted StoclA restricted stock award is an offer by us to shlires of our Class A common stock subject toicéisins. The price (
any) of a restricted stock award will be determirn®d the compensation committee. Unless otherwiderehéned by the compensat
committee at the time of award, vesting will ceasethe date the participant no longer providesisesvto us and unvested shares wil
forfeited to or repurchased by us.

Stock Appreciation Right§tock appreciation rights provide for a paymentpayments, in cash or shares of our Class A constmok
to the holder based upon the difference betweerfainenarket value of our Class A common stock be tate of exercise and the st
exercise price up to a maximum amount of cash onbar of shares. Stock appreciation rights may fasted on time or achievemen
performance conditions.

Restricted Stock Unit&in RSU is an award that covers a number of shdresroClass A common stock that may be settled usting
in cash, by the issuance of the underlying sharesammbination of both. These awards are subjefarfeiture prior to settlement becaus:
termination of employment or failure to achievetagr performance conditions.

Performance Share#\ performance share is an award that covers a nuofbghares of our Class A common stock that magdite
upon achievement of the pestablished performance conditions in cash or byaisce of the underlying shares. These awardsuajecs tc
forfeiture prior to settlement because of termiratdf employment or failure to achieve the perfanoreaconditions.

Stock Bonus AwardS&tock bonus awards may be granted as additiongbepnsation for services or performance, and thezgfoay nc
be issued in exchange for cash.

Additional ProvisionsAwards granted under our 2012 Equity Incentive Pty not be transferred in any manner other thawithyr by
the laws of descent and distribution, or as deteehiby our compensation committee. Unless otherwdsgricted by our compensat
committee, awards that are nonstatutory stock nptinay be exercised during the lifetime of theape only by the optionee, the optiorsee’
guardian or legal representative, or a family memifethe optionee who has acquired the option lpeanitted transfer. Awards that
incentive stock options may be exercised during lifegime of the optionee only by the optionee bt toptionees guardian or leg
representative. Options granted under our 2012 tifdocentive Plan generally may be exercised fgpeaiod of three months after -
termination of the optioneg’service to us, except in the case of death eng®ent disability, in which case the options magbercised for u
to 12 months or six months, respectively, followtagmination of the optionee’s service to us.

If we experience a change in control transactiatstanding awards, including any vesting provisjonay be assumed or substitutec
the successor company. Outstanding awards thatoar@ssumed or substituted will be exercisableafperiod of time and will expire upon-
closing of a change in control transaction. Indieeretion of our compensation committee, the ngstif these awards may be accelerated
the occurrence of these types of transactions.
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Limitations on Liability and Indemnification Matter s

Our restated certificate of incorporation that vadl in effect at the closing of our initial pubbéfering contains provisions that limit t
liability of our directors for monetary damagesthe fullest extent permitted by the Delaware Gen€aporation Law. Consequently,
directors will not be personally liable to us omr @iockholders for monetary damages for any breddiduciary duties as directors, exc
liability for:

. any breach of the director’s duty of loyalty toarsour stockholders;
. any act or omission not in good faith or that inmed intentional misconduct or a knowing violatidriaw;

. unlawful payments of dividends or unlawful stoclkuechases or redemptions as provided in Sectionroi THe Delaware Gene
Corporation Law; o

. any transaction from which the director derivedraproper personal benef

Our restated certificate of incorporation and restebylaws that will be in effect at the closingaafr initial public offering require us
indemnify our directors, executive officers andestkey employees to the maximum extent not proédbity the Delaware General Corpora
Law or any other applicable law and allow us toeimehify other officers, employees and other agestsed forth in the Delaware Gent
Corporation Law or any other applicable law.

We have entered, and intend to continue to enter, Separate indemnification agreements with owgctiors, executive officers and ot
key employees, in addition to the indemnificatiomoyided for in our restated bylaws. These agreespearhong other things, require u:
indemnify our directors, executive officers andestlkey employees for certain expenses, includitgragys’ fees, judgments, penalties fil
and settlement amounts actually and reasonablyriedtiby a director or executive officer in any antior proceeding arising out of tt
services as one of our directors or executive efficor any of our subsidiaries or any other commarenterprise to which the person prov
services at our request, including liability argsiout of negligence or active or passive wrongddigghe officer or director. We believe t
these charter provisions and indemnification agesgmare necessary to attract and retain qualifiszdons such as directors, officers and
employees. We also maintain directors’ and offickability insurance.

The limitation of liability and indemnification pwisions in our restated certificate of incorporat@nd restated bylaws may discoul
stockholders from bringing a lawsuit against ouwediors and officers for breach of their fiduciaiyty. They may also reduce the likelihoo:
derivative litigation against our directors andiadfs, even though an action, if successful, migtefit us and other stockholders. Furth
stockholders investment may be adversely affected to the exterh we pay the costs of settlement and damagedswagainst directors &
officers as required by these indemnification psawis.

At present, there is no pending litigation or peaiag involving any of our directors or executiviiaers as to which indemnification
required or permitted, and we are not aware ofthrgatened litigation or proceeding that may reisudt claim for indemnification.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arisingnder the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (8®=uAct), may be permitted
directors, executive officers or persons contrgllirs, we have been informed that in the opiniothef SEC such indemnification is aga
public policy as expressed in the Securities Adt iartherefore unenforceable.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the executive officer and directomgpensation arrangements discussed in “Executivaep@asation,’below we descrit
transactions since January 1, 2009, to which we teen a participant, in which the amount involirethe transaction exceeds or will exc
$120,000 and in which any of our directors, exaeutfficers or holders of more than 5% of our capstock, or any immediate family mem
of, or person sharing the household with, any e¢hindividuals, had or will have a direct or iedirmaterial interest.

Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights Agreement

We have entered into an inves’ rights agreement with certain holders of our cotibler preferred stock and common stock, inclu
entities with which certain of our directors aréliated. Certain holders of shares of our Classofnmon stock and Class B common stocl
entitled to rights with respect to the registratafrtheir shares following our initial public ofiag under the Securities Act. For a descriptic
these registration rights, see “Description of Cd@tock—Registration Rights.”

Series E Preferred Stock Financing

In May 2009, we sold an aggregate of 44,037,54@esh@fter giving effect to a 5-fdrstock split effected in October 2010) of our 8¢
E preferred stock to Mail.ru Group Limited (f/k/agital Sky Technologies Limited), at a purchase@mer share of $4.54 (after giving ef
to a 5-ford stock split effected in October 2010), for anraggte purchase price of approximately $200 milliéollowing this sale, and t
purchase of additional shares from our existingldtolders, Mail.ru Group Limited and its affiliatbeneficially owned more than 5% of
outstanding capital stock. We have no ongoing eliligns under the Series E preferred stock purchgeement.

Conversion Agreement

In connection with their purchase of shares fromabe existing stockholders in February 2010, MailGroup Limited and DST Glok
Limited and their respective affiliates enterediatconversion agreement with us. The conversioseagent contains the following provisions:

Lock-up

Pursuant to this agreement, Mail.ru Group Limited ®ST Global Limited and their respective afféiathave agreed not to sell share
our capital stock, other than any shares they nedlyirs our initial public offering, for certain peds of time following the date of tt
prospectus. As to shares held by them as of the afathis prospectus, this agreement will expirdadisws: (1) as to 50% of the shares
months after the effective date of the registratatement, (2) as to an additional 25% of theeshane (1) year after the effective date o
registration statement, and (3) as to an additiabéb of the shares 18 months after the effectite dhthe registration statement, such the
of the shares held by Mail.ru Group Limited and DSIbbal Limited and their respective affiliates Mak freely tradable 18 months after
effective date of the registration statement.

Automatic Conversion of Shares upon the OccurrerafeCertain Events

In addition, Mail.ru Group Limited and DST Globainiited have agreed, pursuant to the conversioneaggeat, that if either of the
respective voting agreements with Mr. Zuckerbertpisninated because of his death or his failurbe@ctively engaged in our managen
that they and their respective affiliates shalbauatically convert their Class B common stock tagsIA common stock pursuant to the opti
conversion provision of our restated certificate in€orporation. For information regarding Mr. Zudierg's voting agreements, ¢
“Description of Capital Stock—Voting Agreements.”
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Mail.ru Group Limited, which was affiliated with OSGlobal Limited on the date the parties enterdd the conversion agreeme
underwent a corporate restructuring in NovembelO2@lconnection with its initial public offering athe London Stock Exchange. Follow
the corporate restructuring, Mail.ru Group Limiteds no longer affiliated with DST Global Limiteddits affiliates DST Global Il, L.P., D¢
Global 11I, L.P., DST USA Limited, and DST USA llimited. Mail.ru Group Limited no longer beneficilbwns more than 5% of c
outstanding capital stock. For additional inforroatregarding beneficial ownership of our capitatktas of December 31, 2011, s&ifcipa
and Selling Stockholders.”

Class B Common Stock Restriction Agreement

In 2004 and 2005, Mr. Zuckerbesgfather provided us with initial working capitéh. consideration for this assistance, we issued dni
option to purchase 2,000,000 shares, as adjustexplits and reclassifications, of our Class B camrstock. The option initially expired by
terms one year following the date of grant withbaving been exercised. Our board of directors @uittMr. Zuckerberg) determined that
option did not reflect the intent of the partieghwiespect to the equity to be issued to him insiaration of the financial assistance a
release from potential related claims. AccordinglyDecember 2009, we issued an aggregate of 00&hares of our Class B common s
to Glate LLC, an entity owned by Mr. Zuckerbergastfer. We have no ongoing obligations under thisement.

Right of First Refusal

Pursuant to our bylaws and certain agreements auttstockholders, we or our assignees have thé togburchase shares of our caj
stock, including shares of Class B common stoakeidsunder our 2005 Stock Plan, which these stodeinslpropose to sell to other parties
2009 and 2010, in connection with proposed saleselntain stockholders, we assigned our right teipase 28,403,845 shares of our Cla
common stock to certain entities affiliated with iMa Group Limited and DST Global Limited. For atdonal information regarding benefic
ownership of our capital stock as of December 81,12 see “Principal and Selling Stockholders.”

Class A Common Stock Financing

In December 2010, we sold an aggregate of 2,39&088fes of our Class A common stock to DST Glolralited at a purchase price
share of $20.85, for an aggregate purchase priapmioximately $50 million.
Equity Awards, Employment Agreements and Offer Leters

We have granted stock options or RSUs to our ekexudfficers and our directors. For a descriptidntleese equity awards, ¢
“Executive Compensation—2011 Outstanding Equity Algeat Year-End Table” and “Management—Director @Gensation.”

We have entered into employment agreements or fiers with each of our named executive offic&a more information regardi
these agreements, see “Executive Compensation—Fmpiat Agreements and Offer Letters.”

Employment Arrangements With Immediate Family Membea's of Our Executive Officers and Directors
Molly Graham, the daughter of Donald E. Graham,eamiper of our board of directors, is employed bylusing 2009, 2010, and 20:
Ms. Graham had total cash compensation, includasg Isalary, bonus and other compensation, of $38%183,620, and $189,168.

Randi Zuckerberg, the sister of Mark Zuckerberg,founder, Chairman, and CEO, was employed by tis Angust 2011. During 200
2010, and 2011, Ms. Zuckerberg had total cash casgi®n, including base salary, bonus and othempensation, of $128,750, $139,578,
$89,536.
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The compensation levels of Mmes. Graham and Zuekgrtvere based on reference to external marketipeaaf similar positions ¢
internal pay equity when compared to the compenmisgtaid to employees in similar positions that weserelated to our executive officers .
directors. They were also eligible for equity awsah the same general terms and conditions ascapfdi to other employees in sim
positions who were not related to our executivecefs and directors.

Indemnification Agreements

We have entered into indemnification agreements veiich of our directors, executive officers andeotkey employees. T
indemnification agreements and our amended andtegsbylaws will require us to indemnify our dired to the fullest extent permitted
Delaware law. For more information regarding thageeements, see “Executive Compensatibimitations on Liability and Indemnificatic
Matters.”

Commercial Agreements

During 2009, 2010, and 2011, The Washington Poshg2my and its related companies purchased $0.6omit$4.8 million, and $4
million, respectively, of advertisements on our sitd Mr. Graham, a member of our board of dires;ter the Chief Executive Officer of T
Washington Post Company. The purchases by The Watsini Post Company and its related entities werdema the ordinary course
business on commercially reasonable terms. In iaddiThe Washington Post Company is affiliated vathadvertising agency, Social C
LLC, that has advertising clients that do businesl us.

During 2009, 2010, and 2011, Netflix purchased $tiflion, $1.6 million, and $3.8 million, respectly, of advertisements on ¢
website. Mr. Hastings, a member of our board odators, is the Chief Executive Officer of Netflikhe purchases by Netflix were made in
ordinary course of business on commercially redsierntarms.

During 2010 and 2011, we made payments to GMG tyife€ntertainment Inc. (GMG) of $0.9 million an@.8 million, respectively, fc
certain sales and marketing services. Rob Goldhkegfounder and Chief Executive Officer of GMG thie brother-inaw of Ms. Sandber
our Chief Operating Officer. The GMG relationshipswentered into in the ordinary course of busiaesson commercially reasonable terms.

Review, Approval or Ratification of Transactions wih Related Parties

Our policy and the charter of our audit committedl vequire that any transaction with a relatedtpahat must be reported un
applicable rules of the SEC must be reviewed ampdceved or ratified by our audit committee, unldss telated party is, or is associated wi
member of that committee, in which event the tratisa must be reviewed and approved by our govemaommittee. These committees t
not adopted policies or procedures for review oftandards for approval of, these transactions.
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PRINCIPAL AND SELLING STOCKHOLDERS

The following table sets forth certain informatianth respect to the beneficial ownership of our aoom stock as of December 31, 2(
and as adjusted to reflect the sale of Class A comstock offered by us and the selling stockholdeuir initial public offering, for:

. each stockholder known by us to be the beneficialey of more than 5% of our outstanding sharesla§<A common stock
Class B common stoc

. each of our directors;
. each of our named executive office
. all of our directors and executive officers as augr, and

. each selling stockholde

We have determined beneficial ownership in accardamith the rules of the SEC. Except as indicatethk footnotes below, we belie
based on the information furnished to us, thatpgéesons and entities named in the table below kale voting and investment power v
respect to all shares of Class A common stock as<CB common stock that they beneficially own, sctbjo applicable community prope
laws.

Applicable percentage ownership is based on 1171@87shares of Class A common stock and 1,758,90%Bares of Class B comn
stock outstanding at December 31, 2011, assumingeesion of all outstanding shares of preferredisto to an aggregate of 545,551,
shares of our Class B common stock. For purposesmputing percentage ownership after our initiglic offering, we have assumed 1

shares of Class A common stock williggied by us in our initial public offering, thbe20,000,000 shares of Class B common ¢
will be issued by us in connection with the exexa$ an outstanding stock option by Mark Zuckerberg founder, Chairman, and CEO,
that certain of our existing stockholders will cenvan aggregate of shares of our€CBasommon stock into an equivalent numbe
shares of our Class A common stock in connectioth wir initial public offering. In computing the mier of shares of common st
beneficially owned by a person and the percentageecship of that person, we deemed to be outstgralirshares of common stock subjec
options, RSUs or other convertible securities Hajdthat person or entity that are currently exedolis or releasable or that will becc
exercisable or releasable within 60 days of Decer@be 2011. We did not deem these shares outstgndiowever, for the purpose
computing the percentage ownership of any othesqmerUnless otherwise indicated, the address df baneficial owner listed in the ta
below is c/o Facebook, Inc., 1601 Willow Road, MeRhrk, California 94025.
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% of Total
. Voting .
Shares Beneficially Ownec Power Shares Beneficially 9% of Total
Prior to this Offering Before Our Number Owned After this Offering Voting
Power After
Initial of
Class A Class B Public Shares Class A Class B our Initial
Offering Being Public

Name of Beneficial Owner Shares % _ Shares® % @ Offered Shares % _Shares % Offering @
Named Executive Officers and Directors
Mark Zuckerberd®) — — 533,801,85 28.2 28.2 @)
Shares subject to voting pro®) 4224520 36.1  538,332,59 30.€ 30.€

Total ®)©) 4224520 361 1,072,134,44 57.1 56.¢
Sheryl K. Sandber(®) — = 1,899,98! * *
David A. Ebersmar?) — — 2,174,99' * *
Mike Schroepfe(®) — = 2,101,87! * *
Theodore W. Ullyo(®) — — 1,863,65! * *
Marc L. Andreesse(10) = = 3,571,43. * *
Erskine B. Bowle(11) — — — * *
James W. Breye(12) —  — 201,378,334 114 11.4
Donald E. Grahar(13) — — — * *
Reed Hasting(14) — = — * *
Peter A. Thie(15) - — 4472410 2.5 25
All executive officers and directors as a group p}ﬁsons(m) 42,24520 36.1 1,319,305,72 70.C 69.€
Other 5% Stockholders:
Entities affiliated with Accel Partne(®2) — —  201,378,34 114 11.4
Entities affiliated with DST Global Limite(17) 36,711,92 314 94,567,94 5.4 5.5
Dustin Moskovitz(18) — — 13376364 7€ 7.6
Entities affiliated with Goldman Sac/(19) 65,947,24 56.% — * *
T. Rowe Price Associates, Ir20) 6,033,63 5.2 12,158,74 G 2

Other Selling Stockholders:

*

1)
(@)

©)

©)

®)

(6)
@)
®)
©)

Less than 1%

There are currently no RSUs which will become reddée within 60 days of December 31, 2011 to threefieof the individuals and entities listed in ttadble above

Percentage of total voting power represents vagpioger with respect to all shares of our Class A @tass B common stock, as a single class. The tolufeour Class B comm:
stock are entitled to ten votes per share, ande®ldf our Class A common stock are entitled to wte per share. For more information about théngotights of our Class A a
Class B common stock, s*Description of Capital Sto—Common Stocl”

Consists of (i) 407,265 shares of Class B commocksteld of record by Mr. Zuckerberg; (i) 3,64233&hares of Class B common stock held of recoriflagk Zuckerberg, Trust
of The Mark Zuckerberg 2008 Annuity Trust dated dhat3, 2008; (iii) 409,752,262 shares of Class Bwwmn stock held of record by Mark Zuckerberg, Teasof The Mar
Zuckerberg Trust dated July 7, 2006; and (iv) 120,000 shares of Class B common stock issuable epertise of options exercisable within 60 dayPetember 31, 201

We expect that Mark Zuckerberg, our founder, Chairrand CEO, will offer and sell slsaire our initial public offering. We expect thatbstiantially all of the net procee
Mr. Zuckerberg will receive upon such sale will eged to satisfy taxes that he will incur upon tkereise of an outstanding stock option to purcHax3000,000 shares of our Cl
B common stock

Consists of shares of our Class A and Class B camstuck held by other stockholders over which, pkemder limited circumstances, Mr. Zuckerberg bBad irrevocable prox
pursuant to voting agreements between Mr. Zuckgrhes and such stockholders, including certainusfdirectors and holders of more than 5% of ouiitahptock with respect
certain matters, as indicated in the footnotesveeWe do not believe that the parties to thesengotigreements constitute a “groupider Section 13 of the Securities Exchange
of 1934, as amended, as Mr. Zuckerberg exercisgsgvoontrol over these shares. For more infornrmdbout the voting agreements, see “Descriptio€ayfital Stock—Yoting
Agreement”

Consists of 1,899,986 shares of Class B commork stetd of record by Sheryl K. Sandberg, Trusteethaf Sheryl K. Sandberg 2008 Annuity Trust datedildd, 2008
Ms. Sandberg also holds 39,321,041 RSUs whichubjest to vesting conditions not expected to oeuitinin 60 days of December 31, 20:

Consists of 2,174,999 shares of Class B commork séscable upon exercise of options exercisablbiwi80 days of December 31, 2011. Mr. Ebersman ladéds 7,469,424 RSI
which are subject to vesting conditions not exptteoccur within 60 days of December 31, 2(

Consists of 2,101,870 shares of Class B commork s¢soable upon exercise of options exercisablaiwi0 days of December 31, 2011. Mr. Schroepfgv hblds 6,144,188 RS
which are subject to vesting conditions not exptteoccur within 60 days of December 31, 2(

Consists of (i) 35,600 shares of Class B commocksheld of record by Mr. Ullyot; and (ii) 1,828,058ares of Class B common stock issuable upon iegen€ options exercisalt
within 60 days of December 31, 2011. Mr. Ullyotaal®lds 3,782,818 RSUs which are subject to vestimglitions not expected to occur within 60 day®etember 31, 201

127



Table of Contents

(10)

(11)
(12

(13)
(14
(15)

(16)

an

(18)

Consists of 3,571,431 shares of Class B commork $teld of record by Andreessen Horowitz Fund IR L(AH Fund). AH Equity Partners |, L.L.C. (AHEPR)the general partner
AH Fund and has sole voting and investment power the securities held by AH Fund. Mr. Andreesseonie of the Managing Members of AHEP, and, theegfmay be deemed
share voting and investment power over the seearitield AH Fund. The address of AHEP and AH Fun@865 Sand Hill Road, Suite 101, Menlo Park, Catif@ 9402t
Mr. Andreessen also holds 5,247,490 RSUs whiclsalbgect to vesting conditions not expected to oedgthin 60 days of December 31, 20:

Mr. Bowles holds 20,000 RSUs which are subjectesting conditions not expected to occur within 89sdof December 31, 201

Consists of (i) 11,703,132 shares of Class B comstook held of record by James W. Breyer, Trusfegames W. Breyer 2005 Trust dated March 25, 2@¥Byer 2005 Trust
(i) 149,527,730 shares of Class B common stocK bélrecord by Accel IX L.P. (Accel IX); (iii) 1521,653 shares of Class B common stock held of cebgrAccel IX Strategi
Partners L.P. (Accel SP); (iv) 13,939,214 shareGlaés B common stock held of record Accel Invesgf05 L.L.C. (Accel 2005); (v) 9,949,820 share€lafss B common stock hi
of record by Accel Growth Fund L.P. (Accel Growtfyi) 194,230 shares of Class B common stock heléaord by Accel Growth Fund Strategic Partne. [(Accel Growth SF
and (vii) 132,570 shares of Class B common stodtt berecord by Accel Growth Fund Investors 2008.C. (Accel Growth 2009). We have been advisedheyholders of reco
that in connection with our initial public offeririgl,548,527 of the shares of our Class B commarkdield of record by the Breyer 2005 Trust, 149,830 of the shares of our Cl.
B common stock held of record by Accel IX, 15,98B6®f the shares of our Class B common stock hietdamrd by Accel SP, and 13,939,214 of the shaf@sr Class B commc
stock held of record by Accel 2005 will be convdriato an equivalent number of shares of our CRas®mmon stock. Accel IX Associates L.L.C. (A9A)tlee general partner
Accel IX and Accel SP and has sole voting and itnaest power over the shares held by these limitathprships. Accel Growth Fund Associates L.L.CGFA) is the gener
partner of Accel Growth and Accel Growth SP andsws voting and investment power over the shaeésthy these limited partnerships. Mr. Breyer ig ofithe managing memb
of A9A, AGFA, Accel 2005, and Accel Growth 2009 dartherefore, may be deemed to share voting anestment power over the securities held by theséemntThe address
A9A and AGFA and their affiliated entities is 42&iversity Avenue, Palo Alto, California 94301. MBreyer is trustee of the Breyer 2005 Trust. 10,223,shares of Class
common stock are subject to a voting agreemeraviarfof Mr. Zuckerberg referred to in footnote &bpve.

Mr. Graham holds 1,000,000 RSUs which are subgeeesting conditions not expected to occur wittird@ys of December 31, 20!

Mr. Hastings holds 20,000 RSUs which are subjewesting conditions not expected to occur withinda@s of December 31, 201

Consists of (i) 32,875,670 shares of Class B comstook held of record by Rivendell One LLC (Riveltid€ii) 5,978,140 shares of Class B common stbekd of record by Tt
Founders Fund, LP (FF); (iii) 740,960 shares ofs€l8 common stock held of record by The Founderglfiy LP (FF 11); (iv) 36,640 shares of Class Brumon stock held of recc
by The Founders Fund Il Principals Fund, LP (FFR#);22,400 shares of Class B common stock heldeobrd by The Founders Fund Il Entrepreneurs FuRd(FFEF); an
(vi) 5,070,290 shares of Class B common stock hélecord by Lembas, LLC (Lembas). We have beerisadvby Rivendell that in connection with our iaitpublic offering all ¢
the shares of our Class B common stock held ofrdeby Rivendell will be converted into an equivdlemmber of shares of our Class A common stock.TWiel is the beneficii
owner of Rivendell and has voting and investmentgroover the securities held by Rivendell. Mr. Thgea managing member of the general partner ci @ FF, FF Il, FFPF, ai
FFEF, and, therefore, may be deemed to have vatidgnvestment power over the securities held bgdtentities. Mr. Thiel is the managing member@hbas and has voting ¢
investment power over the securities held by Lemha$,884 shares of Class B common stock are duljex voting agreement in favor of Mr. Zuckerbeegerred to in footno
(5) above

Consists of (i) 42,245,203 shares of Class A comstonk; (ii) 1,193,200,798 shares of Class B comstock; and (iii) 126,104,925 shares of Class B moom stock issuable up
exercise of options exercisable within 60 days e€&@mber 31, 201

Consists of (i) 17,213,540 shares of Class B comstook held of record by DST Global Limited; (095,203 shares of Class A common stock held afrdeby DST Global |
L.P.; (iii) 1,697,217 shares of Class A common lstieeld of record by DST Global Ill, L.P.; (iv) 3,9482 shares of Class A common stock and 24,29GH4dres of Class B commr
stock held of record by DST USA Limited; and (v)@B3,926 shares of Class A common stock and 53683shares of Class B common stock held of recgr®@8T USA I
Limited. Yuri Milner holds ultimate voting and insnent power over the securities held by thes¢ientiThe address of DST Global Limited, DST Global.P., DST Global Il
L.P., DST USA Limited, and DST USA Il Limited isa/Tulloch & Co., 4 Hill Street, London W1J 5NE, Wd Kingdom. 36,711,928 shares of Class A commonksan(
94,567,945 shares of Class B common stock aredubj@ voting agreement in favor of Mr. Zuckerbegterred to in footnote (5) above. DST Global Ltidi and its affiliates are
longer affiliated with Mail.ru Group Limited (f/k/Bigital Sky Technologies Limited). For more infaation, se¢‘Related Party Transacti—Conversion Agreemer”

Consists of (i) 239,165 shares of Class B commoaoksheld of record by Dustin A. Moskovitz, TrusteeThe Justin M. Rosenstein 2009 Trust, a trusildisthed pursuant to t
Justin M. Rosenstein 2009 Trust Agreement; (ii),2%68,629 shares of Class B common stock held afrdelby Dustin Moskovitz, Trustee of The Dustin Aodkovitz Trust date
December 27, 2005; (iii) 14,404,516 shares of CBasesmmon stock held of record by Dustin Moskovieystee of The Dustin Moskovitz 2008 Annuity Trdstted March 10, 20C
and (iv) 4,863,335 shares of Class B common stedtt &f record by Justin M. Rosenstein, Trustee ltd Dustin A. Moskovitz 2009 Trust, a trust estdisis pursuant to the Dus
A. Moskovitz 2009 Trust Agreement dated Januar2a09. Mr. Moskovitz is trustee or beneficiary ofeTBustin M. Rosenstein 2009 Trust, The Dustin Askéwitz Trust date
December 27, 2005, The Dustin Moskovitz 2008 Anniitust dated March 10, 2008, and The Dustin A. kéegtz 2009 Trust. 133,763,645 shares of Class Brmon stock al
subject to a voting agreement in favor of Mr. Zutdezg referred to in footnote (5) abo'
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(19)

(20)

Consists of (i) 14,214,807 shares of Class A comstogk held of record by The Goldman Sachs Grongp,; [(ii) 2,598,652 shares of Class A common stieekd of record b
Goldman Sachs Investment Partners Master Fund, (iiP1,010,587 shares of Class A common stockl led record by Goldman Sachs Investment Partnérsate Opportunitie
Holdings, L.P.; and (iv) 48,123,195 shares of Clasommon stock held of record by FBDC Investorés®ére Holdings, L.P. Affiliates of The Goldman 8adsroup, Inc. are tl
general partner, managing general partner or imest manager of each of Goldman Sachs InvestmemePa Master Fund, L.P., Goldman Sachs InvestrRantners Priva
Opportunities Holdings, L.P., and FBDC Investorgsbdre Holdings, L.P., and each of these fundseshaoting and investment power with certain ofréispective affiliates. Tl
address of The Goldman Sachs Group, Inc., GoldnaahsSInvestment Partners Master Fund, L.P., Gold&whs Investment Partners Private Opportunitigdlibtygs, L.P., an
FBDC Investors Offshore Holdings, L.P. is 200 Wastet, New York, NY 1028:

Consists of (i) 6,033,630 shares of Clasommon stock held of record by 81 funds and acsoadtised or subevised by T. Rowe Price Associates, Inc.; andL@il58,743 shar
of Class B common stock held of record by 77 fuald accounts advised or sabivised by T. Rowe Price Associates, Inc. T. RovieePAssociates, Inc. serves as investment ac
with power to direct investments and/or sole poteerote the securities owned by these funds anduamts. T. Rowe Price Associates, Inc. may be deegmbd the beneficial owr
of all the shares listed. T. Rowe Price Associdtes,is the wholly owned subsidiary of T. RowederiGroup, Inc., which is a publicly traded finahsiervices holding company. T
address for T. Rowe Price Associates, Inc. is 18%t Pratt Street, Baltimore, MD 212(
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DESCRIPTION OF CAPITAL STOCK

Upon the completion of our initial public offeringur authorized capital stock will consist of shares of Class A common st
$0.000006 par value per share, shareslafs@® common stock, $0.000006 par value per slaae shares of undesignated prefe
stock, $0.000006 par value per share. A descrigifdhe material terms and provisions of our restatertificate of incorporation and rest:
bylaws that will be in effect at the closing ouitied public offering and affecting the rights oblders of our capital stock is set forth below.
description is intended as a summary, and is dedlifi its entirety by reference to the form of oestated certificate of incorporation and
form of our restated bylaws to be adopted in cotioeavith our initial public offering that will béled with the registration statement rela
to this prospectus.

As of December 31, 2011, and after giving effecthte automatic conversion of all of our outstandprgferred stock into Class
common stock in connection with our initial pubditfering, there were outstanding:
. 117,097,143 shares of our Class A common stock thebkpproximately 110 stockholders;

. 1,758,902,390 shares of our Class B common stackidyeapproximately 1,070 stockholde
. 258,539,434 shares issuable upon exercise of adistastock options; and
. 378,772,184 shares subject to outstanding restrattck units (RSUs

Common Stock

Dividend Rights

Subject to preferences that may apply to shargsedérred stock outstanding at the time, the hsl@éoutstanding shares of our comi
stock are entitled to receive dividends out of wifefally available if our board of directors, ia discretion, determines to issue dividends
only then at the times and in the amounts thaboard of directors may determine. See “Dividenddybifor more information.

Voting Rights

The holders of our Class B common stock are edtitieten votes per share, and holders of our Glazsmmon stock are entitled to ¢
vote per share. The holders of our Class A commacksand Class B common stock vote together amglesclass, unless otherwise requ
by law. Delaware law could require either holdersur Class A common stock or our Class B commonlsto vote separately as a single ¢
in the following circumstances:

. if we were to seek to amend our certificate of hpopation to increase the authorized number ofeshaf a class of stock, or
increase or decrease the par value of a clasook,sthen that class would be required to vote rseply to approve the propos
amendment; an

. if we were to seek to amend our certificate of mpovation in a manner that alters or changes theepn preferences or spe:
rights of a class of stock in a manner that afiédte holders adversely, then that class would dzpiired to vote separately
approve the proposed amendmi

Stockholders do not have the ability to cumulateesdor the election of directors. Our restatedifigate of incorporation and resta
bylaws that will be in effect at the closing of dnitial public offering will provide for a classéd board of directors consisting of three cla
of approximately equal size, each serving staggtrezkyear terms, when the outstanding shares of ours@asommon stock represent |
than a majority of the combined voting power of eoom stock. Our directors will be assigned by thentturrent board of directors to a cl
when the outstanding shares of our Class B commumk sepresent less than a majority of the combiraithg power of common stock.
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No Preemptive or Similar Rights
Our common stock is not entitled to preemptive tSggmd is not subject to conversion, redemptiosirdting fund provisions

Right to Receive Liquidation Distributions

Upon our dissolution, liquidation or windi-up, the assets legally available for distributionour stockholders are distributable rat:
among the holders of our common stock, subjectrior satisfaction of all outstanding debt and ligigis and the preferential rights &
payment of liquidation preferences, if any, on anystanding shares of preferred stock.

Conversion

The outstanding shares of Class B common stockareertible at any time as follows: (1) at the optdf the holder, a share of Clas
common stock may be converted at any time intostrage of Class A common stock or (2) upon the ieledf the holders of a majority of t
then outstanding shares of Class B common stotlkutdtanding shares of Class B common stock magdowerted into shares of Clas
common stock. In addition, each share of Classmneon stock will convert automatically into one shaf Class A common stock upon .
transfer, whether or not for value, which occurerathe closing of our initial public offering, esgt for certain transfers described in
restated certificate of incorporation, includingrtsfers to family members, trusts solely for thedfié of the stockholder or their fam
members, and partnerships, corporations, and ethigies exclusively owned by the stockholder airtiamily members. Once convertec
transferred and converted into Class A common stiiekClass B common stock will not be reissued.

Preferred Stock

Upon the closing of our initial public offering, rehares of preferred stock will be outstanding, Watwill be authorized, subject
limitations prescribed by Delaware law, to issuef@ired stock in one or more series, to estabtism fime to time the number of shares ti
included in each series and to fix the designatimwers, preferences and rights of the shares di saries and any of its qualificatic
limitations or restrictions. Our board of direct@lso can increase or decrease the number of sbheey series, but not below the numbe
shares of that series then outstanding, withoutfartfier vote or action by our stockholders. Ouatabof directors may authorize the issus
of preferred stock with voting or conversion riglisit could adversely affect the voting power dreotrights of the holders of the comn
stock. The issuance of preferred stock, while mlimg flexibility in connection with possible acqgitisns and other corporate purposes, cc
among other things, have the effect of delayindemlimg or preventing a change in control of oumgany and may adversely affect the me
price of our Class A common stock and the votind ather rights of the holders of common stock. Veleehno current plan to issue any sh
of preferred stock.

Options

As of December 31, 2011, we had options to purcB&8e539,434 shares of our Class B common stocktanding pursuant to our 2(
Stock Plan and the Officers’ Plan.
RSUs

As of December 31, 2011, we had 378,772,184 shudr€$ass B common stock subject to RSUs outstangimguant to our 2005 Stc
Plan.
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Voting Agreements

Our CEO has entered into voting agreements withaiteof our stockholders, which voting agreemeni$ rigmain in effect after tt
completion of this offering. These voting agreemeardver approximately 42,245,203 shares of ClassrAmon stock and 485,199,231 sh
of Class B common stock, which will represent agpmately % of the outstanding voting power of @apital stock after our initial pub
offering.

Under one type of voting agreement, stockholderseajto vote all of their shares as directed by, granted an irrevocable proxy
Mr. Zuckerberg at his discretion on all matterbéovoted upon by stockholders. The following indivdls and entities hold shares of our ca
stock that are subject to this type of voting agreet: ARPI 2, LLC; Matt Cohler and certain affikakt entities; Gregory Druckman; Mich
Druckman; Richard Druckman; Steven Druckman; Thengers Fund, LP; Glynn Partners; Hommels Holdingb8mAdam Moskovitz
Dustin Moskovitz and certain affiliated entitiesafty and Richard Moskovitz and certain affiliateditees; Sean Parker and certain affilie
entities; Cara & Robert Scudder; Silicon Valley Gouonity Foundation; certain entities affiliated witlechnology Crossover Ventures; Vali
Capital Opportunities, LLC; and VHPI 2, LLC.

Under a second type of voting agreement, Mr. Zuodey has the authority (and irrevocable proxy) dtethese investorshares at h
discretion on all matters to be voted upon by dtotders, except for issuances of capital stock ynuexcess of 20% of our then outstan
stock and matters which would disproportionatelgtenially and adversely affect such stockholdeis Type of voting agreement also provi
that the investor shall not: (1) acquire any owhigrof any of our assets or business, (2) makesafigitation of proxies with respect to
voting of any of our securities, (3) form any “gpduwithin the meaning of Section 13(d) of the Excharge, (4) nominate any person
director who is not nominated by the then incumlziréctors, propose any matter to be voted uponubystockholders or initiate or vote
favor of or call for a special meeting of the stiocklers, or (5) publicly announce an intention ¢oathy of the above. Following the comple
of our initial public offering, a transferee of tekares currently subject to this type of votingeagnent shall no longer be subject to the terr
the voting agreement if we have a telass capital stock structure and a party to theeagent is transferring Class B common stock thadr
completion of the transfer, becomes Class A comatook or is transferring Class A common stock. BE@bal Limited and certain affiliats
entities and Mail.ru Group Limited hold shares of oapital stock that are subject to this typeatfng agreement.

The third type of voting agreement contains the esabstantive provisions as the second type ofeaggat. For some of the partie!
this type of voting agreement, the provisions & #greement do not apply to shares held by thestoke prior to their secondary purcha
The following entities hold shares of our capitedck that are subject to this type of voting agrertncertain entities affiliated with Act
Partners and James W. Breyer, a member of our ludatilectors; certain entities affiliated with kbgion Partners; Felarmon Group Limit
certain entities affiliated with Greylock Partnets;Ka Shing (Canada) Foundation; certain entidfdiated with Meritech Capital Partne
certain entities affiliated with Anand Rajaramaiger Global FB Holdings, LLC; and certain entiteféiliated with Venkatesh Harinarayan.

With the exception of up to 232,542,558 shares lafs€ B common stock, which will remain subject e tprovisions of a votir
agreement until Mr. Zuckerbeydeath, if an investor sells, transfers, assiglegiges or otherwise disposes of or encumbershiues subje
to these voting agreements after the completionufinitial public offering, the shares would nogger be subject to the provisions of
voting agreement. Voting agreements covering 42208 shares our Class A common stock and 215,98%B8res of our Class B comn
stock will terminate if Mr. Zuckerberg is no longastively engaged in the management of the company.

We do not believe that the parties to these votaggeements constitute a “groupihder Section 13 of the Exchange Act
Mr. Zuckerberg exercises voting control over tharek held by these stockholders.
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Registration Rights

After our initial public offering, certain holdersf shares of our common stock outstanding as oeBéeer 31, 2011 will be entitled
certain rights with respect to registration of suttares under the Securities Act. These shareseBrged to as registrable securities.
holders of these registrable securities possesstratipn rights pursuant to the terms of our Siktmended and Restated InvestoRights
Agreement dated as of December 27, 2010 (IRA) aedlescribed in additional detail below. We, alevith entities affiliated with Mr. Thie
Accel Partners, and DST Global Limited, as weltegain other parties, are parties to the IRA. Wegimally entered into the IRA in connecti
with our Series A financing in 2005 and it was adehin each of our future preferred stock finandiagnds. The IRA was most recer
amended in December 2010.

Demand Registration Rights

Under our IRA, upon the written request of the leoddof a majority of the registrable securitiemtbeatstanding that we file a registrat
statement under the Securities Act with an antteipaaggregate price to the public of at least $1lom we will be obligated to use ¢
commercially reasonable efforts to register the sélall registrable securities that holders maguesst in writing to be registered within 20 d
of the mailing of a notice by us to all holderssath registration. The demand registration righay mot be exercised until six months after
initial public offering. We are required to effeasd more than three registration statements whiehdaclared or ordered effective. We 1
postpone the filing of a registration statement dprto 120 days once in a f@snth period if in the good faith judgment of owalbd o
directors such registration would be detrimentalisp and we are not required to effect the filifigaaegistration statement during the pe
beginning 60 days prior to our good faith estimaitéhe date of the filing of, and ending on a dafedays following the effective date o
registration initiated by us (unless such offerisgour initial public offering, in which case suemding date is 180 days following si
registration).

Piggyback Registration Rights

If we register any of our securities for publicesalve will have to use all commercially reasonaddf®rts to register all registrat
securities that the holders of such securities @sjin writing be registered within 20 days of rimagjl of notice by us to all holders of
proposed registration. However, this right doesapgly to a registration relating to any of ourcétplans, the offer and sale of debt securiti
corporate reorganization or other transaction uiRige 145 of the Securities Act, or a registrationany registration form that does not incl
substantially the same information as would be ireguto be included in a registration statementecig the sale of the registrable securi
The managing underwriter of any underwritten offgrivill have the right to limit, due to marketingasons, the number of shares register:
these holders to 30% of the total shares covereithdyegistration statement, unless such offesnguir initial public offering, in which ca:
these holders may be excluded if the underwritetsrdhine that the sale of their shares may jeoparttiie success of the offering.

Form S-3 Registration Rights

The holders of at least 30% of the registrable s&es can request that we register all or a partd their shares on Formr-3 if we ar¢
eligible to file a registration statement on Fora3 @nd the aggregate price to the public of theeshaffered is at least $2 million. We
required to file no more than two registration eta¢nts on Form S-3 upon exercise of these rightd pmonth period. We may postpone
filing of a registration statement for up to 120yslance in a 12nonth period if in the good faith judgment of owald of directors sus
registration would be detrimental to us.
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Registration Expenses

We will pay all expenses incurred in connectionhwétach of the registrations described above, exoeptinderwriting discounts a
commissions. However, we will not pay for any exgeEnof any demand or Form33egistration if the request is subsequently wilach at th
request of a majority of the holders of the regiske securities to be registered, subject to lidhéxeceptions.

Expiration of Registration Rights

The registration rights described above will suevour initial public offering and will terminate &sany stockholder at such time as a
such stockholderssecurities (together with any affiliate of the dtiecslder with whom such stockholder must aggregatsales) could be st
without compliance with the registration requirenseof the Securities Act pursuant to Rule 144 dlofeing a deemed liquidation event un
our current restated certificate of incorporatibuat in any event no later than the five-year anmsigey of our initial public offering.

Anti-Takeover Provisions

So long as the outstanding shares of our ClassBrun stock represent a majority of the combinedhgagpbower of common stock, Me
Zuckerberg will effectively control all matters sultted to our stockholders for a vote, as welltss averall management and direction of
company, which will have the effect of delayingfeteng or discouraging another person from acqugigontrol of our company.

After such time as the shares of our Class B comstock no longer represent a majority of the cormthimoting power of our comm
stock, the provisions of Delaware law, our restatedificate of incorporation and our restated ydanay have the effect of delaying, defer
or discouraging another person from acquiring ardf our company.

Delaware Law

Upon the closing of our initial public offering, well be governed by the provisions of Section 203he Delaware General Corporat
Law regulating corporate takeovers. This secti@vents some Delaware corporations from engagingerusome circumstances, in a busi
combination, which includes a merger or sale déast 10% of the corporatiaassets with any interested stockholder, meansigckholde
who, together with affiliates and associates, oamsvithin three years prior to the determinatidrinberested stockholder status, did own :
or more of the corporation’s outstanding votingcktaunless:

. the transaction is approved by the board of dirscfarior to the time that the interested stockholdecame an interest
stockholder

. upon consummation of the transaction which resuitedhe stockhold¢s becoming an interested stockholder, the inted
stockholder owned at least 85% of the voting stafcthe corporation outstanding at the time thegdaation commenced, exclud
stock owned by directors who are also officersheftorporation; o

. subsequent to such time that the stockholder beeemieterested stockholder the business combinéiapproved by the board
directors and authorized at an annual or speciatinge of stockholders by at least twhirds of the outstanding voting stock wk
is not owned by the interested stockholt

A Delaware corporation may “opt outif these provisions with an express provision fédtiginal certificate of incorporation or
express provision in its certificate of incorpooatior bylaws resulting from a stockholdesshendment approved by at least a majority @
outstanding voting shares. We have not opted othexfe provisions. As a result, mergers or othegdeer or change in control attempts ¢
may be discouraged or prevented.
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Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaw Rrgions

Our restated certificate of incorporation and astated bylaws will include a number of provisitinat may have the effect of deten
hostile takeovers or delaying or preventing changeontrol of our company, even after such timehesshares of our Class B common s
no longer represent a majority of the combinedngppower of our common stock, including the follogi

Separate Class B Vote for Certain TransacticAny transaction that would result in a change intod of our company will requi
the approval of a majority of our outstanding CIBssommon stock voting as a separate class. Thiggion could delay or preve
the approval of a change in control that might otlige be approved by a majority of outstanding ebaf our Class A and Clas:
common stock voting together on a combined b.

Dual Class Stoc. As described above in “—Common Stock—Voting Réghour restated certificate of incorporation provifi@ss
dual class common stock structure, which provideskVEZuckerberg, our founder, Chairman, and CEOh wie ability to contre
the outcome of matters requiring stockholder apgloeven if he owns significantly less than a mgjoof the shares of o
outstanding Class A and Class B common stock, dieuthe election of directors and significant amgie transactions, such ¢
merger or other sale of our company or its as

Supermajority Approval. Our restated certificate of incorporation andat=si bylaws do not provide that certain amendmta
our restated certificate of incorporation or restabylaws by stockholders will require the approsftwo-thirds of the combine
vote of our thersutstanding shares of Class A and Class B comnuawk.sHowever, when the outstanding shares of oas<E
common stock represent less than a majority ofctirabined voting power of common stock, certain asneents to our restat
certificate of incorporation or restated bylawsditgckholders will require the approval of tihirds of the combined vote of ¢
then-outstanding shares of Class A and Class B commuamk.sThis will have the effect of making it mordfidiult to amend ot
certificate of incorporation or restated bylawsemove or modify certain provisior

Board of Directors VacancieOur restated certificate of incorporation and restdylaws provide that stockholders may fill va
directorships. When the outstanding shares of das<CB common stock represent less than a majofitjhe combined votir
power of common stock, our restated certificaténcbrporation and restated bylaws authorize only lmeard of directors to f
vacant directorships. In addition, the number oéctiors constituting our board of directors is @elly by resolution adopted by
majority vote of our entire board of directors. aeprovisions restricting the filling of vacanciesl prevent a stockholder fro
increasing the size of our board of directors aaithigg control of our board of directors by fillinge resulting vacancies with
own nominees

Classified BoardOur board of directors will not initially be claied. Our restated certificate of incorporation aedtated bylav
provide that when the outstanding shares of oussSCBacommon stock represent less than a majoritigeoEombined voting pow
of common stock, our board of directors will besslified into three classes of directors each ofttvhvill hold office for a three-
year term. In addition, thereafter, directors majyde removed from the board of directors for eathe existence of a classif
board could delay a successful tender offeror falmaining majority control of our board of direcdpand the prospect of that de
might deter a potential offerc

Stockholder Action; Special Meeting of StockholdOur restated certificate of incorporation providest stockholders will be at
to take action by written consent. When the outliteyy shares of our Class B common stock repressstthan a majority of t
combined voting power of common stock, our stoctbod will no longer be able to take action by werittonsent, and will only
able to take action at annual or special meetirfigaip stockholders. Stockholders will not be petedtto cumulate their votes
the election of directors. Our restated bylawshertprovide that special meetings of our stockhsldeay be called only by
majority of our board of directors, the chairmaroaf board of directors, our chief executive offioe our presiden
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. Advance Notice Requirements for Stockholder Prdpasiad Director NominationsOur restated bylaws provide advance nt
procedures for stockholders seeking to bring bgsineefore our annual meeting of stockholders, ondminate candidates -
election as directors at any meeting of stockhsld®ur restated bylaws also specify certain requérgs regarding the form
content of a stockholdex’notice. These provisions may preclude our stddens from bringing matters before our annual nme
of stockholders or from making nominations for diges at our meetings of stockholde

. Issuance of Undesignated Preferred StcOur board of directors has the authority, withawtter action by the stockholders
issue up to shares of undesignated pesfestock with rights and preferences, includingngtights, designated from time
time by the board of directors. The existence dhatized but unissued shares of preferred stocklesaur board of directors
render more difficult or to discourage an attemptobtain control of us by means of a merger, teraffar, proxy contest i
otherwise.

Choice of Forum

Our restated certificate of incorporation will prde that the Court of Chancery of the State of val& will be the exclusive forum 1
any derivative action or proceeding brought ontmhalf; any action asserting a breach of fiductarty; any action asserting a claim again:
arising pursuant to the Delaware General Corpanatiaw, our restated certificate of incorporation aur restated bylaws; or any aci
asserting a claim against us that is governed éyntiernal affairs doctrine.

Listing
We intend to apply to list our common stock on under the symbol “FB.”

Transfer Agent and Registrar
The transfer agent and registrar for our commoacksi® Computershare Trust Company, N
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SHARES ELIGIBLE FOR FUTURE SALE

Before our initial public offering, there has natdm a public market for shares of our Class A comstock. Future sales of substat
amounts of shares of our common stock, includiregeshissued upon the settlement of RSUs and egestisutstanding options, in the pul
market after our initial public offering, or the gmibility of these sales occurring, could causeptiexailing market price for our common st
to fall or impair our ability to raise equity cagiiin the future.

After our initial public offering, we will have ostanding shares of our Class A common stock and  shares of our Clas
common stock, based on the number of shares odistpas of December 31, 2011. This includes shares that we and the se
stockholders are selling in our initial public aoffeg, which shares may be resold in the public reaikmediately following our initial publ
offering, and assumes no additional exercise o$tanting options (other than the exercise of th#oopheld by Mr. Zuckerberg descrik
elsewhere in this prospectus). In addition, we ekpe issue shares of our Class B comstock upon the net settlement of restri
stock units (RSUs) approximately six months follogviour initial public offering. Shares of our Cl&sommon stock are convertible into
equivalent number of shares of our Class A comniocksand generally convert into shares of our Chasemmon stock upon transfer.

The shares of common stock that weteoffered and sold in our initial public offerirag well as shares underlying outstan
RSUs will be upon issuance, “restricted securities, that term is defined in Rule 144 under the SgesirAct. These restricted securities
eligible for public sale only if they are registérender the Securities Act or if they qualify for exemption from registration under Rule 14
Rule 701 under the Securities Act, which are sunzadrbelow.

As a result of the lockip agreements and market standoff provisions destidelow and subject to the provisions of Ruletddd 70
under the Securities Act, these restricted seesritiill be available for sale in the public mar&stfollows:
. on the date of this prospectus, none of theseictstrsecurities will be available for sale in fheblic market;

. 91 days after the date of this prospectus,  shares held by the selling stockholders atten Mr. Zuckerberc

. approximately six months after the date of thisspextus, approximately shares undeglypet-settled RSUSs;
. 181 days after the date of this prospectus,  shares

. 211 days after the date of this prospectus,  shares held by the selling stockholders;

. beginning one year after the date of this prosgectu shares held by Mail.ru Group Lirditnd DST Global Limited and th
respective affiliates; an

. beginning 18 months after the date of this progmect shares held by Mail.ru Group Leditand DST Global Limited a
their respective affiliate:

Of the 138,539,434 shares of our Class B commarkdtwat were subject to stock options outstandargl (not held by Mr. Zuckerbe
as of December 31, 2011, options to purchase 18884 shares of Class B common stock were vestenf Becember 31, 2011 and
Class B common stock underlying such options vélketigible for sale approximately six months aftex date of this prospectus. We expe«
additional shares of Class B commaulsto be delivered upon the net settlement of RB&teeen the date that is approximately
months after the date of this prospectus and Deeer@b, 2012, which shares would be eligible foesal the public market immediat
following settlement.
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Rule 144

In general, under Rule 144 as currently in effente we have been subject to public company rempréquirements for at least 90 di
a person who is not deemed to have been one diffilimtes for purposes of the Securities Act ag éime during the 90 days preceding a
and who has beneficially owned the shares proptesbd sold for at least six months, including tleéding period of any prior owner other tt
our affiliates, is entitled to sell those shareshaiit complying with the manner of sale, volumeitation or notice provisions of Rule 1.
subject to compliance with the public informatie@guirements of Rule 144. If such a person has beakkf owned the shares proposed t
sold for at least one year, including the holdiegied of any prior owner other than our affiliatésen that person is entitled to sell those sl
without complying with any of the requirements afl& 144.

In general, under Rule 144, as currently in effeat, affiliates or persons selling shares on bebfatfur affiliates are entitled to sell ug
the expiration of the lock-up agreements descriteldw, within any threenonth period beginning 90 days after the date isf phospectus,
number of shares that does not exceed the grefater o

. 1% of the number of shares of common stock thestaunding, which will equal approximately  hases immediately after c
initial public offering, or

. the average weekly trading volume of the commonkstiuring the four calendar weeks preceding tliedibf a notice on Form 1.
with respect to such sal

Sales under Rule 144 by our affiliates or persaibng shares on behalf of our affiliates are atsject to certain manner of <
provisions and notice requirements and to the abdity of current public information about us.

Rule 701

In general, under Rule 701 as currently in effan; of our employees, consultants or advisors wirolase shares from us in connec
with a compensatory stock or option plan or othétt@n agreement in a transaction before the éffeatate of our initial public offering tr
was completed in reliance on Rule 701 and complitld the requirements of Rule 701 will, subjecthe lockup restrictions described belc
be eligible to resell such shares 90 days aftedéte of this prospectus in reliance on Rule 14dwhithout compliance with certain restrictic
including the holding period, contained in Rule 144

Lock-Up Agreements and Market Standoff Provisions

Our officers, directors, employees, and substdptél of our stockholders have agreed with theamditers or us, not to dispose of
of our common stock or securities convertible iot@xchangeable for shares of our common stockgdecified periods of time after the dat
this prospectus, except with the prior written @ntsof Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC or us, as applieadUnder the terms of their loak
agreements with the underwriters, the selling dtotders, other than Mr. Zuckerberg, are eligibles&dl up to shares of
common stock in the aggregate on the date thdt da9s after the date of this prospectus, up to shares of our common stock ir
aggregate on the date that is 181 days after tteeadahis prospectus, and the remaining sharesuotommon stock held by them 211 c
after the date of this prospectus. Under the tesfrihieir lockup agreement with the underwriters, our directots, executive officers, al
certain stockholders not selling shares in thigrirfiy are eligible to sell shares of our commorlstt81 days after the date of this prospe
All other holders of our common stock, RSUs andiams have previously entered into market standgfeements with us not to sell
otherwise transfer any of their common stock ousées convertible into or exchangeable for sharesommon stock for a period that exte
through 180 days after the date of this prospedtusddition, Mail.ru Group Limited and DST Globamited and their respective affilial
have entered into an agreement with us to notlseill shares for certain periods of time
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ranging from six to 18 months following the datetlois prospectus. See “Related Party Transactionsav€rsion Agreementfor additiona
information about this agreement.

In addition, we have agreed with our underwritesston sell any shares of our common stock or sgeartonvertible into or exchangee
for shares of our common stock for a period of #8§s after the date of this prospectus, subjeciettain customary exceptions. Mor
Stanley & Co. LLC may, in their sole discretionaaty time, release all or any portion of the sh&@® these restrictions.

See “Underwriting” for a more complete descriptioh the lockup agreements our directors, executive officers Hred selling
stockholders have entered into with the undervgiter

Registration Rights

Upon the closing of our initial public offering, tain holders of shares of our Class A common st{auiuding such shares of Clas
common stock issuable upon conversion of our asemmon stock) will be entitled to rights with pest to the registration of the sale
these shares under the Securities Act. Registrafitime sale of these shares under the Securitesvéuld result in these shares becoming
tradable without restriction under the Securitiest Anmediately upon the effectiveness of the regiiin, except for shares purchasec
affiliates. See “Description of Capital Stock—Regition Rights” for additional information.

Registration Statement

We intend to file a registration statement on F&-8 under the Securities Act covering all of the skasf common stock subject to R¢
and options outstanding, as well as reserved fiurduissuance, under our stock plans. We expefifetthis registration statement as soo
practicable after our initial public offering. Hower, none of the shares registered on ForéwBH be eligible for resale until the expiratiaf
the lock-up agreements to which they are subject.
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MATERIAL U.S. FEDERAL TAX CONSIDERATIONS
FOR NON-U.S. HOLDERS OF CLASS A COMMON STOCK

This section summarizes the material U.S. fedamabrne and estate tax considerations relating toattisition, ownership a
disposition of our common stock by “non-U.S. hoflefdefined below) pursuant to this offering. This suamyndoes not provide a compl
analysis of all potential U.S. federal income taxsiderations relating thereto. The informationvded below is based upon provisions of
Code, Treasury regulations promulgated thereuratdministrative rulings, and judicial decisions emtty in effect. These authorities n
change at any time, possibly retroactively, or liternal Revenue Service (IRS), might interpret éixésting authorities differently. In eitf
case, the tax considerations of owning or disposfrmur common stock could differ from those desed below.

For purposes of this summary, a “non-U.S. holde@ny holder of our Class A common stock, othen ta@artnership, that is not:
. an individual who is a citizen or resident of theildd States

. a corporation, or other entity taxable as a conpamacreated or organized under the laws of théddnStates, any state thereir
the District of Columbia

. a trust if it (1) is subject to the primary supsign of a U.S. court and one of more U.S. persans tauthority to control ¢
substantial decisions of the trust or (2) has aelection in effect under applicable U.S. Treggegulations to be treated as a |
person; ol

. an estate whose income is subject to U.S. incomeetgardless of sourc

If you are an individual, you may, in many casesdeemed to be a resident alien, as opposed taragident alien, by virtue of bei
present in the United States for at least 31 daylsd calendar year and for an aggregate of at 1&8sdays during a threear period ending
the current calendar year. For these purposethatiays present in the current year, tned of the days present in the immediately préog
year, and or-sixth of the days present in the second precediag sre counted. Resident aliens are subject tofed8ral income tax as if th
were U.S. citizens. Such an individual is urgeddasult his or her own tax advisor regarding th8.Uederal income tax consequences a
ownership or disposition of our common stock. aatnership or other pasisrough entity is a beneficial owner of our comnsbock, the ta
treatment of a partner in the partnership or anesvari the entity will depend upon the status of plagtner or other owner and the activitie
the partnership or other entity. Any partner iraatipership or owner of a pagsrough entity holding shares of our common stdabud consu
its own tax advisor.

This discussion assumes that a naf- holder will hold our common stock as a capitsdet (generally, property held for investm:
The summary generally does not address tax comgides that may be relevant to particular invesb@sause of their specific circumstan
or because they are subject to special rules,dimady without limitation, if the investor is a foencitizen or longerm resident of the Unit:
States, “controlled foreign corporation,” “passifieeeign investment companygorporation that accumulates earnings to avoid fe@era
income tax, real estate investment trust, regulategstment company, dealer in securities or caies) financial institution, tagxempt entity
insurance company, person holding our common siggart of a hedging, integrated, conversion osttontive sale transaction or a strac
trader in securities that elects to use a mankéoket method of accounting, person liable forahernative minimum tax, person who acqu
our common stock as compensation for servicesadner in a partnership or beneficial owner of asgarough entity that holds our comn
stock. Finally, the summary does not describe ffexis of any applicable foreign, state or localdaor, except to the extent discussed be
the effects of any applicable gift or estate taxda
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INVESTORS CONSIDERING THE PURCHASE OF OUR CLASS A COMMON STOCK SHOULD CONSULT THEIR OWN
TAX ADVISORS REGARDING THE APPLICATION OF THE U.S. FEDERAL INCOME AND ESTATE TAX LAWS TO THEIR
PARTICULAR SITUATIONS AND THE CONSEQUENCES OF FOREI GN, STATE OR LOCAL LAWS, AND TAX TREATIES.

Dividends

We do not expect to declare or pay any dividendswrClass A common stock in the foreseeable futfirge do pay dividends on sha
of our Class A common stock, however, such distidms will constitute dividends for U.S. federatome tax purposes to the extent paid
our current or accumulated earnings and profitsjedsrmined under U.S. federal income tax prinsipl@istributions in excess of our curr
and accumulated earnings and profits will congitat return of capital that is applied against aaduces, but not below zero, a non-
U.S. holder$ adjusted tax basis in shares of our common sthck.remaining excess will be treated as gain redlion the sale or ott
disposition of our Class A common stock. See “—S$#l€lass A Common Stock.”

Any dividend paid to a nok~S. holder on our Class A common stock will gelietlze subject to U.S. withholding tax at a 30%erakhe¢
withholding tax might not apply, however, or migigply at a reduced rate, under the terms of anicaighé income tax treaty between
United States and the non-U.S. holderbuntry of residence. You should consult youradxisors regarding your entitlement to benefitda
a relevant income tax treaty. Generally, in oraerus or our paying agent to withhold tax at a Ioweaty rate, a nok~S. holder must certi
its entitlement to treaty benefits. A non-U.S. leldienerally can meet this certification requiretiey providing a Form WBBEN (or an'
successor form) or appropriate substitute formst@muour paying agent. If the ndhS. holder holds the stock through a financiatiingon ol
other agent acting on the holder’s behalf, the é&olgill be required to provide appropriate docunaéinh to the agent. The holderagent wil
then be required to provide certification to usooir paying agent, either directly or through otirgermediaries. For payments made
partnership or other pas$isrough entity, the certification requirements geatlg apply to the partners or other owners ratthem to th
partnership or other entity, and the partnershiptber entity must provide the partners’ or othemers’ documentation to us or our pay
agent. If you are eligible for a reduced rate of Uederal withholding tax under an income taxtiregou may obtain a refund or credit of
excess amounts withheld by filing an appropriasgneifor a refund with the IRS in a timely manner.

Dividends received by a non-U.S. holder that afecéifzely connected with a U.S. trade or busineswacted by the nobkS. holder, ar
if required by an applicable income tax treaty kesw the United States and the non-U.S. haddeountry of residence, are attributable
permanent establishment maintained by the Wdh- holder in the United States, are not subjecsuch withholding tax. To obtain tl
exemption, a non-U.S. holder must provide us withiRS Form WSECI properly certifying such exemption. Such effeely connecte
dividends, although not subject to withholding tare taxed at the same graduated rates applicakleSt persons, net of certain deductions
credits. In addition to the graduated tax describeolve, dividends received by corporate kb8- holders that are effectively connected w
U.S. trade or business of the corporate bo8- holder may also be subject to a branch prtditsat a rate of 30% or such lower rate as mi
specified by an applicable tax treaty.

Sale of Class A Common Stock

Non-U.S. holders will generally not be subject to Ueleral income tax on any gains realized on the, saichange or other disposit
of our Class A common stock unless:

. the gain (1) is effectively connected with the cocidby the norld.S. holder of a U.S. trade or business and (8duired by a
applicable income tax treaty between the UnitedeStand the non-U.S. holdercountry of residence, is attributable to a pern:
establishment (or, in certain ca:
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involving individual holders, a fixed base) maimtad by the nc-U.S. holder in the United States (in which casegpecial rule
described below apply

. the nonW.S. holder is an individual who is present in thated States for 183 days or more in the taxabhr wf the sale, exchar
or other disposition of our common stock, and é¢erteher requirements are met (in which case thie gauld be subject to a fl
30% tax, or such reduced rate as may be specifie@hbapplicable income tax treaty, which may beetfby U.S. source capi
losses, even though the individual is not considlereesident of the United States)

. the rules of the Foreign Investment in Real Prgp@ex Act (FIRPTA) treat the gain as effectivelynoected with a U.S. trade
business

The FIRPTA rules may apply to a sale, exchangelwralisposition of our common stock if we areware within the shorter of the five-
year period preceding the disposition and the-U.S. holder’s holding period, a “U.S. real progehilding corporation,"or USRPHC. |
general, we would be a USRPHC if interests in We@l estate comprised at least half of our busiassets. We do not believe that we ¢
USRPHC and we do not anticipate becoming one irithge. Even if we become a USRPHC, as long aonmmon stock is regularly trac
on an established securities market, such commawk still be treated as U.S. real property interestly if beneficially owned by a non-
U.S. holder that actually or constructively ownedrenthan 5% of our outstanding common stock at stme within the fiveyear perio
preceding the disposition.

If any gain from the sale, exchange or other digjposof our Class A common stock, (1) is effectiveonnected with a U.S. trade
business conducted by a non-U.S. holder and (@qtired by an applicable income tax treaty betwienUnited States and the nonS
holder’s country of residence, is attributable to a pemné&establishment (or, in certain cases involvimtjviduals, a fixed base) maintainec
such nond.S. holder in the United States, then the gainegaly will be subject to U.S. federal income taxtlae same graduated re
applicable to U.S. persons, net of certain deduostend credits. If the ndd-S. holder is a corporation, under certain circiamees, that portic
of its earnings and profits that is effectively nented with its U.S. trade or business, subjecettain adjustments, generally would be sul
also to a “branch profits taxThe branch profits tax rate is generally 30%, altftoan applicable income tax treaty between theedrstate
and the non-U.S. holder’s country of residence mpgbvide for a lower rate.

U.S. Federal Estate Tax

The estates of nonresident alien individuals gdlyease subject to U.S. federal estate tax on priypeith a U.S. situs. Because we a
U.S. corporation, our Class A common stock willth&. situs property and therefore will be includethe taxable estate of a nonresident i
decedent, unless an applicable estate tax treatyeba the United States and the decedent’s coohtgsidence provides otherwise.

Backup Withholding and Information Reporting

The Code and the Treasury regulations require tiviemake specified payments to report the paymerttse IRS. Among the specifi
payments are dividends and proceeds paid by bra&eheir customers. The required information nesuenable the IRS to determine whe
the recipient properly included the payments iroine. This reporting regime is reinforced by “backuithholding” rules. These rules requ
the payors to withhold tax from payments subjedhformation reporting if the recipient fails to @oerate with the reporting regime by fail
to provide his taxpayer identification number te fyayor, furnishing an incorrect identification rean, or failing to report interest or dividel
on his returns. The backup withholding tax rateusrently 28%. The backup withholding rules do apply to payments to corporatio
whether domestic or foreign.

Payments to nokt.S. holders of dividends on Class A common stashegally will not be subject to backup withholdirsg, long as tt
non-U.S. holder certifies its nonresident statuml (&e or our paying agent do not have ackmawledge or reason to know the holder is a
person or that the conditions of any other exemptioe not, in fact, satisfied) or otherwise estitds an exemption. The certifical
procedures to claim
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treaty benefits described in “—Dividendwill satisfy the certification requirements necegda avoid the backup withholding tax as well.
must report annually to the IRS any dividends paidach nord.S. holder and the tax withheld, if any, with respto these dividends. Cor
of these reports may be made available to tax aitif®in the country where the non-U.S. holdeides.

Under the Treasury regulations, the payment ofgeds from the disposition of shares of our Clag®imon stock by a nod-S. holde
made to or through a U.S. office of a broker gelhenaill be subject to information reporting anddkaip withholding unless the benefic
owner certifies, under penalties of perjury, amotiger things, its status as a ndrs. holder (and the broker does not have actuavletge o
reason to know the holder is a U.S. person) orrafise establishes an exemption. The payment ofgeds from the disposition of shares of
Class A common stock by a non-U.S. holder madertehmugh a noid.S. office of a broker generally will not be sultjgo backu
withholding and information reporting, except ageabbelow. Information reporting, but not backughkliblding, will apply to a payment
proceeds, even if that payment is made outsideeobtnited States, if you sell our common stockulioa non-U.S. office of a broker that is:

. a U.S. person (including a foreign branch or offi€esuch person);
. a“controlled foreign corporatic’ for U.S. federal income tax purpos
. a foreign person 50% or more of whose gross incloame certain periods is effectively connected vathl.S. trade or business; or

. a foreign partnership if at any time during its §gear (a) one or more of its partners are U.S.qmersvho, in the aggregate, h
more than 50% of the income or capital interestshef partnership or (b) the foreign partnershigngaged in a U.S. trade
business

unless the broker has documentary evidence thabeheficial owner is a nob-:S. holder and certain other conditions are satisfor th
beneficial owner otherwise establishes an exemggtiad the broker has no actual knowledge or reas&now to the contrary).

Backup withholding is not an additional tax. Any @mts withheld from a payment to a holder of Classommon stock under t
backup withholding rules can be credited againgt @rs. federal income tax liability of the holdemcamay entitle the holder to a refu
provided that the required information is furnishedhe IRS in a timely manner.

Recent legislation and administrative guidance gelyeimposes withholding at a rate of 30% on pagtedo certain foreign entities
dividends on and the gross proceeds of dispositaing.S. common stock, unless various U.S. infofamteporting and due diligen
requirements (generally relating to ownership bys.Upersons of interests in or accounts with thas#ties) have been satisfied. Th
withholding requirements are expected to be phasddr dividend payments made on or after Januar®Qil4, and for payments of gr
proceeds of dispositions of U.S. common stock n@der after January 1, 2015. NehS. holders should consult their tax advisors mdiga
the possible implications of this legislation oeitinvestment in our common stock.

THE PRECEDING DISCUSSION OF U.S. FEDERAL TAX CONSIDERATIONS IS FOR GENERAL INFORMATION ONLY.
IT IS NOT TAX ADVICE. EACH PROSPECTIVE INVESTOR SHO ULD CONSULT ITS OWN TAX ADVISOR REGARDING THE
PARTICULAR U.S. FEDERAL, STATE, LOCAL AND FOREIGN T AX CONSEQUENCES OF PURCHASING, HOLDING AND
DISPOSING OF OUR CLASS A COMMON STOCK, INCLUDING TH E CONSEQUENCES OF ANY PROPOSED CHANGE IN
APPLICABLE LAWS.
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UNDERWRITING

Under the terms and subject to the conditions doathin an underwriting agreement dated the datdisfprospectus, the underwrit
named below, for which Morgan Stanley & Co. LLCaisting as representative, have severally agrequuitchase, and we and the sel
stockholders have agreed to sell to them, sevetaklynumber of shares indicated below:

Number of

Name Shares

Morgan Stanley & Co. LL(
J.P. Morgan Securities LL
Goldman, Sachs & Ci
Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith

Incorporate
Barclays Capital Inc
Allen & Company LLC

Total:

The underwriters and the representative are collggt referred to as the “underwriters” and the phesentative,respectively. Th
underwriters are offering the shares of Class Armom stock subject to their acceptance of the shfaoes us and subject to prior sale. -
underwriting agreement provides that the obligatiohthe several underwriters to pay for and acdepivery of the shares of Class A comr
stock offered by this prospectus are subject toapproval of certain legal matters by their courmedl to certain other conditions. ~
underwriters are obligated to take and pay fobhthe shares of Class A common stock offered bs/ghospectus if any such shares are t:
However, the underwriters are not required to takpay for the shares covered by the underwritevetr-allotment option described below
an underwriter defaults, the underwriting agreemamtvides that the purchase commitments of the defaulting underwriters may
increased.

The underwriters initially propose to offer parttbe shares of Class A common stock directly tophielic at the initial public offerir
price listed on the cover page of this prospectsart to certain dealers at a price that reptssegoncession not in excess of $ a
under the public offering price. After the initiaffering of the shares of Class A common stock,dffering price and other selling terms r
from time to time be varied by the representative.

We and the selling stockholders have granted tautiderwriters an option, exercisable for 30 dagsnfithe date of this prospectus
purchase up to additional shares ghroon stock at the public offering price listed dre tcover page of this prospectus,
underwriting discounts and commissions. The undésvermay exercise this option solely for the pwgof covering oveallotments, if any
made in connection with the offering of the sharé€lass A common stock offered by this prospecligsthe extent the option is exercis
each underwriter will become obligated, subjeatécain conditions, to purchase about the sameeptage of the additional shares of Cla
common stock as the number listed next to the wmiter's name in the preceding table bears to the totabeu of shares of Class A comn
stock listed next to the names of all underwriterthe preceding table.
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The following table shows the per share and totddlip offering price, underwriting discounts andnomissions, and proceeds bel
expenses to us and the selling stockholders. Tar@seints are shown assuming both no exercise ahelxiicise of the underwritersption tc
purchase up to an additional shares ofnsomstock.

Total
Per Share No Exercise Full Exercise

Public offering price $ $ $
Underwriting discounts and commissions to be pgic

Us $ $ $

The selling stockholdel $ $ $
Proceeds, before expenses, t $ $ $
Proceeds, before expenses, to the selling stockts $ $ $

The underwriters have agreed to reimburse us fidaiceexpenses in connection with our initial paldiffering. The estimated offeri
expenses payable by us, exclusive of the undengriiscounts and commissions, are approximately $ million, which includes leg
accounting, and printing costs and various othes fessociated with the registration and listingwfClass A common stock.

The underwriters have informed us that they doimend sales to discretionary accounts to exceedbtfe total number of shares
Class A common stock offered by them.

We intend to apply to have our Class A common stpaited on under the tradipgpisol “FB.”

We, all of our directors and executive officers¢g dhe selling stockholders have agreed that, wittioel prior written consent of Morg
Stanley & Co. LLC on behalf of the underwriters, arel they will not, during specified periods of érafter the date of this prospectus:

. offer, pledge, sell, contract to sell, sell anyioptor contract to purchase, purchase any optiotoatract to sell, grant any opti
right or warrant to purchase lend or otherwise dfanor dispose of, directly or indirectly, any s&a of common stock or ott
securities convertible into or exercisable or exgleable for common stoc

. enter into any swap or other arrangement that feesigo another, in whole or in part, any of theremic consequences
ownership of the common stock;

. make a demand for, or in our case file, a regisinattatement with the SEC relating to the offeriigany shares of common st
or any securities convertible into or exercisablexchangeable for common sto

The restrictions described in the immediately pd@ug paragraph are subject to customary exceptions.

In order to facilitate our initial public offeringf the Class A common stock, the underwriters mayage in transactions that stabil
maintain or otherwise affect the price of the ClAssommon stock. Specifically, the underwriters nsgyl more shares than they are oblig
to purchase under the underwriting agreement, iageatshort position. A short sale is covered & gimort position is no greater than the nur
of shares available for purchase by the undernwriterder the oveallotment option. The underwriters can close ogbeered short sale
exercising the oveallotment option or purchasing shares in the oparket. In determining the source of shares to ctagea covered she
sale, the underwriters will consider, among othengs, the open market price of shares comparetthdaprice available under the over-
allotment option. The underwriters may also sedireb in excess of the over-allotment option, cngedi naked short position. The
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underwriters must close out any naked short poshippurchasing shares in the open market. A naked position is more likely to be crea
if the underwriters are concerned that there maydvenward pressure on the price of the common siotke open market after pricing t
could adversely affect investors who purchase inimitial public offering. As an additional meansfacilitating our initial public offering, tr
underwriters may bid for, and purchase, sharesla§s<CA common stock in the open market. The undingrsyndicate also may recla
selling concessions allowed to an underwriter dealer for distributing the Class A common stockhia offering, if the syndicate repurche
previously distributed Class A common stock to easyndicate short positions or to stabilize the@mf the common stock. These activ
may raise or maintain the market price of the CRagoommon stock above independent market levelprevent or retard a decline in

market price of the common stock. The underwriggesnot required to engage in these activitiesnaag end any of these activities at any ti

We, the selling stockholders, and the underwritenge agreed to indemnify each other against celitdilities, including liabilities unde
the Securities Act.

A prospectus in electronic format may be made atgl on websites maintained by one or more undemsrior selling group membe
if any, participating in our initial public offerqm The representative may agree to allocate a nuoflghares of common stock to underwri
for sale to their online brokerage account holdbrternet distributions will be allocated by thepresentative to underwriters that may
Internet distributions on the same basis as otil@radions.

The underwriters and their respective affiliates &l service financial institutions engaged irrivas activities, which may inclu
securities trading, commercial and investment bamkfinancial advisory, investment management,gipad investment, hedging, financ
and brokerage activities. Certain of the underngitend their respective affiliates have, from titndime, performed, and may in the fut
perform, various financial advisory and investmiegswiking services for us, for which they receiveavdlrreceive customary fees and expen

In 2010 and 2011, certain entities affiliated witlorgan Stanley & Co. LLC purchased shares of o@s€B common stock from cert
existing stockholders. In addition, Erskine B. Besjla member of our board of directors, also semses member of the board of director
Morgan Stanley.

In February 2011, we entered into a credit agreéméh five lenders, including affiliates of Morge®tanley & Co. LLC, J.P. Morg:
Securities LLC, Goldman, Sachs & Co., Merrill Lynétierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, and Barcfagpital Inc., to borrow up to $1,5
million in revolving loans. In September 2011, thredit agreement was amended to increase the biogmapacity to $2,500 million. Pursu
to the terms of the credit agreement, as amendeadrg/required to pay ongoing commitment fees 18%. of the unused commitment per y
The interest rate for the credit facility is detémed based on a formula using certain market ragesgescribed in the credit agreement.

In December 2010 and January 2011, affiliates dfian, Sachs & Co., one of the underwriters, pusetlaan aggregate of 69,544,
shares of our Class A common stock for an aggrquattighase price of $1,450 million. As part of thensaction, the affiliates entered into
Sixth Amended and Restated InvestdRghts Agreement. Pursuant to the purchase agrderoee of the affiliates had an option to
3,597,122 shares of Class A common stock to DSD&Ibimited at the same price, and on the sameseset forth in the purchase agreen
The affiliate exercised its option in January 2011.

In the ordinary course of their various businegs/gies, the underwriters and their respectiveliates may make or hold a broad arra
investments and actively trade debt and equity ri#ézsi (or related derivative securities) and ficiah instruments (including bank loans)
their own account and for the accounts of theirtamers and may at any time hold long and shorttiposi in such securities a
instruments. Such investment and securities aietsvinay involve our securities and instruments. Uigerwriters and their respective affilie
may also make investment recommendations or pubtiglxpress independent research views in
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respect of such securities or instruments and mayatime hold, or recommend to clients that theguire, long or short positions in s
securities and instruments.

Pricing of the Offering

Prior to our initial public offering, there has Imeeo public market for our Class A common stocke Tiitial public offering price will b
determined by negotiations among us, the sellingkstolders, and the representative of the undesmgritAmong the factors considerec
determining the initial public offering price weoair future prospects and those of our industryeinegal, our sales, earnings and certain
financial and operating information in recent pdspand the price-earnings ratios, préeges ratios, market prices of securities, andain
financial and operating information of companiegaged in activities similar to ours. The estimateétial public offering price range set fo
on the cover page of this preliminary prospectusuBject to change as a result of market conditaomd other factors. Neither we nor
underwriters can assure investors that an actading market for the shares will develop, or thgrathe offering the shares will trade in
public market at or above the initial public offagiprice.

Selling Restrictions

European Economic Area

In relation to each Member State of the EuropeasnBmic Area which has implemented the Prospectuscive, with effect from ar
including the date on which the Prospectus Directivimplemented in that Member State, an offesemfurities may not be made to the pt
in that Member State, other than:

(a) to any legal entity that is a qualified invests defined in the Prospectus Directive;

(b) to fewer than 100 or, if that Member State imaglemented the relevant provision of the 2010 RbeAding Directive, 150 natural
legal persons (other than “qualified investoas’defined in the Prospectus Directive) subjectitaining the prior consent of the represente
or

(c) in any other circumstances that do not regtieepublication of a prospectus pursuant to Artglef the Prospectus Directive;

provided that no such offer of securities shalluiegj us or any underwriter to publish a prospegussuant to Article 3 of the Prospec
Directive.

For the purposes of the above, the expression féer ‘of securities to the publidh relation to any securities in any Member Statam
the communication in any form and by any meansufficgent information on the terms of the offer atite securities to be offered so a
enable an investor to decide to purchase or suiesddr the securities, as the same may be varigtiah Member State by any meas
implementing the Prospectus Directive in that Mentbate (and amendments thereto, including the B-1@mending Directive, to the ext
implemented in that Member State), and the expzas$Prospectus Directivemeans Directive 2003/71/EC and includes any rel
implementing measure in that Member State, anéxpeession “2010 PD Amending Directive” means Dtikex2010/73/EU.

United Kingdom

This prospectus and any other material in relatiotne shares described herein is only being disted to, and is only directed at, pers
in the United Kingdom that are qualified investaithin the meaning of Article 2(1)(e) of the Prospee Directive (“qualified investors'tha
also (i) have professional experience in matteleting to investments falling within Article 19(%f the Financial Services and Markets
2000 (Financial Promotion) Order 2005, as amendethe Order, (ii) who fall within Article 49(2)(ap (d) of the Order or (iii) to whom it m
otherwise lawfully be communicated (all such pesstogether being referred to as “relevant persoii$i® shares are only available to, and
invitation, offer or agreement to purchase or
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otherwise acquire such shares will be engaged linwith, relevant persons. This prospectus andadtgents are confidential and should nc
distributed, published or reproduced (in wholeropart) or disclosed by recipients to any othesperin the United Kingdom. Any persor
the United Kingdom that is not a relevant persasusdhnot act or rely on this prospectus or anyt®tontents.

Hong Kong

The shares may not be offered or sold by meansipidacument other than (i) in circumstances whiohndt constitute an offer to t
public within the meaning of the Companies Ordirea(€ap.32, Laws of Hong Kong), or (ii) to “profemsal investorswithin the meaning «
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap.571, lodwtong Kong) and any rules made thereunder,iipir(iother circumstances which do
result in the document being a “prospectugthin the meaning of the Companies Ordinance (8plLaws of Hong Kong), and
advertisement, invitation or document relatinghe shares may be issued or may be in the possedsamy person for the purpose of issue
each case whether in Hong Kong or elsewhere), wikiclirected at, or the contents of which are {ikel be accessed or read by, the publ
Hong Kong (except if permitted to do so under thed of Hong Kong) other than with respect to shavbigh are or are intended to
disposed of only to persons outside Hong Kong dy tm“professional investorsiithin the meaning of the Securities and Futuregir@nc:
(Cap.571 Laws of Hong Kong) and any rules madectieter.

Singapore

This prospectus has not been registered as a ptaspeith the Monetary Authority of Singapore. Aodiogly, this prospectus and ¢
other document or material in connection with tfferoor sale, or invitation for subscription or phase, of the shares may not be circulat
distributed, nor may the shares be offered or smidy)e made the subject of an invitation for suipsion or purchase, whether directly
indirectly, to persons in Singapore other tharnqin institutional investor under Section 274t Securities and Futures Act, Chapter 2¢
Singapore (SFA), (ii) to a relevant person, or @eyson pursuant to Section 275(1A), and in accaelamth the conditions, specified
Section 275 of the SFA or (iii) otherwise pursumtand in accordance with the conditions of, athepapplicable provision of the SFA.

Where the shares are subscribed or purchased Bwtgion 275 by a relevant person which is: (a) gp@@tion (which is not ¢
accredited investor) the sole business of whidb isold investments and the entire share capitalto€h is owned by one or more individu,
each of whom is an accredited investor; or (buattfwhere the trustee is not an accredited investioose sole purpose is to hold investm
and each beneficiary is an accredited investomeshalebentures and units of shares and debertdfitbat corporation or the beneficiaries’
rights and interest in that trust shall not be dfarable for six months after that corporation leatttrust has acquired the shares u
Section 275 except: (1) to an institutional investnder Section 274 of the SFA or to a relevans@eyor any person pursuant to Section 27-
(1A), and in accordance with the conditions, spedifn Section 275 of the SFA; (2) where no consitien is given for the transfer; or (3)
operation of law.

Japan

The securities have not been and will not be reggst under the Financial Instruments and Excharme &f Japan (the Financ
Instruments and Exchange Law) and may not be afferesold, directly or indirectly, in Japan or &w,for the benefit of, any resident of Ja
(which term as used herein means any person residdapan, including any corporation or othertgrarganized under the laws of Japan
to others for resffering or resale, directly or indirectly, in Japar to a resident of Japan, except pursuant examption from the registrati
requirements of, and otherwise in compliance witile, Financial Instruments and Exchange Law andagimgr applicable laws, regulations .
ministerial guidelines of Japan.
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Notice to Prospective Investors in Switzerland

The shares may not be publicly offered in Switzetland will not be listed on the SIX Swiss Exchafi§eX) or on any other sto
exchange or regulated trading facility in SwitzedaThis document has been prepared without re@atide disclosure standards for issui
prospectuses under art. 652a or art. 1156 of thiesS@ode of Obligations or the disclosure standédBsting prospectuses under art. 27 fi
the SIX Listing Rules or the listing rules of anpher stock exchange or regulated trading facilitysivitzerland. Neither this document nor
other offering or marketing material relating tee tbhares or the offering may be publicly distrildute otherwise made publicly available
Switzerland.

Neither this document nor any other offering or keting material relating to the offering, the Comypaor the shares have been or
be filed with or approved by any Swiss regulatangharity. In particular, this document will not Eiked with, and the offer of shares will not
supervised by, the Swiss Financial Market Superyigauthority FINMA (FINMA), and the offer of shareBas not been and will not
authorized under the Swiss Federal Act on Collectiwestment Schemes (CISA). The investor protadiifforded to acquirers of interest:
collective investment schemes under the CISA doégxtend to acquirers of the shares.

Notice to Prospective Investors in the Dubai Intational Financial Centre

This prospectus relates to an Exempt Offer in atamoce with the Offered Securities Rules of the Dd@ancial Services Authori
(DFSA). This prospectus is intended for distribotmmly to persons of a type specified in the OffeBecurities Rules of the DFSA. It must
be delivered to, or relied on by, any other perddre DFSA has no responsibility for reviewing orifsgng any documents in connection w
Exempt Offers. The DFSA has not approved this o nor taken steps to verify the informationfegth herein and has no responsib
for the prospectus. The shares to which this prdsgerelates may be illiquid and/or subject to riebns on their resale. Prospec
purchasers of the shares offered should conductdate due diligence on the shares. If you do nadarstand the contents of this prospe
you should consult an authorized financial advi
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LEGAL MATTERS

The validity of the shares of Class A common stoffkred hereby will be passed upon for us by FekwidVest LLP, Mountain View
California. Simpson Thacher & Bartlett LLP, Pala@lCalifornia is acting as counsel to the undeersi.

EXPERTS

Ernst & Young LLP, independent registered publicamting firm, has audited our consolidated finahstatements at December
2010 and 2011, and for each of the three yearfenperiod ended December 31, 2011, as set forthein report. We have included ¢
financial statements in the prospectus and elsewimethe registration statement in reliance on &&n¥oung LLP’s report, given on the
authority as experts in accounting and auditing.

WHERE YOU CAN FIND ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

We have filed with the SEC a registration statententorm St under the Securities Act with respect to the ehaf Class A comm
stock offered hereby. This prospectus, which ctutsts a part of the registration statement, do¢<oatain all of the information set forth
the registration statement or the exhibits filedrédwith. For further information about us and tleenmon stock offered hereby, referenc
made to the registration statement and the exHilets therewith. Statements contained in this pexsus regarding the contents of any con
or any other document that is filed as an exhibithie registration statement are not necessarityptete, and in each instance we refer yc
the copy of such contract or other document filedua exhibit to the registration statement. Weenity do not file periodic reports with t
SEC. Upon closing of our initial public offering,evwill be required to file periodic reports, progtatements and other information with
SEC pursuant to the Exchange Act. A copy of théstesgion statement and the exhibits filed therbwiitay be inspected without charge a
public reference room maintained by the SEC, latate 100 F Street, NE, Washington, DC 20549, angiesoof all or any part of tl
registration statement may be obtained from théitef Please call the SEC at 1-800-S&830 for further information about the pul
reference room. The SEC also maintains a webséte dbntains reports, proxy and information statesemd other information regard
registrants that file electronically with the SERhe address of the website is www.sec.gov.
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Report of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent RegisteredPublic Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Facebook, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of Facebook, Inc. as of December 31, 28802011, and the rela
consolidated statements of income, stockholdeggiity, and cash flows for each of the three yé&arhe period ended December 31, 2
These financial statements are the responsibifith® Companys management. Our responsibility is to expresspanian on these financi
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversightauBlo(United States). Thc
standards require that we plan and perform thet anidibtain reasonable assurance about whethemtisolidated financial statements are
of material misstatement. We were not engaged ttoe an audit of the Compars/internal control over financial reporting. Ourdée
included consideration of internal control overaficial reporting as a basis for designing auditcpdares that are appropriate in
circumstances, but not for the purpose of exprgsaimopinion on the effectiveness of the Compaimyternal control over financial reporti
Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An autiibancludes examining on a test basis, evidenppating the amounts and disclosure
the financial statements, assessing the accouptingiples used and significant estimates made bypagement, and evaluating the ow
financial statement presentation. We believe thatoidits provide a reasonable basis for our opinio

In our opinion, the financial statements referredabove present fairly, in all material respedi® tonsolidated financial position
Facebook, Inc. at December 31, 2010 and 2011,lenddnsolidated results of its operations andashdlows for each of the three years ir
period ended December 31, 2011, in conformity Wit8. generally accepted accounting principles.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

San Francisco, California
February 1, 2012
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Assets

Current assett
Cash and cash equivalel
Marketable securitie

FACEBOOK, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(In millions, except for number of shares and palue)

Accounts receivable, net of allowances for doukdftdounts of $11 and $17 as
December 31, 2010 and 2011, respecti'

Prepaid expenses and other current a:

Total current asse

Property and equipment, r

Goodwill and intangible assets, 1

Other asset
Total assets

Liabilities and stockholders’ equity

Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Platform partners payab

Accrued expenses and other current liabili

Deferred revenue and depos

Current portion of capital lease obligatic

Total current liabilities

Capital lease obligations, less current por

Long-term debt
Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingenci

Stockholder’ equity:

Convertible preferred stock, $0.000006 par valssyable in series: 569 million shares
authorized, 541 million and 543 million shares eand outstanding at December 31,
2010 and 2011, respectively (aggregate liquidgti@ierence of $615 million as of
December 31, 2011); no shares authorized, issudd@standing, pro form

Common stock, $0.000006 par value: 4,141 millioasSIA shares authorized, 60 milli
shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 286dd,17 million shares issued anc
outstanding, including 1 million outstanding shasebject to repurchase at December
2011 and pro forma; 4,141 million Class B shargbaized, 1,112 million, 1,213 millio
and 1,759 million shares issued and outstandimfyjding 5 million, 2 million and
2 million outstanding shares subject to repurchasBecember 31, 2010, 2011 and pr

forma, respectivel
Additional paic-in capital

Accumulated other comprehensive i

Retained earning

Total stockholderl equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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December 31

Pro Forma
December 31

2010 2011 2011
(unaudited)
$1,78¢ $1,512 $ 1,51
— 2,39¢ 2,39¢
37: 547 547
88 14¢ 47¢
2,24¢ 4,60 4,93:
574 1,47¢ 1,47¢
96 162 162
74 90 9C
$2,99( $6,331 $ 6,66(
$ 29 $ 63 $ 63
75 171 171
137 29¢€ 29¢€
42 90 aC
10€ 27¢ 27¢
38¢ 89¢ 89¢
117 39¢ 39¢
25C — —
72 13E 13E
82¢ 1,432 1,43
61t 61t —
947 2,68¢ 4,267
(6) (6) (6)

60€ 1,60¢ 967
2,162 4,89¢ 5,22¢
$2,99( $6,331 $ 6,66(
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FACEBOOK, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(In millions, except per share amounts)

Year Ended December 31,

2009 2010 2011
Revenue $ 771 $1,97¢ $3,711
Costs and expenses

Cost of revenu 223 49¢ 86C

Marketing and sale 11¢& 184 427

Research and developmt 87 144 38¢

General and administrati\ 90 121 28C

Total costs and expens 51E 94z 1,95¢

Income from operations 262 1,03z 1,75¢
Other expense, ne

Interest expens (10 (22 (42

Other income (expense), r 2 (2) (19)
Income before provision for income tay 254 1,00¢ 1,69
Provision for income taxe 25 402 69t
Net income $ 22¢ $ 60€ $1,00(
Net income attributable to participating securi 107 234 332
Net income attributable to Class A and Class B coman stockholders $ 122 $ 372 $ 66¢
Earnings per share attributable to Class A and Clas B common stockholders

Basic $ 0.12 $ 0.34 $ 0.52

Diluted $ 0.1C $ 0.2¢ $ 0.4¢
Pro forma earnings per share attributable to Clas®A and Class B common stockholders (unaudited

Basic $ 0.4¢

Diluted $ 0.42
Share-based compensation expense included in costs anghemses:

Cost of revenur $ — $ — $ 9

Marketing and sale 2 2 43

Research and developmt 6 9 114

General and administrati\ 19 9 51

Total shar-based compensation expel $ 27 $ 20 $ 217

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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FACEBOOK, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(In millions)
Class A and Accumulated Retained Total
Convertible Class B Additional Other Earnings Stockholders’
Preferred Stock Common Stock Comprehensive  (Accumulated
Paid-In
Shares  Amount Shares Par Value Capital Loss Deficit) Equity
Balances at December 31, 2008 49¢  $ 41t 1,000 $ — % 147  $ — % (229) $ 33:
Issuance of Series E convertible preferred stoekph
issuance cos! 44 20C — — — — — 20C
Issuance of common stock for cash upon exerciséook
options — — 57 — 9 — — 9
Issuance of common stock to nonemployees for past
services — — 2 — 9 — — 9
Issuance of common stock related to acquisi — — 4 — 20 — — 2C
Share-based compensation, related to employee-share
based award — — — — 16 — — 16
Share-based compensation, related to nonemploygee-s
based award — — — — 2 — — 2
Excess tax benefit from shi-based award activit — — — — 50 — — 5C
Net income and comprehensive inca — — — — — — 22¢ 22¢
Balances at December 31, 2( 54z $ 61F 1,07C $ — 3 252 $ — % — % 86¢
Issuance of common stock, net of issuance « — — 24 — 50C — — 50C
Issuance of common stock for cash upon exerciséook
options — — 70 — 6 — — 6
Issuance of common stock related to acquisit — — 6 — 60 — — 6C
Conversion of Series A preferred stock to commonks 2) — 2 — — — — —
Reclassification of option liability to additionphid-in
capital — — — — 3 — — 3
Share-based compensation, related to employee-share
based award — — — — 17 — — 17
Share-based compensation, related to nonemploygee-s
based award — — — — 1 — — 1
Excess tax benefit from share-based award activét/ pf
deferred tax impac — — — — 107 — — 107
Comprehensive income, net of ti
Foreign currency translation adjustme — — — — — (6) — (6)
Net income — — — — — — 60€ 60€
Total comprehensive income, net of 60C
Balances at December 31, 2( 541 $ 61E 1,172 $ — % 947 $ ®6) $ 606 $ 2,16:
Issuance of common stock, net of issuance « — — 48 — 99¢ — — 99¢
Issuance of common stock for cash upon exerciséook
options — — 102 — 28 — — 28
Issuance of common stock to nonemployees for past
services — — — — 3 — — 3
Issuance of common stock related to acquisit — — 2 — 58 — — 58
Exercise of preferred stock warra 8 — — — — — — —
Conversion of Series B preferred stock to commonke ) — 2 — — — — —
Conversion of Series C preferred stock to commooks (4) — 4 — — — — —
Share-based compensation, related to employee-share
based award — — — — 217 — — 217
Excess tax benefit from shi-based award activit — — — — 432 — — 43t
Net income and comprehensive inco — — — — — — 1,00( 1,00(
Balances at December 31, 2( 54z $ 61F 133 $ — 3 2,68 $ 6) $ 1,606 $ 4,89¢

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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FACEBOOK, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In millions)

Cash flows from operating activities
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cashigeal by operating activitie:
Depreciation and amortizatic
Loss on writ-off of equipmen
Shar-based compensatic
Tax benefit from sha-based award activit
Excess tax benefit from sh-based award activit
Changes in assets and liabiliti
Accounts receivabl
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Other asset
Accounts payabl
Platform partners payab
Accrued expenses and other current liabili
Deferred revenue and depos
Other liabilities

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchases of property and equipm
Purchases of marketable securi
Maturities of marketable securiti
Sales of marketable securiti
Investments in nc-marketable equity securiti
Acquisitions of business, net of cash acquired,@mrdhases of intangible and other as
Change in restricted cash and depc

Net cash used in investing activitie
Cash flows from financing activities
Net proceeds from issuance of convertible prefestedk
Net proceeds from issuance of common s
Proceeds from exercise of stock optis
Proceeds from (repayments of) l-term deb!
Proceeds from sale and le-back transaction
Principal payments on capital lease obligati
Excess tax benefit from sh-based award activit
Net cash provided by financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and casyaénts
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of p¢
Cash and cash equivalents at end of peric
Supplemental cash flow date
Cash paid during the period fc
Interest

Income taxe:

Non-cash investing and financing activitit
Property and equipment additions included in actopayable and accrued expenses and
other liabilities

Property and equipment acquired under capital &
Fair value of shares issued related to acquisitidrimisiness and other ass

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemq
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Year Ended December 31,

2009 2010 2011
$ 22¢ $ 606  $1,00(
78 13¢ 32:

1 3 4

27 2C 217
50 11E 43¢
(51) (115) (437)
(112) (20€) (174)
(30) (38) (31)
(59) 17 (32)
@) 12 6
— 75 96
27 2C 38

1 37 48

1 16 53
15E 69¢ 1,54¢
(33) (297) (60€)
— — (3,025)
— — 51¢€
— — 112
— — 3

3 (22) (24)
(32 9 6
(62) (324) (3,029
20C — —
— 50C 99¢

9 6 28

— 25C (250)
31 — 17¢
(48) (90) (181)
51 11F 437
242 781 1,19¢
— (3) 3
33€ 1,152 (279)
297 632 1,78¢
$ 632  $1,78:  $1,51c
$ 9 $ 23 $ 28
$ 42 $ 261 $ 197
$ 5 $ 47 $ 13¢
$ 56 $ 217 $ 47°
$ 20 $ 6C $ 58
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Poligs

Organization and Description of Business

Facebook was incorporated in Delaware in July 2@4. mission is to make the world more open ancheoted. We build products tl
support our mission by providing utility to Facekaasers, Platform developers, and advertisers. @emte substantially all of our reve
from advertising and from fees associated with Bayments infrastructure that enables users to paechirtual and digital goods from
Platform developers.

Basis of Presentation

We prepared the consolidated financial statememtacicordance with U.S. generally accepted accaginpiinciples (GAAP). Th
consolidated financial statements include the agtoof Facebook, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidf& All intercompany balances ¢
transactions have been eliminated.

Use of Estimates

Conformity with GAAP requires the use of estimatesd judgments that affect the reported amountshé donsolidated financ
statements and accompanying notes. These estifftatasthe basis for judgments we make about theyrayrvalues of our assets ¢
liabilities, which are not readily apparent fromhet sources. We base our estimates and judgmerttsstamical information and on varic
other assumptions that we believe are reasonabler dhe circumstances. GAAP requires us to makmats and judgments in several ar
including, but not limited to, those related toeaue recognition, collectability of accounts reedie, contingent liabilities, fair value of share-
based awards, fair value of financial instrumefds, value of acquired intangible assets and gotdwseful lives of intangible assets
property and equipment, and income taxes. Thegaast are based on managenshtiowledge about current events and expectatioos
actions we may undertake in the future. Actual ltsstould differ materially from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents, and Marketable Secustie

We hold investments in short-term and Idegn marketable securities, consisting of U.S. gowent and government agency secur
We classify our marketable securities as availétresale investments in our current assets becausedpeysent investments of cash avail
for current operations. Our available-fmle investments are carried at estimated fairevalith any unrealized gains and losses, net ofst
included in accumulated other comprehensive incfioss) in stockholdersequity. Unrealized losses are charged against dtieeme
(expense), net when a decline in fair value isrdéteed to be other-that@mporary. We have not recorded any such impairmcleaitge in an
period presented. We determine realized gains sselo on sale of marketable securities on a spedéittification method, and record s!
gains or losses as a component of other incomes(esq), net.

We classify certain restricted cash balances withiepaid expenses and other current assets and adbets on the accompany
consolidated balance sheets based upon the tettme oémaining restrictions.
Non-Marketable Securities

We invest in certain investment funds that aremudilicly traded. We carry these investments at bestuse we do not have signific
influence over the underlying investee. We assessriy other-thatemporary impairment at least on an annual basisinhbairment charg
has been recorded to-date on our non-marketablgites.
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FACEBOOK, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

We apply fair value accounting for all financiabats and liabilities and n-financial assets and liabilities that are recogmiaedisclose
at fair value in the financial statements on a néeg basis. We define fair value as the price thatild be received from selling an asset or
to transfer a liability in an orderly transactioetiveen market participants at the measurement ddten determining the fair val
measurements for assets and liabilities, whictregaired to be recorded at fair value, we condideprincipal or most advantageous mark
which we would transact and the markatsed risk measurements or assumptions that mpaketipants would use in pricing the asse
liability, such as risks inherent in valuation teifues, transfer restrictions and credit risk. Railue is estimated by applying the follow
hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used to sura fair value into three levels and bases thegoaization within the hierarchy upon
lowest level of input that is available and sigrafit to the fair value measurement:

Level 1—Quoted prices in active markets for identical &see liabilities.

Level 2—Observable inputs other than quoted prices in aatmarkets for identical assets and liabilities, tgdaorices for identical
similar assets or liabilities in inactive markets, other inputs that are observable or can be boraied by observable market data
substantially the full term of the assets or liiiei.

Level 3—Inputs that are generally unobservable and tylyic&flect managemers’ estimate of assumptions that market partici|
would use in pricing the asset or liability.

Our valuation techniques used to measure the &irevof money market funds and marketable debtrgiesuwere derived from quot
prices in active markets for identical assetsatilities.

Foreign Currency

Generally the functional currency of our internatib subsidiaries is the local currency. We traestae financial statements of th
subsidiaries to U.S. dollars using momihd rates of exchange for assets and liabilitied, average rates of exchange for revenue, cost
expenses. Translation gains and losses are recordetumulated other comprehensive income (loss) @@mponent of stockholdeexjuity
Net losses resulting from foreign exchange transastwere insignificant for the year ended Decen®igr2009, and were $1 million and ¢
million, respectively, for the years ended Decen8fer2010 and 2011. These losses were recorded¢@mponent of other income (expen
net.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment, which includes amountsrdszb under capital leases, are stated at cost.eDiggion is computed using |
straight-line method over the estimated usefulslioéthe assets or the remaining lease term, iodke of a capital lease, whichever is shorter.

The estimated useful lives of property and equipnaes described below:

Property and Equipment Useful Life

Network equipmen Three to four year

Computer software, office equipment and of Two to five years

Buildings 15 to 20 year

Leased equipment and leasehold improverr Lesser of estimated useful life or remaining le@sm

F-8



Table of Contents

FACEBOOK, INC.
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Land and assets held within construction in prograse not depreciated. Construction in progreselested to the construction
development of property and equipment that haveyabbeen placed in service for their intended use.

The cost of maintenance and repairs is expensddcasred. When assets are retired or otherwiseodisp of, the cost and rela
accumulated depreciation and amortization are rexhdrom their respective accounts, and any gaioss on such sale or disposal is refle
in income from operations.

Long-Lived Assets, Including Goodwill and Other Agiged Intangible Assets

We evaluate the recoverability of property and pmént and amortizable intangible assets for passibpairment whenever events
circumstances indicate that the carrying amounswfh assets may not be recoverable. Recoverabilithhese assets is measured |
comparison of the carrying amounts to the futurdisoounted cash flows the assets are expectednerage. If such review indicates that
carrying amount of property and equipment and igitzle assets is not recoverable, the carrying amofisuch assets is reduced to fair ve
In addition, we test goodwill for impairment at $#¢annually or more frequently if events or chanigesircumstances indicate that this a
may be impaired. These tests are based on ouesipgrating segment and reporting unit structueindications of impairment of goodw
were noted during the years presented.

Acquired amortizable intangible assets, which acuided in goodwill and intangible assets, net, @arertized on a straighite basi
over the estimated useful lives of the assets.eBtienated remaining useful lives for intangibleedssange from less than one year to 16 years.

In addition to the recoverability assessment, watinely review the remaining estimated useful liafsproperty and equipment &
amortizable intangible assets. If we reduce themeséd useful life assumption for any asset, thmaiaing unamortized balance would
amortized or depreciated over the revised estimasetll life.

Lease Obligations

We lease office space, data centers, and equipumeler noneancelable capital and operating leases with varéiration dates throu
2027. Certain of the operating lease agreementgicorent holidays, rent escalation provisions, pacthase options. Rent holidays and
escalation provisions are considered in determittiegstraightine rent expense to be recorded over the lease fHne lease term begins on
date of initial possession of the leased propeartyplirposes of recognizing lease expense on @kstdaie basis over the term of the lease.
do not assume renewals in our determination ofghge term unless the renewals are deemed to $enedaly assured at lease inception.

Unaudited Pro Forma Balance Sheet Information

Upon the completion of our initial public offeringll outstanding convertible preferred stock wilt@matically convert into shares of
Class B common stock. The unaudited pro forma loalaheet information gives effect to the conversibthe convertible preferred stock a:
December 31, 2011. Additionally, as described itaitién “—Share-based Compensatiopélow, we grant restricted stock units (RSUSs)
generally vest upon the satisfaction of a servimeddion, and with respect to RSUs granted priodaouary 1, 2011 (P2011 RSUs), tt
occurrence of a qualifying liquidity event. As aué, the unaudited pro forma balance sheet infGonat December 31, 2011, gives effec
share-based compensation expense of approximé@é i&illion associated with P2011 RSUs, for which the service condition wass§at
as of December 31, 2011, which we expect to reapmh the completion of our initial public offering.
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This pro forma adjustment related to shhesed compensation expense of approximately $98®mhas been reflected as an increas
additional paidin capital and the associated tax effect of $328ianihas been netted against this charge, reguitira net reduction of $6
million to retained earnings. The income tax efdeave been reflected as an increase to deferxesssets included in prepaid expenses
other current assets, to reflect the anticipatédréutax benefits upon settlement of the RSUs dassted for any RSUs that will not result i
tax benefit because they are related to foreignl@yaps or foreign operations. Payroll tax experssesother withholding obligations have
been included in the pro forma adjustment.

Share-based Compensation

We account for sha-based employee compensation plans under the flaie vacognition and measurement provisions of GARROSt
provisions require all share-based payments to @mepk, including grants of stock options and RSt&e measured based on the gidatt-
fair value of the awards, with the resulting expgegenerally recognized in our consolidated statésneinincome over the period during wk
the employee is required to perform service in arge for the award.

We estimate the fair value of stock options granteitig the Black-Scholedglerton single option valuation model, which regsifeput:
such as expected term, expected volatility andfris& interest rate. Further, the estimated forfeitate of awards also affects the amou
aggregate compensation. These inputs are subjectivgenerally require significant analysis andjjudnt to develop.

We estimate the expected term based upon the ibatehavior of our employees for employee gravite. estimate expected volatil
based on a study of publicly traded industry peenganies. The forfeiture rate is derived primafitym our historical data, and the rifilee
interest rate is based on the yield available d®. Ureasury zergoupon issues. Our dividend yield is 0%, since weehnot paid, and do r
expect to pay, dividends.

The fair values of employee options granted du2099 and 2010 have been estimated as of the dageanf using the followir
weighted-average assumptions.

Year Ended December 31

2009 2010
Expected term from grant date (in years) 5.04 7.1t
Risk-free interest rat 2.01% 1.6%%
Expected volatility 0.57 0.4€

Dividend yield — —

The weightedaverage fair value of employee options grantedndu#i009 and 2010 was $1.12 and $5.26 per shapmeatdgely. Ther
were no option grants in 2011.

We have granted RSUs to our employees and members doard of directors. Pr&311 RSUs granted under our 2005 Stock Plar
upon the satisfaction of both a service conditind a liquidity condition. The service condition titie majority of these awards is satisfied
four years. The liquidity condition is satisfiedampthe occurrence of a qualifying event, defined abange of control transaction or six mo
following the completion of our initial public offing. As of December 31, 2011, no shaesed compensation expense had been recogni:
Pre2011 RSUs, because the qualifying events (desciabede) had not occurred. In the quarter in which affering is completed, we w
begin recording share-based compensation expeirggthe
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accelerated attribution method, net of forfeitutemsed on the grant date fair value of the Pre-ZR3Ws. For the Pr2o11 RSUs, if the initii
public offering had occurred on December 31, 20l would have recognized $968 million of shhesed compensation expense on that
and would have approximately $239 million of adufitil future period expense to be recognized oveveghtedaverage period
approximately two years.

RSUs granted on or after January 1, 2011 (R0%tt RSUs) are not subject to a liquidity conditinrorder to vest, and compensa
expense related to these grants is based on the date fair value of the RSUs and is recognized @traightine basis over the applical
service period. The majority of PoBd11 RSUs are earned over a service period ofttofive years. In 2011, we recognized $189 millaf
share-based compensation expense related to the®ds RSUs, and we anticipate $1,189 million of fatperiod expense related to s
RSUs to be recognized over a weighted-averagegefiapproximately three years.

There was no capitalized shdrased employee compensation expense as of Dec8mki2010 and December 31, 2011. During the
ended December 31, 2009, 2010 and 2011, we reazebss tax benefits of $51 million, $115 milliamde$433 million, respectively, relatec
tax deductions from share-based award activity eBxdax benefits were recorded as an adjustmesto¢gholdersequity in each period a
were not recognized in our consolidated statemafritscome.

As of December 31, 2011, there was $2,463 millibnrwecognized shareased compensation expense, of which $2,396 milioelate
to RSUs, and $67 million is related to restricthdres and stock options. This unrecognized compiensexpense is expected to be recogr
over a weighted-average period of approximately years.

Income Taxes

We recognize income taxes under the asset anditijaliethod. We recognize deferred income tax asaatl liabilities for the expect
future consequences of temporary differences betwie financial reporting and tax bases of assets labilities. These differences .
measured using the enacted statutory tax ratesatbagxpected to apply to taxable income for thers/én which differences are expecte
reverse. We recognize the effect on deferred inc@xes of a change in tax rates in income in thimgehat includes the enactment date.

We record a valuation allowance to reduce our defetax assets to the net amount that we beliem®ig likely than not to be realiz
We consider all available evidence, both positind aegative, including historical levels of inconexpectations and risks associated
estimates of future taxable income and ongoingtarning strategies in assessing the need forumtiah allowance.

We recognize tax benefits from uncertain tax posgionly if we believe that it is more likely thaot that the tax position will |
sustained on examination by the taxing authorbti@sed on the technical merits of the position. Wkemadjustments to these reserves \
facts and circumstances change, such as the cloiagax audit or the refinement of an estimatee Pprovision for income taxes includes
effects of any reserves that are considered apptepas well as the related net interest and fesal
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Revenue Recognition

We generate substantially all of our revenue fraivestising and payment processing fees. We recegeizenue once all of the followi
criteria have been met:

. persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists;
. delivery of Faceboc's obligations to our customer has occur
. the price is fixed or determinable; and

. collectability of the related receivable is readupassured

Revenue for the years ended December 31, 2009, 268(®011 consists of the following (in millions):

Year Ended December 31,

2009 2010 2011
Revenue
Advertising $ 764 $1,86¢ $3,15¢
Payments and other fe 13 10€ 557
Total revenu $ 771 $1,97¢ $3,711
Advertising

Advertising revenue is generated from the displaydvertisements on our website. The arrangemaeteddenced by either onli
acceptance of terms and conditions or contractsstipulate the types of advertising to be delidetée timing and the pricing.

We recognize revenue from the display of impressiased advertisements on our website in the corttgmriod when the impressit
are delivered. Impressions are considered deliwstezh an advertisement appears in pages delivereskets.

We also recognize revenue from the delivery ofkebased advertisements on our website. Revenue assibevith these advertiseme
is recognized in the period that a user clicks m@advertisement.

Payments and Other Fees

We enable Payments between our users and developéhe Facebook Platform. Our users can purchiagebor digital goods on ti
Facebook Platform by using credit cards or othgnpnt methods available on our website. The prinmageyhod for users to transact with
developers on the Facebook Platform is via thelmsge of our virtual currency, which enables oursise purchase virtual and digital good
games and apps. Upon the initial sale of our Vituarency, we record the value purchased by aaséeferred revenue and deposits.

When a user engages in a payment transactioningilzur virtual currency for the purchase of auailtor digital good from a Platfol
developer, we reduce the usevirtual currency balance by the price of the pase, which is a price that is solely determinedheyPlatforr
developer. We remit to the Platform developer anam that is based on the total amount of virtuatency redeemed less the processin
that we charge the Platform developer for the &atisn. Our revenue is the net amount of the tretitga representing our processing fee
the transaction. We record revenue on a net basigeado not consider ourselves to be the prindip#ie sale of the virtual or digital gooc
the user.
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Other fees have not been material in all periodsgmted in our financial statements.
All revenue is recognized net of applicable sales$ @ther taxes, where appropriate.

Cost of Revenue

Our cost of revenue consists primarily of experassociated with the delivery and distribution of ptoducts. These include exper
related to the operation of our data centers sadhdllity and server equipment depreciation, fgcdnd server equipment rent expense, er
and bandwidth costs, support and maintenance @sissalaries, benefits and shbesed compensation for certain personnel on ouatpes
teams. Cost of revenue also includes credit caddottmer transaction fees related to processing st transactions.

Deferred Revenue and Deposits

Deferred revenue and deposits comprise primarilgilbhgs in advance of revenue recognition fronr sarvices described above and
recognized as revenue when revenue recognitiogrieriare met.

Credit Risk and Concentration

Financial instruments owned by the company thatpatentially subject to concentrations of credskrtonsist primarily of cash, ce
equivalents, restricted cash, marketable secur#ies accounts receivable. Cash equivalents caofssttortterm money market funds and L
government and agency securities, which are deggbsiith reputable financial institutions. Marke®lslecurities consist of investments in |
government and government agency securities. Qalr g@nagement and investment policy limits investnmestruments to investmegtade
securities with the objective to preserve capitel 0 maintain liquidity until the funds can be dse business operations. Bank accounts i
United States are insured by the Federal Depasitrémce Corporation (FDIC) up to $250,000. Our atieg accounts significantly exceed
FDIC limits.

Accounts receivable are typically unsecured andlari&ved from revenue earned from customers adliffesent industries and countri
We generated 67%, 62%, and 56% of our revenuehtoyears ended December 31, 2009, 2010, and 2€ddeatively, from advertisers ¢
Platform developers based in the United Stated) thié majority of revenue outside of the Unitedt@&acoming from customers locate«
western Europe, Canada, and Australia.

We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our custsnand generally do not require collateral. Aovednce for doubtful accounts
determined using the specifidentification method for doubtful accounts and aging of receivables analysis based on invoice dates
Uncollectible receivables are written off agairst tllowance for doubtful accounts when all efféotcollect them have been exhausted,
recoveries are recognized as an increase to thwalce when they are received. During the yearsegeiscember 31, 2009, 2010, and 2
our bad debt expenses were $1 million, $9 milliand $8 million respectively. In the event that acus receivable collection cyc
deteriorate, our operating results and financiaitpm could be adversely affected.

Revenue from one customer, Zynga, represented ¥2#tad revenue for the year ended December 31128b customer represen
10% or more of total revenue during the years eri@tember 31, 2009 or 2010.
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Advertising Expense

We expense our costs of advertising in the penodlhich they are incurred. Advertising expense,chhs included in marketing a
sales expenses, totaled $5 million, $8 million, &88 million for the years ended December 31, 2@090, and 2011, respectively.

Segments

Our chief operating decisi-maker is our Chief Executive Officer who reviewsdincial information presented on a consolidatedst
There are no segment managers who are held acbteifta the chief operating decisiomaker, or anyone else, for operations, oper
results, and planning for levels or components welloe consolidated unit level. Accordingly, we hadetermined that we have a sir
reporting segment and operating unit structure.

Note 2. Earnings per Share

We compute earnings per share (EPS) of Class AGlagds B common stock using the telass method required for participat
securities. Our participating securities includesakies of our convertible preferred stock andriged stock awards. Undistributed earn|
allocated to these participating securities araragted from net income in determining net incortigbatable to common stockholders. B:
EPS is computed by dividing net income attributableommon stockholders by the weightaderage number of shares of our Class A
Class B common stock outstanding, adjusted fortanténg shares that are subject to repurchase.

For the calculation of diluted EPS, net incomeilattable to common stockholders for basic EPS jasdeld by the effect of dilutiy
securities, including awards under our equity conspéion plans. In addition, the computation of dilated EPS of Class A common st
assumes the conversion from Class B common stdaie the diluted EPS of Class B common stock dagsaasume the conversion of th
shares. Diluted EPS attributable to common stodérslis computed by dividing the resulting net meoattributable to common stockholc
by the weighted-average number of fully diluted coom shares outstanding.

Dilutive securities in our diluted EPS calculatido not include Pr&011 RSUs. Vesting of these RSUs is dependent tipgeatisfactic
of both a service condition and a liquidity conafiti The liquidity condition is satisfied upon thecarrence of a qualifying event, defined |
change of control transaction or six months follegvthe completion of our initial public offering.sfof December 31, 2011, such a qualif
event had not occurred and until it occurs, theléid of these RSUs have no rights in our undigidbearnings. Therefore, they are exclt
from the effect of dilutive securities. P@&#11 RSUs are not subject to a liquidity conditionorder to vest, and are thus included in
calculation of diluted EPS. We excluded 4 milliomda2 million shares issuable upon exercise of eygaostock options for the years en
December 31, 2009 and 2010, respectively, and IBmiPost2011 RSUs for the year ended December 31, 201lubedhe impact would
antidilutive.

Basic and diluted EPS are the same for each cfagmumon stock because they are entitled to theedmmidation and dividend rights.
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The numerators and denominators of the basic dattdiEPS computations for our common stock areutatied as follows (in millions,
except per share amounts):

Year Ended December 31,
2009 2010 2011
Class A Class B Class A Class B Class A Class B

Basic EPS
Numerator:
Net income $ — $22¢ $ 18 $ 58 $ 8 $ 91t
Less: Net income attributable to participating s&i@s — 107 7 227 28 304
Net income attributable to common stockholc $ — $122 $ 11 $ 361 $ 57 $ 611
Denominator
Weighted average shares outstanc — 1,02¢ 32 1,081 11C 1,18¢
Less: Shares subject to repurch — 6 — 6 — 5
Number of shares used for basic EPS comput: — 1,02( 32 1,07t 11C 1,18/
Basic EPS $ — $012 $034 $034 $05z $ 0.52
Diluted EPS
Numerator:
Net income attributable to common stockholc $ — $122 $ 11 $ 361 $ 57 $ 611
Reallocation of net income attributable to parttipg securitie: 12 — 30 — 31 —
Reallocation of net income as a result of conversioClass B to
Class A common stoc 122 — 361 — 611 —
Reallocation of net income to Class B common s — 12 — 32 — 37
Net income attributable to common stockholderdfurted
EPS $ 134 $ 134 $ 402 $ 39 $ 69 $ 64¢€
Denominator
Number of shares used for basic EPS comput: — 1,02( 32 1,07t 11C 1,18¢
Conversion of Class B to Class A common st 1,02 — 1,07¢ — 1,18¢ —
Weighted average effect of dilutive securiti
Employee stock optior 334 334 29t 29t 204 204
RSUs — — — — 5 5
Shares subject to repurchz 5 5 4 4 3 3
Warrants 7 7 8 8 2 2
Number of shares used for diluted EPS comput: 1,36¢€ 1,36¢ 1,41¢ 1,382 1,50¢ 1,39¢
Diluted EPS $01C $01C $028 $028 $04€ $ 0.4¢
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Pro Forma EPS (unaudited)

The following unaudited calculation of the numeratand denominators of basic and diluted EPS giffest to the automatic convers
of all outstanding shares of our convertible prefdrstock (using the as ébnverted method) into Class B common stock asdghahe
conversion had occurred as of the beginning ofp#réod or the original date of issuance, if lataraddition, the pro forma share amounts
effect to Pre2011 RSUs that have satisfied the service cond@®oof December 31, 2011. These RSUs will vestsatite upon the satisfacti
of a qualifying event, as previously defined. SHaased compensation expense associated with the®9P1 RSUs is excluded from this
forma presentation. If the qualifying event had weed on December 31, 2011, we would have recofk#@B million of shardsase
compensation expense on that date related to B®bks, net of associated tax effect of $329 milli@sulting in a net reduction of $639 mill
to net income.

Year Ended December 31, 201

Class A Class B
Pro Forma Basic EP:
Numerator:
Net income as reporte $ 85 $ 91F
Reallocation of net income due to pro forma adjestts (32) 31
Net income attributable to participating securi — &)
Net income attributable to common stockholderspforforma basic EPS
computatior $ 54 $ 944
Denominator
Weighted average shares used for basic EPS corigm. 11C 1,18¢
Pro forma adjustment to reflect assumed conversigmeferred stock to Class
common stocl — 54¢
Pro forma adjustment to reflect assumed vestirgre-2011 RSU: — 18¢
Number of shares used for pro forma basic EPS ctatipn 11C 1,92(
Pro forma basic EP $  04¢ $ 0.4¢
Pro Forma Diluted EP:
Numerator:
Net income attributable to common stockholdergpforforma basic EPS computati $ 54 $ 944
Reallocation of net income attributable to parttipg securitie: 2 —
Reallocation of net income as a result of conversioClass B to Class A commi
stock 944 —
Reallocation of net income to Class B common s — 9
Net income attributable to common stockholderspforforma diluted EP:
computatior $ 1,00¢ $ 95:
Denominator
Number of shares used for pro forma basic EPS ctatipn 11C 1,92(
Conversion of Class B to Class A common st 1,92( —
Weighted average effect of dilutive securiti
Employee stock optior 204 204
RSUs 93 93
Shares subject to repurchz 3 3
Warrants 2 2
Number of shares used for pro forma diluted EPSprdation 2,33 2,22
Pro forma diluted EP $ 0.4: $ 0.4%
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Note 3. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consists of the followimgn{iillions):

December 31,

2010 2011
Network equipmen $ 47¢ $1,01¢
Land 29 34
Buildings — 35E
Leasehold improvemen 58 12C
Computer software, office equipment and of 61 73
Construction in progres 194 327
Total 82C 1,92¢
Less accumulated depreciation and amortize (24€) (450
Property and equipment, r $ 574 $1,47¢

Property and equipment at December 31, 2010 andl @@ludes $298 million and $881 million, respeetiy acquired under capital lei
agreements. Accumulated amortization under calgitedes totaled $85 million and $210 million at Daber 31, 2010 and 2011, respectiv
Amortization of assets under capital leases isuntetl in depreciation and amortization expense.

Construction in progress includes costs primaelhated to the construction and network equipmerdat& centers in Oregon and N
Carolina in the United States and in Sweden, amchew corporate headquarters in Menlo Park, Califorinterest capitalized during the ye
presented was not material.

Note 4. Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Goodwill and intangible assets consist of the fwilgg (in millions):

December 31,

2010 2011
Acquired patents $ 3 $ 51
Acquired no-compete agreemer 11 18
Acquired technology and oth 27 43
Accumulated amortizatio (12 (32
Net acquired intangible asst 59 80
Goodwill 37 82
Goodwill and intangible asse $ 96 $ 162

Acquired patents have estimated useful lives rapgiom four to 18 years at acquisition. The aversayen of acquired nonempet
agreements is generally two years. Acquired tedgyhblnd other have estimated useful lives of twaeto years. Amortization expense
intangible assets for the years ended Decembe&(8B, 2010, and 2011 was $2 million, $9 milliond &20 million, respectively.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, we costpletisiness acquisitions for total consideratio$&8 million. These acquisitio
were not material to our consolidated financiatesteents individually or in the aggregate. Our asifjoins prior to 2011 were also not mate
individually or in the aggregate.
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The following table presents the aggregated estithtir value of the assets acquired for all agtjoiss completed during the year en
December 31, 2011 (in millions):

Acquired technology and oth $16
Acquired no-compete agreemer 7
Net assets acquire 4
Deferred income tax liabilitie @)
Goodwill 48
Total $68

Pro forma results of operations related to our 28dduisitions have not been presented becauseatkayot material to our consolida
statements of income, either individually or in tiggregate. For all acquisitions completed durivgytear ended December 31, 2011, acq
technology and other had a weighted-average ubffuf three years and the term of the non-compgteements is generally two years.

The changes in carrying amount of goodwill for ylears ended December 31, 2010 and 2011 are aw$ofio millions):

Balance as of December 31, 2( $11
Goodwill acquirec _26
Balance as of December 31, 2( 37
Goodwill acquirec 48
Effect of currency translation adjustme E)
Balance as of December 31, 2( $82

Expected amortization expense for the unamortizaglieed intangible assets for the next five yeard thereafter is as follows
millions):

2012 $21
2013 11
2014 7
2015 7
2016 6
Thereaftel _28
Total $80

Note 5. Long-term Debt

In March 2010, we entered into a senior unsecwed toan facility with certain lenders. This fatilallowed for the drawdown of up
$250 million in unsecured senior loans with a matwf five years. In April 2010 we drew down thalfamount available under the facility
an interest rate of 4.5%, payable quarterly. Tlaa loould be repaid by us at any time without pgn&lebt issuance costs of approximatel:
million were recorded in other nanrrent assets and were being amortized to intengsense over the contractual term of the loar
March 2, 2011, we repaid in full the long-term dbhtance of $250 million, and expensed the remginimamortized debt issuance costs.
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In 2011, we entered into an agreement for an umeddiveyear revolving credit facility that allows us torbmv up to $2,500 millior
with interest payable on borrowed amounts setathiteemonth London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) plug%. No amounts were dra
down under this agreement as of December 31, 20&Ipaid origination fees at closing and these é&esamortized over the remaining terr
the credit facility. We also pay a commitment féeDdd 5% per annum on the daily undrawn balanceaddition, the credit facility contai
restrictions on our ability to pay dividends.

Note 6. Fair Value Measurements
Assets measured at fair value on a recurring laasisummarized below (in millions):

Fair Value Measurement at
Reporting Date Using

Quoted
Prices in
Active Significant
Markets for Other Significant
Observable Unobservable
December 31 Identical
Assets Inputs Inputs
Description 2011 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash equivalentt
Money market fund $ 892 $ 892 $ — $ —
U.S. government and agency securi 11C 11C — —
Total cash equivalen 1,00z 1,00z
Marketable securitie:
U.S. government and agency securi 2,39¢ 2,39¢ — —
Total cash equivalents and marketable secul $ 3,39 $ 3,39¢ $ — $ =
Fair Value Measurement at
Reporting Date Using
Quoted
Prices in
Active Significant
Markets for Other Significant
Observable Unobservable
December 31 Identical
Assets Inputs Inputs
Description 2010 _(Level1) _(Level2) _(Level3)
Cash equivalentt
Money market fund $ 145 $ 1,45 $ - $ -
Total cash equivalen $ 1,45C $ 1,45C $ — $ —

Gross unrealized gains or losses for cash equivalehmarketable securities as of December 31, 2682011 were not material.

The following table classifies our marketable sé®s by contractual maturities as of December2RIL1 (in millions):

December 31

2011

Due in one year $ 1,96¢
Due in one to five yeal 432
Total $ 2,39
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Note 7. Commitments and Contingencies

Leases

We entered into various capital lease arrangemerdbtain property and equipment for our operatidwitionally, on occasion we he
purchased property and equipment for which we hswesequently obtained capital financing under Esseback transactions. Th
agreements are typically for three years excepbdidding leases which are for 15 years, with ieg¢rates ranging from 2% to 13%. The le
are secured by the underlying leased buildingseleald improvements, and equipment. We have alsereghinto various nonancelabl
operating lease agreements for certain of our effiequipment, land and data centers with origesde periods expiring between 2012
2027. We are committed to pay a portion of theteelaactual operating expenses under certain obtlese agreements. Certain of tl
arrangements have free rent periods or escalaimgpayment provisions, and we recognize rent esgpender such arrangements on a straight
line basis.

The following is a schedule, by years, of the fatarinimum lease payments required under cexmeelable capital and operating least
of December 31, 2011 (in millions):

Capital Operating

Leases Leases

2012 $ 322 $ 18C

2013 22¢ 13C

2014 10¢ 113

2015 17 10z

2016 11 95

Thereaftel 13C 32t

Total minimum lease paymer 817 $ 94t
Less amount representing interest and ti (240
Less current portion of the present value of minimaase paymen (279
Capital lease obligations, net of current port $ 39¢

Operating lease expense totaled $69 million, $118om and $219 million for the years ended Decem®l, 2009, 2010, and 20
respectively.

We also have $500 million of narancelable contractual commitments as of DecembePB11, primarily related to equipment
supplies for our data center operations, and &sselr extent, construction of our data center.sfies majority of these commitments are dt
the next twelve months.

Contingencies

Legal Matters

We are party to various legal proceedings and dairhich arise in the ordinary course of businesghé opinion of management, a:
December 31, 2011, there was not at least a reblgopassibility that we had incurred a materiaklasr a material loss in excess of a reca
accrual, with respect to loss contingencies.
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Indemnifications

In the normal course of business, to facilitatendections of services and products, we have ageeéudemnify certain parties wi
respect to certain matters. We have agreed todestdin parties harmless against losses arising &dreach of representations or coven
or out of intellectual property infringement or etltlaims made by third parties. In addition, weéhalso agreed to indemnify certain inves
with respect to representations made by us in adimmewith the issuance and sale of preferred stdtlese agreements may limit the t
within which an indemnification claim can be madel ahe amount of the claim. In addition, we haveessd into indemnification agreeme
with our officers, directors, and certain employeexl our certificate of incorporation and bylawstin similar indemnification obligations.

It is not possible to determine the maximum potdraimount under these indemnification agreemengstduhe limited history of pri
indemnification claims and the unique facts andwinstances involved in each particular agreemeistokically, payments made by us ur
these agreements have not had a material impamtitoconsolidated financial position, results of @t@ns or cash flows. In our opinion, a:
December 31, 2011, there was not at least a rebkopassibility we had incurred a material losswispect to indemnification of such par
We have not recorded any liability for costs redaie indemnification through December 31, 2011.

Note 8. Stockholders’ Equity

Convertible Preferred Stock

Our certificate of incorporation, as amended amsthted, authorizes the issuance of 569,001,40@sl@$0.000006 par value convert
preferred stock. The following table summarizes toavertible preferred stock outstanding as of Drewer 31, 2011, and the rights
preferences of the respective series:

Shares Aggregate
Liquidation Dividend Conversion
Issued and Per Share Ratio
Authorized Outstanding Preference Per Annum Per Share
(in thousands (in thousands (in millions)
Series A 134,74° 133,05! $ 1 $0.0003687 1.00000t!
Series E 226,03. 224,27 13 0.0045¢ 1.004911
Series C 95,76¢ 91,41( 26 0.0229733 1.00490!
Series C 67,45¢ 50,59( 37t 0.59: 1.01256:
Series E 45,00( 44,03¢ 20C 0.363326. 1.00000t
Total 569,00 543,36¢ $ 61%

As of December 31, 2011, the rights, preferences paivileges of the preferred stockholders weréolsws:

Dividends

The holders of shares of Series A, Series B, S&ijeSeries D, and Series E convertible preferredksare entitled to receive r-
cumulative dividends, out of any assets legallyilabe for such purpose, prior and in preferencarty declaration or payment of any divid
on the Class A common stock or Class B common simyable quarterly when, as and if, declared byboard of directors. After payment
such dividend to the preferred stockholders, ontitey shares of preferred stock shall participaith whares of Class A common stock
Class B common stock on anesaverted to Class B common stock basis as to ddiienal dividends. As of December 31, 2011, wd ha
declared any dividends.
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Conversion

Each share of Series A, Series B, Series C, SBriesd Series E preferred stock is convertiblehatoption of the holder thereof, at
time after the date of issuance of such share sath number of fully paid and n@ssessable shares of Class B common stock asersnite
by dividing the applicable original issue pricethg conversion price applicable to such sharefegcebn the date of conversion.

The conversion price of each series of preferredksimay be subject to adjustment from time to tumeer certain circumstances. -
convertible preferred stock issued to date was ablarices ranging from $0.004605 to $7.412454gbare, which, in all cases, exceedec
then most recent reassessed fair value of our ®lagsmmon stock. Accordingly, there was no intingalue associated with the issuanc
the convertible preferred stock through December2B11, and there were no other separate instranssuied with the convertible prefer
stock, such as warrants. Therefore, we have coedltigat there was no beneficial conversion optssoeiated with the convertible prefer
stock issuances.

Each share of Series A, Series B, Series C, SBriesd Series E convertible preferred stock shatraatically be converted into fu
paid, nonassessable shares of Class B common stock immigdigien the earlier of: (i) the sale by us of ouasd A common stock or Clas!
common stock in a firm commitment underwritten paldffering pursuant to a registration statemendamthe Securities Act of 1933,
amended (Securities Act), the public offering prafewhich results in aggregate cash proceeds tofusot less than $100 million (net
underwriting discounts and commissions), or (i§ thate specified by written consent or agreemernh®fholders of a majority of the then-
outstanding shares of preferred stock, voting togreas a single class on ancaswerted basis, provided, however, that if (a)lbklers of
majority of the therputstanding shares of Series D convertible preflesteck do not consent or agree or (b) the holdéms majority of th
then-outstanding shares of Series E convertible predesteck do not consent or agree, then in eitheh ase the conversion shall no
effective as to any shares of preferred stock W&l days after the date of the written consenhefmajority of the thewutstanding shares
preferred stock.

Liquidation Preferences

In the event we liquidate, dissolve, or wind up dusiness, either voluntarily or involuntarily, thelders of our Series A, Series
Series C, Series D, and Series E convertible pefestock shall be entitled to receive, prior amghieference to any distribution of any of
assets to the holders of Class A common stock as<dB common stock, an amount per share equal.@®4805, $0.0570025, $0.2871¢
$7.412454, and $4.54158 per share (as adjustestdok splits, stock dividends, reclassificationsd ¢he like), respectively, plus any decle
but unpaid dividends.

If, upon the occurrence of any of these events,atteets and funds distributed among the holdetheofSeries A, Series B, Series
Series D, and Series E convertible preferred stbeltl be insufficient to permit the payment to sinders of the full aforesaid preferen
amounts, then our entire assets and funds legatiylable for distribution shall be distributed rala among the holders of the Serie:
Series B, Series C, Series D, and Series E coblepreferred stock in proportion to the prefergnéimount each such holder is othen
entitled to receive.

If there are any remaining assets upon the conopleatf the liquidating distribution to the Series 8eries B, Series C, Series D,
Series E convertible preferred stockholders, tHdere of our Class A common stock and Class B comstock will receive all our remaini
assets. The merger or consolidation of us intoharagntity in which our stockholders own less th@fb of the voting stock of the survivi
company, or the sale, transfer, or lease of subiatignall our assets, shall be deemed a liquidgtidissolution, or winding up of us. As
“redemption” events are within our control for all periods praeel, all shares of preferred stock have been predeas part of perman:

equity.
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Voting Rights

The holder of each share of Series A, Series Be$€, Series D, and Series E convertible prefestedk shall have the same vo
rights as the holders of Class B common stockniitled to notice of any stockholdersieeting in accordance with our bylaws, and tog:
with the holders of Class A common stock and CBasommon stock, the Series A, Series B, SerieselieSD, and Series E converti
preferred stock will vote together as a singleglas all matters which holders of Class A commaristand Class B common stock have
right to vote, unless otherwise stated. Each hafi€lass A common stock is entitled to one votegfach share of Class A common stock t
each holder of Class B common stock is entitledeto votes for each share of Class B common stottk la&d each holder of Series
Series B, Series C, Series D, and Series E cohleeggreferred stock is entitled to ten votes farreghare of Class B common stock into w
such convertible preferred stock could be converted

Common Stock

Our certificate of incorporation authorizes theuamsce of Class A common stock and Class B comnaok.stWe are authorized to is:
4,141,000,000 shares of Class A common stock ah4i1£00,000 shares of Class B common stock, eaithavpar value of $0.000006
share. Holders of our Class A common stock andsBasommon stock are entitled to dividends whenaras if, declared by our board
directors, subject to the rights of the holderalbtlasses of stock outstanding having priorights to dividends. As of December 31, 2011
had not declared any dividends. The holder of esgre of Class A common stock is entitled to one ,vahile the holder of each share
Class B common stock is entitled to ten votes. iAdtg initial public offering, a transfer of sharefsClass B common stock will generally re
in those shares converting to Class A common st@t&ss A common stock and Class B common stockrefegred to as common stc
throughout the notes to these financial statementsss otherwise noted.

Share-based Compensation Plans

We maintain two sha-based employee compensation plans. In January 2005board of directors and stockholders adopted
approved the 2005 Stock Plan, as amended, whichde® for the issuance of incentive and nonstayustwck options and RSUs to quali
employees, directors, and consultants. In Nover2béb, our board of directors adopted and approked®005 OfficersStock Plan (togeth
with the 2005 Stock Plan, the Stock Plans), whidvigles for the issuance of incentive and nonstagustock options to certain employee
officers.

The term of stock options issued under the 2008kSRlan may not exceed ten years from the dateasftgUnder the 2005 Stock PI
incentive stock options and nonstatutory stockarstiare granted at an exercise price that is no¢ tess than 100% of the fair market valt
our Class B common stock on the date of grantessrahined by our compensation committee. Stockoaptbecome vested and exercisak
such times and under such conditions as deternipedir compensation committee on the date of grant.

The 2005 OfficersStock Plan provides for the issuance of up to M@0 shares of incentive and nonstatutory stptions to certai
of our employees or officers. The 2005 OfficeBtock Plan will terminate ten years after its adoptunless terminated earlier by
compensation committee. Stock options become vested exercisable at such times and under such tgomglias determined by ¢
compensation committee on the date of grant. Ineddyer 2005, we issued a nonstatutory stock optiawut CEO to purchase 120,000,
shares of our Class B common stock under the 2G08e@&’ Stock Plan. At December 31, 2011, the option wastanding and fully veste
and no options were available for future issuammetthe 2005 Officers’ Stock Plan.
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The following table summarizes the stock option @&R8U award activity under the Stock Plans betweanudry 1, 2009 ai
December 31, 2011:

Shares Subject to Options Outstanding Outstanding RSUs
) Weighted
Weighted Vx?/lgrhatgg Average
Remaining Grant
Shares Average Contractual Aggregate Date Fair
Available Number of Exercise Intrinsic Outstanding
for Grant (1) Shares Price Term Value ) RSUs Value
(in thousands (in thousands (in years) (in millions) (in thousands’
Balance as of December 31, 2( 15,257 479,81: $ 0.17 $ — 136,83 $ 1.7:

Increase in shares authoriz 251,96¢ — —

RSUs grante: (159,16 — 159,16° 2.3t

Stock options grante (13,885 13,88t 2.5¢ —

Stock options exercise (57,459 0.1t —

Stock options forfeited/cancell¢ 5,99¢ (5,996 0.8 —

RSUs forfeited and cancellt 10,51 — (10,51) 1.81
Balance as of December 31, 2( 110,68: 430,24 0.2t 6.3¢ 1,78( 285,48¢ 2.07

Increase in shares authoriz 25,00( —

RSUs grante: (68,05%) — 68,05¢ 10.5¢

Stock options grante (4,70¢€) 4,70€ 11.57 —

Stock options exercise — (69,910 0.0¢ —

Stock options forfeited/cancell¢ 2,06¢ (2,06¢€) 0.22 —

RSUs forfeited and cancellt 11,39¢ — (11,399 13.1Z
Balance as of December 31, 2( 76,38: 362,97: 0.4z 5.37 7,41F 342,14¢ 3.3¢

Increase in shares authoriz 10,00( — —

RSUs grante: (55,12¢) — 55,12¢ 26.3:

Stock options exercise — (101,87 0.27 —

Stock options forfeited/cancelle 2,56( (2,560 1.6C —

RSUs forfeited and cancellt 18,50: — (18,509 7.97
Balance as of December 31, 2( 52,31¢ 258,53¢ $ 047 4.3¢ $ 7,36( 378,77 6.87
Vested and expected to vest as of

December 31, 201 258,46¢ $ 047 43¢ $ 7,35¢ —
Exercisable as of December 31, 2( 244 84! $ 0.1¢ 4.1¢ $ 7,04C —

(1) After excluding 133 thousand restricted stock awarot included in the table above, 52,185 thousduades are available for grant under the StocksRdarof December 31, 201
(2) The aggregate intrinsic value is calculated asdifference between the exercise price of the ugawylstock option awards and the assessed fairevaftour common stock as
December 31, 2009, 2010, and 2C
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The following table summarizes additional infornoati regarding outstanding and exercisable optiondeurthe Stock Plans
December 31, 2011:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted-
Weighted- Weighted-

Average
Remaining Average Average
Exercise Number of Exercise Number of Exercise

Price (Range Shares Life Price Shares Price
(in thousands’ (in years) (in thousands’

$0.00- 0.04 27,69¢ 3.14 $ 0.01 27,69¢ $ 0.01
0.06 135,86 3.8¢ 0.0¢ 135,86¢ 0.0¢
0.10- 0.1¢ 34,18¢ 4.3¢ 0.1z 34,18¢ 0.1z
0.29- 0.3¢ 37,66¢ 5.3C 0.31 37,66¢ 0.31
1.78 5,32¢ 6.5¢ 1.7¢ 2,631 1.7¢
1.85 5,71¢ 7.0 1.8t 3,42 1.8t
2.95 2,88¢ 7.65 2.9¢ 1,35¢ 2.9¢
3.23 4,50( 7.82 3.2t 2,02t 3.2¢
10.39 3,50(¢ 8.5¢ 10.3¢ — —
15.00 1,20( 8.8( 15.0(C — —
258,53 4.3¢ $ 047 244,84 $ 0.1¢

The aggregate intrinsic value of the options esediin 2009, 2010, and 2011, was $149 million, $a8lfion, and $2,380 millio
respectively. The total grant date fair value aicktoptions vested during 2009, 2010, and 2011 $t&smillion, $16 million, and $6 millio
respectively. The total number of unvested shaodgest to options and RSUs outstanding as of Deeerdb, 2009, 2010, and 2011 \
395 million, 374 million, and 392 million, respeactly.

Shares Reserved for Future Issuance
We have the following shares of Class B commonksteserved for future issuance as of December @1L] Zin thousands):

2005 Stock Plar

Shares subject to options outstanc 138,53¢
Restricted stock units outstandi 378,77
Shares available for future gral 52,18¢
2005 Officer’ Stock Plan shares subject to options outstan 120,00(
Convertible preferred stock, all ser 545,55:
1,235,04

In addition, we have reserved shares of Class Ancomstock for future issuance pursuant to the omime of any shares of Clast
common stock that are currently outstanding or i@y be issued in the future.
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Note 9. Income Taxes

The components of income before provision for ineaaxes for the years ended December 31, 2009, 20002011 are as follows
millions):

Year Ended December 31

2009 2010 2011
Domestic $ 26C $1,027 $1,81¢
Foreign (6) (19 124
Total income before provision for income ta: $ 25¢ $1,00¢ $1,69¢

The provision for income taxes consisted of théofeing (in millions):

Year Ended December 31,

2009 2010 2011
Current:

Federal $ 83 $ 32t $ 664

State 14 57 60

Foreign 1 1 8
Total current tax expen: 98 38:¢ 732
Deferred:

Federal (60) 13 (39

State (13) 6 3
Total deferred tax expense (bene (73) 19 (37
Provision for income taxe $ 2 $ 40z $ 69t

A reconciliation of the U.S. federal statutory inoe tax rate of 35% to our effective tax rate isodlews (in percentages):

Year Ended December 31

2009 2010 2011
U.S. federal statutory income tax ri 35.(% 35.(% 35.(%
State income taxes, net of federal ber 0.2 4.C 1.8
Research tax credi 2.2 (0.8) (2.0
Shar-based compensatic 0.8 0.2 15
Foreign losses not benefit 1.1 0.8 3.3
Change in valuation allowan: (25.6) — 0.3
Other (0.9 0.€ —
Effective tax rate 10.(% 39.9% 41.(%

Excess tax benefits associated with stock opti@rases and other equity awards are credited wkistdders’equity. The income t:
benefits resulting from stock awards that were iteeldto stockholdersequity were $50 million, $107 million and $433 nah for the year
ended December 31, 2009, 2010, and 2011.
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Our deferred tax assets (liabilities) are as fodidim millions):

December 31,

2010 2011
Deferred tax asset
Net operating loss carryforwa $ 2 $ 3
Tax credit carryforwart — 9
Shar-based compensatic 28 79
Accrued expenses and other liabilit 38 58
Total deferred tax asse 68 14¢
Less: valuation allowanc — (9)
Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowe 68 14C
Deferred tax liabilities
Depreciation and amortizatic (21) (69
Purchased intangible ass 8 (20
Deferred foreign taxe — (1
Total deferred tax liabilitie (29) (80)
Net deferred tax asse $ 3¢ $ 6C

The valuation allowance was approximately $9 milles of December 31, 2011, related to state taditsréhat we do not believe w
ultimately be realized. There was no change touhleation allowance for the year ended December2B10. The valuation allowan
decreased by approximately $76 million for the yeraded December 31, 2009.

As of December 31, 2011, we had U.S. federal ardo@@a net operating loss carryforwards of $7 lrait and $17 million, which wi
expire in 2027 and 2021, respectively, if not méti. We also have state tax credit carryforwardgOahillion, which carry forward indefinitel:

Utilization of our net operating loss and tax cteddirryforwards may be subject to substantial ahhoetations due to the ownerst
change limitations provided by the Internal Revef@aele and similar state provisions. Such annuatdiions could result in the expiration
the net operating loss and tax credit carryforwdrefore their utilization. The events that may eaos/nership changes include, but are
limited to, a cumulative stock ownership changgrefater than 50% over a three-year period.

Our net foreign pretax losses include jurisdictiavigh both pretax earnings and pretax losses. @usaidated financial stateme
provide taxes for all related tax liabilities thabuld arise upon repatriation of earnings in theeiign jurisdictions where we do not intenc
indefinitely reinvest those earnings outside thététhStates, and the amount of taxes provideddsrideen insignificant.
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The following table reflects changes in the grasseoognized tax benefits (in millions):

Year Ended December 31,

2009 2010 2011
Gross unrecognized tax benefits—beginning of period $ 3 $ 9 $ 18
Increase related to prior year tax positi 6 1 5
Decreases related to prior year tax posit| — 2 2
Increases related to current year tax posit — 10 42
Gross unrecognized tax bene—end of perioc $ 9 $ 18 $ 63

During all years presented, we recognized inteaedtpenalties related to unrecognized tax bensfitén the provision for income tax
on the consolidated statements of income. For e gnded December 31, 2011, we recognized intefekt million and penalties of !
million. The amount of interest and penalties aedras of December 31, 2010 and 2011 was $1 maliwh$6 million, respectively.

If the remaining balance of gross unrecognizedbixefits of $63 million as of December 31, 2011 wesdized in a future period, tl
would result in a tax benefit of $51 million withaur provision of income taxes at such time.

We are subject to taxation in the United Stateswamibus other state and foreign jurisdictions. Tiegterial jurisdictions in which we ¢
subject to potential examination by taxing authesitinclude the United States and Ireland. In 20h&, Internal Revenue Service (I}
commenced its examinations of our 2008 and 2009/¢axs. We believe that adequate amounts havereserved for any adjustments 1
may ultimately result from these examinations arde not anticipate a significant impact to oursgronrecognized tax benefits within
next 12 months related to these years. Our 201®@@amd tax years remain subject to examination byIRES and all tax years starting in 2
remain subject to examination in Ireland. We rengibject to possible examinations or are undergaudits in various other jurisdictions t
are not material to our financial statements.

Although the timing of the resolution, settlemeartid closure of any audits is highly uncertains itdasonably possible that the balanc
gross unrecognized tax benefits could significaotignge in the next 12 months. However, given tirelrer of years remaining that are sut
to examination, we are unable to estimate therfuye of possible adjustments to the balance afsgnarecognized tax benefits.

Note 10. Geographical Information

Revenue by geography is based on the billing addvethe advertiser or Platform developer. Theofelhg table sets forth revenue

long-lived assets by geographic area (in millions):

Year Ended December 31,

2009 2010 2011
Revenue
United State: $ b51¢€ $1,22: $ 2,067
Rest of the worl®) 25¢ 751 1,64¢
Total revenue $ 771 $1,97¢ $3,711

(1) No individual country exceeded 10% of our totalerewe for any period presentt
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December 31
2010 2011
Long-lived assets
United State: $ 567 $1,44¢
Rest of the worl 7 31
Total lon¢-lived asset: $ 57« $1,47¢

Note 11. Related Party Transactions

During 2009, our board of directors authorizedaaward two million shares of Class B common stiock family member of our CEO.
This award was made in satisfaction of funds preditbr our initial working capital and potentialated claims. We recorded share-based
compensation expense of $9 million related to $kogk award for the year ended December 31, 2009.

Note 12. Subsequent Events
We have evaluated subsequent events through Fglirua®12, which is the date the financial statetd@rere available to be issu¢

In January 2012, our board of directors adopted?26d® Equity Incentive Plan, subject to stockholalgproval, which plan will become
effective on the effective date of our initial piebdffering. The 2012 Equity Incentive Plan willmeed our 2005 Stock Plan and we will cease
granting awards under the 2005 Stock Plan. We heseyved 25 million shares of Class A common sfockssuance under our 2005 Stock
Plan, plus an additional number of shares of Gdassmmon stock equal to any shares reserved bussaed or subject to outstanding awards
under our 2005 Stock Plan on the effective datuofinitial public offering, plus, (i) shares thae subject to outstanding awards under the
2005 Stock Plan which cease to be subject to swealnds, (ii) shares issued under the 2005 Stock Whach are forfeited or repurchased at
their original issue price, and (iii) shares subjecawards under the 2005 Stock Plan that are igspdy the exercise price of an option or
withheld to satisfy the tax withholding obligatioredated to any award. The 2012 Equity IncentivanRirovides for automatic increases in the
number of shares reserved for issuance on Januzfrgdch year.
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TO THE MILLIONS OF YOU
WHO MADE THIS POSSIBLE:

Thank you.
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PART Il
INFORMATION NOT REQUIRED IN PROSPECTUS

Iltem 13. Other Expenses of Issuance and Distributit

The following table sets forth all expenses to b&l by the Registrant, other than estimated undengrdiscounts and commissions
connection with our initial public offering. All anunts shown are estimates except for the SEC ratjist fee and the FINRA filing fee:

SEC registration fe $573,00(
FINRA filing fee 75,50(
Stock Exchange Listing fe

Printing and engravin

Legal fees and expens

Accounting fees and expens

Blue sky fees and expenses (including legal f
Transfer agent and registrar fe

Miscellaneou:

Total $

EE I

*

* To be completed by amendme

Iltem 14. Indemnification of Directors and Officer:

Section 145 of the Delaware General Corporation hatthorizes a court to award, or a corporagdydard of directors to grant, indemi
to directors and officers under certain circumstsnand subject to certain limitations. The termsSettion 145 of the Delaware Gen
Corporation Law are sufficiently broad to permidémnification under certain circumstances for liibs, including reimbursement
expenses incurred, arising under the SecuritieoAt833, as amended (the Securities Act).

As permitted by the Delaware General Corporatiow,Lthe Registran$ restated certificate of incorporation that wil im effect at th
closing of the offering contains provisions thadtrmehate the personal liability of its directors faronetary damages for any breach of fiduc
duties as a director, except liability for the éolling:

. any breach of the director’s duty of loyalty to fRegistrant or its stockholders;
. acts or omissions not in good faith or that invalventional misconduct or a knowing violation afu;
. under Section 174 of the Delaware General Corpmrdtaw (regarding unlawful dividends and stock pases); o

. any transaction from which the director derivedraproper personal benefit.

As permitted by the Delaware General Corporatiow,Ltie Registrans restated bylaws that will be in effect at thestig of our initia
public offering, provide that:

. the Registrant is required to indemnify its direstand executive officers to the fullest extentnpited by the Delaware Gene
Corporation Law, subject to very limited exceptip

. the Registrant may indemnify its other employeeas @ents as set forth in the Delaware General Catipo Law;
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. the Registrant is required to advance expensesncasred, to its directors and executive officensconnection with a leg
proceeding to the fullest extent permitted by tledavare General Corporation Law, subject to venjtéd exceptions; an

. the rights conferred in the bylaws are not exclesiv

The Registrant has entered, and intends to contimwenter, into separate indemnification agreemauitis its directors and executi
officers to provide these directors and executiffieers additional contractual assurances regartiegscope of the indemnification set fort
the Registrang restated certificate of incorporation and restétgdaws and to provide additional procedural petitas. At present, there is
pending litigation or proceeding involving a direcbr executive officer of the Registrant regardivigich indemnification is sought. Refere
is also made to the underwriting agreement to leel fas Exhibit 1.1 to this registration statemevttich provides for the indemnification
executive officers, directors and controlling persoof the Registrant against certain liabilitiedieTindemnification provisions in t
Registrants restated certificate of incorporation, restatgidws and the indemnification agreements entertman to be entered into betwe
the Registrant and each of its directors and ekexufficers may be sufficiently broad to permitiemnification of the Registrast'director
and executive officers for liabilities arising umdee Securities Act.

The Registrant currently carries liability insurarfor its directors and officers.

Item 15. Recent Sales of Unregistered Securit

Since February 1, 2009, we have made the followadgs of unregistered securities (after givingatfte a !-for-1 stock split effected
October 2010):

Preferred Stock Issuances

. On May 26, 2009, we sold 44,037,540 shares of euieS E preferred stock to one accredited investar purchase price of $4
per share

. On February 2, 2011, we issued 3,257,280 sharesinBeries A preferred stock and 2,960,240 sharesioSeries B preferr:
stock to one accredited investor at per share pseprices ranging from $0.00 to 0.06 pursuankéocises of warrant:

. On December 29, 2011, we issued 1,750,827 shamms @eries B preferred stock to one accreditedstor at a per share purch
price of $0.06 pursuant to exercise of a warr

Plan-Related Issuances

. From February 1, 2009 through January 31, 2012graeted to our directors, officers, employees, ottasts and other servi
providers options to purchase 14,263,370 sharesio€Class B common stock with per share exercisepranging from $1.78
$15.00 under our 2005 Stock Pl

. From February 1, 2009 through January 31, 2012jssaed to our directors, officers, employees, cltasts, and other servi
providers an aggregate of 239,034,751 shares oftass B common stock at per share purchase paoging from $0.00 to $2.!
pursuant to exercises of options granted unde005 Stock Plar

. From February 1, 2009 through January 31, 2012grmaated to our directors, officers, employees, ottasts, and other servi
providers an aggregate of 257,697,957 RSUs to tled@ shares of our Class B common stock unde2605 Stock Plar

. From February 1, 2009 through January 31, 2012 seld to our directors, officers, employees, comsuli, and other servi
providers an aggregate of 214,514 shares of owssacommon stock at per share purchase pricegngafrgm $0.00 to $30.(
granted under our 2005 Stock PI
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Other Common Stock Issuances

On May 26, 2009, we issued 48,065 shares of owssacommon stock to one existing investor purstaitite an-dilution term:
of such invest('s original investmen

On December 30, 2009, we issued 2,000,000 sharagrdlass B common stock to a family member of ©&O. This award wi
made in satisfaction of funds provided for ourialitvorking capital and a potential release ofrosi

On June 2, 2010, we issued 5,000 shares of ous ®laommon stock to one accredited investor atralyase price of $7.27
share

On December 27, 2010, we sold 21,582,733 shareara€lass A common stock to three accredited imvesit a purchase price
$20.85 per shart

On December 31, 2010, we sold 2,398,081 sharesinCtass A common stock to one accredited investa purchase price
$20.85 per shar

On January 21, 2011, we sold 47,961,630 sharesiofCtass A common stock to one accredited inveataa purchase price
$20.85 per shart

On September 15, 2011, we issued 29,640 sharesrdlass B common stock as consideration to a foemgployee for servic
provided.

Acquisitions

On August 14, 2009, we issued 11,052,955 sharesro€lass B common stock as consideration to tdiviouals and one entity
connection with our acquisition of all the outstamshares of a compar

On May 18, 2010, we issued 3,625,000 shares ofctass B common stock as consideration to a compaognnection with ot
purchase of patents from the compe

On June 16, 2010, we issued 238,000 shares of kags 8 common stock as consideration to a compampmnnection with o
purchase of certain assets from the comp

On July 7, 2010, we issued 590,900 shares of cas<CB common stock as consideration to a comparmprimection with ot
purchase of certain assets from the comp

On August 18, 2010, we issued 289,350 shares o€tags B common stock as consideration to two idd&ais in connection wi
our acquisition of all the outstanding shares obapany

On October 29, 2010, we issued 1,309,284 sharesiro€lass B common stock as consideration to a eosn connection wit
our purchase of certain assets from the comg

On November 12, 2010, we issued 350,000 sharesro€lass B common stock as consideration to a cagnpaconnection wit
our purchase of certain assets from the comg

On December 15, 2010, we issued 1,030,000 shamsrdaflass B common stock as consideration to twlividuals in connectic
with our acquisition of all the outstanding shasés company

On February 28, 2011, we issued 681,357 sharesraflass A common stock as consideration to a cospnpaconnection with ol
purchase of certain assets from the comp

On April 5, 2011, we issued 1,659,430 shares of@ass A common stock as consideration to 13 iddizis and six entities
connection with our acquisition of all the outstamshares of a compar

On August 1, 2011, we issued 75,426 shares of tags®A\ common stock as consideration to three iddals in connection wi
our acquisition of all the outstanding shares obmpany
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. On October 7, 2011, we issued 360,883 shares oftass A common stock as consideration to 21 iddizis and eight entities
connection with our acquisition of all the outstengdshares of a compar

. On October 10, 2011, we issued 183,750 sharesrdClass B common stock as consideration to a cognfiara license of certa
technology from the compan

. On January 3, 2012, we issued 90,000 shares oflass A common stock as consideration to four iidials and 13 entities
connection with our purchase of certain assets fixarampany

. On February 1, 2012, we issued 212,250 sharesro€lass A common stock as partial consideratiotwim entities in connectic
with our purchase of certain assets from a comg

Unless otherwise stated, the sales of the abovgises were deemed to be exempt from registratiotier the Securities Act in reliar
upon Section 4(2) of the Securities Act (or RedgaraD or Regulation S promulgated thereunder), oleRF01 promulgated under Section :
of the Securities Act as transactions by an isswrinvolving any public offering or pursuant tonedit plans and contracts relating
compensation as provided under Rule 701. The etipiof the securities in each of these transagtiepresented their intentions to acquire
securities for investment only and not with a viewnor for sale in connection with any distributittrereof, and appropriate legends were pl
upon the stock certificates issued in these trdiosec
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Iltem 16.

Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedul

(a) Exhibits. The following exhibits are included herein or inporated herein by referenc

Exhibit
Number

1.1*
3.1*
3.2*
3.3*
3.4*
4.1*
4.2*

4.3*
4.4*
4.5*
5.1*
10.1*
10.2*
10.3*
10.4*

10.5*
10.6*
10.7*
10.8*
10.9*
10.10*
10.11*
10.12*t

10.13*t

Description
Form of Underwriting Agreemer

Eleventh Amended and Restated Certificate of Inm@on of Registran

Bylaws of Registrani

Form of Restated Certificate of Incorporation ofjRé&rant, to be in effect at the closing of Regisf’s initial public offering.
Form of Restated Bylaws of Registrant, to be ie&fhat the closing of Registri’s initial public offering.

Form of Registrar's Class A common stock certifica

Sixth Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights Agexendated December 27, 2010, by and among Retfistna certain
security holders of Registrai

Form of“Type 1" Holder Voting Agreement, between Registrant, Maukkerberg, and certain parties ther
Form of“Type 2" Holder Voting Agreement, between Registrant, Maukkerberg, and certain parties ther
Form of“Type & Holder Voting Agreement, between Registrant, Maukkerberg, and certain parties ther
Opinion of Fenwick & West LLP

Form of Indemnification Agreemer

2005 Stock Plan, as amended, and forms of awaskeagnts

2005 Officer’ Stock Plan, and amended and restated notice d efion grant and stock option agreem

2012 Equity Incentive Plan, to be in effect upoa #ffectiveness of Registrant’s initial public offey, and forms of award
agreements

2011 Bonus/Retention Pla

Amended and Restated Offer Letter, dated Januar®I2, between Registrant and Mark Zuckerk

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datecda27, 2012, between Registrant and Sheryl KdBerg.
Amended and Restated Offer Letter, dated Januar®I2, between Registrant and David A. Ebersi

Amended and Restated Offer Letter, dated JanuarQ@I2, between Registrant and Mike Schroe|

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datedada?27, 2012, between Registrant and Theodorglifbt.
Lease, dated February 7, 2011, between Registnanf\dlson Menlo Park Campus, LL!

Developer Addendum, dated May 14, 2010, betweensRagt and Zynga Inc., as amended by AmendmenfiN@ Develope
Addendum, dated October 1, 20:

Developer Addendum No. 2, dated December 26, 20dflyeen Registrant and Zynga |
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Exhibit

Number Description

10.14* Credit Agreement, dated February 18, 2011, betviRmgistrant, the Lenders party thereto, and JPMo@jsase Bank, N.A.,
amended by the First Amendment, dated June 28, 20itiithe Second Amendment, dated September 13,

10.15* Guarantee Agreement, dated February 18, 2011, batiRegistrant, the Subsidiary Guarantors partyetberand JPMorg:
Chase Bank, N.A

10.16* Conversion Agreement, dated February 19, 2010, dmwRegistrant, Digital Sky Technologies LimiteshldaDST Globe
Limited.

21.1* List of Subsidiaries of Registrar

23.1 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registdtablic Accounting Firm

23.2* Consent of Fenwick & West LLP (included in Exhibitl).

24.1 Power of Attorney (see page-7 to this Form -1).

* To be filed by amendmer
t Confidential treatment will be requested with retpe portions of this exhibi

(b) Financial Statement Scheduledl financial statement schedules are omitted bseatlney are not applicable or the informatic
included in the Registrant’s consolidated finanstatements or related notes.

ltem 17. Undertakings

The undersigned Registrant hereby undertakes teidedo the underwriters at the closing specifiadthe underwriting agreeme
certificates in such denominations and registemexich names as required by the underwriters tipprompt delivery to each purchaser.

Insofar as indemnification for liabilities arisingnder the Securities Act may be permitted to dimesgtofficers and controlling persons
the Registrant pursuant to the foregoing provisiams otherwise, the Registrant has been adviset ithghe opinion of the SEC su
indemnification is against public policy as expezssn the Securities Act and is, therefore, unardable. In the event that a claim
indemnification against such liabilities (othernhthe payment by the Registrant of expenses indunreaid by a director, officer or controlli
person of the Registrant in the successful defefisay action, suit or proceeding) is assertedusnhdirector, officer or controlling persor
connection with the securities being registered,Rlegistrant will, unless in the opinion of its neal the matter has been settled by contrc
precedent, submit to a court of appropriate jucisdin the question whether such indemnificationitdg against public policy as expresse
the Securities Act and will be governed by thelfadjudication of such issue.

The undersigned Registrant hereby undertakes that:

(1) For purposes of determining any liability unttee Securities Act, the information omitted frolne form of prospectus filed as par
this registration statement in reliance upon R@e@Atand contained in a form of prospectus filedhry Registrant pursuant to Rule 424(b)(!
(4) or 497(h) under the Securities Act shall bendeg to be part of this registration statement ab®time it was declared effective.

(2) For the purpose of determining any liabilityden the Securities Act, each peadfective amendment that contains a form of progs
shall be deemed to be a new registration statereéating to the securities offered therein, anddffering of such securities at that time s
be deemed to be the initial bona fide offering dloér
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the SecuritiesoAd933, the registrant has duly caused this regien statement to be signed or
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authdrizethe City of Menlo Park, State of Californgm this 1st day of February 2012.

FACEBOOK, INC.
/s/ M ARK Z UCKERBERG

Mark Zuckerberg
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each pensbose signature appears below hereby constiaumtegsappoints Mal
Zuckerberg, David A. Ebersman, and Theodore W.dd|lgnd each of them, as his true and lawful attpiinfact and agent with full power
substitution, for him in any and all capacities, dign any and all amendments to this registratitaiement (including postffective
amendments) and any registration statement reldtexkto filed pursuant to Rule 462(b) increasing ttumber of securities for whi
registration is sought, and to file the same, withexhibits thereto and other documents in coriaedherewith, with the SEC, granting u
said attorney-irfact and agent full power and authority to do aedigrm each and every act and thing requisite awkssary to be done
connection therewith, as fully for all intents apdrposes as he might or could do in person, heratifying and confirming all that se
attorney-in-fact and agent, or his substitute, taswfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the SecuritiesoAct933, this registration statement has been dignethe following persons in t
capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/'s/ M ARK Z UCKERBERG Chairman and Chief Executive Officer February 1, 2012
Mark Zuckerberg (Principal Executive Officer
/'s/ DAviID A. E BERSMAN Chief Financial Office| February 1, 201
David A. Ebersman (Principal Financial Officer)
/s/ Davib M. SPILLANE Director of Accounting February 1, 2012
David M. Spillane (Principal Accounting Officer
/s/ MARCL. A NDREESSEN Director February 1, 201
Marc L. Andreessen
/s/ ERSKINEB. B OWLES Director February 1, 2012
Erskine B. Bowles
/s/ JAMESW. B REYER Director February 1, 201
James W. Breyer
/s/ DONALD E. GRAHAM Director February 1, 2012
Donald E. Graham
/'s/ REEDH ASTINGS Director February 1, 201
Reed Hastings
/s/ PETERA. T HIEL Director February 1, 2012
Peter A. Thiel
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit
Number Description
1.1* Form of Underwriting Agreemer
3.1* Eleventh Amended and Restated Certificate of Inm@iion of Registran
3.2* Bylaws of Registrani
3.3* Form of Restated Certificate of Incorporation ofgis&rant, to be in effect at the closing of Regisr's initial public offering.
3.4* Form of Restated Bylaws of Registrant, to be ieetfat the closing of Registris initial public offering.
4.1* Form of Registrar's Class A common stock certifica
4.2* Sixth Amended and Restated InvestdRights Agreement, dated December 27, 2010, by amohg Registrant and cert
security holders of Registrat
4.3* Form of“Type I" Holder Voting Agreement, between Registrant, Maukkerberg, and certain parties ther
4.4* Form of“Type 2’ Holder Voting Agreement, between Registrant, Mankkerberg, and certain parties ther
4.5* Form of“Type ¥ Holder Voting Agreement, between Registrant, Maunkkerberg, and certain parties ther
5.1* Opinion of Fenwick & West LLP
10.1* Form of Indemnification Agreemer
10.2* 2005 Stock Plan, as amended, and forms of awaskagnts
10.3* 2005 Officer’ Stock Plan, and amended and restated notice d€ sfmiton grant and stock option agreem
10.4* 2012 Equity Incentive Plan, to be in effect upoa #ffectiveness of Registri’s initial public offering, and forms of awe
agreements
10.5* 2011 Bonus/Retention Pla
10.6* Amended and Restated Offer Letter, dated Januar@@I2, between Registrant and Mark Zuckerk
10.7* Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datedda?27, 2012, between Registrant and Sheryl KdBerg.
10.8* Amended and Restated Offer Letter, dated Januar®I2, between Registrant and David A. Eberst
10.9* Amended and Restated Offer Letter, dated Januar@®I2, between Registrant and Mike Schroe|
10.10* Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datedhda?27, 2012, between Registrant and Theodorglifbt.
10.11* Lease, dated February 7, 2011, between Registnanf\dlson Menlo Park Campus, LL!
10.12*% Developer Addendum, dated May 14, 2010, betweenisRegt and Zynga Inc., as amended by Amendment1Na
Developer Addendum, dated October 1, 2(
10.13*1 Developer Addendum No. 2, dated December 26, 20dtflyeen Registrant and Zynga |
10.14* Credit Agreement, dated February 18, 2011, betviResggistrant, the Lenders party thereto, and JPMo@Jase Bank, N.A.,

amended by the First Amendment, dated June 28, 20itilthe Second Amendment, dated September 13,
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Exhibit

Number Description

10.15* Guarantee Agreement, dated February 18, 2011, batRegistrant, the Subsidiary Guarantors partyetberand JPMorg:
Chase Bank, N.A

10.16* Conversion Agreement, dated February 19, 2010, dmwRegistrant, Digital Sky Technologies LimiteshdaDST Globe
Limited.

21.1* List of Subsidiaries of Registrar

23.1 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registdtablic Accounting Firm

23.2* Consent of Fenwick & West LLP (included in Exhibitl).

24.1 Power of Attorney (see page-7 to this Form -1).

* To be filed by amendmer
t Confidential treatment will be requested with retpe portions of this exhibi



EXHIBIT 23.1

CONSENT OF ERNST & YOUNG LLP, INDEPENDENT REGISTERE D
PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the reference to our firm under thgtion “Experts”and the use of our report dated February 1, 2012hé Registratic
Statement (Form S-1) and related Prospectus ofoea&e Inc. for the registration of shares of itsncoon stock.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

San Francisco, California
February 1, 201



